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This preliminary prospectus supplement relates to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, but
is not complete and may be changed. This preliminary prospectus supplement is not an offer to sell these securities, and we are not
soliciting an offer to buy these securities, in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED JULY 7, 2014

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

(To Prospectus dated June 20, 2014)

10,000,000 Shares

Class A Common Stock

We are offering 10,000,000 shares of our Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share as described in this prospectus supplement and the
accompanying prospectus.

Our Class A common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange, or the NYSE, under the symbol �CTT.� On July 2, 2014, the reported closing
price of our Class A common stock on the NYSE was $13.60 per share.

We have granted the underwriters a 30-day option to purchase up to an additional 1,500,000 shares of Class A common stock on the same terms
and conditions as set forth above if the underwriters sell more than 10,000,000 shares of Class A common stock in this offering.

To assist us in maintaining our qualification as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for federal income tax purposes, our charter generally
limits any person from beneficially or constructively owning more than 9.8% in value of the outstanding shares of our capital stock or more than
9.8% in value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive, of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

Investing in our common stock involves risks. Before buying any shares, you should carefully consider the risk factors described in the
section titled Risk Factors beginning on page S-14.

Per Share Total
Public offering price $ $
Underwriting discounts and commissions (1) $ $
Proceeds, before expenses, to us $ $
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(1) Includes a structuring and advisory fee equal to % of the total public offering price payable to Raymond James & Associates, Inc. in connection with the
offering. See �Underwriting� beginning on page S-105 for a description of compensation payable to the underwriters.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or disapproved of these securities or
determined if this prospectus supplement is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

The shares of Class A Common Stock will be ready for delivery on or about July     , 2014.

RAYMOND JAMES STIFEL BAIRD

JANNEY MONTGOMERY SCOTT
The date of this prospectus supplement is July     , 2014
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You should only rely on the information contained or incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement or in any free writing
prospectus prepared by us in connection with this offering to which we have referred you. Neither we nor the underwriters have
authorized anyone to provide you with different information. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you
should not rely on it. You should not assume that the information in this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus, any
related free writing prospectus or the documents incorporated by reference herein is accurate as of any date other than the respective
dates of those documents, except where the information is as of a specific date. In case there are any differences or inconsistencies
between this prospectus supplement, the accompanying prospectus, any related free writing prospectus and the information
incorporated by reference, you should rely on the information in the document with the latest date.

We use market data and industry forecasts and projections throughout this prospectus supplement. We have obtained substantially all of this
information from a market study prepared by Forest Economic Advisors, LLC, a nationally recognized expert in the forest products industry.
Such information is included herein in reliance on Forest Economic Advisors, LLC�s authority as an expert on such matters. See �Experts.� In
addition, we have obtained certain market and industry data from publicly available industry publications. These sources generally state that the
information they provide has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, but the accuracy and completeness of the information are not
guaranteed. The forecasts and projections contained in this prospectus supplement are based on industry surveys and the preparers� experience in
the industry, and there is no assurance that any of the projected amounts will be achieved. We believe that the surveys and market research
others have performed are reliable.
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ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT

This prospectus supplement is a supplement to the accompanying prospectus that is also a part of this document. This prospectus supplement and
the accompanying prospectus are part of a registration statement on Form S-3 that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or
SEC or Commission, using a �shelf� registration process. This prospectus supplement contains specific information about us and the terms on
which we are offering and selling shares of our Class A common stock. To the extent that any statement made in this prospectus supplement is
inconsistent with statements made in the prospectus, the statements made in the prospectus will be deemed modified or superseded by those
made in this prospectus supplement. Before you purchase shares of our common stock, you should carefully read this prospectus supplement, the
accompanying prospectus and the registration statement, together with the information incorporated by reference.

When used in this prospectus supplement:

� �our company,� �the company,� �we,� �us� and �our� refer to CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc., a Maryland corporation, and its consolidated
subsidiaries, except where it is clear from the context that the term only means the issuer of the shares of common stock in this
offering;

� �catchmark,� as used in the name of our company, is derived from a historical industry term used to describe a branding mark that is
placed on the end of a log for ownership identification;

� �chip-n-saw� refers to smaller sawlogs (typically 8 to 12 inches diameter-at-breast-height) processed on a machine known as a
�chip-n-saw� that offers an economical way to obtain lumber from smaller logs and wood fiber for paper-making from the residual wood
chips;

� �fiber basket� refers to a timber-growing area and the wood-buying manufacturing facilities in such area;

� �HBU� means higher-and-better use and refers to timberland properties that have a higher-value use beyond growing timber, such as
properties that can be sold for development, conservation, recreational or other rural purposes at prices in excess of traditional
timberland values;

� �OSB� means oriented strand board, which is a structural wood panel manufactured with wood strands and heat-cured adhesives;

� �pulpwood� refers to small logs (typically 4 to 8 inches diameter-at-breast-height), which are generally converted into wood chips for
use in the production of pulp and paper products as well as OSB;

� �sawtimber� refers to larger sawlogs (typically more than 12 inches diameter-at-breast-height) that are suitable for sawing into
dimension lumber for use in housing construction, flooring, furniture, and many other applications;

� �SFI� refers to the Sustainable Forestry Initiative, a sustainable forest management program;

�
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�silviculture� is the art and science of controlling the establishment, growth, composition, health and quality of forests to meet diverse
needs and values;

S-1
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� �stumpage� refers to standing timber (as opposed to cut logs) or the value of such standing timber; and

� �TIMO� is an acronym for timberland investment management organization, which is an organization formed to acquire and manage
timberland investments, generally on behalf of institutional investors.

S-2
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PROSPECTUS SUPPLEMENT SUMMARY

This summary highlights selected information about us. It may not contain all the information that may be important to you in deciding whether
to invest in our common stock. You should read this entire prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus, together with the
information incorporated by reference, including the risk factors, financial data and related notes, before making an investment decision. Unless
otherwise indicated, the information contained in this prospectus supplement assumes that the underwriters do not exercise their option to
purchase additional shares.

Our Company

We are a real estate company investing in timberlands that has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. We are self-administered and self-managed. We primarily engage in the ownership, management, acquisition and
disposition of timberlands located in the United States. We are a publicly-traded REIT that is engaged exclusively in timberland ownership and
management, without ownership of any forest products or other manufacturing operations.

The focus of our business is to invest in timberlands and to actively manage these assets to provide current income and attractive long-term
returns to our stockholders. We generate recurring income and cash flow from the harvest and sale of timber, as well as from non-timber related
revenue sources, such as recreational leases. When and where we believe it is appropriate, we also periodically generate income and cash flow
from the sale of HBU lands. HBU refers to timberland properties that have a higher-value use beyond growing timber, such as properties that
can be sold for development, conservation, recreational or other rural purposes at prices in excess of traditional timberland values. We also
expect to realize additional long-term returns from the potential appreciation in value of our timberlands as well as from the potential biological
growth of our standing timber inventory in excess of our timber harvest.

As of June 30, 2014, we owned interests in approximately 320,400 acres of timberland, consisting of approximately 290,800 acres held in
fee-simple interests (including approximately 44,300 acres that we acquired in the second quarter of 2014), or our fee timberlands, and
approximately 29,600 acres held in leasehold interests, or our leased timberlands. Our timberlands are located in East Central Alabama, West
Central and Southeast Georgia, and East Texas. On July 7, 2014, we entered into agreements for two additional timberland acquisitions totaling
55,671 acres located in middle and southern Georgia and northern Florida, which we expect will close during the third quarter, subject to
completion of our due diligence and satisfaction of closing conditions, including verification of inventory and title. We believe that our
timberlands are high-quality industrial forestlands that have been intensively managed for sustainable commercial timber production. We further
believe that all of our timberlands are located within attractive and competitive fiber baskets encompassing numerous and diverse pulp, paper
and wood products manufacturing facilities.

As of December 31, 2013 and excluding properties acquired year-to-date, our timberlands contained acreage consisting of approximately 73%
pine stands and approximately 27% hardwood stands, and our timber inventory consisted of approximately 10.4 million tons of merchantable
timber, including approximately 6.1 million tons of pulpwood, 2.3 million tons of chip-n-saw, and 2.0 million tons of sawtimber. To date, in
fiscal year 2014, we have completed or announced pending acquisitions totaling approximately 100,000 acres of timberland. We believe that
these acquisitions, in aggregate, will likely increase our harvest volumes by 440,000 to 480,000 tons annually over the next decade. Based on
current estimates, we believe these properties contain approximately 4.2 million tons of merchantable timber, comprising 75% pine plantation by
acreage and 50% sawtimber by tons.

S-3
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We are led by Jerry Barag, our Chief Executive Officer and President, John F. Rasor, our Chief Operating Officer and Secretary, and Brian M.
Davis, our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary. Collectively, these individuals have
approximately 100 years of investment, financing and operating experience in the commercial real estate, timberland and forest products
industries.

Recent Developments

On March 26, 2014, a prospective buyer under an existing option agreement exercised its option for the purchase of approximately 3,000 acres
of land from us in Georgia for approximately $9.0 million (approximately $3,000 per acre). We expect this purchase to close in the fourth
quarter of 2014.

On April 11, 2014, we purchased approximately 36,300 acres of timberland located in Southeast Georgia and East Texas, known as the
Waycross-Panola Properties, for approximately $74.0 million, exclusive of closing costs. In addition to our acquisition of the Waycross-Panola
Properties, to date, in fiscal year 2014, we have also acquired approximately 8,200 acres located in middle and southern Georgia in three
separate smaller transactions for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $12 million. We refer to the acquisitions of the Waycross-Panola
Properties and these three smaller transactions as our Completed Acquisitions.

On July 7, 2014, we entered into two purchase and sale agreements pursuant to which we agreed to acquire: (1) 18,008 acres of timberland
located primarily in southern Georgia and northern Florida for a total purchase price not to exceed $30.0 million, plus closing costs, and (2)
37,663 acres of timberland located in middle Georgia for a total purchase price not to exceed $76.3 million, plus closing costs. These
acquisitions are subject to the completion of our due diligence and satisfaction of closing conditions, including, but not limited to, inventory and
title verification. Therefore, we cannot guarantee that either acquisition will be completed. However, we currently expect these transactions to
close during the third quarter of 2014. While proceeds from this offering may be used in connection with funding the purchase price of both
contemplated acquisitions, the closings of these transactions are not dependent on our ability to raise any proceeds from this offering.

Market Opportunity

We believe that timberlands represent a unique and attractive investment opportunity for the following reasons:

Compelling Industry Fundamentals. The decline in U.S. residential construction that occurred from 2006 to 2011 led to a sharp reduction in
demand for solid wood products, which in turn led to significantly depressed sawtimber stumpage prices, particularly in the U.S. South.
However, several key global supply-demand factors are expected to positively impact the North American market for timber and timberlands
over the next several years and beyond. These factors include: (1) the mountain pine beetle epidemic in British Columbia, which has caused the
loss of significant timber resources in that region; (2) major timber supply contractions in Eastern Canada resulting from environmental
conservation initiatives by governmental authorities; (3) the significant increase in lumber and log exports to China from British Columbia and
the U.S. Pacific Northwest; and (4) the recent upturn in U.S. residential construction and consequent strengthening of demand for solid wood
products in the United States.

Fragmented Ownership and Robust Transaction Pipeline. Timberland ownership in the United States remains highly fragmented, which
provides opportunities for consolidation and

S-4
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opportunistic timberland acquisitions. Further, a number of significant ownership positions acquired by timberland investment management
organizations, or TIMOs, during the last decade are nearing fund maturities and are expected to liquidate over the next several years, potentially
providing meaningful and attractive timberland acquisition opportunities in the future.

Renewable Resource that Increases in Volume and Value Over Time. Timber is a renewable resource that grows and, when properly managed,
increases in volume and value over time. As timber grows, it increases in value at a compounding rate, as larger trees are more valuable than
smaller trees (measured on a price-per-ton basis) because they can be converted into higher-value end-use products such as lumber and plywood.

Predictable Growth Rates and Harvest Yields. Advanced forest management technology allows timberland owners to predict with a reasonable
degree of certainty the amount of timber that can be sustainably harvested from a particular timberland portfolio over an extended period of
time. The predictability of timber growth rates and harvest yields allows for optimum long-term harvest planning. Growth rates can also be
enhanced through active forest management and the use of advanced seedling technology.

Harvest Flexibility. Unlike most agricultural crops, timberlands generally do not need to be harvested within a specific timeframe. As a result,
timberland owners have a degree of flexibility to adjust their harvest activities in response to market conditions�increasing harvests when prices
are strong and deferring harvests when prices are weak. The ability to modulate harvest activities and store timber value �on the stump� is a unique
attribute of this asset class.

Structural Supply Constraints. The supply of timber is limited, to some extent, by the availability of commercial quality timberlands, which is in
turn limited by a variety of factors, including governmental restrictions on land use, alternate uses such as agriculture and development and the
presence of merchantable species in desirable timber-growing climates. The supply of timber is also constrained by the time and capital required
to establish new timberlands, as newly planted seedlings generally take 20 to 30 years to reach harvest maturity in the U.S. South (and even
longer in other regions).

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that we distinguish ourselves from other timberland owners and managers through the following competitive strengths:

Experienced Leadership. Our senior executive team is led by our Chief Executive Officer and President, Jerry Barag, who has a proven track
record and substantial experience in both the timberland and commercial real estate industries. Mr. Barag has over 30 years of real estate and
timberland investment experience, including expertise in acquisitions, divestitures, asset management, property management and financing. Our
Chief Operating Officer and Secretary, John F. Rasor, has over 45 years of experience in the timberland and forest products industries, including
expertise in forest management, fiber procurement and log merchandising, sales and distribution. Prior to joining our company, Messrs. Barag
and Rasor most recently served as Principals of T-Star Investment Partners, LLC, or TimberStar Advisors, a timberland investment consulting
firm based in Atlanta, Georgia, which they formed following their successful roles as Managing Directors of TimberStar Operating Partnership,
LP and its affiliated entities, collectively TimberStar, a timberland investment joint venture among Messrs. Barag and Rasor, iStar Financial,
Inc. and other institutional investors. While at TimberStar, they oversaw the acquisition of over $1.4 billion of timberlands in Arkansas,
Louisiana, Maine and Texas and the disposition of these assets in transactions representing approximately $1.9 billion in gross proceeds. Prior to
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TimberStar, Mr. Barag held positions as Chief Investment Officer of TimberVest, LLC, or TimberVest, and Chief Investment Officer of Lend
Lease Real Estate Investments, Inc., or Lend Lease, and Mr. Rasor had a 40-year career at Georgia-Pacific Corporation, including the role of
Executive Vice President�Forest Resources, with responsibility for managing over six million acres of timberlands as well as several other
business units.

Exclusively Invested in U.S. Timberlands. We do not own any pulp, paper or wood products manufacturing assets, which allows us to focus on
optimal management of our timberlands and prevents us from being exposed to the risks inherent in direct ownership of forest products
manufacturing operations. We are a �pure-play,� publicly-traded timber REIT.

Strategically Located in Competitive Fiber Basket. Our timberlands are primarily located in a competitive and dynamic U.S. South fiber basket.
Our timberlands are strategically located in close proximity to a variety of established pulp, paper and wood products manufacturing facilities,
which provide a steady source of competitive demand for both pulpwood and higher-value sawtimber products. A combination of public, private
and company-maintained roads provide convenient access to our timberlands for logging and forest management activities. Our Georgia and
Alabama timberlands are located in close proximity to several major interstate highways and state roads (including Interstate 85 to the north,
Interstate 75 to the east, U.S. Highway 82 and State Highways 62 and 52 to the south, and U.S. Highway 231 to the west), which provide
efficient delivery routes to nearby manufacturers of lumber, plywood, engineered wood products, oriented strand board, pulp and paper. Our
Texas timberlands are located in close proximity to Interstates 10, 20 and 30.

Significant Volume Commitment through Fiber Supply Agreement. We benefit from an attractive long-term fiber supply agreement with
MeadWestvaco Corporation, or MeadWestvaco, which covers a substantial portion of our anticipated annual harvest volume. The Mahrt Mill
(located in Cottonton, Alabama) is one of the primary manufacturing facilities for MeadWestvaco�s Coated Board division, which produces
paperboard for conversion into folding cartons and beverage carriers. The fiber supply agreement requires us to sell (through a taxable
subsidiary) and requires MeadWestvaco to purchase a certain volume of pulpwood and other timber products annually. We believe that the fiber
supply agreement is mutually beneficial, as it provides us with a stable demand outlet for a significant portion of our timber production at
competitive prices, while providing MeadWestvaco access to a reliable source of fiber for a key manufacturing facility.

Scalable Infrastructure. We believe that our existing management organization, information technology and internal reporting systems can be
deployed over a larger asset base without the need for significant incremental cost or personnel. We believe that our existing infrastructure and
operating platform will facilitate our growth strategy by allowing us to quickly evaluate, execute and capitalize on timberland acquisition
opportunities with only modest incremental costs to us. In addition, we maintain relationships with numerous third-party vendors, including
logging contractors, timberland consultant, timberland brokers, forest management firms and professional service providers, which expand our
geographic reach and allow for cost-effective acquisition, integration and property management solutions.

Capital Available for Growth. We have entered into an amended loan agreement with CoBank, ACB, or CoBank, and AgFirst Farm Credit Bank
and a syndicate of lenders that provides for a senior secured credit facility of up to $240 million, which includes a $25 million revolving credit
facility and a $215 million multi-draw term credit facility that we intend to use for future timberland acquisitions. Upon completion of this
offering and application of the net proceeds therefrom, all $215 million of our multi-draw term credit facility will be a available to use for future
timberland acquisitions, including the pending acquisitions described above in �Recent Developments.�

S-6
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Our Business and Growth Strategies

Our objective is to maximize total returns to our stockholders through the ongoing implementation of the following business and growth
strategies:

Actively Manage Our Timberlands for Long-Term Results. We intend to actively manage our timberlands to maximize long-term returns by
achieving an optimum balance among biological timber growth, generation of current cash flow from harvesting, and responsible environmental
stewardship. Further, we expect to continue making investments in forest technology, including improved seedlings, in order to increase the
sustainable yield of our timberlands over the long-term.

Maximize Our Profitability on Timber Sales. We actively manage our log merchandising efforts and stumpage sales with the goal of achieving
the highest available price for our timber products. We compete with other timberland owners on the basis of the quality of our logs, the prices
of our logs, our reputation as a reliable supplier and our ability to meet customer specifications. We will continue to work diligently and
proactively with our third-party contractors to ensure that we optimize our logging, hauling, sorting and merchandising operations to extract the
maximum profitability from each of our logs based on the foregoing considerations.

Pursue Attractive Timberland Acquisitions. We intend to selectively pursue timberland acquisition opportunities. Due to the expected liquidation
of the ownership positions of a number of TIMOs over the next several years, we expect there will be a robust supply of attractive timberlands
available for sale. Generally, we expect to focus our acquisition efforts in the most commercially desirable timber-producing regions of the U.S.
South and U.S. Pacific Northwest, although we may also pursue opportunistic acquisitions outside of these regions. Further, we expect to focus
our acquisition efforts on properties that can be immediately accretive to our cash available for distribution. We may also enter into additional
fiber supply agreements with respect to acquired properties in order to ensure a steady source of demand for our incremental timber production.

Opportunistically Sell HBU Lands. We continuously assess potential alternative uses of our timberlands, as some of our properties may be more
valuable for development, conservation, recreational or other rural purposes than for growing timber. We intend to capitalize on the value of our
timberland portfolio by opportunistically monetizing HBU properties. The close proximity of our existing timberlands to several major
population centers (including Dallas, Texas; Houston, Texas; Columbus, Georgia; Atlanta, Georgia; and Montgomery, Alabama) provides us
with opportunities to periodically sell parcels of our land at favorable valuations. We generally expect to monetize 1% to 2% of our fee
timberland acreage on an annual basis pursuant to our land sales program, although such results may vary. We may also decide to pursue various
land entitlements on certain properties in order to realize higher long-term values on such properties.

Practice Sound Environmental Stewardship. We will remain committed to responsible environmental stewardship and sustainable forestry. Our
timberlands are third-party audited and certified according to the SFI in accordance with the 2010-2014 SFI standard. SFI standards promote
sustainable forest management through recognized core principles, including measures to protect water quality, biodiversity, wildlife habitat and
at-risk species. We believe our continued commitment to environmental stewardship will allow us to maintain our timberlands� productivity,
grow our customer base and enhance our reputation as a preferred timber supplier.

S-7
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Timber Agreements

A substantial portion of our timber sales are derived from our master stumpage agreement and fiber supply agreement with a wholly owned
subsidiary of MeadWestvaco Corporation under which we sell specified amounts of timber to the MeadWestvaco subsidiary, which we refer to
as the timber agreements. Approximately 60% of our net timber sales revenue for 2013 was derived from the timber agreements, and, for
the three months ended March 31, 2014, approximately 35% of our net timber sales revenue was derived from the timber agreements. The initial
term of the timber agreements is from October 9, 2007 through December 31, 2032, subject to extension and early termination provisions. See
�Business and Properties�Timber Agreements� for additional information regarding the material terms of the timber agreements.

Summary Risk Factors

An investment in shares of our Class A common stock involves various risks. You should consider carefully the risks discussed below, under the
heading �Risk Factors� beginning on page S-14 of this prospectus supplement and the risk factors incorporated by reference to our most recent
Annual Report on Form 10-K and the other information contained in this prospectus supplement, as updated by our subsequent filings under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, before purchasing our Class A common stock. If any of these risks occur,
our business, prospects, financial condition, liquidity, results of operations and ability to make distributions to our stockholders could be
materially and adversely affected. In that case, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline and you could lose some or all of
your investment.

� The forest products industry is cyclical in nature, and unfavorable changes in market conditions could impair our operating results.

� Our cash distributions are not guaranteed and may fluctuate.

� We depend upon our relationships with MeadWestvaco and Forest Resource Consultants, Inc., or FRC, and any change in the
financial health of these companies could impact our performance.

� We have closed three significant acquisitions of timberland properties and may be unsuccessful in executing our investment strategy.

� We depend on external sources of capital for future growth, and our ability to continuously access the capital markets is unproven.

� As a relatively small public company, our operating expenses are a larger percentage of our total revenues than many other public
companies.

� Continued economic weakness from the severe recession that the U.S. economy recently experienced may materially and adversely
affect our financial condition and results of operations.

� Our real estate investment activity is concentrated in timberlands, making us more vulnerable economically than if our investments
were diversified.

� Our timberlands are located in Georgia, Texas and Alabama, and adverse economic and other developments in those areas could have
a material adverse effect on us.
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� We have only recently completed our transition to self-management, and therefore we have a limited track record with our new
management team.

� We have experienced aggregate net losses attributable to our common stockholders, including approximately $36.7 million between
January 1, 2011 and March 31, 2014, and we may experience future losses.

� Our existing indebtedness and any future indebtedness we may incur could adversely affect our financial health and operating
flexibility.

� Our financial condition could be adversely affected by financial and other covenants and other provisions under the third amended and
restated credit agreement, or the Amended CoBank loan, with CoBank, Agfirst Farm Credit Bank, and Cooperatieve Centrale
Raiffelsen-Boerenleenbank, B.A., or RaboBank, and certain financial institutions and other debt agreements.

� Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and hinder our ability to pay distributions to our
stockholders.

� Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes in control of us, which could lower the value of our Class A common stock.

� Failure to continue to qualify as a REIT would cause us to be taxed as a regular corporation, which would substantially reduce funds
available for distributions to our stockholders and materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Distribution Policy; Tax Character of Distributions

Since our listing on the NYSE, our new management team implemented a revised business strategy that includes (1) increasing our annual
harvest volume based on a sustainable harvest plan in order to support a distribution to our common stockholders and (2) establishing annual
HBU sales targets. Since our listing on the NYSE, we have made and intend to continue to make regular quarterly distributions to holders of our
common stock. Dividends will be made to those stockholders who are stockholders as of the dividend record dates.

The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, generally requires that a REIT distribute annually at least 90% of its REIT taxable
income, determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains, and imposes tax on any taxable income
retained by a REIT, including capital gains. To satisfy the requirements for qualification as a REIT and generally not be subject to U.S. federal
income and excise tax, we intend to make regular quarterly distributions of all or substantially all of our REIT taxable income to holders of our
common stock out of assets legally available for such purposes.

We expect to derive most of our REIT taxable income from investments in our timberlands, including the sale of standing timber through pay as
cut contracts. Provided we have held our timberlands for more than one year, we expect that the income from our timber-cutting contracts
generally will be treated as long-term capital gain. Distributions of such capital gain to our stockholders generally will be taxable to stockholders
that are individuals, estates or trusts at a maximum U.S. federal income tax rate of 20%, as compared to the maximum 39.6% individual tax
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rate that applies to ordinary REIT dividends. Both ordinary dividends and capital gain dividends are included in net investment income, which is
subject to an additional 3.8% unearned income Medicare tax in the case of high-income U.S. individuals, estates and trusts.

The terms of our credit agreement prohibited us from declaring, setting aside funds for, or paying any dividend, distribution, or other payment to
our stockholders other than as required to maintain our REIT qualification if our loan-to-value ratio, or LTV ratio, is greater than or equal to
45%. However, on May 30, 2014, we entered into a joinder and amendment agreement, which provides us with greater flexibility to use the
proceeds from land sales for general working capital, acquisitions of additional timberland or permitted distributions or other payments. We may
use proceeds totaling up to 1.5% of the aggregate cost basis of our timberland if our LTV ratio is in excess of 30% but less than 40% and up to
2.0% of the aggregate cost basis if our LTV ratio does not exceed 30%.

The amount of distributions that we may pay to our common stockholders will be determined by our board of directors in its sole discretion and
is dependent upon a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our financial condition, our capital requirements, our expectations of future
sources of liquidity, current and future economic conditions and market demand for timber and timberlands, and tax considerations.

Restrictions on Ownership of Our Common Stock

To assist us in complying with the limitations on the concentration of ownership of a REIT imposed by the Code, among other purposes, our
charter generally prohibits, with certain exceptions, any stockholder from beneficially or constructively owning, applying certain attribution
rules under the Code, more than 9.8% in value of the outstanding shares of our capital stock, or more than 9.8% in value or in number of shares
(whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding shares of our common stock. Our board of directors may waive (prospectively or retroactively)
the 9.8% ownership limits with respect to a particular stockholder if it receives certain representations and undertakings required by our charter
and is presented with evidence satisfactory to it that such ownership will not then or in the future cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT.

Background and Corporate Information

We are a Maryland corporation formed in September 2005, and we have been publicly registered and subject to SEC reporting obligations since
the effectiveness of our first public offering in 2006. Our principal executive office is currently located at 5 Concourse Parkway, Suite 2325,
Atlanta, Georgia 30328, and our telephone number is (855) 858-9794. We maintain an internet website at www.catchmark.com that contains
information concerning us. The information found on, or otherwise accessible through, our website is not incorporated into, and does not form a
part of, this prospectus supplement or any other report or document we file with or furnish to the SEC.

Our Corporate Structure

We own substantially all of our properties and other investments through our operating partnership. Our operating partnership was formed in
November 2005 to acquire properties on our behalf. We are the sole general partner of our operating partnership and own approximately 99.99%
of its common units. CatchMark LP Holder, the sole limited partner of our operating partnership, owns the remaining approximately 0.01% of
the common units.

This structure facilitates our ability to take advantage of the tax benefits associated with an Umbrella Partnership Real Estate Investment Trust,
or UPREIT. The UPREIT structure is used
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because a contribution of property directly to a REIT is generally a taxable transaction to the contributing property owner. In an UPREIT
structure, a seller of a property who desires to defer taxable gain on the sale of his property may transfer the property to the UPREIT in exchange
for common units in the UPREIT and defer taxation of gain until the seller later sells his common units or causes our operating partnership to
redeem his common units. Using an UPREIT structure may give us an advantage in acquiring desired properties from persons who may not
otherwise sell their properties because of unfavorable tax results. At present, we have no plans to acquire any specific properties in exchange for
common units of our operating partnership.

CatchMark Timber TRS, Inc., or CatchMark Timber TRS, is a wholly owned subsidiary of our operating partnership. We have elected to treat
CatchMark Timber TRS as a taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS. A TRS is a fully taxable corporation. A TRS may earn income that would not be
qualifying REIT income if earned directly by us. Our use of a TRS enables us to engage in certain business activities, such as the sales of
delivered logs and HBU properties, which if conducted by us directly could give rise to income potentially subject to the 100% penalty tax or
constituting nonqualifying gross income for purposes of the REIT gross income tests.
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The Offering

Issuer CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc.

Class A common stock offered by us 10,000,000 shares (plus up to 1,500,000 shares that we may issue if the
underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares of our Class A
common stock in full)

Common stock to be outstanding after this offering: (1)(2) 34,985,009 shares (or 36,485,009 shares if the underwriters exercise their
option to purchase additional shares of our Class A common stock in full)

NYSE symbol �CTT�

Use of proceeds We expect to utilize the net proceeds from the sale of common shares by us in
this offering together with the available borrowing capacity under our
multi-draw term credit facility, after giving effect to the application of the net
proceeds from this offering, primarily for future timberland acquisitions, which
may include the pending acquisitions described above in �Recent Developments�
or for other general corporate purposes. See �Use of Proceeds� on page S-40 of
this prospectus supplement.

Distribution Policy We intend to continue to make regular quarterly distributions to holders of our
common stock in an amount equal to at least 90% of our taxable income. U.S.
federal income tax law generally requires that a REIT distribute annually at
least 90% of its REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the
deduction for dividends paid and excluding net capital gains, and that it pay tax
at regular corporate rates on its undistributed taxable income.

Risk factors Investing in our Class A common stock involves risks. See �Risk Factors�
beginning on page S-14 of this prospectus supplement and in our reports filed
with the SEC.

(1) The number of shares of our common stock to be outstanding immediately after this offering as shown above is based on, as of June 30, 2014: 18,656,057
shares of our Class A common stock outstanding, no shares of our Class B-1 outstanding, 3,164,476 shares of our Class B-2 common stock outstanding and
3,164,476 shares of our Class B-3 common stock outstanding, plus the 10,000,000 shares to be issued in this offering (or 11,500,000 shares if the
underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares in full) and includes 85,000 shares of Class A common stock granted to our named executive
officers and 20,000 shares of Class A common stock granted to our non-executive employees.

(2) Excludes 1,086,984 of securities available for future issuance under our current long-term incentive plan and 198,692 securities remaining available for future
issuance under the original 2005 plan and 4,611 stock option awards held by our directors as of June 30, 2014.
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Summary Consolidated Financial Data

The summary consolidated financial and operating data set forth below as of December 31, 2013 and for the years ended December 31, 2013,
2012 and 2011 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus supplement. The
audited consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. The
financial and operating data as of March 31, 2014 and for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 have been derived from our
unaudited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus supplement. The unaudited consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of our management, reflect all
adjustments, consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of this data. The results for any interim period are not
necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for a full year, and the historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative
of the results to be expected in any future period.

Because the information presented below is only a summary and does not provide all of the information contained in our historical consolidated
financial statements, including the related notes, you should read it in conjunction with �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations� and our historical consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, included elsewhere in this
prospectus supplement.

Three Months Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2013 2012 2011
Statements of Operations Data:
Total revenues $ 8,869,937 $ 7,387,791 $ 32,047,590 $ 44,199,779 $ 40,017,827
Net loss (388,059) (1,986,734) (13,196,920) (8,870,732) (11,945,363) 
Net loss available to common stockholders (388,059) (2,078,868) (13,556,704) (9,244,724) (13,502,038) 
Per-share data�basic and diluted:
Net loss available to common stockholders (0.02) (0.16) (1.03) (0.73) (1.18) 
Weighted-average common shares
outstanding 24,834,373 12,713,817 13,145,779 12,741,822 11,395,632

Other Data:
Adjusted EBITDA (1) $ 1,942,335 $ 1,243,333 $ 3,469,152 $ 15,496,804 $ 7,191,033
Capital expenditures � excluding acquisitions 338,106 242,588 444,003 530,739 530,927
Capital expenditures � acquisitions 4,347,265 � 1,742,528 22,523,863 1,059,623
Cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities 532,492 (923,626) (1,071,813) 11,425,870 4,572,131
Investing activities (4,685,371) (58,363) (136,468) (18,342,419) (536,033) 
Financing activities (1,272,738) (1,200,089) (1,398,904) 11,288,668 (5,976,092) 
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March 31, 2014
Historical As Adjusted(2)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,188,290 $ 12,665,247
Total assets 336,305,131 431,165,131
Total liabilities 39,784,336 5,784,336
Total stockholders� equity 296,520,795 425,380,795
Outstanding debt 34,000,000 �
Outstanding long-term debt 34,000,000 �
Ratio of total debt to market capitalization 10% 0% 

(1) See �Selected Consolidated Financial Data� for the definition of Adjusted EBITDA, for information regarding why we present this non-GAAP measure and for
a reconciliation to net loss.

(2) As adjusted to give effect to the Completed Acquisitions and the sale of shares of our common stock in this offering at the assumed offering price of $13.60
per share (based on the last reported sales price of our shares on the NYSE on July 2, 2014), after deducting the underwriting discount and estimated offering
expenses and the application of the proceeds therefrom. You should read this table together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes
included in this prospectus supplement.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in shares of our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. Before making an investment decision, you should carefully
consider the following risk factors the risks described in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, as well as
other information and data set forth in this prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus and the documents we incorporate by
reference herein and therein before making an investment decision with respect to the common stock. The occurrence of any of the following
risks could materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and our ability to make cash
distributions to our stockholders, which could cause you to lose all or a part of your investment in our common stock. Some statements in this
prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus and the documents we incorporate by reference herein and therein, including
statements in the following risk factors, constitute forward-looking statements. See �Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.�

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

The cyclical nature of the forest products industry could impair our operating results.

Our operating results are affected by the cyclical nature of the forest products industry. Our operating results depend on prices for timber that
can experience significant variation and that have been historically volatile. Like other participants in the forest products industry, we have
limited direct influence over the timing and extent of price changes for cellulose fiber, timber, and wood products. Although some of the supply
agreements we have or expect to enter into in the future fix the price of our harvested timber for a period of time, these contracts may not protect
us from the long-term effects of price declines and may restrict our ability to take advantage of price increases.

The demand for timber and wood products is affected primarily by the level of new residential construction activity, the supply of manufactured
timber products, including imports of timber products, and, to a lesser extent, repair and remodeling activity and other commercial and industrial
uses. The demand for timber also is affected by the demand for wood chips in the pulp and paper markets and for hardwood in the furniture and
other hardwood industries. The demand for cellulose fiber is related to the demand for disposable products such as diapers and feminine hygiene
products. These activities are, in turn, subject to fluctuations due to, among other factors:

� changes in domestic and international economic conditions;

� interest and currency rates;

� population growth and changing demographics; and

� seasonal weather cycles (for example, dry summers and wet winters).
Decreases in the level of residential construction activity generally reduce demand for logs and wood products. This can result in lower
revenues, profits, and cash flows. In addition, increases in the supply of logs and wood products at both the local and national level also can lead
to downward pressure on prices during favorable price environments. Timber owners generally increase production volumes for logs and wood
products during favorable price environments. Such increased production, however, when coupled with even modest declines in demand for
these products in general, could lead to oversupply and lower prices. Oversupply can result in lower revenues, profits, and cash flows to us and
could negatively impact our results of operations.
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Increasing competition from a variety of substitute products could lead to declines in demand for wood products and negatively impact our
business.

Wood products are subject to increasing competition from a variety of substitute products, including products made from engineered wood
composites, fiber/cement composites, plastics and steel, as well as import competition from other worldwide suppliers. This could result in lower
demand for wood products and impair our operating results.

Our cash distributions are not guaranteed and may fluctuate.

Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, determines the amount of the distributions (including the determination of whether to retain net
capital gains income) to be provided to our stockholders. Our board will determine whether to authorize a distribution and the amount of such
distribution based on its consideration of a number of factors including, but not limited to, our results of operations, cash flow and capital
requirements, economic conditions, tax considerations, borrowing capacity and other factors, including debt covenant restrictions that may
impose limitations on cash payments, future acquisitions and divestitures, harvest levels, changes in the price and demand for our products and
general market demand for timberlands, including those timberlands that have higher-and-better uses. In addition, our board of directors may
choose to retain operating cash flow for investment purposes, working capital reserves or other purposes, and these retained funds, although
increasing the value of our underlying assets, may not correspondingly increase the market price of our common stock. Consequently, our
distribution levels may fluctuate. Our failure to meet the market�s expectations with regard to future cash distributions likely would adversely
affect the market price of our common stock.

We are substantially dependent on our business relationship with MeadWestvaco, and our continued success will depend on its economic
performance.

We entered into the Timber Agreements with MeadWestvaco in connection with the acquisition of Mahrt Timberland. The Timber Agreements
provide that we will sell (through CatchMark Timber TRS) specified amounts of timber to MeadWestvaco, subject to market pricing
adjustments and certain early termination rights of the parties. The Timber Agreements are intended to ensure a long-term source of supply of
wood fiber products for MeadWestvaco in order to meet its paperboard and lumber production requirements at specified mills and provide us
with a reliable customer for the wood products from our timberlands. Our financial performance is substantially dependent on the economic
performance of MeadWestvaco as a consumer of our wood products. Approximately 60% of our net timber sales revenue for 2013 was derived
from the Timber Agreements, which significantly exceeded the minimum amount of timber that MeadWestvaco was required to purchase
pursuant to the Timber Agreements. For the three months ended March 31, 2014, approximately 35% of our net timber sales revenue was
derived from the Timber Agreements. The initial term of the Timber Agreements is from October 9, 2007 through December 31, 2032, subject
to extension and early termination provisions. See �Business and Properties�Timber Agreements� for additional information regarding material
terms of the Timber Agreements. If MeadWestvaco does not continue to purchase significantly more than the minimum amount of timber it is
required to purchase from us, or if MeadWestvaco becomes unable to purchase the required minimum amount of timber from us, there could be
a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

In addition, in the event of a force majeure impacting MeadWestvaco, which is defined by the Timber Agreements to include, among other
things, lightning, fires, storms, floods, infestation, other acts of God or nature, power failures and labor strikes or lockouts by employees, the
amount of timber that MeadWestvaco is required to purchase in the calendar year would be reduced pro
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rata based on the period during which the force majeure was in effect and continuing. If the force majeure is in effect and continuing for 15 days
or more, MeadWestvaco would not be required to purchase the timber that was not purchased during the force majeure period. If the force
majeure is in effect and continuing for fewer than 15 days, MeadWestvaco would have up to 180 days after the termination of the force majeure
period to purchase the timber that was not purchased during the force majeure period. As a result, the occurrence of a force majeure under the
terms of the Timber Agreements could adversely impact our business and financial condition.

We have only completed three significant timberland property acquisitions and may be unsuccessful in executing our investment strategy.

We have only completed three significant acquisitions of timberland properties and we intend to pursue investments in strategic timberlands
when market conditions warrant. Our ability to identify and acquire desirable timberlands depends upon the performance of our management
team in the selection of our investments. The Completed Acquisitions, the pending acquisitions described in �Prospectus Supplement
Summary�Recent Developments� (if completed) and our future acquisitions (if any) may not perform in accordance with our expectations. In
addition, we anticipate financing these acquisitions through proceeds from borrowings under our multi-draw term credit facility, equity or debt
offerings (including offerings of partnership units by our operating partnership), other borrowings, cash from operations, proceeds from asset
dispositions, or any combination thereof. Our inability to finance future acquisitions on favorable terms or the failure of any acquisitions to
conform to our expectations, could adversely affect our results of operations.

We depend on external sources of capital for future growth and our ability to continuously access the capital markets is unproven.

Our ability to finance our growth is dependent to a significant degree on external sources of capital and as a company that has only recently
listed its shares on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, our ability to access such capital on favorable terms could be hampered by a
number of factors, many of which are outside of our control, including, without limitation, a decline in general market conditions, decreased
market liquidity, increases in interest rates, an unfavorable market perception of our growth potential, a decrease in our current or estimated
future earnings or a decrease in the market price of our common stock. In addition, our ability to access additional capital may be limited by the
terms of our bylaws, which restrict our incurrence of debt, and by our existing indebtedness, which, among other things, restricts our incurrence
of debt and the payment of dividends. Any of these factors, individually or in combination, could prevent us from being able to obtain the capital
we require on terms that are acceptable to us, and the failure to obtain necessary capital could materially adversely affect our future growth.

As a relatively small public company, our operating expenses are a larger percentage of our total revenues than many other public
companies.

Our total assets as of December 31, 2013 were $339.0 million and our revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013 were $32.0 million.
Because our company is smaller than many other publicly-traded REITs, our operating expenses are, and we expect will continue to be, a larger
percentage of our total revenues than many other public companies. If we are unable to access external sources of capital and grow our business,
our operating expenses will have a greater effect on our financial performance and may reduce the amount of cash flow available to distribute to
our stockholders.
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Continued economic weakness from the severe recession that the U.S. economy recently experienced may materially and adversely affect our
financial condition and results of operations.

The U.S. economy is still experiencing weakness from the severe recession that it recently experienced, which resulted in increased
unemployment and a decline in timberland values. Although the U.S. economy has emerged from the recent recession, high levels of
unemployment have persisted, and timberland values have not fully recovered to pre-recession levels and may not for a number of years. If the
economic recovery slows or stalls, we may continue to experience downward pressure on the amounts we are able to charge our customers.

We are dependent on Forest Resource Consultants to manage our timberlands.

We are party to a timberland operating agreement with Forest Resource Consultants, Inc., or FRC, which we renew on a yearly basis. Pursuant
to this agreement, we depend upon FRC to manage and operate our timberlands and related timber operations, and to ensure delivery of timber
to MeadWestvaco and other timber purchasers. To the extent we lose the services of FRC, we are unable to obtain the services of FRC at a
reasonable price, or FRC does not perform the services in accordance with the timberland operating agreement, our results of operations may be
adversely affected.

Our real estate investment activity is concentrated in timberlands, making us more vulnerable economically than if our investments were
diversified.

We have only acquired timberlands and expect to make additional timberlands acquisitions in the future. We are subject to risks inherent in
concentrating investments in real estate. The risks resulting from a lack of diversification become even greater as a result of our strategy to
invest primarily, if not exclusively, in timberlands. A downturn in the real estate industry generally or the timber or forest products industries
specifically could reduce the value of our properties and could require us to recognize impairment losses from our properties. A downturn in the
timber or forest products industries also could prevent our customers from making payments to us and, consequently, would prevent us from
meeting debt service obligations or making distributions to our stockholders. The risks we face may be more pronounced than if we diversified
our investments outside real estate or outside timberlands.

Our timberlands are located in Georgia, Alabama and Texas, and adverse economic and other developments in those areas could have a
material adverse effect on us.

All of our timberlands are located in Georgia, Alabama and Texas. As a result, we may be susceptible to adverse economic and other
developments in this region, including industry slowdowns, business layoffs or downsizing, relocations of businesses, changes in demographics,
increases in real estate and other taxes and increased regulation, any of which could have a material adverse effect on us.

In addition, the geographic concentration of our property makes us more susceptible to adverse impacts from a single natural disaster such as
fire, hurricane, earthquake, insect infestation, drought, disease, ice storms, windstorms, flooding and other factors that could negatively impact
our timber production.
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We have only recently completed our transition to self-management, and therefore we have a limited track record with our new management
team.

On October 25, 2013, we completed our transition to self-management and hired a management team and other employees to run our company.
Two of our executive officers, Jerry Barag (our Chief Executive Officer and President) and John F. Rasor (our Chief Operating Officer and
Secretary) had no affiliation with us or Wells Timberland Management Organization, LLC, or Wells TIMO, until they commenced providing
consulting services to us in August 2013. As a result, we have a limited track record with the new members of our management team and we
may experience difficulties in integrating these individuals into our company. In addition, two of our three executive officers have not previously
served as executive officers of a publicly-traded company. If our management team does not perform as we expect, our results of operations will
be adversely affected.

Our results of operations could be negatively impacted by our transition to self-management.

As a result of our transition to self-management, we no longer bear the costs of the various fees and expense reimbursements previously paid to
Wells TIMO; however, our expenses now include the compensation and benefits of our officers, employees and consultants, as well as overhead
previously paid by Wells TIMO. Furthermore, these employees provide us services historically provided by Wells TIMO. We cannot assure you
that we will be able to provide those services at the same level as were provided to us prior to our transition to self-management, and our costs
for these services may be greater than these costs were prior to our transition to self-management. In addition, there may be unforeseen costs,
expenses and difficulties associated with providing those services on a self-managed basis.

We depend on the efforts and expertise of our key executive officers and would be adversely affected by the loss of their services.

We depend on the efforts and expertise of our Chief Executive Officer, our Chief Operating Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, to execute
our business strategy and we cannot guarantee their continued service. The loss of their services, and our inability to find suitable replacements,
would have an adverse effect on our business.

If we fail to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and procedures and integrated internal controls, we may not be able to report
our financial results accurately, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

We are required to report our operations on a consolidated basis under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. If we fail to
maintain proper overall business controls, our results of operations could be harmed or we could fail to meet our reporting obligations. In
addition, the existence of a material weakness or significant deficiency could result in errors in our financial statements that could require a
restatement, cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and cause stockholders to lose confidence in our reported financial information,
which could have a material adverse effect on us. In addition, we will have to modify our disclosure controls and procedures and internal
controls in connection with our transition to self-management, which may increase the risk to us of experiencing a significant deficiency or
material weakness in our internal controls or failing to maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures. If we fail to establish and maintain
such new controls effectively, we may experience inaccuracies or delays in our financial reporting. In the case of any joint ventures we might
enter into, we may also be subject to additional risks and uncertainties in that we may be dependent upon, and subject to liability, losses or
reputation damage relating to, overall business controls, that are not under our control
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which could have a material adverse effect on us. In addition, we rely on FRC and its systems to provide us with certain information related to
our operations, including our timber sales. Although we review such information prior to incorporating it into our accounting systems, we cannot
assure the accuracy of such information. If FRC�s systems fail to accurately report to us the information on which we rely, we may not be able to
accurately report our financial results, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

We have experienced aggregate net losses attributable to our common stockholders, including approximately $36.7 million between
January 1, 2011 and March 31, 2014, and we may experience future losses.

We had net losses attributable to our common stockholders of approximately $13.6 million, $9.2 million, and $13.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, and net losses attributable to our common stockholders of approximately $400,000 for the
quarter ended March 31, 2014. If we continue to incur net losses in the future or such losses increase, our financial condition, results of
operations, cash flow and our ability to service our indebtedness and make distributions to our stockholders would be materially and adversely
affected, any of which could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.

We are subject to the credit risk of our customers. The failure of any of our customers to make payments due to us under supply agreements
could have an adverse impact on our financial performance.

Current and future customers who agree to purchase our timber under supply contracts will range in credit quality from high to low. We assume
the full credit risk of these parties, as we have no payment guarantees under the contract or insurance if one of these parties fails to make
payments to us. While we intend to continue acquiring timberlands in well-developed and active timber markets with access to numerous
customers, we may not be successful in this endeavor. Depending upon the location of any additional timberlands we acquire and the supply
agreements we enter into, our supply agreements may be concentrated among a small number of customers. Even though we may have legal
recourse under our contracts, we may not have any practical recourse to recover payments from some of our customers if they default on their
obligations to us. Any bankruptcy or insolvency of our customers, or failure or delay by these parties to make payments to us under our
agreements, would cause us to lose the revenue associated with these payments and adversely impact our cash flow, financial condition and
results of operations.

We intend to sell portions of our timberlands, either because they are HBU properties or in response to changing conditions, but if we are
unable to sell these timberlands promptly or at the price that we anticipate, our land sale revenues may be reduced, which could reduce the
cash available for distribution to our stockholders.

On an annual basis, we intend to sell approximately 1% to 2% of our fee timberland acreage, specifically timberlands that we have determined
have become more valuable for development, recreational, conservation and other uses than for growing timber, which we refer to as HBU
properties. We intend to use the proceeds from these sales to support our distributions to our stockholders. We may also sell portions of our
timberland from time to time in response to changing economic, financial or investment conditions. Because timberlands are relatively illiquid
investments, our ability to promptly sell timberlands is limited. The following factors, among others, may adversely affect the timing and
amount of our income generated by sales of our timberlands:

� general economic conditions;
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� availability of funding for governmental agencies, developers, conservation organizations, individuals and others to purchase our
timberlands for recreational, conservation, residential or other purposes;

� local real estate market conditions, such as oversupply of, or reduced demand for, properties sharing the same or similar characteristics
as our timberlands;

� competition from other sellers of land and real estate developers;

� weather conditions or natural disasters having an adverse effect on our properties;

� relative illiquidity of real estate investments;

� forestry management costs associated with maintaining and managing timberlands;

� changes in interest rates and in the availability, cost and terms of debt financing;

� impact of federal, state and local land use and environmental protection laws;

� changes in governmental laws and regulations, fiscal policies and zoning ordinances, and the related costs of compliance with laws
and regulations, fiscal policies and ordinances; or

� it may be necessary to delay sales in order to minimize the risk that gains would be subject to the 100% prohibited transactions tax.
In acquiring timberlands and in entering into long-term supply agreements, we may agree to lock-out provisions that materially restrict us from
selling that property for a period of time or impose other restrictions, such as a limitation on the amount of debt that can be placed or repaid on
that property. These factors and any others that would impede our ability to respond quickly to market opportunities could adversely impact our
results of operations and reduce our cash available to pay distributions to our stockholders.

Large-scale increases in the supply of timber may affect timber prices and reduce our revenues.

The supply of timber available for sale in the market could increase for a number of reasons, including producers introducing new capacity or
increasing harvest levels. Some governmental agencies, principally the U.S.D.A. Forest Service and the U.S. Department of the Interior�s Bureau
of Land Management, own large amounts of timberlands. If these agencies choose to sell more timber from their holdings than they have been
selling in recent years, timber prices could fall and our revenues could be reduced. Any large reduction in the revenues we expect to earn from
our timberlands would reduce the returns, if any, we are able to achieve for our stockholders.

Uninsured losses relating to the timberlands we own and may acquire may reduce our stockholders� returns.

The volume and value of timber that can be harvested from the timberlands we own and may acquire may be limited by natural disasters such as
fire, hurricane, earthquake, insect infestation, drought, disease, ice storms, windstorms, flooding, and other weather conditions and natural
disasters, as well as other causes such as theft, trespass, condemnation, or other casualty. We do not intend to maintain insurance for any loss to
our standing timber from natural disasters or other causes. Any funds used for such losses would reduce cash available for distributions to our
stockholders.
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The forest products industry and the market for timberlands are highly competitive, which could force us to pay higher prices for our
properties or limit the amount of suitable timberlands we are able to acquire and thereby reduce our profitability and the return on an
investment in us.

The forest products industry is highly competitive in terms of price and quality. We have closed upon three significant timberland property
acquisitions. To the extent that we have access to capital to make acquisitions, we will be competing for timberlands with other entities,
including traditional corporations and REITs, forestry products companies, real estate limited partnerships, pension funds and their advisors,
bank and insurance company investment accounts, individuals, and other entities. Many of our competitors have more experience, greater
financial resources, and a greater ability than we do to borrow funds to acquire properties. In recent years, the timberland investment business
has experienced increasing competition for the purchase of timberlands from both commercial and residential real estate developers as a result of
urban and suburban expansion. We expect this trend to continue. Many real estate developers have substantially greater financial resources than
our company. In addition, many developers tend to use high relative amounts of leverage to acquire development parcels, which we may not be
willing or able to incur. Purchases of timberland parcels for development not only reduce the amount of suitable timberland investment
properties, but also tend to separate larger, existing timberlands into smaller units, which have reduced economies of scale and are less desirable
for harvesting and the future marketability of the property for timber harvesting or other uses. Competition from real estate developers and
others limits the amount of suitable timberland investments available for us to acquire, and any increase in the prices we expect to pay for
timberland may reduce the returns, if any, we are able to achieve for our stockholders.

Harvesting our timber may be subject to limitations that could adversely affect our results of operations.

Our primary assets are our timberlands. Weather conditions, timber growth cycles, property access limitations, availability of contract loggers
and haulers, and regulatory requirements associated with the protection of wildlife and water resources may restrict our ability to harvest our
timberlands. Other factors that may restrict our timber harvest include damage to our standing timber by fire, hurricane, earthquake, insect
infestation, drought, disease, ice storms, windstorms, flooding and other weather conditions and natural disasters. Changes in global climate
conditions could intensify one or more of these factors. Although damage from such causes usually is localized and affects only a limited
percentage of standing timber, there can be no assurance that any damage affecting our timberlands will in fact be so limited. As is common in
the forest products industry, we do not maintain insurance coverage for damage to our timberlands. Furthermore, we may choose to invest in
timberlands that are intermingled with sections of federal land managed by the U.S.D.A. Forest Service or other private owners. In many cases,
access might be achieved only through a road or roads built across adjacent federal or private land. In order to access these intermingled
timberlands, we would need to obtain either temporary or permanent access rights to these lands from time to time. Our revenue, net income,
and cash flow from our operations will be dependent to a significant extent on the continued ability to harvest timber on our timberlands at
adequate levels and in a timely manner. Therefore, if we were to be restricted from harvesting on a significant portion of our timberlands for a
prolonged period of time, or if material damage to a significant portion of our standing timber were to occur, then our results of operations could
be adversely affected.
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We face possible liability for environmental clean-up costs and wildlife protection laws related to the timberlands we acquire, which could
increase our costs and reduce our profitability and cash distributions to our stockholders.

Our business is subject to laws, regulations, and related judicial decisions and administrative interpretations relating to, among other things, the
protection of timberlands, endangered species, timber harvesting practices, recreation and aesthetics and the protection of natural resources, air
and water quality that are subject to change and frequently enacted. These changes may adversely affect our ability to harvest and sell timber,
and remediate contaminated properties. We are subject to regulation under, among other laws, the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the National
Environmental Policy Act, and the Endangered Species Act, as well as comparable state laws and regulations. Violations of various statutory
and regulatory programs that apply to our operations could result in civil penalties; damages, including natural resource damages; remediation
expenses; potential injunctions; cease-and-desist orders; and criminal penalties.

Laws and regulations protecting the environment have generally become more stringent in recent years and could become more stringent in the
future. Some environmental statutes impose strict liability, rendering a person liable for environmental damage without regard to the person�s
negligence or fault. We may acquire timberlands subject to environmental liabilities, such as clean-up of hazardous substance contamination and
other existing or potential liabilities of which we are not aware, even after investigations of the properties. We may not be able to recover any of
these liabilities from the sellers of these properties. The cost of these clean-ups could therefore increase our operating costs and reduce our
profitability and cash available to make distributions to our stockholders. The existence of contamination or liability also may materially impair
our ability to use or sell affected timberlands.

The Endangered Species Act and comparable state laws protect species threatened with possible extinction. At least one species present on our
timberlands has been, and in the future more may be, protected under these laws. Protection of threatened and endangered species may include
restrictions on timber harvesting, road-building, and other forest practices on private, federal, and state land containing the affected species. The
size of the area subject to restriction varies depending on the protected species at issue, the time of year, and other factors, but can range from
less than one acre to several thousand acres.

The Clean Water Act regulates the direct and indirect discharge of pollutants into the waters of the United States. Under the Clean Water Act, it
is unlawful to discharge any pollutant from a �point source� into navigable waters of the United States without a permit obtained under the
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit program of the Environmental Protection Agency, or the EPA. Storm water from roads
supporting timber operations that is conveyed through ditches, culverts and channels are exempted by EPA rule from this permit requirement,
leaving these sources of water discharge to state regulation. The scope of these state regulations vary by state and are subject to change, and the
EPA�s exemption has recently been subject to legal challenges and legislative responses. To the extent we are subject to future federal or state
regulation of storm water runoff from roads supporting timber operations, our operational costs to comply with such regulations could increase
and our results of operations could be adversely affected.
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We may be unable to obtain accurate data on the volume and quality of the standing timber on a property that we intend to acquire, which
may impair our ability to derive the anticipated benefits from the timberlands.

The quality and reliability of data concerning timberlands varies greatly. Professional foresters collect data on species, volumes, and quantities
of timber on a particular property by conducting �cruises� through the property. During these cruises, foresters sample timber stands at specified
intervals and locations that have been pre-determined by forest statisticians. A cruise that is poorly designed or executed can result in misleading
data. In addition, errors in compiling the data may lead to erroneous estimates of the volume and quality of the timber on a particular property.
The latest inventory data available at the time of a timberland transaction may be based on cruises that are more than one year old. Timberland
cruises are time-consuming and expensive, and, as a result, are usually not conducted on an annual basis. Consequently, timber inventories are
often updated without a cruise by subtracting out the volume of timber that was harvested (usually an accurate number) and by adding in the
volume of estimated tree growth (usually a less accurate number than the removal number). We may not be able to require an adjustment to the
property purchase price from the seller if a post-acquisition cruise reveals a significant difference in timber volumes or quality from the
pre-acquisition data. If we are unable to obtain or develop accurate and reliable data related to the timberlands in which we invest, then our
assumptions, forecasts, and valuations relating to those timberlands will be inaccurate. As a result, we may not be able to realize the anticipated
returns from those timberlands or to sell the property for the price that we anticipated, which could negatively impact our financial condition and
results of operations.

Our estimates of the timber growth rates on our properties may be inaccurate, which would impair our ability to realize expected revenues
from those properties.

We rely upon estimates of the timber growth rates and yield when acquiring and managing timberlands. These estimates are central to
forecasting our anticipated timber revenues and expected cash flows. Growth rates and yield estimates are developed by forest statisticians using
measurements of trees in research plots on a property. The growth equations predict the rate of height and diameter growth of trees so that
foresters can estimate the volume of timber that may be present in the tree stand at a given age. Tree growth varies by soil type, geographic area,
and climate. Inappropriate application of growth equations in forest management planning may lead to inaccurate estimates of future volumes. If
these estimates are inaccurate, our ability to manage our timberlands in a profitable manner will be diminished, which may cause our results of
operations to be adversely affected.

Changes in assessments, property tax rates and state property tax laws may reduce our net income and our ability to make distributions to
our stockholders.

Our expenses may be increased by assessments of our timberlands and changes in property tax laws. We generally intend to hold our
timberlands for a substantial amount of time. Property values tend to increase over time, and as property values increase, the related property
taxes generally also increase, which would increase the amount of taxes we pay. In addition, changes to state tax laws or local initiatives could
also lead to higher tax rates on our timberlands. Because each parcel of a large timberland property is independently assessed for property tax
purposes, our timberlands may receive a higher assessment and be subject to higher property taxes. In some cases, the cost of the property taxes
may exceed the income that could be produced from that parcel if we continue to hold it as timberland. If our timberlands become subject to
higher tax rates, such costs could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and ability to make distributions
to our stockholders.
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Changes in land uses in the vicinity of our timberlands may increase the amount of the property that we classify as HBU properties, and
property tax regulations may reduce our ability to realize the values of those HBU properties.

An increase in the value of other properties in the vicinity of our timberlands may prompt us to sell parcels of our land as HBU properties. Local,
county and state regulations may prohibit us from, or penalize us for, selling a parcel of timberland for real estate development. Some states
regulate the number of times that a large timberland property may be subdivided within a specified time period, which would also limit our
ability to sell our HBU property. In addition, in some states timberland is subject to certain property tax policies that are designed to encourage
the owner of the timberland to keep the land undeveloped. These policies may result in lower taxes per acre for our timberlands as long as they
are used for timber purposes only. However, if we sell a parcel of timberland in such states as HBU property, we may trigger tax penalties,
which could require us to repay all of the tax benefits that we have received. Our inability to sell our HBU properties on terms that are favorable
to us could negatively affect our financial condition and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

We may be unable to properly estimate non-timber revenues from any properties that we acquire, which would impair our ability to acquire
attractive properties, as well as our ability to derive the anticipated revenues from those properties.

If we acquire additional properties, we likely will expect to realize revenues from timber and non-timber-related activities, such as the sale of
conservation easements and recreational leases. Non-timber activities can contribute significantly to the revenues that we derive from a
particular property. We will rely on estimates to forecast the amount and extent of revenues from non-timber-related activities on our
timberlands. If our estimates concerning the revenue from non-timber-related activities are incorrect, we will not be able to realize the projected
revenues. If we are unable to realize the level of revenues that we expect from non-timber activities, our revenues from the underlying
timberland would be less than expected and our results of operations and ability to make distributions to our stockholders may be negatively
impacted.

Actions of a joint venture partner could reduce the returns on our joint venture investments and adversely affect our results of operations.

We may participate in joint venture transactions from time to time, including but not limited to joint ventures involving the ownership and
management of timberlands. Any joint venture involves risks including, but not limited to, the risk that one or more of our joint venture partners
takes actions that are contrary to our agreed upon terms, our instructions to them or to our policies or objectives, any one of which could cause
adverse consequences for us.

The impacts of any climate-related legislation or regulation remain uncertain at this time.

There are several international, federal and state-level proposals addressing domestic and global climate issues. Generally, such proposals in the
United States could impose regulation or taxation on the production of carbon dioxide and other �greenhouse gases� in an attempt to reduce
emissions to the atmosphere, and provide tax and other incentives to produce and use more �clean energy.� Any future legislative and regulatory
activity in this area could, in some way, affect us, but it is unclear at this time whether any such impact would be positive, negative or
significant.
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If we sell properties and provide financing to purchasers, defaults by the purchasers would decrease our cash flows and limit our ability to
make distributions to our stockholders.

In some instances we may sell our properties by providing financing to purchasers. When we provide financing to purchasers, we will bear the
risk that the purchaser may default, which could negatively impact our financial performance. Even in the absence of a purchaser default, the
distribution of the proceeds of sales to our stockholders, or our reinvestment of such proceeds in other assets, will be delayed until the
promissory notes or other property we may accept upon a sale are actually paid, sold, refinanced, or otherwise disposed of.

Any international investments we make will be subject to changes in global market trends that could adversely impact our ability to make
distributions to our stockholders.

We may determine to acquire timberlands located in timber-producing regions outside the United States. These international investments could
cause our business to be subject to unexpected, uncontrollable and rapidly changing events and circumstances in addition to those experienced in
U.S. locations. Adverse changes in the following factors, among others, could have a negative impact on our business, results of operations, and
our financial condition:

� effects of exposure to currency other than U.S. dollars, due to having non-U.S. customers and foreign operations;

� potentially adverse tax consequences, including restrictions on the repatriation of earnings;

� regulatory, social, political, labor or economic conditions in a specific country or region; and

� trade protection laws, policies and measures, and other regulatory requirements affecting trade and investment, including loss or
modification of exemptions for taxes and tariffs, and import and export licensing requirements.

Risks Related to Our Organizational Structure

Our board of directors may change significant corporate policies without stockholder approval.

Our investment, financing, borrowing and distribution policies and our policies with respect to all other activities, including growth, debt,
capitalization and operations, are determined by our board of directors. These policies may be amended or revised at any time and from time to
time at the discretion of our board of directors without a vote of our stockholders. As a result, the ability of our stockholders to control our
policies and practices is extremely limited. We could make investments and engage in business activities that are different from, and possibly
riskier than, the investments and businesses described in this prospectus supplement. In addition, our board of directors may change our policies
with respect to conflicts of interest provided that such changes are consistent with applicable legal and regulatory requirements, including the
listing standards of the NYSE. A change in these policies could have an adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations, cash
flows, per share trading price of our Class A common stock and ability to satisfy our debt service obligations and to make distributions to our
stockholders.
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Our board of directors may increase the number of authorized shares of stock and issue stock without stockholder approval, including in
order to discourage a third party from acquiring our company in a manner that could result in a premium price to our stockholders.

Subject to applicable legal and regulatory requirements, our charter authorizes our board of directors, without stockholder approval, to amend
our charter from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of authorized shares of stock or the number of authorized shares of
stock of any class or series, to authorize us to issue authorized but unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock and to classify or
reclassify any unissued shares of our common stock or preferred stock into other classes or series of stock and to set the preferences, rights and
other terms of such classified or unclassified shares. As a result, we may issue series or classes of common stock or preferred stock with
preferences, dividends, powers and rights, voting or otherwise, that are senior to, or otherwise conflict with, the rights of holders of our common
stock. In addition, our board of directors could establish a series of preferred stock that could, depending on the terms of such series, delay, defer
or prevent a transaction or a change of control that might involve a premium price for our common stock or that our stockholders may believe is
in their best interests.

In order to preserve our status as a REIT, our charter limits the number of shares a person may own, which may discourage a takeover that
could otherwise result in a premium price for our common stock or otherwise benefit our stockholders.

Our charter, with certain exceptions, authorizes our directors to take such actions as are necessary and desirable to preserve our qualification as a
REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Unless exempted by our board of directors (prospectively or retroactively), no person may actually
or constructively own more than 9.8% in value of the outstanding shares of our capital stock or more than 9.8% (by value or number of shares,
whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding shares of our common stock. This restriction may have the effect of delaying, deferring or
preventing a change in control of our company, including an extraordinary transaction (such as a merger, tender offer or sale of all or
substantially all of our assets) that might provide a premium price for our common stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.

Certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes in control of us, which could lower the value of our Class A common stock.

Certain provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, or the MGCL, may have the effect of inhibiting or deterring a third party from
making a proposal to acquire us or of impeding a change of control under circumstances that otherwise could provide the holders of shares of
our common stock with the opportunity to realize a premium over the then-prevailing market price of such shares, including:

� �business combination� provisions that, subject to limitations, prohibit certain business combinations between us and an �interested
stockholder� (defined generally as any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the voting power of our
outstanding voting stock or an affiliate or associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question,
was the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 10% or more of our then outstanding stock) or an affiliate of an interested
stockholder for five years after the most recent date on which the stockholder becomes an interested stockholder, and thereafter may
impose super-majority stockholder voting requirements unless certain minimum price conditions are satisfied; and

� �control share� provisions that provide that �control shares� of our company (defined as shares which, when aggregated with other shares
controlled by the stockholder, entitle the stockholder to exercise one of three increasing ranges of voting power in electing directors)
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acquired in a �control share acquisition� (defined as the direct or indirect acquisition of ownership or control of issued and outstanding
�control shares�) have no voting rights except to the extent approved by our stockholders by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of
all the votes entitled to be cast on the matter, excluding all interested shares.

We have opted out of these provisions of the MGCL, in the case of the business combination provisions of the MGCL by resolution of our board
of directors, and in the case of the control share provisions of the MGCL pursuant to a provision in our bylaws. However, following our opt out,
in the future, our board of directors may by resolution elect to opt in to the business combination provisions of the MGCL and our board of
directors may, by amendment to our bylaws and without stockholder approval, opt in to the control share provisions of the MGCL.

Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL permits our board of directors, without stockholder approval and regardless of what is currently provided in our
charter or bylaws, to implement certain takeover defenses, including adopting a classified board. Such takeover defenses may have the effect of
inhibiting a third party from making an acquisition proposal for us or of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of us under the
circumstances that otherwise could provide our stockholders with the opportunity to realize a premium over the then current market price.

In addition, the advance notice provisions of our bylaws could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change of control of our company that
might involve a premium price for holders of our common stock or that our stockholders may believe to be in their best interests. Likewise, if
our board of directors were to opt in to the business combination provisions of the MGCL or the provisions of Title 3, Subtitle 8 of the MGCL,
or if the provision in our bylaws opting out of the control share acquisition provisions of the MGCL were rescinded by our board of directors,
these provisions of the MGCL could have similar anti-takeover effects.

Our rights and the rights of our stockholders to take action against our directors and officers are limited, which could limit your recourse in
the event of actions that you do not believe are in your best interests.

Maryland law provides that a director or officer has no liability in that capacity if he or she satisfies his or her duties to us. As permitted by the
MGCL, our charter limits the liability of our directors and officers to us and our stockholders for money damages, except for liability resulting
from:

� actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money, property or services; or

� a final judgment based upon a finding of active and deliberate dishonesty by the director or officer that was material to the cause of
action adjudicated.

In addition, our charter obligates us to indemnify our directors and officers for actions taken by them in that capacity to the maximum extent
permitted by Maryland law. The indemnification agreements that we entered into with our directors and certain of our officers also require us to
indemnify these directors and officers for actions taken by them in those capacities to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law. As a
result, we and our stockholder may have more limited rights against our directors and officers than might otherwise exist. Accordingly, in the
event that actions taken in good faith by any of our directors or officers impede the performance of our company, your ability to recover
damages from such director or officer will be limited. In addition, we are obligated to advance the defense costs incurred by our directors and
our officers, and may, in the discretion of our board of directors, advance the defense costs incurred by our employees and other agents in
connection with legal proceedings.
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Risks Related to Our Debt Financing

Our existing indebtedness and any future indebtedness we may incur could adversely affect our financial health and operating flexibility.

We have entered into the Amended CoBank loan that provides for a senior secured credit facility of up to $240 million, which includes a $25
million revolving credit facility and a $215 million multi-draw term credit facility. We had a total of $118.5 million outstanding as of June 30,
2014, including $34 million outstanding on a term loan.

Our existing indebtedness and any indebtedness we may incur in the future could have important consequences to us and the trading price of our
Class A common stock, including:

� limiting our ability to borrow additional amounts for working capital, capital expenditures, debt service requirements, execution of our
growth strategy or other purposes;

� limiting our ability to use operating cash flow in other areas of our business because we must dedicate a portion of these funds to
service the debt;

� increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions, including increases in interest rates;

� limiting our ability to capitalize on business opportunities, including the acquisition of additional properties, and to react to
competitive pressures and adverse changes in government regulation;

� limiting our ability or increasing the costs to refinance indebtedness;

� limiting our ability to enter into marketing and hedging transactions by reducing the number of counterparties with whom we can enter
into such transactions as well as the volume of those transactions;

� forcing us to dispose of one or more properties, possibly on disadvantageous terms;

� forcing us to sell additional equity securities at prices that may be dilutive to existing stockholders;

� causing us to default on our obligations or violate restrictive covenants, in which case the lenders or mortgagees may accelerate our
debt obligations, foreclose on the properties that secure their loans and take control of our properties that secure their loans and collect
rents and other property income; and

� in the event of a default under any of our recourse indebtedness or in certain circumstances under our mortgage indebtedness, we
would be liable for any deficiency between the value of the property securing such loan and the principal and accrued interest on the
loan.

If any one of these events were to occur, our financial condition, results of operations, cash flow and our ability to satisfy our principal and
interest obligations could be materially and adversely affected.
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Our financial condition could be adversely affected by financial and other covenants and other provisions under the Amended CoBank loan
or other debt agreements.

Under the Amended CoBank loan, we are required to comply with certain financial and operating covenants, including, among other things,
covenants that require us to maintain certain leverage and coverage ratios and covenants that prohibit or restrict our ability to incur additional
indebtedness, grant liens on our real or personal property, make certain investments, dispose of our assets and enter into certain other types of
transactions. The Amended CoBank loan also prohibited us from declaring, setting aside funds for, or paying any dividend, distribution, or other
payment to our stockholders other than as required to maintain our REIT qualification if our LTV ratio is greater than or equal to 45%. However,
on May 30, 2014, we entered into a joinder and amendment agreement, which provides us with greater flexibility to use the proceeds from land
sales for general working capital, acquisitions of additional timberland or permitted distributions or other payments. We may use proceeds
totaling up to 1.5% of the aggregate cost basis of our timberland if our LTV ratio is in excess of 30% but less than 40% and up to 2.0% of the
aggregate cost basis if our LTV ratio does not exceed 30%. This requirement may restrict our ability to pay cash distributions. Our credit
agreement also subjects us to mandatory prepayment from proceeds generated from dispositions of timberlands, which may have the effect of
limiting our ability to make distributions under certain circumstances. These restrictions may prevent us from taking actions that we believe
would be in the best interest of our business and may make it difficult for us to successfully execute our business strategy or effectively compete
with companies that are not similarly restricted. In addition, a breach of these covenants or other event of default would allow CoBank to
accelerate payment of the loan. Given the restrictions in our debt covenants on these and other activities, we may be significantly limited in our
operating and financial flexibility and may be limited in our ability to respond to changes in our business or competitive activities in the future.

We may incur additional indebtedness which could increase our business risks and may reduce the value of your investment.

We have acquired, and in the future may acquire, real properties by borrowing funds. In addition, we may incur mortgage debt and pledge some
or all of our real properties as security for that debt to obtain funds to acquire additional real properties. We may also borrow funds if needed to
satisfy the REIT tax qualification requirement that we distribute at least 90% of our annual REIT taxable income to our stockholders. We may
also borrow funds if we otherwise deem it necessary or advisable to ensure that we maintain our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax
purposes. Our bylaws do not limit us from incurring debt until our aggregate debt would exceed 200% of our net assets.

Significant borrowings by us increase the risks of a stockholder�s investment. If there is a shortfall between the cash flow from our properties and
the cash flow needed to service our indebtedness, then the amount available for distributions to stockholders may be reduced. In addition,
incurring mortgage debt increases the risk of loss since defaults on indebtedness secured by a property may result in lenders initiating
foreclosure actions. In that case, we could lose the property securing the loan that is in default, thus reducing the value of a stockholder�s
investment. For tax purposes, a foreclosure of any of our properties would be treated as a sale of the property for a purchase price equal to the
outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage. If the outstanding balance of the debt secured by the mortgage exceeds our tax basis in
the property, we would recognize taxable income on foreclosure, but we would not receive any cash proceeds. We may give full or partial
guarantees to lenders of mortgage debt on behalf of the entities that own our properties. When we give a guaranty on behalf of an entity that
owns one of our properties, we will be responsible to the lender for satisfaction of the debt if it is not paid by such entity. If any mortgages or
other indebtedness contains cross-collateralization or cross-default provisions, a default on a single loan could affect multiple properties.
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Our decision to hedge against interest rate changes may have a material adverse effect on our financial results and condition, and there is
no assurance that our hedges will be effective.

We have used interest rate hedging arrangements in the past in order to manage our exposure to interest rate volatility, and may in the future do
so again. These hedging arrangements involve risk, including the risk that counterparties may fail to honor their obligations under these
arrangements, that these arrangements may not be effective in reducing our exposure to interest rate changes, that the amount of income that we
may earn from hedging transactions may be limited by federal tax provisions governing REITs, and that these arrangements may result in higher
interest rates than we would otherwise pay. Moreover, no amount of hedging activity can completely insulate us from the risks associated with
changes in interest rates. Failure to hedge effectively against interest rate changes may materially adversely affect our results of operations and
financial condition.

High mortgage interest rates may make it difficult for us to finance or refinance properties, which could reduce the number of properties we
can acquire, our net income, and the amount of cash distributions we can make.

If mortgage debt is unavailable at reasonable interest rates, we may not be able to finance the purchase of properties. If we place mortgage debt
on properties, we run the risk of being unable to refinance the properties when the loans become due, or of being unable to refinance on
favorable terms. If interest rates are higher when we refinance the properties, our income could be reduced. If any of these events occurs, our
cash flow would be reduced. This, in turn, would reduce cash available for distribution to our stockholders and may hinder our ability to raise
more capital by issuing more stock or by borrowing more money.

Increases in interest rates could increase the amount of our debt payments and hinder our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders.

We have incurred significant indebtedness that accrues interest at a variable rate, and we may incur additional debt in the future. Interest we pay
under the Amended CoBank loan and any other debt we incur will reduce our operating cash flows and hinder our ability to make distributions
to our stockholders. Additionally, if we incur additional variable-rate debt, increases in interest rates would increase our interest cost, which
would reduce our cash flows and our ability to pay distributions to our stockholders. In addition, if we need to repay existing debt during periods
of high interest rates, we could be required to sell one or more of our investments in order to repay the debt, which sale at that time might not
permit realization of the maximum return on such investments.

Economic conditions may have an impact on our business, our financial condition, and our ability to obtain debt financing in ways that we
currently cannot predict.

Turmoil in the global financial system may have an impact on our business and our financial condition. Despite improved access to capital for
some companies, the capital and credit markets continue to be affected by extreme volatility and have experienced disruption during the past
several years. The health of the global capital markets remains a concern. We have relied on debt financing to finance our timberlands. As a
result of the uncertainties in the credit market, we may not be able to refinance our existing indebtedness or to obtain additional debt financing
on attractive terms. If we are not able to refinance existing indebtedness on attractive terms at its maturity, we may be forced to dispose of some
of our assets. Disruptions in the financial markets could have an impact on our interest rate swap agreements if our counterparties are forced to
default on their obligations to us due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, operational failure, or other
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reasons. We may be materially and adversely affected in the event of a significant default by one of our counterparties. In addition, depressed
economic conditions could influence the levels of consumer spending and reduce the demand for goods produced from our wood, which would
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. Our ability to make future principal and interest payments on our debt depends upon
our future performance, which is subject to general economic conditions; industry cycles; and financial, business, and other factors affecting our
operations, many of which are beyond our control.

Federal Income Tax Risks

Failure to continue to qualify as a REIT would cause us to be taxed as a regular corporation, which would substantially reduce funds
available for distributions to our stockholders and materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

We believe that we have been organized, owned and operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT under
the Code and that our intended manner of ownership and operation will enable us to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and
taxation as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Our qualification as a REIT depends upon our ability to meet requirements regarding our
organization and ownership, distributions of our income, the nature and diversification of our income and assets, and other tests imposed by the
Code. We cannot assure you that we will satisfy the requirements for REIT qualification in the future. Future legislative, judicial or
administrative changes to the federal income tax laws could be applied retroactively, which could result in our disqualification as a REIT.

Stockholders should be aware that qualification as a REIT involves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code as to
which there are only limited judicial and administrative interpretations and involves the determination of facts and circumstances not entirely
within our control. In 2014 we have received insurance proceeds with respect to claims made under our directors� and officers� insurance policy,
reimbursing some of the costs we incurred and deducted in 2013. Insurance proceeds reimbursing us for previously deducted expenses are
treated as gross income for federal income tax purposes. There is no direct authority on treatment of insurance proceeds in the REIT context. If
the gross income with respect to the insurance proceeds were treated as non-qualifying income, it could be enough (with any other nonqualifying
income in 2014) to cause us to fail the 95% gross income test in 2014, in which case we could fail to qualify as a REIT. Our tax advisors,
however, have advised us that passive income such as the insurance proceeds should be disregarded for purposes of the gross income tests based
on Revenue Rulings addressing analogous situations in the regulated investment company context and the rationales underlying numerous
private letter rulings granted to REITs. If the Internal Revenue Service were to disagree, we could fail to qualify as a REIT unless we qualified
for reasonable cause relief.

If we fail to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, we will be subject to federal and state income tax on our taxable income, if any, at corporate
rates and, possibly, penalties. In addition, we would generally be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the
year of losing our REIT status. To the extent we have taxable net income, losing our REIT status would reduce our net earnings available for
investment or distribution to stockholders because of the additional tax liability. In addition, distributions to stockholders would no longer
qualify for the dividends-paid deduction, and we would no longer be required to make distributions. If this occurs, we might be required to
borrow funds or liquidate some investments in order to pay the applicable tax. Our failure to qualify as a REIT could impair our ability to
expand our business and raise capital, and it would adversely affect the value of our common stock.
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Even if we continue to qualify to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to other tax liabilities that reduce
our cash flows.

Even if we continue to qualify to be taxed as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we may be subject to some federal, state, and local taxes
on our income or property. For example:

� In order to qualify as a REIT, we must distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders (determined
without regard to the dividends-paid deduction or net capital gain). To the extent that we satisfy the distribution requirement but
distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income (including net capital gain), we will be subject to federal and state corporate
income tax on the undistributed income.

� We will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the amount, if any, by which distributions we pay in any calendar year are less
than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income, and 100% of our undistributed income from prior
years.

� If we have net income from the sale of foreclosure property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of
business or other nonqualifying income from foreclosure property, we must pay a tax on that income at the highest corporate income
tax rate.

� If we sell a property, other than foreclosure property, that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business,
our gain may be subject to the 100% �prohibited transaction� tax.

� Our taxable REIT subsidiaries will be subject to tax on their taxable income.
Certain of our business activities are potentially subject to the prohibited transaction tax, which could reduce the return on stockholders�
investments.

As a REIT, we would be subject to a 100% tax on any net income from �prohibited transactions.� In general, prohibited transactions are sales or
other dispositions of property to customers in the ordinary course of business. Delivered logs, if harvested and sold by a REIT directly, would
likely constitute property held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business and would, therefore, be subject to the prohibited
transactions tax if sold at a gain. Accordingly, under the timber agreements, we sell standing timber to CatchMark Timber TRS under pay-as-cut
contracts which generate capital gain to us under Section 631(b) of the Code (to the extent the timber has been held by us for more than one
year), and CatchMark Timber TRS, in turn, harvests such timber and sells logs to MeadWestvaco. This structure should avoid the prohibited
transactions tax, and we use a similar structure for the sale of delivered logs to other customers. However, if the IRS were to successfully
disregard CatchMark Timber TRS� role as the harvester and seller of such logs for federal income tax purposes, our income, if any, from such
sales could be subject to the 100% penalty tax. In addition, sales by us of HBU property at the REIT level could, in certain circumstances,
constitute prohibited transactions. We intend to avoid the 100% prohibited transaction tax by satisfying safe harbors in the Code, structuring
dispositions as non-taxable like-kind exchanges or making sales that otherwise would be prohibited transactions through one or more TRS�
whose taxable income is subject to regular corporate income tax. We may not, however, always be able to identify properties that might be
treated as part of a �dealer� land sales business. For example, if we sell any HBU properties at the REIT level that we incorrectly identify as
property not held for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business or that subsequently become properties held for sale to customers in the
ordinary course of business, we may be subject to the 100% prohibited transactions tax.
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The taxable income of CatchMark Timber TRS is subject to federal and applicable state and local income tax. While we seek to structure the
pricing of our timber sales to CatchMark Timber TRS at market rates, the IRS could assert that such pricing does not reflect arm�s-length pricing
and impute additional taxable income to CatchMark Timber TRS.

To maintain our REIT status, we may be forced to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities, which could lower the return on stockholders�
investments.

To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy tests on an ongoing basis concerning, among other things, the sources of our income, nature of our assets,
and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. We may be required to make distributions to stockholders at times when it would be more
advantageous to reinvest cash in our business or when we do not have funds readily available for distribution. Compliance with the REIT
requirements may hinder our ability to operate solely on the basis of maximizing profits.

Even though we intend to maintain our REIT status, our cash dividends are not guaranteed and may fluctuate.

Generally, REITs are required to distribute 90% of their ordinary taxable income. We have substantial net operating losses that, subject to
possible limitations, will reduce our taxable income. In addition, capital gains may be retained by us but would be subject to income taxes. If
capital gains are retained rather than distributed, our stockholders would be notified and they would be deemed to have received a taxable
distribution, with a refundable credit for any federal income tax paid by us. Accordingly, we will not be required to distribute material amounts
of cash if substantially all of our taxable income is income from timber-cutting contracts or sales of timberland that is treated as capital gains
income. Our board of directors, in its sole discretion, determines the amount of quarterly dividends to be provided to our stockholders based on
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to, tax considerations. Consequently, our dividend levels may fluctuate.

Our use of taxable REIT subsidiaries may affect the value of our common stock relative to the share price of other REITs.

We conduct a portion of our business activities through one or more taxable REIT subsidiaries, or TRSs. A TRS is a fully taxable corporation
that may earn income that would not be qualifying REIT income if earned directly by us. Our use of TRSs enables us to engage in
non-REIT-qualifying business activities. However, under the Code, no more than 25% of the value of the assets of a REIT may be represented
by securities of one or more TRSs. This limitation may affect our ability to increase the size of our non-REIT-qualifying operations.
Furthermore, because the income earned by our TRSs is subject to corporate income tax and is not subject to the requirement to distribute
annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income to our stockholders, our use of TRSs may cause our common stock to be valued differently
than the shares of other REITs that do not use TRSs as extensively as we use them.

We may be limited in our ability to fund distributions on our capital stock and pay our indebtedness using cash generated through our TRSs.

Our ability to receive dividends from our TRSs is limited by the rules with which we must comply to maintain our status as a REIT. In
particular, at least 75% of gross income for each taxable year as a REIT must be derived from passive real estate sources including sales of our
standing timber and other types of qualifying real estate income, and no more than 25% of our gross income may consist of dividends from
TRSs and other non-real estate income. This
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limitation on our ability to receive dividends from our TRSs may affect our ability to fund cash distributions to our stockholders or make
payments on our borrowings using cash flows from our TRSs. The net income of our TRSs is not required to be distributed, and income that is
not distributed will not be subject to the REIT income distribution requirement.

We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could increase our tax liability, reduce our operating flexibility and
reduce the market price of our common stock.

At any time, the federal income tax laws governing REITs or the administrative and judicial interpretations of those laws may be amended. We
cannot predict when or if any new federal income tax law, regulation, or administrative and judicial interpretation, or any amendment to any
existing federal income tax law, regulation or administrative or judicial interpretation, will be adopted, promulgated or become effective and any
such law, regulation, or interpretation may take effect retroactively. We and our stockholders could be adversely affected by any such change in,
or any new, federal income tax law, regulation or administrative and judicial interpretation.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Future conversions of our Class B common stock could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock.

As of June 30, 2014, we had approximately 3,164,476 shares of our Class B-2 common stock outstanding and 3,164,476 shares of our Class B-3
common stock outstanding. Although our Class B common stock is not listed on a national securities exchange, our Class B common stock will
convert, and with respect to the Class B-1 common stock have already converted, automatically into shares of Class A common stock, pursuant
to provisions of our charter, on the following schedule: (1) December 12, 2014, in the case of the Class B-2 common stock, and (2) June 12,
2015, in the case of the Class B-3 common stock. Subject to the consent of Raymond James, who served as an underwriter for our initial listed
offering, our board of directors has the authority to accelerate the conversion of the Class B-2 common stock and the Class B-3 common stock to
dates not earlier than nine months and twelve months, respectively, following December 17, 2013. We cannot predict the effect that the
conversion of shares of our Class B common stock into our Class A common stock will have on the market price of our Class A common stock,
but these ongoing conversions may place downward pressure on the price of our Class A common stock, particularly at the time of each
conversion.

The market price and trading volume of our Class A common stock may be volatile.

The U.S. stock markets, including the NYSE, on which our Class A common stock is listed under the symbol �CTT,� have experienced significant
price and volume fluctuations. As a result, the market price of shares of our Class A common stock is likely to be similarly volatile, and
investors in shares of our Class A common stock may experience a decrease in the value of their shares, including decreases unrelated to our
operating performance or prospects. We cannot assure you that the market price of our Class A common stock will not fluctuate or decline
significantly in the future.

In addition to the risks listed in this �Risk Factors� section, a number of factors could negatively affect our share price or result in fluctuations in
the price or trading volume of our Class A common stock, including:

� the annual yield from distributions on our Class A common stock as compared to yields on other financial instruments;
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� equity issuances by us, or future sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock by our existing or future stockholders, or
the perception that such issuances or future sales may occur;

� short sales or other derivative transactions with respect to our Class A common stock;

� conversions of our Class B common stock into shares of our Class A common stock or sales of our Class B common stock or the
perception that such sales may occur;

� changes in market valuations of companies in the timberland or real estate industries;

� increases in market interest rates or a decrease in our distributions to stockholders that lead purchasers of our Class A common stock
to demand a higher yield;

� fluctuations in stock market prices and volumes;

� additions or departures of key management personnel;

� our operating performance and the performance of other similar companies;

� actual or anticipated differences in our quarterly operating results;

� changes in expectations of future financial performance or changes in estimates of securities analysts;

� publication of research reports about us or our industry by securities analysts or failure of our results to meet expectations of securities
analysts;

� failure to qualify as a REIT;

� adverse market reaction to any indebtedness we incur in the future;

� strategic decisions by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestments, spin-offs, joint ventures, strategic investments or
changes in business strategy;

� the passage of legislation or other regulatory developments that adversely affect us or our industry;
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� speculation in the press or investment community;

� changes in our earnings;

� failure to satisfy the listing requirements of the NYSE;

� failure to comply with the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act;

� actions by institutional stockholders;

� changes in accounting principles; and

� general market conditions, including factors unrelated to our performance.
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In the past, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following periods of volatility in the price of their
common stock. This type of litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management�s attention and resources, which could have a
material adverse effect on our cash flows, our ability to execute our business strategy and our ability to make distributions to our stockholders.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade our Class A common stock or our sector, the
price of our common stock could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or
our business. We do not control analysts. Furthermore, if one or more of the analysts who do cover us downgrades our shares of common stock
or our industry, or the stock of any of our competitors, the price of our shares could decline. If one or more of these analysts ceases coverage of
our company, we could lose attention in the market, which in turn could cause the price of our shares of common stock to decline.

Future offerings of debt securities, which would be senior to our common stock, or equity securities, which would dilute our existing
stockholders and may be senior to our common stock, may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

In the future, we may attempt to increase our capital resources by offering debt or preferred equity securities, including medium term notes,
senior or subordinated notes and classes of preferred or common stock. Debt securities or shares of preferred stock will generally be entitled to
receive interest payments or distributions, both current and in connection with any liquidation or sale, prior to the holders of our common stock.
We are not required to offer any such additional debt or preferred equity securities to existing common stockholders on a preemptive basis.
Therefore, offerings of common stock or other equity securities may dilute the holdings of our existing stockholders. Future offerings of debt or
preferred equity securities, or the perception that such offerings may occur, may reduce the market price of our common stock or the
distributions that we pay with respect to our common stock. Because we may generally issue any such debt or preferred equity securities in the
future without obtaining the consent of our stockholders, you will bear the risk of our future offerings reducing the market price of our common
stock and diluting your proportionate ownership.

Increases in market interest rates may result in a decrease in the value of our Class A common stock.

One of the factors that may influence the price of our Class A common stock will be our distribution rate on the Class A common stock (as a
percentage of the share price of our Class A common stock), relative to market interest rates. We declared cash distributions for the first time for
the first quarter of 2014 and expect to declare cash distributions in the future. If market interest rates increase, prospective purchasers of our
Class A common stock may desire a higher yield on our Class A common stock or seek securities paying higher dividends or yields. Higher
interest rates would not, however, result in more funds being available for distribution and, in fact, would likely increase our borrowing costs
and might decrease our funds available for distribution, and therefore we may not be able, or may not choose to, pay a higher distribution rate.
As a result, if interest rates rise, it is likely that the market price of our Class A common stock will decrease, because potential investors may
require a higher dividend yield on our Class A common stock as market rates on interest-bearing securities, such as bonds, rise.
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Risks Related to this Offering

Future sales or issuances of our common stock in the public markets, or the perception of such sales, could depress the trading price of our
common stock.

The sale of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock or other equity-related securities in the public markets, or the
perception that such sales could occur, could depress the market price of our common stock and impair our ability to raise capital through the
sale of additional equity securities. We may sell large quantities of our common stock at any time or in one or more separate offerings. We
cannot predict the effect that future sales of common stock or other equity-related securities would have on the market price of our common
stock.

Our management will have broad discretion with respect to the use of the proceeds of this offering.

Although we have described the intended use of proceeds for this offering in this prospectus supplement, our management will have broad
discretion as to the application of these net proceeds and could use them for purposes other than those contemplated at the time of this offering.
Our stockholders may not agree with the manner in which our management chooses to allocate and spend the net proceeds. It is possible that the
net proceeds will be invested in a way that does not yield a favorable, or any, return for us. The failure of our management to use such funds
effectively could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flow.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus supplement, any accompanying prospectus and the documents that we incorporate by reference in each contain �forward-looking
statements� within the meaning of the safe harbor from civil liability provided for such statements by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 (set forth in Section 27A of the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act). In particular, statements pertaining to our capital
resources, property performance, distribution policy and results of operations contain forward-looking statements. Likewise, all our statements
regarding anticipated growth in our portfolio from operations, acquisitions and anticipated market conditions, demographics and results of
operations are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties and you should not rely on
them as predictions of future events. Forward-looking statements depend on assumptions, data or methods which may be incorrect or imprecise
and we may not be able to realize them. We do not guarantee that the transactions and events described will happen as described or that they will
happen at all. You can identify forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking terminology such as �believes,� �expects,� �may,� �will,�
�should,� �seeks,� �approximately,� �intends,� �plans,� �pro forma,� �estimates,� �contemplates,� �aims,� �continues,� �would� or �anticipates� or the negative of these
words and phrases or similar words or phrases. You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategies, plans or
intentions. The following factors, among others, could cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set forth or
contemplated in the forward-looking statements:

� the cyclical nature of the forest products industry;

� our limited history of paying cash distributions and the fact that our future cash distributions are not guaranteed and may fluctuate;

� our dependence on MeadWestvaco;

� the Completed Acquisitions, our pending acquisitions and any future acquisitions performing in accordance with our expectations;

� our ability to successfully execute our investment strategy;

� our dependence on and access to external sources of capital for future growth;

� our large percentage of operating expenses to total revenues compared to many other public companies;

� economic conditions;

� our dependence on Forest Resource Consultants to manage our timberland;

� our concentration on timberlands and lack of diversification;

� adverse economic conditions and other developments in Georgia, Alabama and Texas where our timberlands are located;
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� our limited track record with our new management team;

� our transition to self-management;

� our ability to retain our key executive officers;

� government approvals, actions and initiatives;
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� failure to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and procedures and integrated internal controls;

� the recent transition to a new vendor of certain of our information technology systems, including our accounting technology;

� the fact that we have recently experienced net losses attributable to our common stockholders and may continue to do so;

� the credit risk of our customers;

� our ability to sell portions of our timberlands;

� changes in timber prices and the impact on our revenues;

� our exposure to uninsured losses;

� the competitive timberland industry, which could force us to pay higher prices for our properties;

� limitations on our ability to harvest timber;

� potential liability for environmental clean-up costs and wildlife protection laws;

� our inability to obtain accurate data on the volume and quality of the timber we intend to acquire;

� our estimates of timber growth rates may be inaccurate;

� changes in assessments, property tax rates and state property tax law;

� our indebtedness;

� the financial and other convents contained in the documents governing our indebtedness;

� increases in interest rates;

� certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes in control of us;
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� our failure to qualify as a REIT; and

� the other factors identified in the section entitled �Risk Factors.�
While forward-looking statements reflect our good-faith beliefs, they are not guarantees of future performance. We disclaim any obligation to
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. For a further discussion of
these and other factors that could impact our future results, performance or transactions, see the section above entitled �Risk Factors,� including
the risks incorporated therein from our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, as updated by our subsequent filings.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that the net proceeds we will receive from this offering, after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated
expenses of the offering payable by us, will be approximately $128.9 million (or approximately $148.3 million if the underwriters exercise their
option to purchase additional shares), assuming a public offering price of $13.60 per share (based on the last reported sales price of our shares on
the NYSE on July 2, 2014).

We expect to utilize the net proceeds from the sale of common shares by us in this offering together with the available borrowing capacity under
our multi-draw term credit facility, after giving effect to the application of the net proceeds from this offering, primarily for future timberland
acquisitions, which may include the pending acquisitions described in �Prospectus Supplement Summary�Recent Developments� or for other
general corporate purposes.

We intend to use approximately $118.5 million of the net proceeds to repay a portion of the amounts outstanding under the Amended CoBank
loan. The weighted average interest rate on the Amended CoBank loan, after consideration of an interest rate swap, was 2.29% as of June 30,
2014. As of June 30, 2014, the outstanding balance of the Amended CoBank loan was approximately $118.5 million. We used the amounts that
we borrowed under the Amended CoBank loan to fund the Completed Acquisitions and for general corporate purposes. See �Management�s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations�Liquidity and Capital Resources�Overview� for a further discussion of
the terms of the Amended CoBank loan.
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TRANSITION TO SELF-MANAGEMENT AND RECAPITALIZATION

Transition to Self-Management

On October 25, 2013, we became self-managed by terminating the advisory agreement with Wells Timberland Management Organization, LLC,
or Wells TIMO, our former advisor, and hiring certain individuals previously employed by Wells TIMO or Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc., or
Wells REF, as well as hiring a Chief Executive Officer and President and Chief Operating Officer and Secretary not affiliated with Wells TIMO,
which we refer to collectively as our transition to self-management. Prior to our transition to self-management on October 25, 2013 and since
our inception in 2005, our day-to-day operations were managed by Wells TIMO under the supervision of our board of directors, pursuant to the
terms and conditions of our advisory agreement, in order to take advantage of the expertise provided by that organization. Wells TIMO is wholly
owned by Wells Capital, Inc., or Wells Capital, our former sponsor, which is directly owned by Wells REF, which is indirectly wholly owned by
Leo F. Wells III. In addition, Mr. Wells and Mr. Douglas P. Williams, who were both executive officers of our company prior to our transition to
self-management, are also officers of Wells Capital and its affiliates. Pursuant to the master self-management transition agreement with Wells
REF and Wells TIMO, our advisory agreement terminated on the self-management transition date. As a result, we no longer bear the cost of the
advisor fees and other amounts payable under the advisory agreement.

On December 17, 2013, we redeemed all of the outstanding shares of Series A and Series B preferred stock held by Wells REF, which we refer
to as the preferred stock redemption. Mr. Wells resigned as one of our directors effective as of December 11, 2013. Following the preferred
stock redemption, we no longer have any ongoing related party relationship with Wells TIMO, Wells REF, Mr. Wells or their affiliates, except
for the transactions and relationships described below, which relate primarily to temporary support services that facilitated our transition to a
self-managed company.

Office Sublease. From October 2013 to March 2014, we subleased approximately 5,723 square feet of office space from Wells REF for monthly
base rent of $5,961, which was not payable for the months of October, November and December of 2013, plus additional costs for various
space-related services. The sublease expired on March 31, 2014.

Transition Services Agreement. We entered into a transition services agreement with Wells REF that became effective on October 25, 2013 and
expired on June 30, 2014. Pursuant to the transition services agreement, Wells REF and its affiliates provided consulting, support and
transitional services to us to assist our company in becoming self-managed. Specifically, these services included, without limitation, human
resources, compliance and risk management, treasury and cash management, investor relations and stockholder support, information technology
services, various administrative functions and other services. This transition services agreement expired on June 30, 2014.

Recapitalization and Listing on the NYSE

On September 23, 2013, we filed a Registration Statement on Form S-11 with the SEC for a public offering of up to $172.5 million of our
Class A common stock. On December 12, 2013, we listed our Class A common stock on the NYSE under the ticker symbol �CTT�. We completed
its listed public offering on December 17, 2013, selling 10.5 million shares and received gross proceeds of approximately $142.1 million. After
deducting underwriter discounts and commissions of $9.9 million and direct offering costs of $1.6 million, approximately $80.2 million of the
net proceeds were used to repay our outstanding loan balance and $49.0 million was used to redeem the outstanding shares of our Series A and B
preferred stock and the accrued but unpaid dividend held by Wells REF.
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On January 9, 2014, the underwriters for the initial listed offering exercised the overallotment option to purchase approximately 1.6 million
shares of our Class A common stock in full. After deducting $1.5 million of underwriting discounts and commissions, we received net proceeds
of $19.8 million, $18.2 million of which was used to pay down the outstanding note payable.

In preparation for the listing of our Class A common stock on the NYSE, we filed amendments to our charter to effect a recapitalization of our
common stock, which included a reverse stock split and a stock dividend transaction. On October 24, 2013, we effectuated a ten-to-one reverse
stock split of our outstanding common stock and designated our then-authorized common stock as �Class A common stock.� Then, on October 25,
2013, we declared and issued a stock dividend pursuant to which each holder of our then-outstanding share of our Class A common stock
received: one share of Class B-1 common stock; plus one share of Class B-2 common stock; plus one share of Class B-3 common stock for
every one share of Class A common stock held. The combined effect of the ten-to-one reverse stock split and the stock dividend was equivalent
to a 2.5-to-one reverse stock split. The recapitalization was effected on a pro rata basis with respect to all of our stockholders. Accordingly, it did
not affect any stockholder�s proportionate ownership of our outstanding shares of capital stock.

Our Class B common stock is identical to our Class A common stock except that (1) we do not intend to list our Class B common stock on a
national securities exchange and (2) shares of Class B common stock will convert, and with respect to the Class B-1 common stock have already
converted, automatically into shares of Class A common stock, pursuant to provisions of our charter, on the following schedule: (1) June 12,
2014, in the case of the Class B-1 common stock, (2) December 12, 2014, in the case of the Class B-2 common stock and (3) June 12, 2015, in
the case of the Class B-3 common stock. Subject to the consent of Raymond James, who served as an underwriter for our initial listed offering,
our board of directors has the authority to accelerate the conversion of the Class B-2 common stock and the Class B-3 common stock to dates
not earlier than nine months and twelve months, respectively, following the listing of our Class A common stock on December 17, 2013.
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MARKET PRICE FOR COMMON STOCK AND DISTRIBUTION POLICY

Price Range of Class A Common Shares and Market Information

Our Class A common shares were listed on the NYSE on December 12, 2013 under the symbol �CTT�. Prior to December 12, 2013, none of our
common stock was listed on a national securities exchange and there was no established public trading market for such shares. Our Class B
common stock is not listed on a national securities exchange and there is no established public trading market for such shares. However, all of
our Class B common stock will convert to publicly traded Class A common stock by June 12, 2015.

As of June 30, 2014, we had approximately 18.7 million shares of Class A common stock outstanding held by a total of 3,336 holders of record;
approximately 3.2 million shares of Class B-2 common stock outstanding held by a total of 3,897 holders of record; and approximately 3.2
million shares of Class B-3 common stock outstanding held by a total of 3,898 holders of record.

The following table sets forth, since our listing on the NYSE and for the fiscal quarters indicated, high and low reported sales prices per share of
our Class A common shares on the NYSE and the cash distributions per share of our common stock with respect to such fiscal quarter.

Share price Dividends
declaredHigh Low

2013:
Fourth Quarter (1) $ 14.00 $ 13.40 �
2014:
First Quarter $ 14.40 $ 12.05 $ 0.11
Second Quarter $ 14.11 $ 12.61 $ 0.11
Third Quarter (through July 3, 2014) $ 13.77 $ 13.37 $ 0.125

(1) The high/low sales prices are for the period from December 12, 2013 through December 31, 2013.
(2) Dividends have been declared but have not yet been paid for the third quarter of 2014.
On July 2, 2014, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the NYSE was $13.60 per share.

Dividend Policy

We pay regular quarterly dividends to holders of our common stock. On June 2, 2014, we declared a $0.125 per share dividend on each class of
our common stock for the third quarter of 2014. For the first and second quarters of 2014, we paid a dividend of $0.11 per share for each class of
our common stock.

Timberlands represent a distinctive asset class that offers multiple means of value creation and return generation. Specifically, timberlands
generally do not need to be harvested within a specific timeframe, which provides timberland owners a degree of flexibility to either harvest
timber and generate current cash returns, or defer harvest and accrue returns in the form of biological growth and inventory appreciation. Prior to
our listing on the NYSE, we had not paid a cash distribution to our common stockholders and, therefore, our operating strategy was generally
not driven by specific cash flow targets (other than those required to comply with the terms of our credit agreements) or distribution
requirements. We also deferred significant harvest volume on our fee timberlands.
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Since our listing on the NYSE, our new management team has implemented a revised business strategy that includes (1) increasing our annual
harvest volume based on a sustainable harvest plan in order to support a distribution to our common stockholders and (2) establishing annual
HBU sales targets, which has allowed us to implement and increase our quarterly dividend. See further discussions in Item 7. Management
Discussions and Analysis�Overview. We believe demand for our timber products from our existing customer relationships and generally
improving conditions in our end-markets are sufficient to support our increased harvest volume. However, there can be no assurance we will be
able to continue to make sufficient sales of timber and timberlands to support our revised business strategy and our current distributions. In
addition, our actual harvest volume and product mix may vary from year-to-year significantly from our projected volume and mix levels, as we
may revise our harvest plan or we may opt to defer or accelerate harvest based on market conditions. Furthermore, our actual HBU sales may
vary from our targets and we may not ultimately be successful in generating attractive land sales at these levels.

If our operations do not generate sufficient cash flow to enable us to pay our intended or required distributions, we may be required to reduce our
distributions or fund our distributions from working capital, borrowings or additional equity raises, or we may make a portion of required
distributions in the form of a taxable stock dividend. Under certain circumstances, our credit agreements may limit our ability to make
distributions to our common stockholders. Under our existing credit agreement, we may declare and pay distributions so long as our LTV ratio
remains below 45% and we maintain a minimum fixed-charge coverage ratio of 1.05:1.00, or minimum liquidity balance as defined by the credit
agreement. This requirement has restricted our ability to pay cash distributions in the past. Our credit agreement is also subject to mandatory
prepayment from proceeds generated from dispositions of timberlands, which may have the effect of limiting our ability to make distributions
under certain circumstances. The mandatory prepayment excludes (1) proceeds from dispositions totaling up to (a) 1.5% of the aggregate cost
basis of our timberland if our LTV ratio calculated on a pro forma basis after giving effect to such disposition exceeds 30% but does not exceed
40% or (b) 2.0% of the aggregate cost basis of our timberland if our LTV ratio calculated on a pro forma basis after giving effect to such
disposition does not exceed 30%; and (2) lease termination proceeds of less than $2.0 million in a single termination until aggregate lease
termination proceeds during the term of the facility exceeds $5.0 million.

We cannot guarantee that our board of directors will not change our distribution policy in the future. The amount of distributions that we may
pay to our common stockholders will be determined by our board of directors in its sole discretion and is dependent upon a number of factors,
including, but not limited to, our financial condition, our capital requirements, our expectations of future sources of liquidity, current and future
economic conditions and market demand for timber and timberlands and tax considerations. For more information regarding risk factors that
could materially and adversely affect us and the payment of distributions, see Item 1A�Risk Factors.

U.S. federal income tax law requires that a REIT distribute annually at least 90% of its REIT net taxable income, excluding net capital gains, and
that it pay tax at regular corporate rates to the extent that it annually distributes less than 100% of its net taxable income including net capital
gains. We anticipate that our estimated cash available for distribution will exceed the annual distribution requirements applicable to REITs.
However, under some circumstances, we may be required to pay distributions in excess of cash available for distribution in order to meet these
distribution requirements, and we may need to borrow funds to make some distributions.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth (1) our actual capitalization as of March 31, 2014, (2) our capitalization as adjusted to reflect the effect of the
Completed Acquisitions during our second fiscal quarter in 2014 and (3) our capitalization as further adjusted to reflect the effect of the sale of
shares of our common stock in this offering at the assumed offering price of $13.60 per share (based on the last reported sales price of our shares
on the NYSE on July 2, 2014), after deducting the underwriting discount and estimated offering expenses and the application of the proceeds
therefrom. You should read this table together with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes incorporated by reference in this
prospectus supplement and the accompanying prospectus.

(Unaudited)
March  31,

2014

As adjusted for
the Completed
Acquisitions(1)

As further
adjusted for

this
offering(2)(3)

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 3,188,290 $ 4,050,590 $ 12,665,247
Liabilities:
Amended CoBank loan 34,000,000 120,500,000 �
Stockholders� Equity:
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value; 889,500,000 shares authorized;
15,491,110 shares issued and outstanding, historical, 25,491,110 shares
issued and outstanding, as adjusted 154,911 154,911 254,911
Class B-1 common stock, $0.01 par value; 3,500,000 shares authorized;
3,164,476 shares issued and outstanding, historical and as adjusted(2) 31,645 31,645 31,645
Class B-2 common stock, $0.01 par value; 3,500,000 shares authorized;
3,164,476 shares issued and outstanding, historical and as adjusted 31,645 31,645 31,645
Class B-3 common stock, $0.01 par value; 3,500,000 shares authorized;
3,164,476 shares issued and outstanding, historical and as adjusted 31,644 31,644 31,644
Additional paid-in capital 451,839,466 451,839,466 580,599,466
Accumulated deficit and distributions (155,823,173) (155,823,173) (155,568,516) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 254,657 254,657 �

Total stockholders� equity 296,520,795 296,520,795 425,380,795

Total capitalization $ 330,520,795 $ 417,020,795 $ 425,380,795

(1) Adjusted for the Completed Acquisitions, $74 million of which was used to fund the acquisition of the Waycross-Panola Properties and $10 million of which
was used to fund one of the smaller acquisitions recently completed.

(2) All of our issued and outstanding shares of Class B-1 common stock converted, automatically into shares of Class A common stock, pursuant to provisions
of our charter, on June 12, 2014.

(3) Excludes impact of the underwriters exercising their option to purchase additional shares.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial and operating data set forth below as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012 and 2011 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus supplement
and have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm. The selected consolidated financial and
operating data set forth below as of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 have been derived
from our audited consolidated financial statements not included in this prospectus supplement. The selected consolidated financial and operating
data as of March 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 have been derived from our unaudited
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus supplement. The unaudited consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated financial statements and, in the opinion of our management, reflect all adjustments,
consisting of normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair presentation of this data. The results for any interim period are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected for a full year, and the historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected in any future period.

Because the information presented below is only a summary and does not provide all of the information contained in our historical consolidated
financial statements, including the related notes, you should read it in conjunction with �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations� and our historical consolidated financial statements, including the related notes, included elsewhere in this
prospectus supplement.

Three Months Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Statement of Operations Data:
Total revenues $ 8,869,937 $ 7,387,791 $ 32,047,590 $ 44,199,779 $ 40,017,827 $ 47,582,144 $ 52,245,649
Net loss (388,059) (1,986,734) (13,196,920) (8,870,732) (11,945,363) (15,809,720) (19,948,257)
Net loss available to common
stockholders (388,059) (2,078,868) (13,556,704) (9,244,724) (13,502,038) (19,518,100) (23,588,636)
Per-share data�basic and diluted:
Net loss available to common
stockholders (0.02) (0.16) (1.03) (0.73) (1.18) (2.14) (3.41)
Weighted-average common shares
outstanding 24,834,373 12,713,817 13,145,779 12,741,822 11,395,632 9,122,648 6,922,680

Three Months Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Other Data:
Adjusted EBITDA (1) $ 1,942,335 $ 1,243,333 $ 3,469,152 $ 15,496,804 $ 7,191,033 $ 10,509,644 $ 13,738,972
Capital expenditures�excluding
acquisitions 338,106 242,588 444,003 530,739 530,927 1,040,927 1,022,994
Capital expenditures�acquisitions 4,347,265 � 1,742,528 22,523,863 1,092,623 � �
Cash flows provided by (used in):
Operating activities 532,492 (923,626) (1,071,813) 11,425,870 4,572,131 5,154,517 5,029,535
Investing activities (4,685,371) (58,363) (136,468) (18,342,419) (536,033) (937,989) (1,646,784) 
Financing activities (1,272,738) (1,200,089) (1,398,904) 11,288,668 (5,976,092) (1,064,439) (1,865,964) 
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March 31, December 31,
2014 2013 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,188,290 $ 10,021,003 $ 8,613,907 $ 11,221,092 $ 6,848,973 $ 8,788,967 $ 5,636,878
Restricted cash and cash
equivalents � 1,865,838 � 2,050,063 6,762,246 7,852,763 7,955,701
Total assets 336,305,131 346,533,468 338,953,502 350,260,242 345,322,607 360,491,122 371,571,157
Total liabilities 39,784,336 138,560,625 59,022,050 140,173,053 155,514,335 199,831,437 244,046,346
Total stockholders� equity 296,520,795 207,972,843 279,931,452 210,087,189 189,808,272 160,659,685 127,524,811
Outstanding debt 34,000,000 132,356,123 52,160,000 132,356,123 122,025,672 168,840,592 216,841,297
Outstanding long-term debt 34,000,000 132,356,123 52,160,000 132,356,123 122,025,672 168,840,592 �

(1) Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of our operating performance and cash-generating capacity. EBITDA represents earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA further adjusts EBITDA to reflect the additions and eliminations described in the table below. EBITDA is
defined by the SEC; however, we have excluded certain other expenses due to their noncash nature, and we refer to this measure as Adjusted EBITDA. As
such, Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies. Adjusted EBITDA should not be viewed as an
alternative to net income or cash from operations as a measurement of our operating performance, as it excludes certain expenses related to fixed-asset
investments required to generate revenues. Due to our significant amount of debt, management views operating income as the most appropriate earnings
measure of our underlying timber operations. Management considers Adjusted EBITDA to be an important measure of our financial condition and
cash-generating ability due to the significant amount of fixed assets subject to depletion and the significant amount of financing subject to interest and
amortization expense. Our CoBank loan agreement contains a minimum debt service coverage ratio based, in part, on Adjusted EBITDA since the measure is
representative of adjusted income available for interest payments.

Management believes that investors� understanding of our performance is enhanced by including this non-GAAP financial measure as a reasonable basis for
comparing our ongoing results of operations. Many investors are interested in understanding the performance of our business by comparing our results from
ongoing operations period over period and would ordinarily add back non-cash expenses such as depletion and amortization as well as items that are not part of
normal day-to-day operations of our business such as interest expense and income taxes. By providing this non-GAAP financial measure, together with a
reconciliation, we believe we are enhancing investors� understanding of our business and our results of operations, as well as assisting investors in evaluating how
well we are executing our strategic initiatives. Our competitors may define Adjusted EBITDA differently, and as a result, our measure of Adjusted EBITDA may
not be directly comparable to Adjusted EBITDA of other companies. Items excluded from Adjusted EBITDA are significant components in understanding and
assessing financial performance. Adjusted EBITDA is a supplemental measure of operating performance that does not represent and should not be considered in
isolation or as an alternative to, or substitute for net income or other financial statement data presented in our consolidated financial statements as indicators of
financial performance. Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation, or as a substitute for analysis of our
results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Some of the limitations are:

� Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our cash expenditures, or future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments;

� Adjust EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on out debt;

� Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect the interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt;

� Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect our tax expense or the cash requirements to pay our taxes; and

� Although depletion is a non-cash charge, we will incur expenses to replace the timber being depleted in the future and Adjusted EBITDA does not
reflect any cash requirements for such expenses.

Due to these limitations, Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business. We
compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using Adjusted EBITDA only supplementally. We further believe that our
presentation of these GAAP and non-GAAP financial measurements provide information that is useful to analysts and investors because they are important
indicators of the strength of our operations and the performance of our business.
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For the quarter ended March 31, 2014, Adjusted EBITDA was $1.9 million, a $0.7 million increase from the quarter ended March 31, 2013, primarily due to a
$1.5 million increase in net timber sales, offset by a $0.4 million decrease in revenue from timberland sales and a $0.4 million increase in general and
administrative expenses.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, Adjusted EBITDA was $3.5 million, a $12.0 million decrease from the year ended December 31, 2012, primarily due to an
$8.0 million decrease in revenue from timberland sales during 2013, a $1.6 million decrease in net timber sales, and a $2.9 million increase in general and
administrative expenses; offset by a $0.5 million decrease in land rent expenses as a result of lease expirations. Our reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA
for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31, Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Net loss $ (388,059) $ (1,986,734) $ (13,196,920) $ (8,870,732) $ (11,945,363) $ (15,809,720) $ (19,978,257) 
Add:
Depletion 1,803,532 2,045,353 8,505,024 11,677,229 11,759,282 14,338,444 17,443,684
Unrealized gain on interest
rate swaps that do not
qualify for hedge
accounting treatment � (128,934) (128,934) (847,743) (531,512) (2,271,093) (3,319,234) 
Interest expense (a) 310,122 861,742 3,395,122 4,289,204 5,938,800 11,416,655 13,992,243
Amortization (a) 95,756 114,906 1,487,235 2,007,239 684,857 1,415,608 1,636,393
Basis of timberland sold 37,987 337,000 1,569,543 7,187,733 1,172,241 1,392,900 3,228,363
Stock-based compensation 82,997 � 1,838,082 28,333 21,667 � �
Basis of casualty loss (b) � � � 25,541 91,061 � �
Basis of timber on
terminated lease (c) � � � � � 26,850 705,780
Loss on sale of subsidiaries � � � � � � �

Adjusted EBITDA $ 1,942,335 $ 1,243,333 $ 3,469,152 $ 15,496,804 $ 7,191,033 $ 10,509,644 $ 13,738,972

(a) For the purpose of the above reconciliation, amortization includes amortization of deferred financing costs, amortization of intangible lease assets, and
amortization of mainline road costs, which are included in either interest expense, land rent expense, or other operating expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

(b) Represents the basis of timber remaining on leased timber tracts at the time of termination of the applicable lease.
(c) Represents the basis of timber remaining on leased timber tracts at the time of termination of the applicable lease.
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MANAGEMENT�S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This prospectus supplement contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results could differ materially
from those anticipated in forward-looking statements for many reasons, including the risks described in �Risk Factors� and elsewhere in this
prospectus supplement. Our results of operations and financial condition, as reflected in the accompanying financial statements and related
notes, are subject to management�s evaluation and interpretation of business conditions, changing capital market conditions and other factors.
You should read the following discussion with �Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements,� �Business and Properties� and the
accompanying financial statements and related notes All common stock share and per share data included in the following discussion and in the
accompanying financial statements and related notes give retroactive effect to the recapitalization discussed above in �Transition to
Self-Management and Recapitalization�Recapitalization and Listing on the NYSE.�

Overview

We primarily engage in the ownership, management, acquisition, and disposition of timberland properties located in the United States. As of
June 30, 2014, we owned interests in approximately 320,400 acres of timberland, consisting of approximately 290,800 acres held in fee-simple
interests (including approximately 44,300 acres that we acquired in the second quarter of 2014), or our fee timberlands, and approximately
29,600 acres held in leasehold interests, or our leased timberlands. Our timberlands are located in East Central Alabama, West Central and
Southeast Georgia, and East Texas. On July 7, 2014, we entered into agreements for two additional timberland acquisitions totaling 55,671 acres
located in middle and southern Georgia and northern Florida, which we expect will close during the third quarter of 2014, subject to completion
of our due diligence and satisfaction of closing conditions, including verification of inventory and title. We believe that our timberlands are
high-quality industrial forestlands that have been intensively managed for sustainable commercial timber production. We further believe that all
of our timberlands are located within attractive and competitive fiber baskets encompassing numerous and diverse pulp, paper and wood
products manufacturing facilities.

As of December 31, 2013 and excluding properties acquired year-to-date, our timberlands contained acreage consisting of approximately 73%
pine stands and approximately 27% hardwood stands, and our timber inventory consisted of approximately 10.4 million tons of merchantable
timber, including approximately 6.1 million tons of pulpwood, 2.3 million tons of chip-n-saw, and 2.0 million tons of sawtimber. To date, in
fiscal year 2014, we have completed or announced pending acquisitions totaling approximately 100,000 acres of timberland. We believe that
these acquisitions, in aggregate, will likely increase our harvest volumes by 440,000 to 480,000 tons annually over the next decade. Based on
current estimates, we believe these properties contain approximately 4.2 million tons of merchantable timber, comprising 75% pine plantation by
acreage and 50% sawtimber by tons.

We generate recurring income and cash flow from the harvest and sale of timber, as well as from non-timber related revenue sources, such as
recreational leases. When and where we believe it is appropriate, we also periodically generate income and cash flow from the sale of HBU
timberland. We also expect to realize additional long-term returns from the potential appreciation in value of our timberlands as well as from the
potential biological growth of our standing timber inventory in excess of our timber harvest. A substantial portion of our timber sales are derived
from our timber agreements with a wholly owned subsidiary of MeadWestvaco Corporation, which we refer to as the timber agreements, under
which we sell specified amounts of timber to the MeadWestvaco subsidiary subject to market pricing adjustments. For the years ended
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December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, approximately 60%, 54%, and 58%, respectively, of our net timber sales revenue was derived from the
Timber Agreements. For the three months ended March 31, 2014, approximately 35% of our net timber sales revenue was derived from the
Timber Agreements.

From our inception through October 24, 2013, we operated as an externally advised REIT pursuant to an advisory agreement under which Wells
Timberland Management Organization, LLC, which we refer to as Wells TIMO, a subsidiary of Wells REF, performed certain key functions on
our behalf, including, among others, the investment of capital proceeds and management of our day-to-day operations. On October 25, 2013, we
terminated the Advisory Agreement and became self-managed. Contemporaneous with this transaction, we entered into a transition service
agreement with Wells REF through June 30, 2014.

On December 12, 2013, we listed our Class A common stock on the NYSE under the symbol �CTT.� We completed our first listed public offering
on December 17, 2013, issuing approximately 10.5 million shares and received gross proceeds of approximately $142.1 million. After deducting
underwriter discounts and commissions of $9.9 million and direct offering costs of $1.6 million, approximately $80.2 million of the net proceeds
were used to repay outstanding balance under our CoBank term loan, and $49.0 million were used to redeem the Preferred Shares held by Wells
REF and the accrued but unpaid dividends.

On January 9, 2014, the underwriters for the initial public offering exercised their overallotment option to purchase 1.6 million shares of our
Class A common stock in full. After deducting $1.5 million of underwriter discounts and commissions, we received net proceeds of $19.8
million, $18.2 million of which was used to pay down the outstanding CoBank loan.

Since our listing on the NYSE, we have implemented a revised business strategy that includes (1) increasing our annual harvest volume based on
a sustainable harvest plan in order to support a distribution to our stockholders and (2) establishing annual HBU sales targets to monetize
approximately 1% to 2% of our fee timberland acreage on an annual basis pursuant to our land sales program. We expect that a significant
portion of any increased harvest volume will likely be sold to the MeadWestvaco subsidiary pursuant to the timber agreements, although we will
also market and sell a portion of any increased volume to other third-party timber purchasers. Given the large number of forest products
manufacturing facilities within a serviceable distance of our timberlands, our existing customer relationships and the generally improving
conditions in our end-markets, we believe that demand for our timber products will be sufficient to support our increased harvest volume.
However, the MeadWestvaco subsidiary is not obligated to purchase additional volume under the timber agreements, and there can be no
assurance that MeadWestvaco or other customers will purchase additional timber to support our revised business strategy. In addition, our actual
harvest volume and product mix may vary from year-to-year significantly from our projected volume and mix levels, as we may revise our
harvest plan or we may opt to defer or accelerate harvest based on market conditions. Furthermore, our actual HBU sales may vary from our
targets and we may not ultimately be successful in generating attractive land sales at these levels.

Our operating strategy entails funding expenditures related to the recurring operations of our timberlands, including interest on outstanding
indebtedness and certain capital expenditures (excluding timberland acquisitions), with operating cash flows; assessing the amount of operating
cash flows that will be required for additional timberland acquisitions; and distributing residual operating cash flows, if any, to our stockholders.
Our most significant risks and challenges include our ability to access a sufficient amount of capital that will allow us to repay or refinance our
outstanding debt facility and to further grow and diversify our portfolio of timber assets.
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General Economic Conditions and Timber Market Factors Impacting Our Business

Our management reviews a number of economic forecasts and market commentaries in order to evaluate general economic conditions and
formulate a view of the current environment�s effect on the timber markets in which we operate.

As measured by the U.S gross domestic product, or GDP, the U.S. economy increased by 1.9% in 2013, as compared to an increase of 2.2% in
2012. The increase in real GDP in 2013 primarily reflected positive contributions from personal consumption expenditures, exports, residential
fixed investment, nonresidential fixed investment, and private inventory investment, offset by negative contributions from federal government
spending and increase in imports. According to the International Monetary Fund, the U.S. economy will grow 2.0% in 2014. While management
believes the U.S. economy is likely to continue its recovery, the recovery will likely maintain a moderate pace with fiscal policy presenting the
biggest variable in the outlook.

Our operating results are influenced by a variety of factors, including timber prices; the demand for pulp and paper products, lumber, panel, and
other wood-related products; the supply of timber; and competition. Timber prices can experience significant variation and have been
historically volatile. The demand for timber and wood products is affected primarily by the level of new residential construction activity, the
supply of manufactured timber products, including imports of timber products, and, to a lesser extent, repair and remodeling activity and other
commercial and industrial uses. The demand for timber also is affected by the demand for wood chips in the pulp and paper markets and for
hardwood in the furniture and other hardwood industries.

Results of Operations

Overview

Our results of operations are materially impacted by the fluctuating nature of timber prices, changes in the levels and composition of our harvest
volumes, the level of timberland sales, changes to associated depletion rates, and varying interest expense based on the amount and cost of
outstanding borrowings.
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Timber prices, harvest volumes and changes in the levels and composition of each of our timberlands for the three months ended March 31,
2014 and 2013 is shown in the following tables:

Three Months Ended
March 31, Change

2014 2013 %
Timber sales volume (tons)
Pulpwood 177,240 127,440 39% 
Sawtimber (1) 86,311 71,720 20% 

263,551 199,160 32% 

Net timber sales price (per ton) (2)
Pulpwood $ 14 $ 11 23% 
Sawtimber $ 22 $ 21 9% 
Timberland sales
Gross sales $ 65,250 $ 543,950
Sales volumes (acres) 29 253
Sales price (per acre) $ 2,250 $ 2,150

(1) Includes sales of chip-n-saw and sawtimber.
(2) Prices per ton are rounded to the nearest dollar and shown on a stumpage basis (i.e., net of contract logging and hauling costs) and, as such, the sum of these

prices multiplied by the tons sold does not equal timber sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the three months ended
March 31, 2014 and 2013.

Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2014 versus the three months ended March 31, 2013

Revenues. Revenues increased to $8.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 from $7.4 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2013 due to an increase in timber sales revenue of $1.9 million, offset by a decrease in timberland sales revenue of $0.5 million.
Gross timber sales increased by 32%, 22% of which was driven by increased harvest volume resulting from our revised business strategy and
10% of which was driven by an increase in realized pricing resulting from wet weather and a modest increase in demand. Timberland sales
revenue decreased due to selling fewer acres in 2014. Details of timber sales by product for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013
are shown in the following table:

Three Months
Ended

March 31,
2013

Changes attributable to: Three Months
Ended

March 31,
2014Price Volume

Timber sales (1)
Pulpwood $ 3,618,968 $ 460,787 $ 728,921 $ 4,808,675
Sawtimber (2) 2,532,794 175,796 579,589 3,288,180

$ 6,151,762 $ 636,583 $ 1,308,510 $ 8,096,855

(1) Timber sales are presented on a gross basis.
(2) Includes sales of chip-n-saw and sawtimber.
Operating expenses. Contract logging and hauling costs increased to approximately $3.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014
from approximately $3.3 million for the
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three months ended March 31, 2013 as a result of an approximately 17% increase in delivered sales volume. Depletion expense decreased by
12% to approximately $1.8 million in the first quarter of 2014 from approximately $2.0 million in the first quarter of 2013 due to a lower
blended depletion rate offset by a 32% increase in harvest volumes. Our blended depletion rate was lower in 2014 primarily because 92% of our
2014 harvest came from our fee timberlands as compared to 51% in 2013. Our fee timber is depleted at much lower rates than timber from
leased tracts. Cost of timberland sales decreased due to selling fewer acres.

Forestry management fees increased to approximately $0.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 from approximately $0.6 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2013. The increase is primarily due to incurring compensation costs related to our forest management staff
as a result of our transition to self-management. Land rent expense decreased to approximately $0.2 million in the first quarter of 2014 from $0.3
million in the first quarter of 2013 primarily due to the expiration of leases.

General and administrative expenses increased approximately $0.4 million in the first quarter of 2014 from the first quarter of 2013. The
increase was primarily due to incurring $0.3 million in legal and consulting fees to assist with the SEC�s on-going investigation into Wells
Investment Securities, Inc., or WIS, the dealer-manager of our two completed non-listed public offerings. In February 2014, we filed a claim
seeking insurance recovery for costs incurred to date associated with this matter under our director and officer insurance policy and expect a
substantial portion of associated costs to be covered by the policy, after any applicable policy deductible. The claim was approved during the
second quarter of 2014 and the insurance payment will reduce our general and administrative expenses in future periods. Also, we incurred
approximately $0.1 million in shareholder communication expenses in response to a tender offer for our common stock during the first quarter of
2014. Besides the two items mentioned above, the changes in general and administrative expenses as a result of becoming a self-managed
company were largely offset by the advisory fees and expense reimbursements we paid to Wells TIMO, our previous external advisor.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased to $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 from $0.8 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2013 primarily due to a lower debt balance, offset by incurring commitment fees to the lenders of the Amended CoBank loan
and by recognizing net cash payments associated with the effective cash flow hedge as interest expense.

Net loss. Our net loss decreased to approximately $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2014 from approximately $2.0 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2013 as a result of a $1.2 million decrease in our operating loss and a $0.4 million decrease in our interest
expense. Our operating loss decreased primarily due to a $1.7 million increase in timber sales revenue net of contract logging and hauling costs
and depletion expense. We sustained a net loss for the three months ended March 31, 2014 primarily as a result of incurring interest expense of
approximately $0.4 million. Our net loss per share available to common stockholders for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 was
$0.02 and $0.16, respectively. We anticipate future net losses to fluctuate with timber prices, harvest volumes, timberland sales, and interest
expense based on our level of current and future borrowings.
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Comparisons of the years ended December 31, 2013 versus December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2012 versus December 31, 2011

Timber prices, harvest volumes and changes in the levels and composition of each of our timberlands for the years ended December 31, 2013,
2012, and 2011 is shown in the following tables:

Years Ended December 31, Change
2013 2012 %

Timber sales volume (tons)
Pulpwood 636,227 697,307 (9)% 
Sawtimber (1) 283,223 358,683 (21)% 

919,450 1,055,990 (13)% 

Net timber sales price (per ton) (2)
Pulpwood $ 12 $ 10 14% 
Sawtimber $ 20 $ 21 (3)% 
Timberland sales
Gross sales $ 2,498,757 $ 10,972,440
Sales volumes (acres) 1,167 6,016
Sales price (per acre) $ 2,141 $ 1,824

Years Ended December 31, Change
2012 2011 %

Timber sales volume (tons)
Pulpwood 697,307 969,549 (28)% 
Sawtimber (1) 358,683 306,063 17% 

1,055,990 1,275,612 (17)% 

Net timber sales price (per ton) (2)
Pulpwood $ 10 $ 9 11% 
Sawtimber $ 21 $ 20 5% 
Timberland sales
Gross sales $ 10,972,440 $ 1,740,586
Sales volumes (acres) 6,016 1,125
Sales price (per acre) $ 1,824 $ 1,547

(1) Includes sales of chip-n-saw and sawtimber.
(2) Prices per ton are rounded to the nearest dollar and shown on a stumpage basis (i.e., net of contract logging and hauling costs) and, as such, the sum of these

prices multiplied by the tons sold does not equal timber sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31,
2013, 2012, and 2011.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2013 versus the year ended December 31, 2012

Revenues. Revenues decreased to approximately $32.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 from approximately $44.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012 due to a decrease in timber sales revenue of approximately $3.8 million and a decrease in timberland
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sales revenue of approximately $8.5 million. Timber sales revenue is lower primarily due to a 13% planned reduction in harvest volume.
Timberland sales revenue decreased due to selling fewer acres in 2013. Details of timber sales by product for the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012 are shown in the following table:

For the
Year Ended

December 31,
2012

Changes attributable to: For the
Year Ended

December 31,
2013Price Volume

Timber sales (1)
Pulpwood $ 18,037,137 $ 625,359 $ (1,911,894) $ 16,750,602
Sawtimber (2) 12,473,399 221,660 (2,742,287) 9,952,772

$ 30,510,536 $ 847,019 $ (4,654,181) $ 26,703,374

(1) Timber sales are presented on a gross basis.
(2) Includes sales of chip-n-saw and sawtimber.
Operating expenses. Contract logging and hauling costs decreased to approximately $13.6 million for 2013 from approximately $15.8 million
for 2012 as a result of an approximately 15% decrease in delivered sales volume. Depletion expense decreased by 27% to approximately $8.5
million in 2013 from approximately $11.7 million in 2012 due to a lower blended depletion rate and a 13% decrease in harvest volumes. Our
blended depletion rate was lower in 2013 due to a decrease in harvests of timber from the LTC tracts as a percentage of our total harvest in 2013
as compared to 2012. As a result of an acquisition of approximately 30,000 acres of timberland in 2012 where we previously held LTC leasehold
interests, approximately 12% of our merchantable timber inventory was recategorized as fee timber, which is depleted at much lower rates than
timber from leased tracts. Cost of timberland sales decreased due to selling fewer acres.

Forestry management fees increased to approximately $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 from approximately $2.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012. The increase is primarily due to incurring compensation costs related to our forest management staff as a
result of our transition to self-management. Land rent expense decreased to approximately $1.0 million in 2013 from $1.6 million in 2012
primarily due to expiration of leases and the acquisition of 30,000 acres of LTC timberland as described above.

General and administrative expenses increased approximately $4.4 million in 2013 from 2012. The increase was primarily attributable to
incurring expenses associated with our transition to self-management, listing on the NYSE, and the IPO, including (a) $1.0 million increase in
legal fees; (b) $0.4 million increase in consulting fees; (c) $0.2 million increase in transfer agent fees; and (d) $0.2 million increase in payments
to the independent directors. Additionally, as a result of becoming a self-managed company, we incurred employee related costs starting on
October 25, 2013, including salary and benefit costs of $0.3 million and stock based compensation expense of $1.5 million related to restricted
stock grants issued to our employees. Also, as disclosed in Item 1�Business, the SEC is conducting an investigation into WIS, the dealer-manager
of our two completed non-listed public offerings, and we incurred $0.7 million in legal and consulting fees to assist with this ongoing
investigation. In February 2014, we filed a claim seeking insurance recovery for costs incurred to date associated with this matter under our
director and officer insurance policy and expect future costs to be covered by the said policy as well.

Advisor fees and expense reimbursements. Advisor fees and expense reimbursements for the year ended December 31, 2013 was comparable to
that for the year ended December 31, 2012. In
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connection with our transition to self-management, our with Wells TIMO was terminated effective October 25, 2013. As such, we did not incur
additional advisor fees and expense reimbursements subsequent to October 25, 2013.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased by approximately $0.3 million to $4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily due
to a decrease in non-cash interest expense. We expect interest expense for 2014 to be lower than 2013 due to lower outstanding debt balance,
before any additional borrowings. In general, interest expenses in future periods will vary based on our level of future borrowings, the cost of
future borrowings, and the opportunities to acquire timber assets fitting our investment objectives.

Net loss. Our net loss increased to approximately $13.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 from approximately $8.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2012 as a result of an approximately $4.9 million increase in our operating loss, offset by a $0.3 million decrease in
our interest expense. Our operating loss increased primarily due to the increase in general and administrative expenses, the decrease in net
timberland sales, offset by an increase in timber sales revenue net of contract logging and hauling costs and depletion expense. We sustained a
net loss for the year ended 2013 primarily as a result of incurring an operating loss of approximately $8.6 million and interest expense of
approximately $4.7 million. Our net loss per share available to common stockholders for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 was
$1.03 and $0.73, respectively. We anticipate future net losses to fluctuate with timber prices, harvest volumes, timberland sales, and interest
expense based on our level of current and future borrowings.

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2012 versus the year ended December 31, 2011

Revenue. Revenues increased to approximately $44.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from approximately $40.0 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011 due to an increase in timberland sales revenue of approximately $9.2 million, offset by a decrease in timber sales
revenue of approximately $5.0 million. Timberland sales revenue increased due to selling more acres of timberland. Timber sales revenue
decreased primarily due to reductions in harvest volumes as planned. Details of timber sales by product for the year ended December 31, 2012
and 2011 is shown in the following table:

For
Year  Ended
December 31,

2011

Changes attributable to: For the
Year Ended

December 31,
2012Price Volume

Timber sales (1)
Pulpwood $ 25,205,706 $ 805,073 $ (7,973,642) $ 18,037,137
Sawtimber (2) 10,328,210 232,443 1,912,746 12,473,399

$ 35,533,916 $ 1,037,516 $ (6,060,896) $ 30,510,536

(1) Timber sales are presented on a gross basis.
(2) Includes sales of chip-n-saw and sawtimber.
Operating expenses. Contract logging and hauling costs decreased to approximately $15.8 million for 2012 from approximately $20.1 million
for 2011 as a result of a decrease of approximately 22% in delivered wood volume. Depletion expense decreased by 1% to approximately $11.7
million in 2012 from approximately $11.8 million in 2011 due to a 17% decrease in harvest volumes, offset by a higher blended depletion rate.
Our blended depletion rate
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was higher in 2012 due to an increase in our sawtimber harvest in 2012 and an increase in harvests on leased tracts as a percentage of our total
harvest from 38% in 2011 to 54% in 2012. Sawtimber carries significantly higher depletion rates than pulpwood, and timber on leased tracts are
depleted at much higher rates than fee timber. Cost of timberland sales increased to approximately $7.8 million in 2012 from approximately $1.3
million in 2011 due to selling more acres of timberland. Forestry management fees decreased to approximately $2.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012 from approximately $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily due to a decrease in incentive fees
incurred under the our timberland operating agreement with FRC, which are based on net revenue. Land rent expense decreased to
approximately $1.6 million in 2012 from $2.2 million in 2011 primarily due to the expiration of leases and the acquisition of approximately
30,000 acres of timberland where we previously held leasehold interests. Other operating expenses increased by approximately $0.1 million to
approximately $2.8 million in 2012 from approximately $2.7 million in 2011 primarily due to an increase in property taxes.

Advisor fees and expense reimbursements. Advisor fees and expense reimbursements increased to approximately $3.7 million for 2012 from
approximately $3.3 million for 2011 as a result of using different methodologies to determine the amounts due under the Advisory Agreement
and its amendments. Beginning with the second quarter of 2012, advisor fees and expense reimbursements were determined under the second
amendment to the advisory agreement, or Advisory Agreement Amendment No. 2, which limited the amounts of advisor fees and expense
reimbursements to the lesser of (i) 1.0% of assets under management as of the last day of the quarter less advisor fees paid for the preceding
three quarters, and (ii) free cash flow (as defined) for the four quarters then ended in excess of an amount equal to 1.25 multiplied by our interest
expense for the four quarters then ended. From the second quarter of 2011 to the first quarter of 2012, advisor fees and expense reimbursements
were determined under the first amendment to the advisory agreement, or Advisory Agreement Amendment No. 1, that limited the amounts of
advisor fees and expense reimbursements to the least of (i) an asset management fee equal to one-fourth of 1.0% of assets under management
plus reimbursements for all costs and expenses Wells TIMO incurred in fulfilling its duties as the asset manager; (ii) one fourth of 1.5% of assets
under management, or (iii) free cash flow in excess of an amount equal to 1.05 multiplied by interest on outstanding debt. In the first quarter of
2011, advisor fees and expense reimbursements of approximately $1.6 million were determined under the Advisory Agreement. In connection
with our transition to self-management, we terminated the advisory agreement on October 25, 2013.

Interest expense. Interest expense decreased to approximately $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from approximately $5.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2011 primarily due to lower principal balances outstanding on our debt facilities, offset by an increase
in noncash interest expense due to a non-recurring write-off of approximately $1.3 million of deferred financing costs in connection with paying
off the Mahrt loan.

Interest rate risk instrument. Our loss on an interest rate swap that does not qualify for hedge accounting treatment decreased by approximately
$0.3 million to approximately $0.1 million in 2012 from approximately $0.4 million in 2011. The loss was primarily due to the fact that the
variable interest rate incurred on the Mahrt Loan was lower than the contractual interest rate of the related interest rate swap during the year
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease in the loss was primarily due to a decrease in the length of time remaining under the swap contract and
changes in the outlook of future market interest rates.

Net loss. Our net loss decreased to approximately $8.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 from approximately $11.9 million for the
year ended December 31, 2011,
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primarily as a result of an approximately $2.4 million improvement in operating loss, an approximately $0.4 million decrease in interest expense,
and an approximately $0.3 million decrease in loss on interest rate swap. Our operating loss improved due to an increase in net timber and
timberland sales revenue of approximately $2.0 million and an approximately $0.6 million decrease in land rent expense. We sustained a net loss
for the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily as a result of incurring interest expense of approximately $5.0 million in connection with
borrowings used to finance the purchase of the Mahrt Timberland and an operating loss of approximately $3.7 million. We opted to leverage the
Mahrt Timberland acquisition with substantial short-term and medium-term borrowings as a result of sourcing this acquisition in advance of
raising investor proceeds under our offerings of securities. Our net loss per share available to common stockholders for the years ended
December 31, 2012 and 2011 was $0.73 and $1.18, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

Since our inception in 2005, we have completed two continuous, non-listed, domestic public offerings and one private offering of our common
stock to non-U.S. persons. These offerings raised approximately $307.2 million in total offering proceeds. After deducting offering costs and
other expenses of approximately $26.1 million and funding common stock redemptions of approximately $2.6 million under our now terminated
share redemption plan, net offering proceeds of approximately $278.1 million were used to partially fund the acquisition of timberlands, service
acquisition-related debt, redeem shares of our preferred stock and fund accrued dividends on redeemed shares of preferred stock.

On December 19, 2013, we entered into the Amended CoBank loan, which amended and restated the existing CoBank loan agreement in its
entirety. The Amended CoBank loan provides for borrowing under credit facilities consisting of: (1) a $15.0 million revolving credit facility,
(2) a $150.0 million multi-draw term credit facility and (3) the remaining amount outstanding under the Amended CoBank loan, which was
$52.2 million. The Amended CoBank loan provides that our new credit facilities may be increased, upon the agreement of lenders willing to
increase their loans, by up to $75.0 million, consisting of up to a $10.0 million increase in the revolving credit facility and the remainder
available for incremental term loans.

Borrowings under the revolving credit facility may be used for working capital, to support letters of credit and other general corporate purposes,
but may not be used for timber acquisitions. The revolving credit facility bears interest at an adjustable rate equal to a base rate plus between
0.50% and 1.75% or a London Interbank Offered Rate, or LIBOR Rate, plus between 1.50% and 2.75%, in each case depending on our LTV
Ratio, and will terminate and all amounts under the facility will be due and payable on December 19, 2018.

We may draw upon the multi-draw term credit facility up to five times during the period beginning on December 19, 2013 through
December 19, 2016 and draws may be used to finance domestic timber acquisitions and associated expenses. In addition, any amounts we repay
under the multi-draw term facility may be re-borrowed prior to the third anniversary of the closing date. The multi-draw term facility bears
interest at an adjustable rate equal to a base rate plus between 0.75% and 2.00% or a LIBOR Rate plus between 1.75% and 3.00%, in each case
depending on the LTV Ratio, and will terminate and all amounts under the facility will be due and payable on December 19, 2020. Generally,
the multi-draw term facility accrues interest only until the maturity date; however, if our LTV Ratio is equal to or in excess of 35%, then
principal payments will be required to be made beginning on December 31, 2016 at a per annum rate of 7.5% of the principal amount
outstanding under the multi-draw term facility.

S-59

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Index to Financial Statements 73



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

The Amended CoBank Loan bears interest at an adjustable rate equal to a base rate plus between 0.50% and 1.75% or a LIBOR Rate plus
between 1.50% and 2.75%, in each case depending on the LTV Ratio, and will terminate and all amounts under the facility will be due and
payable on December 19, 2018.

The Amended CoBank loan is secured by a first mortgage in our timberlands, a first priority security interest in all bank accounts held by us and
a first priority security interest on all our other assets. In addition, our obligations under the Amended CoBank loan are guaranteed by our
subsidiaries.

On May 30, 2014, we, through certain of our subsidiaries, entered into a joinder and amendment agreement, which modified and amended the
Amended CoBank loan by, among other things, increasing the availability under our revolving credit facility by $10 million, from $15 million to
$25 million, and the availability under our multi-draw term credit facility by $65 million, from $150 million to $215 million. In addition, per the
terms of the joinder and amendment agreement, we are permitted to make six, rather than five, draws under the multi-draw term credit facility.
This amendment also provides us with greater flexibility to use the proceeds from land sales for general working capital, acquisitions of
additional timberland or permitted distributions or other payments. We may use proceeds totaling up to 1.5% of the aggregate cost basis of our
timberland if our loan-to-value ratio is in excess of 30% but less than 40% and up to 2.0% of the aggregate cost basis if our loan-to-value ratio
does not exceed 30%. Finally, this amendment expands the permitted uses of proceeds under the our revolving credit facility to include certain
earnest money deposits and acquisitions of domestic timberland of up to $3 million, or $4 million with CoBank�s consent.

As of March 31, 2014, the outstanding balance of the Amended CoBank loan was $34.0 million, all of which was outstanding under the
multi-draw term loan facility. As of June 30, 2014, the outstanding balance of the Amended CoBank loan had increased to $118.5 million as a
result of the Completed Acquisitions. Giving effect to the application of the net proceeds from this offering (and before giving effect to the
pending acquisitions described in �Prospectus Supplement Summary�Recent Developments�), as of June 30, 2014, we would have had no
outstanding borrowings under the Amended CoBank loan.

We expect our primary sources of future capital to be (1) cash generated from operations, (2) borrowings under our existing and future credit
facilities, and (3) proceeds from selective dispositions. The amount of cash available for distribution to stockholders and the level of
discretionary distributions declared will depend primarily upon the amount of cash generated from our operating activities, our determination of
funding needs for near-term capital and debt service requirements, and our expectations of future cash flows.

Short-Term Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 was approximately $1.1 million. Net cash provided by operating
activities for the three months ended March 31, 2014 was approximately $0.5 million, which consisted of net cash receipts from timber and
timberland sales and recreational leases in excess of payments for operating expenses, general and administrative expenses, forestry
management fees, and interest expense. Net cash provided by operating activities increased by approximately $1.5 million compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2013, driven by an increase in net cash receipts from timber sales.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 and the three months ended March 31, 2014, we used approximately $0.4 million on $0.3 million,
respectively, in reforestation and building roads,
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$1.7 million and $4.3 million, respectively, in timberland acquisitions, for which the 2014 amount was primarily comprised of a $3.7 million of
earnest money deposit associated with the Waycross-Panola acquisition.

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 and the three months ended March 31, 2014 was approximately $1.4
million and $1.3 million, respectively, and primarily represented inflows from the issuance of common stock and outflows of funds used to pay
down the outstanding balance on the CoBank Loan, fund offering costs related to our initial listed offering, redeem the outstanding preferred
stock, fund financing costs of securing the New Credit Facilities, and to redeem our common stock pursuant to the share redemption plan in
2013 and for 2014, to pay down the outstanding note payable, fund dividends to common stockholders and fund stock issuance cost.

Our Amended CoBank loan contains, among others, the following financial covenants: (1) limits our LTV Ratio to 45% at the end of each fiscal
quarter and upon the sale or acquisition of any property; and (2) requires a minimum liquidity balance of $10.0 million until the date that we
have achieved a fixed charge coverage ratio of not less than 1.05:1; after such date we must maintain a fixed coverage charge ratio of not less
than 1.05:1. We were in compliance with the financial covenants of the Amended CoBank loan as of March 31, 2014.

Long-Term Liquidity and Capital Resources

Over the long-term, we expect our primary sources of capital to include net cash flows from operations, including proceeds from strategic
property sales, proceeds from secured or unsecured financings from banks and other lenders, and public offerings of our common stock. Our
principal demands for capital include operating expenses, interest expense on any outstanding indebtedness, certain capital expenditures (other
than timberland acquisitions), repayment of debt, timberland acquisitions, and stockholder distributions.

In determining how to allocate cash resources in the future, we will initially consider the source of the cash. We anticipate using a portion of
cash generated from operations, after payments of periodic operating expenses and interest expense, to fund certain capital expenditures required
for our timberlands. Any remaining cash generated from operations may be used to partially fund timberland acquisitions, and pay distributions
to stockholders. Therefore, to the extent that cash flows from operations are lower, timberland acquisitions and stockholder distributions are
anticipated to be lower as well. Proceeds from future equity offerings and debt financings may be used to acquire timberlands, fund capital
expenditures, and pay down existing and future borrowings.

Our bylaws preclude us from incurring debt in excess of 200% of our net assets. As of March 31, 2014, our debt-to-net-assets ratio, defined as
our total debt as a percentage of our total gross assets (other than intangibles) less total liabilities, was approximately 9%. Our debt-to-net-assets
ratio will vary based on our level of current and future borrowings, which will depend on the level of net cash flows from operations, our
acquisition activities, and proceeds raised from public offerings of our common stock. Before additional borrowings and equity issuances,
principal payments, and timberland acquisitions or dispositions, we expect our debt-to-net-assets ratio to remain relatively stable in the near
future.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

As of March 31, 2014, our contractual obligations were as follows:

Payments Due by Period
Contractual Obligations Total 2014 2015-2016 2017-2018 Thereafter
Debt obligations $ 34,000,000 $ � $ � $ 34,000,000 $ �
Estimated interest on debt obligations (1) 3,779,765 608,306 1,622,150 1,549,309 �
Operating lease obligations (2) 5,483,381 618,868 1,341,763 1,314,250 2,208,500
Other liabilities (3) 874,300 129,288 237,078 200,371 307,563

Total $ 44,137,446 $ 1,356,462 $ 3,200,991 $ 37,063,930 $ 2,516,063

(1) Amounts include impact of an interest rate swap. See Note 5�Interest Rate Swaps of our accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional
information.

(2) Includes payment obligation on approximately 7,330 acres that are subleased to a third party.
(3) Represents net present value of future payments to satisfy a liability assumed upon a timberland acquisition.
Portfolio Information

On April 11, 2014, we completed our purchase of approximately 36,300 acres of timberland located in Southeast Georgia and East Texas,
known as the Waycross-Panola Properties, for approximately $74.0 million, exclusive of closing costs. In addition to our acquisition of the
Waycross-Panola Properties, to date, in fiscal year 2014, we have also acquired approximately 8,200 acres located in middle and southern
Georgia in three separate smaller transactions for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $12 million. As of June 30, 2014, we own
interests in approximately 320,400 acres of timberlands in Georgia, Alabama, and Texas; 290,800 acres of which are held in fee-simple interests
and 29,600 acres are held in leasehold interests. Our leased timberlands include approximately 20,500 acres under one long-term lease expiring
in 2022, which we refer to as the long-term contract or LTC lease, and approximately 9,100 acres under multiple, single-rotation leases expiring
between 2013 and 2019, which we refer to as the private land management or PLM leases.

On July 7, 2014, we entered into agreements for two additional timberland acquisitions totaling 55,671 acres located in middle and southern
Georgia and northern Florida, which we expect will close during the third quarter of 2014, subject to the satisfaction of certain due diligence
items and closing conditions, including, but not limited to, inventory and title verification.

Our timberlands are located in Georgia, Alabama and Texas within an attractive and competitive fiber basket encompassing a numerous and
diverse group of pulp, paper and wood products manufacturing facilities.

As of December 31, 2013, our timberlands contained an estimated 10.4 million tons of merchantable timber inventory, of which approximately
6.1 million tons was pulpwood, 2.3 million tons was chip-n-saw, and 2.0 million tons was sawtimber. To date, in fiscal year 2014, we have
completed or announced acquisitions totaling approximately 100,000 acres of timberland. We believe that these acquisitions, in aggregate, will
likely increase our harvest volumes by 440,000 to 480,000 tons annually over the next decade. Based on current estimates, we believe these
properties contain approximately 4.2 million tons of merchantable timber, comprising 72% pine plantation by acreage and 48% sawtimber by
tons. Our methods of estimating our timber inventory are consistent with industry practices. We must use various assumptions and judgments to
determine both our current timber inventory and the timber inventory that will be
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available over the harvest cycle; therefore, the physical quantity of such timber may vary significantly from our estimates. Our estimated
inventory is calculated for each tract by utilizing growth formulas based on representative sample tracts and tree counts for various diameter
classifications. The calculation of inventory is subject to periodic adjustments based on statistical sampling of the harvestable timbered acres,
known as timber sample cruises, actual volumes harvested and other timber activity, including timberland sales. In addition to growth, the
inventory calculation takes into account in-growth, which is the annual transfer of the oldest pre-merchantable age class into merchantable
inventory. The age at which timber is considered merchantable is reviewed periodically and updated for changing harvest practices, future
harvest age profiles and biological growth factors. In addition, estimated inventory levels for pending acquisitions may be subject to additional
variances because we are still completing timber sample cruises and other ongoing due diligence procedures.

Forests are subject to a number of natural hazards, including damage by fire, hurricanes, insects and disease. Changes in global climate
conditions may intensify these natural hazards. Severe weather conditions and other natural disasters can also reduce the productivity of
timberlands and disrupt the harvesting and delivery of forest products. Because our timberlands are concentrated in Georgia, Alabama and
Texas, damage from natural disasters could impact a material portion of our timberlands at one time. Our active forest management should help
to minimize these risks. Consistent with the practices of other timber companies, we do not maintain insurance against loss of standing timber on
our timberlands due to natural disasters or other causes.

Adjusted EBITDA

The discussion below is intended to enhance the reader�s understanding of our operating performance, liquidity, ability to generate cash, ability to
satisfy rating agency and lender requirements. Earnings from Continuing Operations before Interest, Taxes, Depletion, and Amortization, or
EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure of operating performance and cash generating capacity. EBITDA is defined by the SEC; however, we have
excluded certain other expenses due to their noncash nature, and we refer to this measure as Adjusted EBITDA. As such, our Adjusted EBITDA
may not be comparable to similarly titled measures reported by other companies and should not be viewed as an alternative to net income or
cash from operations as measurements of our operating performance. Due to the significant amount of timber assets subject to depletion and
significant amount of financing subject to interest and amortization expense, management considers Adjusted EBITDA to be an important
measure of our financial condition and cash generating ability. We had substantial amount of debt subject to interest and amortization expense
from inception until we reduced the debt balance to $52.2 million in December 2013. Our credit agreements contain a minimum debt service
coverage ratio based, in part, on Adjusted EBITDA since this measure is representative of adjusted income available for interest payments.

For the year ended December 31, 2013 and the three months ended March 31, 2014, Adjusted EBITDA was $3.5 million and $1.9 million,
respectively, a $12.0 million decrease from the year ended December 31, 2012 and a $0.7 million increase from the quarter ended March 31,
2013. The decrease in 2013 was primarily due to an $8.0 million decrease in revenue from timberland sales during 2013, a $1.6 million decrease
in net timber sales, and a $2.9 million increase in general and administrative expenses; offset by a $0.5 million decrease in land rent expenses as
a result of lease expirations. The increase in 2014 was primarily due to a $1.5 million increase in net timber sales, offset by a $0.4 million
decrease in revenue from timberland sales and a $0.4 million increase in general and administrative expenses.
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Our reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013 follows:

Three Months Ended
March 31,

2014 2013
Net loss $ (388,059) $ (1,986,734) 
Add:
Depletion 1,803,532 2,045,353
Basis of timberland sold 37,987 337,000
Amortization (1) 95,756 114,906
Stock-based compensation expense 82,997 �
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment � (128,934) 
Interest expense (1) 310,122 861,742

Adjusted EBITDA $ 1,942,335 $ 1,243,333

(1) For the purpose of the above reconciliation, amortization includes amortization of deferred financing costs, amortization of intangible lease assets, and
amortization of mainline road costs, which are included in either interest expense, land rent expense, or other operating expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Our reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 follows:

2013 2012 2011
Net loss $ (13,196,920) $ (8,870,732) $ (11,945,363) 
Add:
Depletion 8,505,024 11,677,229 11,759,282
Basis of timberland sold 1,569,543 7,187,733 1,172,241
Amortization (1) 1,487,235 2,007,239 684,857
Stock-based compensation expense 1,838,082 28,333 21,667
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps that do not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment (128,934) (847,743) (531,512) 
Interest expense (1) 3,395,122 4,289,204 5,938,800
Basis of casualty loss � 25,541 91,061
Basis of timber on terminated lease � � �

Adjusted EBITDA $ 3,469,152 $ 15,496,804 $ 7,191,033

(1) For the purpose of the above reconciliation, amortization includes amortization of deferred financing costs, amortization of intangible lease assets, and
amortization of mainline road costs, which are included in either interest expense, land rent expense, or other operating expenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations.

Election as a REIT

We have elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Code, and have operated as such beginning with our taxable year ended December 31, 2009.
To qualify to be taxed as a REIT, we must meet certain organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at
least 90% of our adjusted taxable income, as defined in the Code, to our stockholders, computed
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without regard to the dividends-paid deduction and by excluding our net capital gain. As a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal
income tax on taxable income that we distribute to our stockholders. If we fail to qualify to be taxed as a REIT in any taxable year, we will then
be subject to federal income taxes on our taxable income at regular corporate rates and will not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT
for federal income tax purposes for that year and for the four years following the year during which qualification is lost, unless the Internal
Revenue Service grants us relief under certain statutory provisions. Such an event could materially adversely affect our net income and net cash
available for distribution to our stockholders. However, we believe that we are organized and operate in such a manner as to qualify for
treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes.

Inflation

In connection with the acquisition of the Mahrt Timberland, we entered into the Timber Agreements with MeadWestvaco. The Timber
Agreements provide that we will sell to MeadWestvaco specified amounts of timber subject to quarterly market pricing adjustments and monthly
fuel pricing adjustments, which are intended to protect us from, and mitigate the risk of, the impact of inflation. The price of timber has
generally increased with increases in inflation; however, we have not noticed a significant impact from inflation on our revenues, net sales, or
income from continuing operations.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies have been established to conform to GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to use judgment in the application of accounting policies, including making estimates and assumptions. These judgments affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. If management�s judgment or interpretation of the facts and
circumstances relating to various transactions had been different, it is possible that different accounting policies would have been applied or
different amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses would have been recorded, thus resulting in a different presentation of the
financial statements or different amounts reported in the financial statements. Additionally, other companies may utilize different estimates that
may impact the comparability of our results of operations to those of companies in similar businesses.

A discussion of the accounting policies that management deems critical because they may require complex judgment in their application or
otherwise require estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain, is provided below.

Timber Assets

Timber and timberlands, including logging roads, are stated at cost less accumulated depletion for timber harvested and accumulated
amortization. We capitalize timber and timberland purchases. Reforestation costs, including all costs associated with stand establishment, such
as site preparation, costs of seeds or seedlings, planting, fertilization and herbicide application, are capitalized. Timber carrying costs, such as
real estate taxes, insect control, wildlife control, leases of timberlands and forestry management personnel salaries and fringe benefits, are
expensed as incurred. Costs of major roads are capitalized and amortized over their estimated useful lives. Costs of roads built to access multiple
logging sites over numerous years are capitalized and amortized over seven years. Costs of roads built to access a single logging site are
expensed as incurred.

S-65

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 80



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

Depletion

Depletion, or costs attributed to timber harvested, is charged against income as trees are harvested. Fee-simple timber tracts owned longer than
one year and similarly managed are pooled together for depletion calculation purposes. Depletion rates are determined at least annually by
dividing (a) the sum of (i) net carrying value of the timber, which equals the original cost of the timber less previously recorded depletion, and
(ii) capitalized silviculture costs incurred and the projected silviculture costs, net of inflation, to be capitalized over the harvest cycle, by (b) the
total timber volume estimated to be available over the harvest cycle. The harvest cycle for the Mahrt Timberland is 30 years. See �Portfolio
Information� and �Overview� above for additional information regarding estimations of both our current timber inventory and the timber inventory
that will be available over the harvest cycle. The capitalized silviculture cost is limited to the expenditures that relate to establishing stands of
timber. For each fee-simple timber tract owned less than one year, depletion rates are determined by dividing the acquisition cost attributable to
its timber by the volume of timber acquired. Depletion rates for lease tracts, which are generally limited to one harvest, are calculated by
dividing the acquisition cost attributable to its timber by the volume of timber acquired. Net carrying value of the timber and timberlands is used
to compute the gain or loss in connection with timberland sales. No book basis is allocated to the sale of conservation easements.

Evaluating the Recoverability of Timber Assets

We continually monitor events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of our timber assets may not be
recoverable. When indicators of potential impairment are present that suggest that the carrying amounts of timber assets may not be recoverable,
we assess the recoverability of these assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the undiscounted future
operating cash flows expected from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. Impairment losses would be recognized for (i) long-lived
assets used in our operations when the carrying value of such assets exceeds the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated from the
future operations of those assets, and (ii) long-lived assets held for sale when the carrying value of such assets exceeds an amount equal to their
fair value less selling costs. Estimated fair values are calculated based on the following information in order of preference, dependent upon
availability: (i) recently quoted market prices, (ii) market prices for comparable properties, or (iii) the present value of undiscounted cash flows,
including estimated salvage value. We intend to use one harvest cycle for the purpose of evaluating the recoverability of timber and timberlands
used in our operations. Future cash flow estimates are based on probability-weighted projections for a range of possible outcomes and are
discounted at risk-free rates of interest. We consider assets to be held for sale at the point at which a sale contract is executed and the buyer has
made a nonrefundable earnest money deposit against the contracted purchase price. We have determined that there has been no impairment of
our long-lived assets to date.

Allocation of Purchase Price of Acquired Assets

Upon the acquisition of timberland properties, we allocate the purchase price to tangible assets, consisting of timberland and timber, and
identified intangible assets and liabilities, which may include values associated with in-place leases or supply agreements, based in each case on
our estimate of their fair values. The fair values of timberland and timber are determined based on available market information and estimated
cash flow projections that utilize appropriate discount factors and capitalization rates. Estimates of future cash flows are based on a number of
factors including the historical operating results, known and anticipated trends, and market and economic conditions. The values are then
allocated to timberland and timber based on our determination of the relative fair value of these assets.
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Intangible Lease Assets

In-place ground leases with us as the lessee have value associated with effective contractual rental rates that are below market rates. Such values
are calculated based on the present value (using a discount rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the difference
between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place lease and (ii) our estimate of fair market lease rates for the corresponding
in-place lease, measured over a period equal to the remaining term of the lease. The capitalized below-market in-place lease values are recorded
as intangible lease assets and are amortized as adjustments to land rent expense over the weighted-average remaining term of the respective
leases.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from the sale of timber is recognized when the following criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, (ii) legal
ownership and the risk of loss are transferred to the purchaser, (iii) price and quantity are determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably
assured. Our primary sources of revenue are recognized as follows:

(1) For delivered sales contracts, which include amounts sufficient to cover costs of logging and hauling of timber, revenues are
recognized upon delivery to the customer.

(2) For pay-as-cut contracts, the purchaser acquires the right to harvest specified timber on a tract, at an agreed-upon price per unit.
Payments and contract advances are recognized as revenue as the timber is harvested based on the contracted sale rate per unit.

(3) Revenues from the sale of higher-and-better use timberland and nonstrategic timberlands are recognized when title passes and full
payment or a minimum down payment is received and full collectability is assured. If a down payment of less than the minimum
down payment is received at closing, we will record revenue based on the installment method.

(4) For recreational leases, rental income collected in advance is recorded as other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets until earned over the term of the respective recreational lease and recognized as other revenue.

In addition to the sources of revenue noted above, we also may enter into lump-sum sale contracts, whereby the purchaser generally pays the
purchase price upon execution of the contract. Title to the timber and risk of loss transfers to the buyer at the time the contract is consummated.
Revenues are recognized upon receipt of the purchase price. When the contract expires, ownership of the remaining standing timber reverts to
us; however, adjustments are not made to the revenues previously recognized. Any extensions of time will be negotiated under a new or
amended contract.

Related-Party Transactions and Agreements

On October 25, 2013, we became self-managed by terminating our advisory agreement with Wells TIMO, a subsidiary of Wells Capital, a
subsidiary of Wells REF and our initial sponsor. We also hired certain individuals to serve as our management team, including individuals who
were previously employed by Wells REF, such as Brian M. Davis, our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and
Assistant Secretary. Mr. Davis also served as our Chief Financial Officer prior to our transition to self-management. Until our transition to
self-management, Leo F. Wells served as our Chairman of the Board and President and Douglas P. Williams served as our
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Executive Vice President, Secretary and Treasurer and one of our directors. Messrs. Wells and Williams also resigned as directors of our
company on December 11, 2013, the effective date of the registration statement for our initial public offering. They continue to serve as officers
and directors of other affiliates of Wells REF, which is owned by Mr. Wells.

We entered into the master self-management transition agreement, or the Master Agreement, with Wells REF and Wells TIMO, which provides
the framework for our separation from Wells REF and its affiliates and our transition to self-management. On October 24, 2013, we, our
operating partnership, Wells REF and Wells TIMO agreed to amend the Master Agreement to advance the date of our self-management
transition to October 25, 2013. As a result, we and our operating partnership entered into two agreements with these entities to provide services
to us on a temporary and non-exclusive basis. These agreements include a transition services agreement that will terminate on June 30, 2014 and
a month-to-month office sublease for our corporate headquarters for up to five months. Pursuant to the transition services agreement, we are
obligated to pay Wells REF a consulting fee equal to $22,875 per month, and Wells REF will receive a prorated amount equal to $4,428 for the
period from October 25, 2013 through October 31, 2013. We also reimburse Wells REF for expenses it incurs in connection with the services
provided, excluding its administrative services expenses such as personnel and overhead costs. From October 2013 to March 2014, we subleased
approximately 5,723 square feet of office space from Wells REF. The office sublease provided for monthly base rent of $5,961, which was not
payable for the months of October, November and December of 2013, plus additional costs for various space-related services. The sub-lease
expired on March 31, 2014.

Pursuant to the Master Agreement, upon the termination of the advisory agreement, the special partnership units of our operating partnership
owned by Wells TIMO were automatically redeemed for no consideration. The 200 common partnership units of our operating partnership
previously held by Wells TIMO were purchased by CatchMark LP Holder, LLC, our newly formed subsidiary, on October 25, 2013, for $1,312,
based on our estimated per share value as of September 30, 2012.

On January 31, 2014, we entered into an agreement with Wells REF related to transfer agency services fees. Pursuant to this agreement, Wells
REF paid transfer agency fees directly to DST, our former transfer agent, from December 2013 to February 2014, when we discontinued the use
of DST for our transfer agency services.

All related person transactions must be approved or ratified by a majority of the disinterested directors on our board of directors.

Regulatory Matters

In February 2013, the SEC started a non-public, formal, fact finding investigation regarding WIS, the former dealer-manager for our previous
non-listed public offerings, and our company. The investigation relates to whether there have been violations of certain provisions of the federal
securities laws regarding valuation, potential distributions, marketing and suitability.

We have not been accused of any wrongdoing by the SEC. We also have been informed by the SEC that the existence of this investigation does
not mean that the SEC has concluded that anyone has violated any laws or regulations or that the SEC has a negative opinion of any person,
entity or security. We have received a formal subpoena for documents and information and we have been cooperating fully with the SEC. We
cannot reasonably estimate the timing of the conclusion of the investigation, nor can we predict whether or not the SEC will take any action
against us as a result of the investigation and, if they do, what the ultimate outcome will be.
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Commitments and Contingencies

We are subject to certain commitments and contingencies with regard to certain transactions. Refer to Note 6 and Note 12 of our accompanying
consolidated financial statements for further explanation. Examples of such commitments and contingencies include:

� MeadWestvaco Timber Supply Agreements;

� FRC Timberland Operating Agreement;

� Obligations under Operating Leases; and

� Litigation.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a current or future material effect on our financial condition or
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk

As a result of entering into our credit agreements, we are exposed to interest rate changes. Our interest rate risk management objectives are to
limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows and to lower our overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, we
have entered into interest rate swap agreements, and may enter into other interest rate swaps, caps, or other arrangements in order to mitigate our
interest rate risk on a related financial instrument. We do not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes; however,
certain of our derivatives may not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. All of our debt was entered into for other than trading purposes. We
manage our ratio of fixed-to-floating-rate debt with the objective of achieving a mix that we believe is appropriate in light of anticipated changes
in interest rates. We closely monitor interest rates and will continue to consider the sources and terms of our borrowing facilities to determine
whether we have appropriately guarded ourselves against the risk of increasing interest rates in future periods.

As of March 31, 2014, we had $34.0 million outstanding on the Amended CoBank loan, which matures on December 19, 2018 and bears interest
at an adjustable rate based on one-, two-, or three-month LIBOR Rate plus a margin ranging from 1.50% to 2.75% based upon the then-current
LTV Ratio.

Under the Rabobank Forward Swap, we pay interest at a fixed rate of 0.9075% per annum and receive variable LIBOR-based interest payments
from Rabobank between March 28, 2013 and September 30, 2017. As of March 31, 2014, the weighted-average interest rate of the CoBank
Loan, after consideration of the Rabobank Forward Swap, was 2.39%.

Approximately $33.0 million of our total debt outstanding as of March 31, 2014 is subject to an effectively fixed-interest rate when coupled with
Rabobank Forward Swap. As of March 31, 2014, this balance incurred interest expense at an average rate of 2.4075%. A change in the market
interest rate impacts the net financial instrument position of our fixed-rate debt portfolio; however, it has no impact on interest incurred or cash
flows.

S-69

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Index to Financial Statements 84



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

As of March 31, 2014, after consideration of the Rabobank Forward Swap, approximately $1.0 million of our total debt outstanding is subject to
an effectively variable-interest rate. This balance incurred interest expense at an average rate of 1.66% as of March 31, 2014. A 1.0% change in
interest rates would result in a change in interest expense of approximately $0.02 million per year. The amount of effectively variable-rate debt
outstanding in the future will be largely dependent upon the level of cash from operations and the rate at which we are able to employ such
proceeds toward repayment of the Amended CoBank loan and acquisition of timberland properties.
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INDUSTRY AND MARKET OPPORTUNITY

The following information is derived from a market study prepared by Forest Economic Advisors, LLC, or FEA. The forecasts and projections
are based on FEA�s experience and expertise within the forest products industry and other sources, although there is no assurance that any of the
projections will be accurate. We believe that the study is reliable, but we have not independently verified the information in the study nor have
we verified any underlying assumptions relied upon therein. While we are not aware of any misstatements regarding the industry data presented
herein, estimates involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors, including those discussed under the
heading �Risk Factors.�

According to data from the Federal Reserve and the U.S. Department of Commerce, the logging and wood products manufacturing sectors
contributed over $33 billion to U.S. GDP in 2011, and the paper and paperboard sectors contributed an additional $42 billion.

According to FEA�s analysis, in 2013, approximately 51% of the total U.S. softwood and hardwood timber harvest was comprised of larger
diameter sawlogs used in the production of lumber and veneer products such as plywood. Another 41% of the timber harvest was comprised of
smaller diameter pulpwood, which has two main end-use markets�paper products and OSB, a structural panel primarily used in construction. The
following chart illustrates

the estimated total U.S. timber harvest by end-use:

As important as sawlogs and veneer logs are on a volume basis, they are even more important on a value basis. For example, over the past ten
years, softwood sawlog prices (per green ton) have exceeded pulpwood prices by a factor of 4.0x on average in the U.S. South. Thus, sawlogs
and veneer logs represent the majority of income derived from U.S. timberlands.

Demand Overview

Residential housing is the most important end-use market for timber. Overall, FEA estimates that approximately two-thirds of the total U.S.
softwood sawtimber harvest by volume is processed into products that are either primary inputs for residential construction in North America
such as dimension lumber, structural wood panels and engineered wood products, or used to make complementary products such as furniture and
cabinets.
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New Residential Construction

U.S. housing starts are generally considered the most important indicator of demand for timber. In order to forecast wood products consumption
from projected new housing starts, FEA considers a number of factors, including the projected composition of housing starts (single-family vs.
multi-family) and projected average new home size, to derive a forecast for total square footage of residential construction. An estimate of the
quantity of lumber and wood panels used per square foot of floor space is then applied to derive aggregate wood products demand from
residential construction.

Over the last six years, the U.S. housing sector has experienced its worst downturn in 70 years, as housing starts averaged slightly below
750,000 per year over such period. This is in contrast to 1.5 million starts per year between 1959 and 2000 and 1.8 million starts per year
between 2001 and mid-2007. The following chart illustrates historical annual U.S. housing starts and housing starts per thousand of population:
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Over the long term, housing starts are generally driven by demographics. FEA�s analysis of Census Bureau demographic data suggests that the
U.S. housing sector is currently underbuilt relative to underlying demand by approximately 3.2 million housing units on a cumulative basis,
which FEA projects will increase to approximately 3.7 million housing units by 2015. The following chart illustrates FEA�s estimate of the
historical and projected cumulative over/under-building of conventional U.S. housing units:

According to FEA�s estimates, U.S. housing starts are likely to return to a multi-year average of close to 1.5 million within the next several years.
FEA believes this estimate is conservative, considering housing starts averaged 1.5 million between 1959 and 2000 when the U.S. population
ranged from 177 million to 282 million, as compared to a 2012 population of 314 million and a projected 2020 population of approximately 334
million. FEA�s demographics analysis also suggests trendline demand for housing of approximately 1.5 million starts per year from 2010 to
2020. FEA�s housing starts forecast is based upon U.S. population trends and projections created by the U.S. Census Bureau, historical household
formation trends, estimated population growth, including immigration, and assumptions regarding other housing trends such as second home
purchases and inventory removals.

FEA forecasts 2014 U.S. housing starts of approximately 1.05 million, including 680,000 single-family starts. By 2017, FEA projects U.S.
housing starts will reach approximately 1.75 million, including 1.18 million single-family starts. This represents an increase in total housing
starts and single-family housing starts of approximately 66% and 74%, respectively, relative to 2014 levels.
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The following chart illustrates historical and FEA-projected U.S. housing starts:

Other End-Uses

Aside from new housing, the main end-use markets for U.S. wood products consumption include residential improvements, industrial production
and non-residential construction. The following chart provides a breakdown of average wood products consumption by end-use market between
2000 and 2010:

Residential Improvements

Existing home sales are a key driver of residential improvements, as approximately three-quarters of all residential improvements are made
within two years of the purchase of a home. Other factors such as general economic conditions, credit availability and income growth also drive
residential improvement expenditures, all of which are expected to improve over the next several years. As a result, FEA projects strong growth
in residential improvement expenditures over the 2010 to 2020 timeframe.
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The following chart illustrates historical and projected U.S. residential improvement expenditures:

Industrial Production

Since the recession officially ended in mid-2009, industrial production has grown at an average rate of 4.2% annually, compared to average GDP
growth of 2.2% annually over the same time period. Over the next several years, FEA projects that growth in industrial production will roughly
track real GDP growth, suggesting increased consumption of wood products for industrial uses.

North American Lumber Consumption Expected to Increase

North American lumber consumption plunged from a peak of 75.8 billion board feet, or BBF, at the height of the housing boom in 2005 to 41.5
BBF at the bottom of the housing downturn in 2010, a decline of approximately 45%. This decline was driven primarily by reduced lumber
consumption for new residential construction. Demand has since recovered modestly, and FEA forecasts 2014 lumber consumption of
approximately 51.6 BBF. Going forward, FEA projects that lumber consumption will rise rapidly over the next several years as housing
construction returns to normalized levels, reaching nearly 66 BBF by 2018, an increase of over 40% relative to 2013 levels. The following chart
illustrates historical and projected lumber consumption in North America by end use:
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On balance, FEA forecasts average domestic lumber consumption of approximately 60 BBF per year over the next five years, approximately
25% higher than the 2013 level of domestic consumption, due to significant improvements in end-use market conditions. By comparison, during
the period from 1995 to 2000, when housing starts averaged 1.52 million per year and residential improvements grew at a solid but restrained
pace, lumber consumption averaged approximately 58 BBF. Since that time, U.S. single-family homes have increased in size, other end-use
markets (most notably the industrial segment) have grown, and residential improvement expenditures are trending upward. Due to the similarity
in end-use markets, FEA also expects the wood panels sector to experience strong growth in the range of 20% to 45% over the next five years.
Overall, FEA projects that the significant increase in lumber and wood panels consumption will drive strong incremental demand for sawtimber.

Net Exports of Logs and Lumber Expected to Remain Strong

North American log and lumber exports have increased sharply in recent years due to strong demand from China. The main end uses of wood
products in China are for concrete forming, furniture, interior applications and packaging. A number of social factors have driven a significant
increase in demand for such products in China. Over the past 10 years, more than 200 million Chinese citizens have migrated from rural areas to
urban areas, creating the need for an estimated 11 million new housing units per year. While demand in China has grown rapidly, supply has
been relatively constrained. Since China�s domestic timber resources are not nearly sufficient to satisfy its growing demand for wood products,
over 80% of its log and lumber supply comes from foreign imports, which have also been limited by a variety of factors. Russia, a logical
supplier to the Chinese market, imposed an export tax in 2006 that greatly reduced the price-competitiveness of its export logs. New Zealand,
another logical supplier to the Chinese market, is approaching the limits of what it can supply with regard to the sustainability of its timber
resource and its port capacity. As a result of these demand drivers and offshore supply constraints, the supply of wood products to China from
North America (primarily from the U.S. Pacific Northwest and British Columbia) has surged. The following charts illustrate the growth in log
exports from the U.S. Pacific Northwest and lumber exports from British Columbia in recent years:

In 2013, FEA estimates that China alone accounted for approximately 1.1 BBF of log exports from the U.S. Pacific Northwest and
approximately 4.8 BBF of lumber exports from British Columbia. This compares to virtually no export demand from China prior to 2008.
Overall, the export demand generated by China in 2013 represents the demand equivalent of roughly 490,000 U.S. single-family housing starts
(based on average lumber consumption of approximately 15,000 board feet per single-family start and average log-to-lumber recovery rates in
the U.S. Pacific Northwest of approximately 2.3x).
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Ongoing political factors are expected to further increase Chinese demand for North American wood products. The Chinese government recently
increased its target for affordable housing to 7.5 million starts per year. Additionally, Russia�s lack of investment in transportation and logging
infrastructure will further limit its ability to supply Chinese markets with wood products going forward. As a result, FEA predicts North
American lumber exports will remain strong for the foreseeable future, although exports are expected to taper as domestic demand strengthens
and anticipated price increases reduce the competitiveness of export products.

The following chart illustrates historical and projected North American lumber exports:
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Supply Overview

Canada has historically been a major supplier of wood products to the North American market, particularly the United States. Between 2000 and
2010, British Columbia accounted for approximately 23% of aggregate North American lumber production and Eastern Canada accounted for an
additional 24%. By contrast, Canada accounted for only 17% of total North American lumber consumption over the same time period, as the
significant majority of its lumber production is exported, both to the United States and offshore. Thus, Canada is an integral source of lumber
supply for both the United States as well as other global markets. The following charts illustrate the breakdown of North American lumber
production by region versus the breakdown of North American lumber consumption between the United States and Canada for the 2000 to 2010
period:

While the demand for wood products and corresponding demand for timber in North America is projected to increase significantly from current
levels over the next several years, FEA anticipates that the supply response will be constrained by several key developments in Canada. These
developments include the mountain pine beetle epidemic in British Columbia and governmental restrictions on timber harvest in Eastern
Canada. FEA projects that the combined impact of these developments will lead to a reduction in Canada�s sustainable annual softwood timber
supply of 22 million cubic meters relative to its most recent peak harvest of 169 million cubic meters in 2004, a decline of 13%. These major
developments impacting Canadian wood products supply are discussed further below.
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Mountain Pine Beetle Infestation in British Columbia

Approximately one-third of British Columbia�s timber resource is comprised of Lodgepole Pine. Since 1999, British Columbia�s pine inventory
has been devastated by an infestation of the mountain pine beetle that has been concentrated in the Interior of the province. When the current
epidemic started, the British Columbia Interior was estimated to hold approximately 1.35 billion cubic meters of mature pine timber susceptible
to the mountain pine beetle. As of year-end 2013, the British Columbia Ministry of Forests estimates that approximately 728 million cubic
meters, or over 50%, of this pine inventory had been killed by the mountain pine beetle. A pine tree killed by the mountain pine beetle is
estimated to be commercially viable for 8-12 years after its mortality. Therefore, the full supply-side impact of the mountain pine beetle
epidemic (1) has yet to be fully realized, (2) will become increasingly pronounced over the next several years, and (3) will persist for several
decades as the forest regenerates (as it typically takes in excess of 75 years for a pine tree to reach economic maturity in British Columbia). The
following chart illustrates the estimated inventory of live and dead pine in British Columbia by years since mortality:

By 2020, FEA estimates that the total pine timber inventory in British Columbia will have been reduced from 1.35 billion cubic meters to 922
million cubic meters, of which 312 million cubic meters will be more than 12 years beyond mortality and no longer commercially viable for
most applications. This represents a reduction in British Columbia�s commercially valuable pine inventory of approximately 55% and a reduction
in British Columbia�s total commercially available timber inventory of approximately 15%.

The mountain pine beetle infestation peaked in 2005 to 2007, and management of the epidemic has largely taken on elements of a salvage
operation. In response to the beetle epidemic, British Columbia increased its annual allowable cut, or AAC, significantly between 1999 and 2007
in order to extract maximum economic value from its dead pine inventory. This elevated AAC remained in effect as the U.S. housing market
experienced an unprecedented downturn, which further exacerbated the supply-demand imbalance in the North American solid wood products
market. However, as a large and increasing share of British Columbia�s timber inventory becomes commercially unviable, FEA expects that
policymakers will need to significantly reduce the AAC in the province.

At the peak of the housing boom, the AAC in the British Columbia Interior was approximately 64 million cubic meters, and the total timber
harvested nearly matched that level. The AAC then
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rose to 68 million cubic meters by 2007 due to the need to harvest fiber while it was still commercially viable. As this salvage operation winds
down, FEA expects that the AAC will decline dramatically to reflect the smaller inventory of viable trees. By 2017 to 2020, FEA projects that
the AAC in the British Columbia Interior will be down to approximately 50 million cubic meters (a decline of over 25% from the 2007 AAC),
and the actual timber harvest is expected to be even lower due to the severely limited inventory of live Lodgepole Pine. This reduced availability
of fiber is expected to lead to a proportionate reduction of lumber production capacity in the region. On balance, FEA projects that peak-to-peak
lumber production in the British Columbia Interior will decline from 15.1 BBF in 2006 to 11.2 BBF by 2018, which represents a decline in
regional supply of approximately 26% and a decline in aggregate North American supply of approximately 5%. This reduction in lumber supply
represents the demand equivalent of roughly 260,000 U.S. single-family housing starts.

The following chart illustrates the historical and FEA-projected total AAC in British Columbia from 1990 through 2020:

Harvest Restrictions in Eastern Canada

Policymakers in Eastern Canada have implemented policies to reduce its AAC as a result of environmental, social and political factors. In the
mid-1990s, Ontario restricted logging north of the 49th parallel in an effort to protect portions of the boreal forest located in the province,
resulting in a reduction to its AAC of approximately 6.0 million cubic meters between 1993 and 1996. In the mid-2000s, the Coulombe
Commission in Quebec determined that the province had been harvesting timber at an unsustainable rate, resulting in a reduction to its AAC of
approximately 6.1 million cubic meters.

Quebec is expected to further reduce its available supply of timber in the future. In 2013, Quebec implemented a forest management regime that
calls for longer harvest rotations, which FEA expects will lower Quebec�s AAC by approximately 11.5% in 2013 and beyond. Similar to Ontario,
Quebec has also called for additional protections for the boreal forest located north of the 49th parallel as part of its �North for All� plan. Based on
current implementation expectations, FEA estimates that the �North for All� plan will reduce Quebec�s AAC by an additional 6% from 2016 to
2020 (however, if implemented in full, FEA estimates that Plan Nord could reduce Quebec�s AAC by as much as 25% during this period). On
balance, FEA estimates that Quebec�s AAC will be less than 20 million cubic meters during the 2016 to 2020 period, a decline of over 35% from
the average AAC of 30.6 million cubic meters that prevailed during the 2000 to 2004
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period. As a result, FEA projects that peak-to-peak lumber production in Quebec will decline from 8.2 BBF in 2004 to 5.7 BBF by 2018, which
represents a decline in regional supply of over 30% and a decline in aggregate North American supply of over 3%. This reduction in lumber
supply represents the demand equivalent of roughly 166,000 U.S. single-family housing starts.

The following chart illustrates the historical and projected AAC in Ontario and Quebec:

Potential Impact of Imports

FEA anticipates that, given the various demand drivers and supply constraints detailed above, North American lumber mills will not be able to
meet domestic production needs as end-markets continue to recover. While increased imports may address some of this incremental demand,
FEA generally believes that a meaningful increase in U.S. imports (outside of Canada) would likely require very high lumber prices. FEA�s
analysis suggests that would-be importers would require sustained spruce-pine-fir, or S-P-F lumber prices in excess of $550 per MBF in order to
meaningfully enter the market, given their marginal cost of supplying such products to the United States. By comparison, a domestic S-P-F
lumber price of $550 per MBF would represent a premium of over 35% above the average S-P-F lumber price during the period from June 2013
to May 2014. Thus, while an increase in imports could conceivably address excess demand and lead to a softening of the domestic market, the
mere fact that imports could competitively enter the market from a pricing standpoint would likely be a sign that the underlying North American
wood products markets (and corresponding timber markets) are extremely strong.

Conclusion

FEA anticipates that the projected supply-demand imbalance that is developing in the North American wood products market will drive
meaningfully higher product prices for solid wood products, which, in turn, will drive higher prices for timber and timberlands. FEA believes the
U.S. South is best positioned to supply North America�s growing timber demand, particularly given the meaningful secular supply constraints in
Canada. The U.S. South has abundant and fast-growing fiber resources, a competitive wood-processing industry and sits in close proximity to a
substantial portion of the U.S. residential construction sector (as the U.S. South region has historically accounted for roughly 50% of total U.S.
housing starts). While the U.S. Pacific Northwest will also benefit from these trends, continued log export demand and longer harvest rotations
may limit fiber availability and potential production gains in the region�s wood products manufacturing facilities, thereby driving incremental
demand for domestic production toward the U.S. South.
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BUSINESS AND PROPERTIES

Our Company

We are a real estate company investing in timberlands that has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. We are self-administered and self-managed. We primarily engage in the ownership, management, acquisition and
disposition of timberlands located in the United States. We are a publicly-traded REIT that is engaged exclusively in timberland ownership and
management, without ownership of any forest products or other manufacturing operations.

The focus of our business is to invest in timberlands and to actively manage such assets to provide current income and attractive long-term
returns to our stockholders. We generate recurring income and cash flow from the harvest and sale of timber, as well as from non-timber related
revenue sources, such as recreational leases. When and where we believe it is appropriate, we also periodically generate income and cash flow
from the sale of HBU lands. HBU refers to timberland properties that have a higher-value use beyond growing timber, such as properties that
can be sold for development, conservation, recreational or other rural purposes at prices in excess of traditional timberland values. We also
expect to realize additional long-term returns from the potential appreciation in value of our timberlands as well as from the potential biological
growth of our standing timber inventory in excess of our timber harvest.

For each of the three years ended December 31, 2013, our revenues from timber sales, timberland sales and non-timber related sources, as a
percentage of our total revenue, are set forth in the table below:

2013 2012 2011
Timber sales 83% 69% 89% 
Timberland sales 8% 25% 4% 
Other revenues 9% 6% 7% 

Total 100% 100% 100% 
As of December 31, 2013 and excluding properties acquired year-to-date, our timberlands contained acreage consisting of approximately 73%
pine stands and approximately 27% hardwood stands, and our timber inventory consisted of approximately 10.4 million tons of merchantable
timber, including approximately 6.1 million tons of pulpwood, 2.3 million tons of chip-n-saw and 2.0 million tons of sawtimber. Based on our
acreage as December 31, 2013, we estimated that we could sustainably harvest approximately 0.9 million to 1.0 million tons of timber annually
from our fee timberland properties and that our leased timberlands would contribute, on average, approximately 100,000 tons of incremental
annual harvest volume during the term of the leases. To date, in fiscal year 2014, we have completed or announced acquisitions totaling
approximately 100,000 acres of timberland. We believe that these acquisitions, in aggregate, will likely increase our harvest volumes by 440,000
to 480,000 tons annually over the next decade. Based on current estimates, we believe these properties contain approximately 4.2 million tons of
merchantable timber, comprising 75% pine plantation by acreage and 50% sawtimber by tons. On a pro forma, run-rate basis, we expect that
these acquisitions could add approximately 0.5 million tons to our sustainable annual harvest volume. Over the long term, we anticipate that our
total harvest volume will be comprised of approximately 50% to 60% pulpwood products and approximately 40% to 50% sawtimber and
chip-n-saw products.
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The following is a breakdown of the acreage distribution of our timberlands by type and our merchantable timber inventory by product category,
in each case for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Market Opportunity

We believe that timberlands represent a unique and attractive investment opportunity for the following reasons:

Compelling Industry Fundamentals. The decline in U.S. residential construction that occurred from 2006 to 2011 led to a sharp reduction in
demand for solid wood products, which in turn led to significantly depressed sawtimber stumpage prices, particularly in the U.S. South.
However, several key global supply-demand factors are expected to positively impact the North American market for timber and timberlands
over the next several years and beyond. These factors include:

� Mountain Pine Beetle Epidemic in British Columbia. British Columbia has historically accounted for nearly one-quarter of North
American lumber production. Since 1999, a major infestation of the mountain pine beetle in the British Columbia Interior has caused
the loss of over half of the commercially valuable pine timber inventory in the province. According to FEA, the epidemic is ultimately
expected to lead to a reduction in British Columbia�s lumber production potential of 3.9 BBF from peak levels, which represents the
demand equivalent of roughly 260,000 U.S. single-family housing starts.

� Major Timber Supply Contractions in Eastern Canada. Eastern Canada has historically accounted for roughly one-quarter of North
American lumber production. Ongoing environmental conservation initiatives by governmental authorities in Quebec have led to
significant reductions in the allowable annual timber harvest in the region. According to FEA, these harvest restrictions are ultimately
expected to lead to a reduction in Eastern Canada�s lumber production potential of approximately 2.5 BBF from peak levels, which
represents the demand equivalent of roughly 166,000 U.S. single-family housing starts.

� Significant Increase in Lumber and Log Exports to China. Over the last five years, there has been a significant increase in
the export of lumber and logs to China from British Columbia and the U.S. Pacific Northwest, respectively. According to
FEA, in 2013, the aggregate estimated export demand for North American logs and lumber from China represents the
demand equivalent of roughly 490,000 U.S. single-family housing starts.
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� Recent Upturn in U.S. Residential Construction. Wood products demand from residential construction and related expenditures
comprises roughly two-thirds of the total U.S. softwood sawtimber harvest by volume. The ongoing recovery in the U.S. residential
construction sector is expected to drive significantly improved domestic demand for solid wood products and, in turn, sawtimber as
U.S. housing starts return to an estimated trendline level in the range of 1.5 million annually. FEA projects that total housing starts and
single-family housing starts in the United States will increase by approximately 820,000 and 560,000, respectively, between 2013 and
2017.

Fragmented Ownership and Robust Transaction Pipeline. Timberland ownership in the United States remains highly fragmented, which
provides opportunities for consolidation and opportunistic timberland acquisitions. Further, a number of significant ownership positions acquired
by TIMOs during the last decade are nearing fund maturities and are expected to liquidate over the next several years, potentially providing
meaningful and attractive timberland acquisition opportunities in the future.

Renewable Resource that Increases in Volume and Value Over Time. Timber is a renewable resource that grows and, when properly managed,
increases in volume and value over time. As timber grows, it increases in value at a compounding rate, as larger-diameter trees are more
valuable than smaller-diameter trees (measured on a price-per-ton basis) because they can be converted into higher-value end-use products such
as lumber and plywood. Pine timber in Alabama, Florida, Georgia and Texas generally becomes merchantable after 11 to 15 years as pulpwood,
which is used in the manufacturing of pulp and paper products as well as OSB and certain biomass applications. After 16 to 22 years, trees
generally reach chip-n-saw size and can be used for a broader range of products, including 2x4 lumber. After 23 years, trees generally begin to
reach sawtimber size and can be used for higher-value products, including dimension lumber, plywood and veneer products. Thus, the value of a
timberland property is significantly impacted by its stage of biological growth, and assuming that timber prices remain constant and no trees are
harvested or damaged, a timberland property should become more valuable each year as its trees reach economic maturity.

Predictable Growth Rates and Harvest Yields. Advanced forest management technology allows timberland owners to predict with a reasonable
degree of certainty the amount of timber that can be sustainably harvested from a particular timberland portfolio over an extended period of
time. The predictability of timber growth rates and harvest yields allow for optimum long-term harvest planning. Growth rates can also be
enhanced through active forest management and the use of advanced seedling technology, which, together with active harvest planning, can lead
to improved economic returns on timberland investments. Silviculture is the art and science of controlling the establishment, growth,
composition, health and quality of forests to meet diverse needs and values. Timberland owners can apply a wide range of silvicultural
treatments to improve the growth rates of trees and the quality of the wood that such trees produce, including fertilization and herbaceous weed
control.

Harvest Flexibility. Unlike most agricultural crops, timberlands generally do not need to be harvested within a specific timeframe. As a result,
timberland owners have a degree of flexibility to adjust their harvest activities in response to market conditions. When market conditions are
weak, timberland owners have the ability to defer harvest and allow the trees to continue to grow and further appreciate in value before
harvesting at some later date. Conversely, when market conditions are favorable, timberland owners have the ability to accelerate harvest
volume and capitalize on strong product pricing. This ability to modulate harvest activities and, when appropriate, store timber value �on the
stump� is a unique attribute of this asset class.
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Structural Supply Constraints. The supply of timber is limited, to some extent, by the availability of commercial quality timberlands, which is in
turn limited by a variety of factors, including governmental restrictions on land use, alternate uses such as agriculture and development and the
presence of merchantable species in desirable timber-growing climates. The supply of timber is also constrained by the time and capital required
to establish new timberlands, as newly planted seedlings generally take 20 to 30 years to reach harvest maturity in the U.S. South (and even
longer in other regions). While advancements in silviculture, the conversion of agricultural lands to timber production, and deferred harvesting
can lead to timber supply increases, any such increases are generally offset over time by the ongoing conversion of timberlands to alternate uses,
increased governmental regulation and restrictions on timber harvesting, and periodic casualty losses. Therefore, we generally believe that the
finite and shrinking supply of commercial quality timberlands in North America should contribute to favorable supply-demand dynamics over
the long-term.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe that we distinguish ourselves from other timberland owners and managers through the following competitive strengths:

Experienced Leadership. Our senior executive team is led by our Chief Executive Officer and President, Jerry Barag, who has a proven track
record and substantial experience in both the timberland and commercial real estate industries. Mr. Barag has over 30 years of real estate and
timberland investment experience, including expertise in acquisitions, divestitures, asset management, property management and financing. Our
Chief Operating Officer and Secretary, John F. Rasor, has over 45 years of experience in the timberland and forest products industries, including
expertise in forest management, fiber procurement and log merchandising, sales and distribution. Prior to joining our company, Messrs. Barag
and Rasor most recently served as Principals of TimberStar Advisors, a timberland investment consulting firm based in Atlanta, Georgia, which
they formed following their successful roles as Managing Directors of TimberStar, a timberland investment joint venture among Messrs. Barag
and Rasor, iStar Financial, Inc. and other institutional investors. While at TimberStar, they oversaw the acquisition of over $1.4 billion of
timberlands in Arkansas, Louisiana, Maine and Texas and the disposition of these assets in transactions representing approximately $1.9 billion
in gross proceeds. Prior to TimberStar, Mr. Barag held positions as Chief Investment Officer of TimberVest, and Chief Investment Officer of
Lend Lease, and Mr. Rasor had a 40-year career at Georgia-Pacific Corporation, including the role of Executive Vice President�Forest Resources,
with responsibility for managing over six million acres of timberlands as well as several other business units.

We believe that our experience will help us take advantage of consolidation and acquisition opportunities. Timberland ownership in the United
States remains highly fragmented, which provides opportunities for consolidation and opportunistic timberland acquisitions. Further, a number
of significant ownership positions acquired by TIMOs during the last decade are nearing fund maturities and are expected to liquidate over the
next several years, potentially providing meaningful and attractive timberland acquisition opportunities in the future.

Exclusively Invested in U.S. Timberlands. We do not own any pulp, paper or wood products manufacturing assets, which allows us to focus on
optimal management of our timberlands and prevents us from being exposed to the risks inherent in direct ownership of forest products
manufacturing operations. We are a �pure-play,� publicly-traded timber REIT.

Strategically Located in Competitive Fiber Basket. Our timberlands are primarily located in a competitive and dynamic U.S. South fiber basket.
Our timberlands are strategically located in
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close proximity to a variety of established pulp, paper and wood products manufacturing facilities, which provide a steady source of competitive
demand for both pulpwood and higher-value sawtimber products. A combination of public, private and company-maintained roads provide
convenient access to our timberlands for logging and forest management activities. Our Georgia and Alabama timberlands are located in close
proximity to several major interstate highways and state roads (including Interstate 85 to the north, Interstate 75 to the east, U.S. Highway 82
and State Highways 62 and 52 to the south, and U.S. Highway 231 to the west), which provide efficient delivery routes to nearby manufacturers
of lumber, plywood, engineered wood products, oriented strand board, pulp and paper. Our Texas timberlands are located in close proximity to
Interstates 10, 20 and 30.

Significant Volume Commitment through Fiber Supply Agreement. We benefit from an attractive long-term fiber supply agreement with
MeadWestvaco which covers a substantial portion of our anticipated annual harvest volume. The Mahrt Mill (located in Cottonton, Alabama) is
one of the primary manufacturing facilities for MeadWestvaco�s Coated Board Division, which produces paperboard for conversion into folding
cartons and beverage carriers. The fiber supply agreement requires us to sell (through a taxable subsidiary) and requires MeadWestvaco to
purchase a certain volume of pulpwood and other timber products annually. We believe that the fiber supply agreement is mutually beneficial, as
it provides us with a stable demand outlet for a significant portion of our timber production at competitive prices, while providing
MeadWestvaco access to a reliable source of fiber for a key manufacturing facility.

Scalable Infrastructure. We believe that our existing management organization, information technology and internal reporting systems can be
deployed over a larger asset base without the need for significant incremental cost or personnel. We believe that our existing infrastructure and
operating platform will facilitate our growth strategy by allowing us to quickly evaluate, execute and capitalize on timberland acquisition
opportunities with only modest incremental costs to us. In addition, we maintain relationships with numerous third-party vendors, including
logging contractors, timberland consultants, timberland brokers, forest management firms and professional service providers, which expand our
geographic reach and allow for cost-effective acquisition, integration and property management solutions.

Capital Available for Growth. We believe that our anticipated improved financial condition following the completion of this offering will enable
us to access additional credit on more favorable terms, which will enable us to fund future timberland growth opportunities. We have entered
into an amended loan agreement with CoBank, and AgFirst Farm Credit Bank and a syndicate of lenders that provides for a senior secured credit
facility of up to $240 million, which includes a $25 million revolving credit facility and a $215 million multi-draw term credit facility that we
intend to use for future timberland acquisitions. Upon completion of this offering and application of the net proceeds therefrom, all $215 million
of our multi-draw term credit facility will be available to use for future Timberland acquisitions, including the pending acquisitions described
above in �Recent Developments.�

Our Business and Growth Strategies

Our objective is to maximize total returns to our stockholders through the ongoing implementation of the following business and growth
strategies:

Actively Manage Our Timberlands for Long-Term Results. We intend to actively manage our timberlands to maximize long-term returns by
achieving an optimum balance among biological timber growth, generation of current cash flow from harvesting, and responsible environmental
stewardship. Further, we expect to continue making investments in forest technology, including improved seedlings, in order to increase the
sustainable yield of our timberlands over the long-term.
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Maximize Our Profitability on Timber Sales. We actively manage our log merchandising efforts and stumpage sales with the goal of achieving
the highest available price for our timber products. We compete with other timberland owners on the basis of the quality of our logs, the prices
of our logs, our reputation as a reliable supplier and our ability to meet customer specifications. We will continue to work diligently and
proactively with our third-party contractors to ensure that we optimize our logging, hauling, sorting and merchandising operations to extract the
maximum profitability from each of our logs based on the foregoing considerations.

Pursue Attractive Timberland Acquisitions. We intend to selectively pursue timberland acquisition opportunities. Due to the expected liquidation
of the ownership positions of a number of TIMOs over the next several years, we expect there will be a robust supply of attractive timberlands
available for sale. Generally, we expect to focus our acquisition efforts in the most commercially desirable timber-producing regions of the U.S.
South and U.S. Pacific Northwest, although we may also pursue opportunistic acquisitions outside of these regions. Further, we expect to focus
our acquisition efforts on properties that can be immediately accretive to our cash available for distribution. We may also enter into additional
fiber supply agreements with respect to acquired properties in order to ensure a steady source of demand for our incremental timber production.

Opportunistically Sell HBU Lands. We continuously assess potential alternative uses of our timberlands, as some of our properties may be more
valuable for development, conservation, recreational or other rural purposes than for growing timber. We intend to capitalize on the value of our
timberland portfolio by opportunistically monetizing HBU properties. The close proximity of our existing timberlands to several major
population centers (including Dallas, Texas; Houston, Texas; Columbus, Georgia; Atlanta, Georgia; and Montgomery, Alabama) provides us
with opportunities to periodically sell parcels of our land at favorable valuations. We generally expect to monetize 1% to 2% of our fee
timberland acreage on an annual basis pursuant to our land sales program, although such results may vary. We may also decide to pursue various
land entitlements on certain properties in order to realize higher long-term values on such properties.

Practice Sound Environmental Stewardship. We will remain committed to responsible environmental stewardship and sustainable forestry. Our
timberlands are third-party audited and certified according to the SFI in accordance with the 2010-2014 SFI standard. SFI standards promote
sustainable forest management through recognized core principles, including measures to protect water quality, biodiversity, wildlife habitat and
at-risk species. Our timberlands are further managed to meet or exceed all state regulations through the implementation of Best Management
Practices as well as internal policies designed to ensure compliance. We believe our continued commitment to environmental stewardship will
allow us to maintain our timberlands� productivity, grow our customer base and enhance our reputation as a preferred timber supplier.

Timber Agreements

In connection with the acquisition of our timberlands, we entered into the master stumpage agreement and the fiber supply agreement with
MeadWestvaco, which we refer to as the Timber Agreements. The master stumpage agreement provides that we will sell specified amounts of
timber and make available certain portions of our timberlands to CatchMark Timber TRS for harvesting. The fiber supply agreement provides
that MeadWestvaco will purchase specified tonnages of timber from CatchMark Timber TRS at specified prices per ton, depending upon the
type of timber product. The prices for the timber purchased pursuant to the fiber supply agreement are negotiated every two years but are subject
to quarterly adjustments based on an index published by Timber Mart-South, a quarterly trade publication that reports stumpage product prices
in 11 southern states. The initial term of the Timber Agreements is October 9, 2007 through
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December 31, 2032, subject to extension and early termination provisions. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011,
approximately 60%, 54% and 58% respectively, of our net timber sales revenue was derived from the Timber Agreements. For the three months
ended March 31, 2014, approximately 35% of our net timber sales revenue was derived from the Timber Agreements. For 2014, we are required
to make available for purchase by MeadWestvaco, and MeadWestvaco is required to purchase, a minimum of approximately 0.7 million tons of
timber at fiber supply agreement pricing.

MeadWestvaco can terminate the timber agreements prior to the expiration of the initial term if we replace FRC as our forest manager without
the prior written consent of MeadWestvaco, except pursuant to an internalization of our management functions. We do not plan to remove or
replace FRC as a result of our transition to self-management. We can terminate the timber agreements if MeadWestvaco (1) ceases to operate the
Mahrt Mill for a period that exceeds 12 consecutive months, (2) fails to purchase a specified tonnage of timber for two consecutive years,
subject to certain limited exceptions or (3) fails to make payments when due (and fails to cure within 30 days). In addition, either party can
terminate the timber agreements if the other party commits a material breach (and fails to cure within 60 days) or becomes insolvent.

In addition, the timber agreements provide for adjustments to our and MeadWestvaco�s obligations in the event of a force majeure, which is
defined to include, among other things, lightning, fires, storms, floods, infestation and other acts of God or nature.

Timber Inventory

Our methods of estimating our timber inventory are consistent with industry practices. We must use various assumptions and judgments to
determine both our current timber inventory and the timber inventory that will be available over the harvest cycle; therefore, the physical
quantity of such timber may vary significantly from our estimates. Our estimated inventory is calculated for each tract by utilizing growth
formulas based on representative sample tracts and tree counts for various diameter classifications. The calculation of inventory is subject to
periodic adjustments based on statistical sampling of the harvestable timbered acres, known as timber sample cruises, actual volumes harvested
and other timber activity, including timberland sales. In addition to growth, the inventory calculation takes into account in-growth, which is the
annual transfer of the oldest pre-merchantable age class into merchantable inventory.The age at which timber is considered merchantable is
reviewed periodically and updated for changing harvest practices, future harvest age profiles and biological growth factors.

Timber Losses

Forests are subject to a number of natural hazards, including damage by fire, hurricanes, insects and disease. Changes in global climate
conditions may intensify these natural hazards. Severe weather conditions and other natural disasters can also reduce the productivity of
timberlands and disrupt the harvesting and delivery of forest products. Because our timberlands are concentrated in the Lower Piedmont and
Upper Coastal Plains of East Central Alabama and in West Central Georgia, damage from natural disasters could impact a material portion of
our timberlands at one time. Our active forest management should help to minimize these risks. Consistent with the practices of other timber
companies, we do not maintain insurance against loss of standing timber on our timberlands due to natural disasters or other causes.

HBU Land Sales

Large tracts of timberland often contain areas that can provide a greater economic value if they are used for purposes other than growing trees.
These areas may include lakefront and riverfront
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acreage, acreage in proximity to urban areas, acreage that is attractive to developers and acreage that has conservation value. We have
implemented a program designed to regularly identify and sell HBU lands within our portfolio. Some of these lands, especially those that
include waterfront acreage, may have restrictions and limitations on timber harvesting that otherwise make them relatively unattractive to us as
timberlands. The sale of HBU lands will generate short-term income returns, which we may distribute to our stockholders or reinvest in
replacement timberlands. Distributions to stockholders would provide greater cash to those investors on a short-term basis, but could potentially
reduce the level of returns in future years, as we would have fewer acres to harvest and fewer acres from which we could expect to receive
appreciation returns. Conversely, our reinvestment in replacement timberlands would reduce the level of short-term returns, but would provide
the potential for greater long-term returns from timber harvests and future sales of such properties. During the five years ended December 31,
2012, we have sold, on average, approximately 1.2% of our fee timberland acreage annually (measured based on annual HBU sales and
beginning of year fee timberlands acreage for each year).

We also may pursue, if and as available to us, opportunities to �swap� certain HBU lands for other timberlands in like-kind exchange programs
that provide favorable tax treatment. Depending on the relative values of timberland and HBU land in the area, we would expect to receive
several timberland acres for each HBU acre that we are able to exchange.

Several large timberland owners have found that, on average, HBU lands comprise approximately 10% to 20% of their total timberland
holdings, although such results can vary significantly among individual timberland portfolios. Many of these large landowners have been selling
their HBU lands, which should generally reduce the risk that we acquire timberlands that include a high percentage of HBU lands. As a result,
we will generally seek to pay timberland prices, rather than HBU land prices, for additional properties that we acquire, which should also reduce
our reliance on HBU land sales to generate attractive investment returns on our potential future timberland acquisitions.

Recreational Leases

We lease certain access rights to portions of our timberlands to individuals for recreational purposes. These operating leases generally have
terms of one year with certain provisions to extend the lease agreements for another one-year term. As of June 30, 2014, approximately 261,040
acres, or 88%, of our available-for-lease timberlands had been leased through the end of May 2015 for recreational purposes.

Competition

We compete with various private and industrial timberland owners as well as governmental agencies that own or manage timberlands in the U.S.
South. Due to transportation and delivery costs, pulp, paper and wood products manufacturing facilities typically purchase wood fiber within a
100-mile radius of their location, which thereby limits, to some degree, the number of significant competitors in any specific regional market.
Factors affecting the level of competition in our industry include price, species, grade, quality, proximity to the mill customer, and our reliability
and consistency as a supplier. Also, as we seek to acquire assets, we are in competition for targeted timberland tracts with other similar timber
investment companies, as well as investors in land for purposes other than growing timber. As a result, we may have to pay more for certain
timberland tracts if another suitable tract cannot be substituted. When it becomes time to dispose of timberland tracts, we will again be in
competition with sellers of similar tracts to locate suitable purchasers of timberland.
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Property Taxes

In 2013, we incurred approximately $1.1 million in property taxes for our timberland properties, representing a rate between 2.3% and 3.4% of
assessed value. We will receive all 2014 assessment notices and property tax bills during the fourth quarter of 2014 and expect an approximate
4% increase in our property tax liability as compared to 2013.

Regulation

Our business is subject to laws, regulations, and related judicial decisions and administrative interpretations relating to, among other things, the
protection of timberlands, endangered species, timber harvesting practices, recreation and aesthetics and the protection of natural resources, air
and water quality that are subject to change and frequently enacted. These changes may adversely affect our ability to harvest and sell timber,
and remediate contaminated properties. We are subject to regulation under, among other laws, the Clean Air Act, the Clean Water Act, the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, the National
Environmental Policy Act, and the Endangered Species Act, as well as comparable state laws and regulations. Violations of various statutory
and regulatory programs that apply to our operations could result in civil penalties; damages, including natural resource damages; remediation
expenses; potential injunctions; cease-and-desist orders; and criminal penalties.

Laws and regulations protecting the environment have generally become more stringent in recent years and could become more stringent in the
future. Some environmental statutes impose strict liability, rendering a person liable for environmental damage without regard to the person�s
negligence or fault. We may acquire timberlands subject to environmental liabilities, such as clean-up of hazardous substance contamination and
other existing or potential liabilities of which we are not aware, even after investigations of the properties. We may not be able to recover any of
these liabilities from the sellers of these properties. The cost of these clean-ups could therefore increase our operating costs and reduce our
profitability and cash available to make distributions to our stockholders. The existence of contamination or liability also may materially impair
our ability to use or sell affected timberlands.

The Endangered Species Act and comparable state laws protect species threatened with possible extinction. At least one species present on our
timberlands has been, and in the future more may be, protected under these laws. Protection of threatened and endangered species may include
restrictions on timber harvesting, road-building, and other forest practices on private, federal, and state land containing the affected species. The
size of the area subject to restriction varies depending on the protected species at issue, the time of year, and other factors, but can range from
less than one acre to several thousand acres.

The Clean Water Act regulates the direct and indirect discharge of pollutants into the waters of the United States. Under the Clean Water Act, it
is unlawful to discharge any pollutant from a �point source� into navigable waters of the United States without a permit obtained under the
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit program of the Environmental Protection Agency, or the EPA. Storm water from roads
supporting timber operations that is conveyed through ditches, culverts and channels are exempted by EPA rule from this permit requirement,
leaving these sources of water discharge to state regulation. The scope of these state regulations vary by state and are subject to change, and the
EPA�s exemption has recently been subject to legal challenges and legislative responses. To the extent we are subject to future federal or state
regulation of storm water runoff from roads supporting timber operations, our operational costs to comply with such regulations could increase
and our results of operations could be adversely affected.
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Employees

On October 25, 2013, we transitioned to self-management and hired eight employees. Two of our employees, our Chief Executive Officer and
our Chief Operating Officer, have served as consultants to our company since August 2013. One of our employees previously worked with
Messrs. Barag and Rasor. The remaining five employees that we hired, including our Chief Financial Officer, were employees of Wells REF and
its affiliates and previously provided services to us under the advisory agreement with Wells TIMO. We expect to hire additional employees
over time as needed. Our forest management, harvesting and log transport operations are conducted by independent contractors. We had nine
employees as of December 31, 2013.

Legal Proceedings

The SEC is conducting a non-public, formal, fact finding investigation regarding WIS, or WIS, the former dealer-manager for our previous
non-listed public offerings, and our company. The investigation relates to whether there have been violations of certain provisions of the federal
securities laws regarding valuation, potential distributions, marketing and suitability.

We have not been accused of any wrongdoing by the SEC. We also have been informed by the SEC that the existence of this investigation does
not mean that the SEC has concluded that anyone has violated any laws or regulations or that the SEC has a negative opinion of any person,
entity or security. We have received a formal subpoena for documents and information, and we have been cooperating fully with the SEC. We
cannot reasonably estimate the timing of the conclusion of the investigation, nor can we predict whether or not the SEC will take any action
against us as a result of the investigation and, if they do, what the ultimate outcome will be.
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MANAGEMENT

Directors and Executive Officers

Our board of directors currently consists of seven members, five of whom are independent within the meaning of the listing standards of the
NYSE.

The table below sets forth certain information about our officers and directors:

Name Age Position(s)
Willis J. Potts, Jr. 67 Chairman of the Board (1)
Jerry Barag 55 Chief Executive Officer, President and Director
John F. Rasor 71 Chief Operating Officer, Secretary and Director
Brian M. Davis 44 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant

Secretary
Alan D. Gold 54 Director (1)
Donald S. Moss 78 Director (1)
Douglas D. Rubenstein 51 Director (1)
Henry G. Zigtema 62 Director (1)

(1) Our board of directors has determined that this director is an independent director within the meaning of the NYSE listing standards.
Jerry Barag has served as our Chief Executive Officer and President since our transition to self-management on October 25, 2013 and became a
director on December 17, 2013. Mr. Barag served as our consultant from August 2013 until his employment with our company in October 2013.
Mr. Barag brings over 30 years of real estate, timberland and investment experience, including expertise in acquisitions, divestitures, asset
management, property management and financing. From September 2011 until his employment with our company in October 2013, Mr. Barag
served as a Principal with Mr. Rasor of TimberStar Advisors, an Atlanta-based timberland investment consulting firm, where he specialized in
acquiring and managing timberlands in the United States. From 2004 to September 2011, he served as Managing Director of TimberStar, a
timberland investment joint venture among Messrs. Barag and Rasor, iStar Financial, Inc. and other institutional investors. While at TimberStar,
he oversaw the acquisition of over $1.4 billion of timberlands in Arkansas, Louisiana, Maine and Texas. From 2003 to 2004, he served as Chief
Investment Officer of TimberVest, an investment manager specializing in timberland investment planning. Prior to joining TimberVest,
Mr. Barag served as Chief Investment Officer and Chairman of the Investment Committees for Lend Lease, a subsidiary of Lend Lease Corp., a
construction, development and real estate investment management advisory company traded on the Australian Securities Exchange. Mr. Barag
received his Bachelor of Science from The University of Pennsylvania, Wharton School. Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Barag�s
extensive experience acquiring and managing timberlands and commercial real estate enable him to effectively carry out his duties and
responsibilities as director.

John F. Rasor has served as our Chief Operating Officer and Secretary since our transition to self-management on October 25, 2013 and
became a director on December 17, 2013. Mr. Rasor served as our consultant from August 2013 until his employment with our company in
October 2013. Mr. Rasor brings over 45 years of experience in the timberland and forest products industries, including expertise in
manufacturing, fiber procurement and log merchandising, sales and distribution. From September 2011 until his employment with our company
in October 2013,
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Mr. Rasor served as a Principal with Mr. Barag of TimberStar Advisors. From 2004 to September 2011, he served as Managing Director of
TimberStar. During his 40-year career with Georgia-Pacific Corporation, or Georgia Pacific, from 1996 to 2003, Mr. Rasor served as an
Executive Vice President of Georgia-Pacific, where he was responsible for all of Georgia-Pacific�s timberland and the procurement of all the
wood and fiber needed to operate Georgia-Pacific�s mills. He also played a key role in the separation of Georgia-Pacific�s timberland assets into a
separate operating entity in 1997 that subsequently merged with Plum Creek Timber Company, Inc. in 2001. Following the separation of
Georgia Pacific�s timberland assets, Mr. Rasor assumed responsibility for several of Georgia Pacific�s building products business units and staff
positions in addition to serving as a member of our Executive Management Committee. Mr. Rasor attended Willamette University and the
University of Oregon. Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Rasor�s extensive experience in the forest products industry, including the
management of timberland operations and the procurement of wood fiber, enables him to effectively carry out his duties and responsibilities as a
director.

Brian M. Davis was appointed as our Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in March 2013, as our Assistant Secretary in August
2013 and as our Treasurer since our transition to self-management on October 25, 2013. Mr. Davis has served as Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer of Wells TIMO from March 2009 until our transition to self-management on October 25, 2013 and as Vice President
from October 2007 through March 2009. From March 2013 to September 2013, he was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of
Wells Core Office Income REIT, Inc., or Wells Core. From February 2012 to September 2013, Mr. Davis served as the Chief of Strategic
Product Management for Wells REF with responsibility for the strategic planning, development and leadership of the corporate finance
organization. In addition, Mr. Davis served as Senior Vice President of Wells Capital, from February 2013 to September 2013. From 2000 until
joining Wells REF in 2007, Mr. Davis worked at Atlanta-based SunTrust Bank, where he held various positions including client manager for the
Asset Based Lending Group, where he was responsible for the origination and structuring of asset-based lending relationships developed from
SunTrust�s existing client base and prospects. Mr. Davis previously held positions with CoBank of Denver, Colorado, as Capital Markets Officer
from 1998 to 2000, and with SunTrust as Portfolio Manager for the AgriFoods Specialty Lending Group from 1994 to 1998. Mr. Davis received
his Bachelor of Business Administration and Master of Business Administration from Ohio University.

Alan D. Gold has served as one of our independent directors since December 2013. Mr. Gold has served as Chairman of the Board and Chief
Executive Officer of BioMed Realty Trust, Inc., or BioMed, a publicly-traded REIT focused on acquiring, developing and managing laboratory
and office space for the life science industry, since its formation in 2004. Mr. Gold served as President of BioMed from 2004 to December 2008
and as Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of BioMed�s privately-held predecessor, Bernardo Property Advisors, Inc.,
from 1998 to 2004. Mr. Gold was a co-founder and served as President and a director of Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc., a publicly-traded
REIT specializing in acquiring and managing laboratory properties for lease to the life science industry, from its predecessor�s inception in 1994
until 1998. Mr. Gold served as managing partner of GoldStone Real Estate Finance and Investments, a partnership engaged in the real estate and
mortgage business, from 1989 to 1994, as Assistant Vice President of Commercial Real Estate for Northland Financial Company, a full-service
commercial property mortgage broker, from 1989 to 1990, and as Commercial Real Estate Investment Officer for John Burnham Company, a
regional full-service commercial property mortgage banker, from 1985 to 1989. He served as a director of American Assets Trust, Inc., a
publicly-traded REIT focused on acquiring, developing and managing retail, office, multifamily and mixed-use properties, from August 2011 to
March 2013. Mr. Gold received his Bachelor of Science Degree in Business Administration and his Master of Business Administration from San
Diego State University. Our
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board of directors has determined that Mr. Gold�s extensive experience in real estate investment and management, particularly his experience
serving as a director of publicly-traded REITs, provides him with skills and knowledge that enable him to effectively carry out his duties and
responsibilities as a director.

Donald S. Moss has served as one of our independent directors since 2006. Mr. Moss is also an independent director of Piedmont Office Realty
Trust, Inc., or Piedmont REIT, a publicly held REIT. He was employed by Avon Products, Inc. from 1957 until his retirement in 1986. While at
Avon, Mr. Moss served in a number of key positions, including Vice President and Controller from 1973 to 1976, Group Vice President of
Operations-Worldwide from 1976 to 1979, Group Vice President of Sales-Worldwide from 1979 to 1980, Senior Vice President-International
from 1980 to 1983 and Group Vice President-Human Resources and Administration from 1983 until his retirement. Mr. Moss was also a
member of the board of directors of Avon Canada, Avon Japan, Avon Thailand and Avon Malaysia from 1980 to 1983. Mr. Moss is a past
president and former director of The Atlanta Athletic Club, a former director of the Highlands Country Club in Highlands, North Carolina and
the National Treasurer and a director of the Girls Clubs of America from 1973 to 1976. Mr. Moss attended the University of Illinois. Our board
of directors has determined that Mr. Moss�s experience serving as a director for other organizations, including REITs, provides him with the
business management skills and real estate knowledge desired to effectively carry out his duties and responsibilities as director.

Willis J. Potts, Jr. has served as our Chairman of the Board since November 7, 2013 and as one of our independent directors since 2006. From
1999 until his retirement in 2004, Mr. Potts served as Vice President and General Manager of Temple-Inland Inc., a major forest products
corporation, where he was responsible for all aspects of the management of a major production facility, including timber acquisition, community
relations and governmental affairs. From 1994 to 1999, Mr. Potts was Senior Vice President of Union Camp Corporation, where he was
responsible for all activities of an international business unit with revenues of approximately $1 billion per year, including supervision of
acquisitions and dispositions of timber and timberland, controllership functions and manufacturing. From 2004 to 2007, Mr. Potts served as the
chairman of the board of directors of the Technical Association of the Pulp and Paper Industry (TAPPI), the largest technical association serving
the pulp, paper and converting industry. From 2006 to 2012, Mr. Potts served on the Board of Regents of The University System of Georgia.
Mr. Potts also serves as a director of J&J Industries, a privately held carpet manufacturing company. Mr. Potts received a Bachelor of Science
degree in Industrial Engineering from the Georgia Institute of Technology. He also completed the Executive Program at the University of
Virginia. Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Potts� extensive experience in the acquisition and disposition of timber and timberland,
combined with his experience serving as a director of, and otherwise managing, organizations engaging in these activities, enable Mr. Potts to
effectively carry out his duties and responsibilities as director.

Douglas D. Rubenstein has served as one of our independent directors since December 2013. Mr. Rubenstein has served as Senior Vice
President and Director of Capital Markets and Business Strategy for Benjamin F. Edwards & Company, Inc., a private, full-service
broker-dealer, since June 2012. From 2007 to June 2012, he held various positions in the Real Estate Investment Banking Group of Stifel,
Nicolaus & Company, Inc., including Managing Director from 2007 to August 2008, Co-Group Head from August 2008 to December 2008 and
Managing Director and Group Head from January 2009 to June 2012. From 1985 to 2007, he served in a variety of roles in the Capital Markets
Division of A.G. Edwards & Sons, Inc., a U.S.-based financial services company that was acquired by Wachovia Corporation (now Wells
Fargo & Company) in 2007, and was promoted from Analyst ultimately to Managing Director and Real Estate Group Coordinator.
Mr. Rubenstein currently serves as a trustee at Whitfield School and previously served as a board member and

S-94

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Index to Financial Statements 109



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

Chairman of Life Skills, a non-profit organization, for 16 years. He holds Series 7 (grandfathered into Series 79), 24 and 63 licenses and was
formerly a member of the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT. Mr. Rubenstein holds a Bachelor of Arts in
Economics from Lake Forest College and a Master of Business Administration from the John M. Olin School of Business at Washington
University. Our board of directors has determined that Mr. Rubenstein�s extensive experience in the real estate industry and, specifically, raising
capital for real estate companies, provides him with skills and knowledge that enable him to effectively carry out his duties and responsibilities
as a director.

Henry G. Zigtema has served as one of our independent directors since September 2012. Mr. Zigtema is an adjunct professor of accounting at
Oglethorpe University and serves on the President�s Advisory Board at Oglethorpe. Prior to his retirement in 2006, Mr. Zigtema spent 28 years
with Ernst & Young LLP, or Ernst & Young, and its predecessor firm, Arthur Young and Company. From 2001 to 2006, Mr. Zigtema was the
Southeast Area Tax Managing Partner for Ernst & Young�s Real Estate Practice. During his career, Mr. Zigtema served in several key positions,
including Area Director of Tax, Plains State Area Industry Leader for Telecommunications, Oil and Gas, and Real Estate as well as a National
Office Partner for Strategic Business Services. Mr. Zigtema served as the tax engagement partner or client service partner for a wide variety of
clients, including public companies such as Sprint, Zion�s Bank, US Bank, Piedmont REIT, Columbia Property Trust, Inc., and various
publicly-traded REITs in the retail, office, apartment and mortgage sectors, as well as a number of privately held clients. Past board of director
involvement includes Maur Hill Prep School, Kapaun Mt. Carmell High School, St. Thomas Aquinas School, Wichita State Accounting
Conference Committee, Sedgewick County Zoo and Ronald McDonald House. Mr. Zigtema is currently the chair of the Finance Committee for
the Robert W. Woodruff Library. Mr. Zigtema has contributed to various Ernst & Young publications and was a member of NAREIT.
Mr. Zigtema holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in mathematics from Texas Christian University and a Juris Doctorate degree from Southern
Methodist University. He also completed non-degree accounting classes at the University of Texas at Dallas. Mr. Zigtema is a Certified Public
Accountant with permits to practice in Georgia, Kansas and Texas and is an inactive member of the Texas Bar Association. Our board of
directors has determined that Mr. Zigtema�s extensive accounting and tax background and experience serving as a director for other organizations
enable Mr. Zigtema to effectively carry out his duties and responsibilities as director.

Corporate Governance Profile

We have structured our corporate governance in a manner we believe closely aligns our interests with those of our stockholders. Notable features
of our corporate governance structure include the following:

� our board of directors is not staggered, with each of our directors subject to re-election annually;

� five members of our seven-person board have been affirmatively determined by our board of directors to be independent for purposes
of the NYSE�s listing standards and Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act;

� at least one of our directors qualifies as an �audit committee financial expert� as defined by the SEC;

� we have opted out of the Maryland business combination and control share acquisition statutes; and
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� we do not have a stockholder rights plan and will not adopt a stockholder rights plan in the future unless approved in advance by our
stockholders or, if adopted by our board of directors, we will submit the stockholder rights plan to our stockholders for a ratification
vote within 12 months of adoption or the plan will terminate.

Board Committees

Our board has established the following standing committees: Audit Committee, Compensation Committee and Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee. Information regarding each of the committees is discussed below. The composition of each committee complies with
the listing requirements and other rules and regulations of the NYSE. All members of the committees described below are independent as such
term is defined in the NYSE�s listing standards and as affirmatively determined by our board of directors.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee currently consists of Messrs. Donald S. Moss, Willis J. Potts, Jr., Douglas D. Rubenstein, and Henry G. Zigtema
(Chairman). Mr. Zigtema is designated as the Audit Committee financial expert. The Audit Committee operates under a written charter approved
by the board of directors, a copy of which is available on our website, www.catchmark.com. Pursuant to the Audit Committee�s charter, the Audit
Committee�s primary function is to assist our board of directors in fulfilling its responsibilities by:

� selecting the independent auditors to audit our financial statements;

� reviewing with the independent auditors the plans and results of the audit engagement;

� approving the audit and overseeing our independent auditors and reviewing the financial information to be provided to our
stockholders and others;

� reviewing the independence of the independent public accountants;

� considering the adequacy of fees;

� reviewing the system of internal control over financial reporting which our management has established and our audit and financial
reporting process;

� overseeing our compliance with applicable laws and regulations; and

� establishing procedures for the ethical conduct of our business.
Compensation Committee

Our Compensation Committee is comprised of Messrs. Donald S. Moss (Chairman), Alan D. Gold, and Douglas D. Rubenstein, each of whom is
an independent director. The Compensation Committee operates under a written charter approved by the board of directors, a copy of which is
available on our website, www.catchmark.com. Pursuant to the Compensation Committee�s charter, the Compensation Committee�s primary
function is to assist our board of directors in fulfilling its responsibilities with respect to the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and
our other executive officers and the administration of our compensation plans, programs and policies.
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Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee

Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is comprised of Messrs. Willis J. Potts, Jr. (Chairman), Alan D. Gold, and Henry G.
Zigtema, each of whom is an independent director. The Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee operates under a written charter
approved by the board of directors, a copy of which is available on our website, www.catchmark.com. Pursuant to the Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee�s charter, the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee�s primary functions are to:

� identify individuals qualified to serve on the board of directors and recommend that the board of directors select a slate of director
nominees for election by the stockholders at the annual meeting;

� develop and recommend to the board of directors a set of corporate governance policies and principles and periodically re-evaluate
such policies and guidelines for the purpose of suggesting amendments to them if appropriate; and

� oversee an annual evaluation of the board of directors and each of the committees of the board of directors.
Corporate Governance Guidelines

Upon the recommendation of the Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, our board of directors has adopted amended and restated
corporate governance guidelines, which establish a common set of expectations to assist the board of directors in performing its responsibilities.
The corporate governance guidelines, a copy of which is available on our website, www.catchmark.com, addresses a number of topics, including,
among other things, board membership criteria, selection of directors, size of the board, independence requirements, term limits, director
compensation, self-evaluations and director access to management and independent advisors.

Code of Ethics and Related Person Transactions

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to all of our executive officers and directors, including, without limitation, our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer. Our Code of Ethics may be found at www.catchmark.com.

Our board of directors has also adopted a related person transactions policy. See �Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations�Related-Party Transactions and Agreements.�

Independent Director Compensation Program for 2013

During 2013, our independent directors received the following compensation pursuant to our independent directors� compensation plan, or the
director plan, which operates as a sub-plan of our long-term incentive plan:

Cash Compensation. Each of our independent directors received (i) an annual retainer of $20,000; (ii) $2,000 per regularly scheduled board
meeting attended; (iii) $1,500 per regularly scheduled committee meeting attended (committee chairpersons receive an additional $500 per
committee meeting for serving in that capacity); and (iv) $250 per special board meeting attended whether held in person or by telephone
conference. All directors received reimbursement of
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reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with attendance at meetings of our board of directors.

Equity Compensation. Each independent director elected or appointed to our board on or after November 13, 2009 received a grant of 1,000
shares of restricted stock upon his or her initial election or appointment. Upon each subsequent re-election to our board, each independent
director received a subsequent grant of 400 shares of restricted stock. The shares of restricted stock vest in thirds on each of the first three
anniversaries of the date of grant.

Independent Director Compensation Program for 2014

On February 10, 2014, our board adopted the Amended and Restated Independent Director Compensation Plan, effective January 1, 2014, the
terms of which are described below.

Cash Compensation. Each of our independent directors (other than a member of the Audit Committee) will receive an annual cash retainer of
$50,000 and Audit Committee members will receive $54,000. In addition, each of the chairs of the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee,
and Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee will receive a supplemental cash retainer of $10,000, $7,500 and $5,000, respectively,
and any non-executive chair of the board will receive a supplemental cash retainer of $20,000. A director may choose to receive his or her cash
retainers in shares of our common stock. Independent directors will not receive any fees for attendance at meetings of our board or committees
thereof.

Equity Compensation. Each of our independent directors will receive, on the third business day following the date on which we file our annual
report on Form 10-K with the SEC, a number of restricted shares having a value of $30,000 on the grant date. The number of restricted shares
granted to each independent director will be determined by dividing $30,000 by the fair market value per share of our common stock on the
grant date, rounded to the nearest whole share. The restricted shares will vest in thirds on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant, subject
to the independent director�s continued service on our board on each such date, or on the earlier occurrence of a change in control of our
company or the independent director�s death, disability or termination with cause.

Stock Ownership Guidelines for Independent Directors

On October 24, 2013, our board adopted stock ownership guidelines for our independent directors which require that each independent director
own shares of our common stock having a value of four times his or her annual cash retainer. Each director must meet the stock ownership
guidelines by the later of October 25, 2018, or the fifth anniversary of his or her election to the Board. Until the ownership guidelines are met, or
at any time the director is not in compliance with the guidelines, he or she must retain 100% of any shares received from our company for
service on the board, with an exception for shares sold for the limited purposes of paying the exercise price, in the case of stock options, or
satisfying any applicable tax liability related to the award.

Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan

We maintain the Amended and Restated CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, or the 2005 LTIP, the material terms of
which are described below. The 2005 LTIP was originally adopted in 2005, and was amended and restated in its current form by the Board
effective as of October 25, 2013. The purpose of the 2005 LTIP is to promote our success by linking
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the personal interests of our employees, officers, directors and consultants to those of our stockholders, and by providing participants with an
incentive for outstanding performance.

Permissible Awards. The 2005 LTIP authorizes our compensation committee to grant awards in any of the following forms:

� Options to purchase shares of our common stock, which may be nonstatutory stock options or incentive stock options under
the Code. The exercise price of an option granted under the 2005 LTIP may not be less than the fair market value of our
common stock on the date of grant. Stock options granted under the 2005 LTIP may not have a term longer than ten years.

� Stock appreciation rights, or SARs, which give the holder the right to receive the excess, if any, of the fair market value of one share
of our common stock on the date of exercise, over the base price of the stock appreciation right. The base price of a SAR may not be
less than the fair market value of our common stock on the date of grant. SARs granted under the 2005 LTIP may not have a term
longer than ten years.

� Restricted stock, which is subject to restrictions on transferability and subject to forfeiture on terms set by our compensation
committee.

� Restricted stock units, which represent the right to receive shares of our common stock (or an equivalent value in cash or other
property) in the future, based upon the attainment of stated vesting or performance goals set by our compensation committee.

� Deferred stock units, which represent the right to receive shares of our common stock (or an equivalent value in cash or other
property) in the future, generally without any vesting or performance restrictions.

� Performance-based cash awards, which represent the right to receive cash in the future, based on attainment of stated performance
goals set by our compensation committee.

� Other stock-based awards in the discretion of our compensation committee, including unrestricted stock grants.
All awards will be evidenced by a written award certificate between us and the participant, which will include such provisions as may be
specified by our compensation committee. Dividend equivalent rights, which entitle the participant to payments in cash or property calculated by
reference to the amount of dividends paid on the shares of stock underlying an award, may be granted with respect to awards other than options
or SARs.

Awards to Non-Employee Directors. Awards granted under the 2005 LTIP to our non-employee directors will be made only in accordance with
the terms, conditions and parameters of a plan, program or policy for the compensation of non-employee directors as in effect from time to time.
Our compensation committee may not make discretionary grants under the 2005 LTIP to non-employee directors.

Shares Available for Awards; Adjustments. Subject to adjustment as provided in the 2005 LTIP, the aggregate number of shares of our common
stock reserved and available for issuance as of June 30, 2014, pursuant to awards granted under the Amended 2005 LTIP, was as follows:
942,424 shares of Class A common stock; 50,000 shares of Class B-1 common stock; 47,280 Shares of Class B-2 common stock; and 47,280
shares of Class B-3 common stock. Pursuant to their terms, each
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class of Class B common stock will automatically convert (and with respect to the Class B-1 common stock have already converted) into shares
of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. Upon such conversion, the number of shares of such class of Class B common stock
previously reserved and available for issuance under the 2005 LTIP will automatically convert and be reallocated to Class A common stock. No
awards with respect to Class B common stock has been or may be granted after October 25, 2013. As of December 31, 2013, the aggregate
number of shares of our common stock reserved and available for issuance pursuant to the 2005 LTIP was 958,739 shares. During the three
months ended March 31, 2014, 10,875 shares of restricted stock were granted to the independent directors. As of March 31, 2014, CatchMark
Timber Trust had granted 20,475 shares of restricted stock to the independent directors, 3,467 shares of which had vested and 1,467 shares of
which were forfeited upon the resignation of two independent directors.

Administration. The 2005 LTIP will be administered by our compensation committee. Our compensation committee will have the authority to
grant awards; designate participants; determine the type or types of awards to be granted to each participant and the number, terms and
conditions thereof; establish, adopt or revise any rules and regulations as it may deem advisable to administer the 2005 LTIP; and make all other
decisions and determinations that may be required under the 2005 LTIP. Our board may at any time administer the 2005 LTIP. If it does so, it
will have all the powers of our compensation committee under the 2005 LTIP. In addition, our board or compensation committee may expressly
delegate to a special committee some or all of our compensation committee�s authority, within specified parameters, to grant awards to eligible
participants who, at the time of grant, are not executive officers.

Limitations on Transfer; Beneficiaries. No award will be assignable or transferable by a participant other than by will or the laws of descent and
distribution or, except in the case of an incentive stock option, pursuant to a domestic relations order that would satisfy Section 414(p)(1)(A) of
the Code if such section applied to an award under the 2005 LTIP; provided, however, that our compensation committee may permit other
transfers where our compensation committee concludes that such transferability does not result in accelerated taxation, does not cause any option
intended to be an incentive stock option to fail to qualify as such, and is otherwise appropriate and desirable, taking into account any factors
deemed relevant, including without limitation, any state or federal tax or securities laws or regulations applicable to transferable awards. A
participant may, in the manner determined by our compensation committee, designate a beneficiary to exercise the rights of the participant and
to receive any distribution with respect to any award upon the participant�s death.

Treatment of Awards upon a Participant�s Death or Disability. Unless otherwise provided in an award certificate or any special plan document
governing an award, upon the termination of a participant�s service due to death or disability:

� each of that participants outstanding options, SARs and other awards in the nature of rights that may be exercised will become vested
and fully exercisable as of the date of termination;

� all time-based vesting restrictions on outstanding awards will lapse as of the date of termination; and

� the target payout opportunities under each of that participant�s outstanding performance awards will be deemed to have been earned
based upon an assumed achievement of all relevant performance goals at the �target� level, if the date of termination occurs during the
first half of the applicable performance period, or at the actual level of achievement, if the date of termination occurs during the
second half of the applicable performance period, and
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there will be a prorata payout to the participant or his or her estate within 30 days following the date of termination.
Treatment of Awards upon a Change in Control. Unless otherwise provided in an award certificate or any special plan document governing an
award:

A. upon the occurrence of a change in control of our company in which awards are not assumed by the surviving entity or otherwise
equitably converted or substituted in connection with the change in control in a manner approved by our compensation committee or
board:

� all outstanding options, SARs and other awards in the nature of rights that may be exercised will become fully vested;

� all time-based vesting restrictions on outstanding awards will lapse as of the date of the change in control; and

� the target payout opportunities under each of that participant�s outstanding performance awards will be deemed to have been
earned based upon an assumed achievement of all relevant performance goals at the �target� level, if the change in control occurs
during the first half of the applicable performance period, or at the actual level of achievement, if the change in control occurs
during the second half of the applicable performance period, and there will be a prorata payout to the participant or his or her
estate within 30 days following the change in control, and

B. with respect to awards assumed by the surviving entity or otherwise equitably converted or substituted in connection with a change
in control, if within two years after the effective date of the change in control, a participant�s employment is terminated without �cause�
or the participant resigns for �good reason� (as such terms are defined in the 2005 LTIP), then:

� all outstanding options, SARs and other awards in the nature of rights that may be exercised will become fully vested;

� all time-based vesting restrictions on outstanding awards will lapse as of the date of the change in control; and

� the target payout opportunities under each of that participant�s outstanding performance awards will be deemed to have been
earned based upon an assumed achievement of all relevant performance goals at the �target� level, if the date of termination occurs
during the first half of the applicable performance period, or at the actual level of achievement, if the date of termination occurs
during the second half of the applicable performance period, and there will be a prorata payout to the participant or his or her
estate within 30 days following the date of termination.

Discretionary Acceleration. Our compensation committee may, in its discretion, accelerate the vesting and/or payment of any awards for any
reason. Our compensation committee may discriminate among participants or among awards in exercising such discretion.

Anti-dilution Adjustments. In the event of a nonreciprocal transaction between us and our stockholders that causes the per-share value of our
common stock to change (including, without limitation, any stock dividend, stock split, spin-off, rights offering or large nonrecurring cash
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dividend), the share authorization limits and annual award limits under the 2005 LTIP will be adjusted proportionately, and the compensation
committee shall make such adjustments to the 2005 LTIP and awards as it deems necessary, in its sole discretion, to prevent dilution or
enlargement of rights immediately resulting from such transaction. In the event of a stock split, a stock dividend, or a combination or
consolidation of the outstanding shares of our common stock into a lesser number of shares, the authorization limits and annual award limits
under the 2005 LTIP will automatically be adjusted proportionately, and the shares then subject to each award will automatically be adjusted
proportionately without any change in the aggregate purchase price.

Termination and Amendment. The 2005 LTIP will terminate on October 25, 2023, the tenth anniversary of its most recent approval by the Board,
unless earlier terminated by our board or compensation committee. Our board or compensation committee may, at any time and from time to
time, terminate or amend the 2005 LTIP, but if an amendment to the 2005 LTIP would constitute a material amendment requiring stockholder
approval under applicable listing requirements, laws, policies or regulations, then such amendment will be subject to stockholder approval. No
termination or amendment of the 2005 LTIP may adversely affect any award previously granted under the 2005 LTIP without the written
consent of the participant. Without the prior approval of our stockholders, and except as otherwise permitted by the antidilution provisions of the
2005 LTIP, the 2005 LTIP may not be amended to directly or indirectly reprice, replace or repurchase �underwater� options or SARs.

Our compensation committee may amend or terminate outstanding awards. However, such amendments may require the consent of the
participant and, unless approved by the stockholders or otherwise permitted by the antidilution provisions of the 2005 LTIP, (i) the exercise
price or base price of an option or SAR may not be reduced, (ii) an option or SAR may not be cancelled in exchange for other awards when the
exercise or base price of the original options or SARs, respectively, exceeds the fair market value of the underlying shares, (iii) we may not take
any other action with respect to an option or SAR that may be treated as a repricing under the rules of the exchange, and (iv) the original term of
an option or SAR may not be extended.

Prohibition on Repricing. As indicated above under �Termination and Amendment,� outstanding stock options and SARs cannot be repriced,
directly or indirectly, without the prior consent of our stockholders.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

We formed a compensation committee of our board of directors in August 2013. There are no interlocks or insider participation as to
compensation decisions required to be disclosed pursuant to SEC regulations. No member of our board or the compensation committee serves as
a member of a board of directors or compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving as a member of our
board or the compensation committee.
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ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

Overview

The following is a summary of some considerations associated with an investment in our shares of common stock by an employee benefit plan
which is subject to the fiduciary responsibility and prohibited transaction provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974,
or ERISA, or a plan or arrangement which is subject to the prohibited transaction provisions of the Code or an entity, the assets of which are
treated as �plan assets� under the U.S. Department of Labor�s Plan Asset Regulations as currently set forth at 29 C.F.R. Section 2510.3-101, except
as expressly modified by Section 3(42) of ERISA, each a Benefit Plan. We cannot assure you that there will be no adverse tax or labor decisions
or legislative, regulatory or administrative changes with respect to ERISA or the Code or the Plan Asset Regulations that could significantly
modify the discussion of ERISA Considerations which follow.

General

Each fiduciary of a Benefit Plan subject to ERISA (such as a profit sharing, Section 401(k) or pension plan) or Section 4975 of the Code (such
as an IRA) seeking to invest plan assets in shares of our common stock should consider (after taking into account the facts and circumstances
unique to such Benefit Plan) among other matters:

� whether the investment is consistent with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the Code;

� whether, under the facts and circumstances relevant to the Benefit Plan in question, the fiduciary�s responsibility to the plan has been
satisfied; and

� whether the investment will produce �unrelated business taxable income, or UBTI, to the Benefit Plan.

� Under ERISA, a fiduciary for a Benefit Plan has responsibilities which include the following:

� to act solely in the interest of plan participants and beneficiaries and for the exclusive purpose of providing benefits to them, as well as
defraying reasonable expenses of plan administration;

� to invest plan assets prudently;

� to diversify the investments of the plan, unless it is clearly prudent not to do so;

� to ensure sufficient liquidity for the plan;

� to ensure that plan investments are made in accordance with plan documents; and

� to consider whether making or holding an investment could constitute or give rise to a prohibited transaction under ERISA or the
Code.
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Prohibited Transactions

Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit specific transactions involving the assets of a Benefit Plan if the transactions are
between the plan and any �party in interest� (as defined in ERISA) or �disqualified person� (as defined in the Code) with respect to that Benefit Plan
unless there is an administrative or statutory exemption for the transaction. These transactions are prohibited regardless of how beneficial they
may be for the Benefit Plan. Prohibited transactions include the sale, exchange or leasing of property, and the lending of money or the extension
of credit, between a Benefit Plan and a party in interest or disqualified person with respect to such plan. The transfer to (or use by or for the
benefit of) a party in interest or disqualified person of any assets of a Benefit Plan is also prohibited, as is the furnishing of services between a
plan and a party in interest. A fiduciary of a Benefit Plan is also prohibited from engaging in self-dealing, acting for a person who has an interest
adverse to the plan in connection with a transaction involving the plan or receiving any consideration for its own account from a party dealing
with the plan in a transaction involving plan assets. Furthermore, there are adverse tax consequences for an IRA if the assets of the IRA are
commingled with other assets except in a common trust fund or common investment fund.

Plan Asset Considerations

One key question for Benefit Plans is whether our underlying assets will be treated as the assets of each Benefit Plan which purchases and holds
our common stock. The general rule is that the underlying assets of the entity in which a Benefit Plan makes an equity investment will be treated
as the assets of the Benefit Plan absent a statutory or administrative exemption, and there are administrative exemptions under the Plan Asset
Regulations.

The most appropriate exemption for us under the Plan Assets Regulations is the exemption for a �publicly offered security.� A publicly offered
security must be:

� sold as part of a public offering pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act and are part of a class of
securities that is registered under the Exchange Act within a specified period, or be part of a class of securities registered under section
12(b) or 12(g) of the Exchange Act;

� part of a class of securities that is owned by 100 or more persons who are independent of the issuer and one another; and

� freely transferable.
Our shares of common stock are being sold as part of an underwritten offering of securities to the public pursuant to an effective registration
statement under the Securities Act and are part of a class of securities that has been registered under the Exchange Act within the specified
period, we have well in excess of 100 independent stockholders and we believe that our shares of common stock will be treated as �freely
transferable� under the Plan Asset Regulations. Accordingly, we do not believe that our underlying assets will be treated under the Plan Asset
Regulations as the assets of any Benefit Plan which purchases and holds our common stock.

On the other hand, if we fail to qualify for any exemption under the Plan Asset Regulations, we could be treated as a fiduciary with respect to
each Benefit Plan stockholder, and the fiduciary of each Benefit Plan stockholder could be exposed to co-fiduciary liability under ERISA for any
breach by us of our fiduciary duties under ERISA. Furthermore, there is a risk that transactions entered into by us in the ordinary course of
business could be treated as prohibited transactions
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under ERISA and the Code. We therefore might need to avoid transactions with persons who are affiliated with or related to us or our affiliates
or restructure our activities in order to come within an exemption from the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and the Code. Finally, if
our assets were deemed to be �plan assets,� an investment by an IRA in our shares might be deemed to result in an impermissible commingling of
IRA assets with other property.

If a prohibited transaction were to occur, the Code imposes an excise tax equal to 15% of the amount involved and authorizes the IRS to impose
an additional 100% excise tax if the prohibited transaction is not �corrected� in a timely manner. These taxes would be imposed on any
disqualified person who participates in the prohibited transaction. In addition, other fiduciaries of Benefit Plan stockholders subject to ERISA
who permitted the prohibited transaction to occur or who otherwise breached their fiduciary responsibilities (or a non-fiduciary participating in a
prohibited transaction) could be required to restore to the Benefit Plan any profits they realized as a result of the transaction or breach and make
good to the Benefit Plan any losses incurred by the Benefit Plan as a result of the transaction or breach. With respect to an IRA that invests in
shares of common stock, the occurrence of a prohibited transaction involving the individual who established the IRA, or his or her beneficiary,
would cause the IRA to lose its tax-exempt status.

Other Prohibited Transactions

Even if the shares of our common stock qualify for the �publicly offered security� exemption under the Plan Assets Regulations, a prohibited
transaction could occur if we, any of our underwriters or any of their affiliates is a fiduciary (within the meaning of Section 3(21) of ERISA)
with respect to a Benefit Plan and the plan purchases shares of our common stock unless a statutory or administrative exemption is available.
The most likely applicable administration exemption is Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption 75-1, as amended, and the terms and conditions
of this exemption should be reviewed by a plan�s counsel if there is any question over whether we, any of our underwriters or any of their
affiliates is a fiduciary with respect to the plan. A person is a fiduciary with respect to a Benefit Plan under Section 3(21) of ERISA if, among
other things, the person has discretionary authority or control with respect to the Benefit Plan or any authority or control respecting management
or disposition of its �plan assets,� or provides investment advice for a fee with respect to its �plan assets.�

The sale of our common stock to a Benefit Plan is in no respect a representation by us or any other person associated with the offering of our
common stock that such an investment meets all relevant legal requirements with respect to investments by Benefit Plans generally or any
particular Benefit Plan, or that such an investment is appropriate for Benefit Plans generally or any particular Benefit Plan.

By its purchase, each investor will be deemed to have represented that either: (A) no portion of the assets used by the purchaser to acquire and
hold shares constitute assets of any Benefit Plan, or (B) if the purchaser is a Benefit Plan, (1) the purchase and holding of shares will not
constitute a nonexempt prohibited transaction under § 406 of ERISA or § 4975 of the Code or fiduciary breach, and (2) the purchaser has made
its own discretionary decision to acquire and hold shares.
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UNDERWRITING

Raymond James & Associates, Inc. is acting as the representative of each of the underwriters named below. Subject to the terms and conditions
set forth in an underwriting agreement among us, our operating partnership and the underwriters named below, we have agreed to sell to the
underwriters, and each of the underwriters has agreed, severally and not jointly, to purchase from us, the number of shares of Class A common
stock set forth opposite its name below.

Underwriter Number of Shares
Raymond James & Associates, Inc.

Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated

Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated

Janney Montgomery Scott LLC

Total

Subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the underwriting agreement, the underwriters have agreed, severally and not jointly, to purchase
all of the shares of our Class A common stock sold under the underwriting agreement if any of these shares of our Class A common stock are
purchased. If an underwriter defaults, the underwriting agreement provides that the purchase commitments of the nondefaulting underwriters
may be increased or the underwriting agreement may be terminated.

We and our operating partnership have agreed to indemnify the several underwriters against certain liabilities including liabilities under the
Securities Act, or to contribute to payments the underwriters may be required to make in respect of those liabilities.

The underwriters are offering the shares of our Class A common stock, subject to prior sale, when, as and if issued to and accepted by them,
subject to approval of legal matters by their counsel, including the validity of the shares of our Class A common stock, and other conditions
contained in the underwriting agreement, such as the receipt by the underwriters of officers� certificates and legal opinions. The underwriters
reserve the right to withdraw, cancel or modify offers to the public and to reject orders in whole or in part.

Commissions and Discounts

The representative has advised us that the underwriters propose initially to offer the shares of our Class A common stock to the public at the
public offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus supplement and to dealers at that price less a concession not in excess of
$         per share. The underwriters may allow, and the dealers may reallow, a discount not in excess of $         per share to other dealers. After
this public offering, the public offering price, concession or any other term of this offering may be changed.

The following table shows the public offering price, underwriting discounts and commissions and proceeds, before expenses, to us. The
information assumes either no exercise or full exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase up to an additional 1.5 million shares.

Per Share No Exercise Full Exercise
Public offering price $ $ $
Underwriting discount $ $ $

Proceeds, before expenses, to us $ $ $
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The estimated expenses of this offering payable by us, exclusive of underwriting discounts and commissions, are approximately $                .

Option to Purchase Additional Shares

We have granted an option to the underwriters to purchase up to 1.5 million additional shares of our Class A common stock at the public
offering price, less underwriting discounts and commissions, set forth on the cover page of this prospectus supplement. The underwriters may
exercise this option for 30 days from the date of this prospectus supplement. If the underwriters exercise this option, each will be obligated,
subject to conditions contained in the underwriting agreement, to purchase a number of additional shares of our Class A common stock
proportionate to that underwriter�s initial amount reflected in the above table.

Lock-up Agreements

We and each of our executive officers and directors have agreed with the underwriters not to offer, sell or otherwise dispose of any Class A
common stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for or any rights to acquire Class A common stock for a period
of 90 days after the date of this prospectus supplement without first obtaining the written consent of the representative. Specifically, we and
these other persons have agreed, with certain limited exceptions, not to directly or indirectly:

� offer, pledge, sell or contract to sell any Class A common stock;

� sell any option or contract to purchase any Class A common stock;

� purchase any option or contract to sell any Class A common stock;

� grant any option, right or warrant for the sale of any Class A common stock;

� lend or otherwise transfer or dispose of any Class A common stock;

� file or cause to be filed any registration statement related to the Class A common stock; or

� enter into any swap or other agreement that transfers to another, in whole or in part, the economic consequence of ownership of any
Class A common stock whether any such swap, agreement or transaction is to be settled by delivery of shares of our Class A common
stock or other securities, in cash or otherwise.

This lock-up provision applies to Class A common stock and to securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for or repayable with
Class A common stock. It also applies to Class A common stock owned now or acquired later by the person executing the agreement or for
which the person executing the agreement later acquires the power of disposition.

In the event that either (1) during the last 17 days of the lock-up period referred to above, we issue an earnings release or material news or a
material event relating to us occurs or (2) prior to the expiration of the lock-up period, we announce that we will release earnings results or
become aware that material news or a material event will occur during the 16-day period beginning on the last day of the lock-up period, then in
each case the restrictions described above shall continue to apply until the expiration of the 18-day period beginning on the date of issuance of
the earnings release or announcement of the material news or the occurrence of the material event.
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New York Stock Exchange Listing

Our Class A common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol �CTT.�

Price Stabilization, Short Positions and Penalty Bids

Until this offering is completed, SEC rules may limit underwriters and selling group members from bidding for and purchasing our Class A
common stock. However, the underwriters may engage in transactions that stabilize the price of the Class A common stock, such as bids or
purchases to peg, fix or maintain that price.

In connection with this offering, the underwriters may purchase and sell our Class A common stock in the open market. These transactions may
include short sales, purchases on the open market to cover positions created by short sales and stabilizing transactions. Short sales involve the
sale by the underwriters of a greater number of shares of our Class A common stock than they are required to purchase in this offering. �Covered�
short sales are sales made in an amount not greater than the underwriters� option to purchase additional shares described above. The underwriters
may close out any covered short position by either exercising their option to purchase additional shares or purchasing shares of our Class A
common stock in the open market. In determining the source of shares of our Class A common stock to close out the covered short position, the
underwriters will consider, among other things, the price of shares of our Class A common stock available for purchase in the open market as
compared to the price at which they may purchase shares of our Class A common stock through the option to purchase additional shares. �Naked�
short sales are sales in excess of the option to purchase additional shares. The underwriters must close out any naked short position by
purchasing shares of our Class A common stock in the open market. A naked short position is more likely to be created if the underwriters are
concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of our Class A common stock in the open market after pricing that could adversely
affect investors who purchase in this offering. Stabilizing transactions consist of various bids for or purchases of shares of our Class A common
stock made by the underwriters in the open market prior to the completion of this offering.

The underwriters may also impose a penalty bid. This occurs when a particular underwriter repays to the underwriters a portion of the
underwriting discount received by it because the underwriters have repurchased shares sold by or for the account of such underwriter in
stabilizing or short covering transactions.

Similar to other purchase transactions, the underwriters� purchases to cover the syndicate short sales may have the effect of raising or maintaining
the market price of our Class A common stock or preventing or retarding a decline in the market price of our Class A common stock. As a result,
the price of our Class A common stock may be higher than the price that might otherwise exist in the open market. The underwriters may
conduct these transactions on the NYSE, in the over-the-counter market or otherwise.

Neither we nor any of the underwriters make any representation or prediction as to the direction or magnitude of any effect that the transactions
described above may have on the price of our Class A common stock. In addition, neither we nor any of the underwriters make any
representation that the underwriters will engage in these transactions or that these transactions, once commenced, will not be discontinued
without notice.
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Electronic Offer, Sale and Distribution of Shares

In connection with this offering, certain of the underwriters or securities dealers may distribute this prospectus supplement and an accompanying
prospectus by electronic means, such as e-mail. In addition, the underwriters may facilitate Internet distribution for this offering to certain of
their Internet subscription customers. The underwriters may allocate a limited number of shares of our Class A common stock for sale to their
online brokerage customers. An electronic prospectus supplement may be available on the websites maintained by the underwriters. Other than
the prospectus supplement in electronic format, the information on the underwriters� websites is not part of this prospectus supplement.

Other Relationships

The underwriters and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities, which may include securities
trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment management, investment research, principal investment, hedging,
financing and brokerage activities. Some of the underwriters and their respective affiliates have in the past and may in the future engage in
investment banking and other commercial dealings in the ordinary course of business with us or our affiliates and may in the future receive
customary fees and commissions, plus out-of-pocket expenses, for these transactions. It is expected that we will continue to use the underwriters
and their affiliates for various services in the future. We will also pay Raymond James a structuring and advisory fee equal to         % of the total
public offering price, or $             (or $             if the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares) in connection with this
offering.

Notice to Prospective Investors in the United Kingdom

This prospectus supplement is only being distributed to, and is only directed at, persons in the United Kingdom that are qualified investors
within the meaning of Article 2(1)(e) of the Prospectus Directive that are also (i) investment professionals falling within Article 19(5) of the
Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the �Order�) or (ii) high net worth entities, and other persons to
whom it may lawfully be communicated, falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order (each such person being referred to as a �relevant
person�). This prospectus supplement and its contents are confidential and should not be distributed, published or reproduced (in whole or in part)
or disclosed by recipients to any other persons in the United Kingdom. Any person in the United Kingdom that is not a relevant person should
not act or rely on this document or any of its contents.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of our Class A common stock being offered hereby have been passed upon for us by Venable LLP. Alston & Bird LLP
has passed upon certain federal income tax matters, including our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Certain legal matters
will be passed upon for the underwriters by King & Spalding LLP.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013,
included in this prospectus supplement have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated
in their report, appearing herein. Such financial consolidated statements are included in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their
authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

Forest Economic Advisors, LLC has prepared a market study. Information relating to the economic conditions within our target market
contained in �Prospectus Supplement Summary�Market Opportunity,� �Industry and Market Opportunity� and �Business and Properties�Market
Opportunity� is derived from, and is subject to the qualifications and assumptions in, the market study and is included in this prospectus
supplement in reliance on Forest Economic Advisors, LLC�s authority as an expert in such matters.
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INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The SEC allows us to �incorporate by reference� the information we file with the SEC, which means that we can disclose important information to
you by referring to those documents. The information incorporated by reference is an important part of this prospectus supplement. The
incorporated documents contain significant information about us, our business and our finances. Any information contained in this prospectus
supplement or in any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement will be deemed to have
been modified or superseded to the extent that a statement contained in this prospectus supplement, in any other document we subsequently file
with the SEC that is also incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement or in an additional prospectus
supplement, modifies or supersedes the original statement. Any statement so modified or superseded will not be deemed, except as so modified
or superseded, to be a part of this prospectus supplement. We incorporate by reference the following documents we filed with the SEC:

� our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013;

� our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014;

� our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 19, 2014; March 14, 2014; March 27, 2014; April 14,
2014; June 2, 2014; and July 7, 2014;

� our Current Reports on Form 8-K/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2014 and March 21, 2014;

� the description of our Class A common stock included in our registration statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on December 11,
2013;

� the description of our Class B-1 common stock, Class B-2 common stock and Class B-3 common stock each as included in our
registration statement on Form 8-A filed with the SEC on April 25, 2014; and

� all documents filed by us with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date of this
prospectus supplement and prior to the termination of the offering of the underlying securities.

We also specifically incorporate by reference any documents filed by us with the SEC pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the
Exchange Act after the date of the initial registration statement on Form S-3 and prior to effectiveness of the registration statement on Form S-3.

To the extent that any information contained in any current report on Form 8-K, or any exhibit thereto, is or was furnished to, rather than filed
with, the SEC, such information or exhibit is specifically not incorporated by reference in this prospectus supplement.

We will provide without charge to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a prospectus supplement is delivered, on written or
oral request of that person, a copy of any or all of the documents we are incorporating by reference into this prospectus supplement, other than
exhibits to those documents unless those exhibits are specifically incorporated by reference into those documents. A request should be addressed
in writing to CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc., 5 Concourse Parkway, Suite 2325, Atlanta, Georgia 30328, Attention: Brian Davis, Assistant
Secretary, or by telephone at (855) 858-9794.
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WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You may read and copy any document we
file with the Securities and Exchange Commission at the public reference room of the SEC, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549.
Information about the operation of the public reference room may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. Copies of all or a portion
of this prospectus supplement or the registration statement on Form S-3, including the exhibits and schedules to the registration statement, can
be obtained from the public reference room of the SEC upon payment of prescribed fees. Our SEC filings, including this prospectus supplement
and our registration statement on Form S-3, are also available to you on the SEC�s website, www.sec.gov. Our internet address is
www.catchmark.com. The information found on, or otherwise accessible through, our website is not incorporated into, and does not form a part
of, this prospectus supplement or any other report or document we file with or furnish to the SEC.

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-3, of which this prospectus supplement is a part, including exhibits, schedules
and amendments filed with, or incorporated by reference in, this registration statement, under the Securities Act, with respect to the securities
registered hereby. This prospectus supplement does not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement on Form S-3 and
exhibits and schedules to the registration statement. For further information with respect to our company and the securities registered hereby,
reference is made to the registration statement on Form S-3, including the exhibits to the registration statement. Statements contained in this
prospectus supplement and any additional prospectus supplement as to the contents of any contract or other document referred to in, or
incorporated by reference in, this prospectus supplement and any accompanying prospectus are not necessarily complete and, where that contract
is an exhibit to the registration statement, each statement is qualified in all respects by the exhibit to which the reference relates.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(Unaudited)
March 31, 2014

December 31,
2013

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,188,290 $ 8,613,907
Accounts receivable 1,143,907 593,546
Prepaid expenses and other assets 6,102,762 2,506,470
Deferred financing costs, less accumulated amortization of $84,292 and $9,633 as of March 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively 1,423,492 1,483,547
Timber assets, at cost (Note 3):
Timber and timberlands, net 324,417,926 325,726,398
Intangible lease assets, less accumulated amortization of $928,331 and $927,451 as of March 31,
2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively 28,754 29,634

Total assets $ 336,305,131 $ 338,953,502

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 2,681,181 $ 3,127,857
Other liabilities 3,103,155 3,734,193
Note payable and line of credit (Note 4) 34,000,000 52,160,000

Total liabilities 39,784,336 59,022,050
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 6) � �
Stockholders� Equity:
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value; 889,500,000 shares authorized; 15,491,110 and
13,900,382 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013,
respectively 154,911 139,004
Class B-1 common stock, $0.01 par value; 3,500,000 shares authorized; 3,164,476 and 3,164,483
shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively 31,645 31,645
Class B-2 common stock, $0.01 par value; 3,500,000 shares authorized; 3,164,476 and 3,164,483
shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively 31,645 31,645
Class B-3 common stock, $0.01 par value; 3,500,000 shares authorized; 3,164,476 and 3,164,483
shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respectively 31,644 31,644
Additional paid-in capital 451,839,466 432,117,205
Accumulated deficit and distributions (155,823,173) (152,688,059) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 254,657 268,368

Total stockholders� equity 296,520,795 279,931,452

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 336,305,131 $ 338,953,502

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2014 2013

Revenues:
Timber sales $ 8,096,855 $ 6,151,762
Timberland sales 65,250 543,950
Other revenues 707,832 692,079

8,869,937 7,387,791
Expenses:
Contract logging and hauling costs 3,746,904 3,263,470
Depletion 1,803,532 2,045,353
Cost of timberland sales 49,612 378,283
Forestry management expenses 696,438 576,704
General and administrative expenses 1,715,958 1,350,178
Land rent expense 215,168 310,146
Other operating expenses 645,386 660,572

8,872,998 8,584,706

Operating loss (3,061) (1,196,915) 
Other income (expense):
Interest income 465 1,150
Interest expense (385,463) (790,495) 
Loss on interest rate swap � (474) 

(384,998) (789,819) 

Net loss (388,059) (1,986,734) 
Dividends to preferred stockholder � (92,134) 

Net loss available to common stockholders $ (388,059) $ (2,078,868) 

Per-share information�basic and diluted:
Net loss available to common stockholders $ (0.02) $ (0.16) 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding�basic and diluted 24,834,373 12,713,817

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2014 2013

Net loss $ (388,059) $ (1,986,734) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Market value adjustment to interest rate swap (13,711) 92,473

Comprehensive loss $ (401,770) $ (1,894,261) 

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

Class A
Common Stock

Class B
Common Stock Preferred Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit and

Distributions

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Total
Stockholders�

EquityShares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance,
December 31,
2013 13,900,382 $ 139,004 9,493,449 $ 94,934 � $ � $ 432,117,205 $ (152,688,059) $ 268,368 $ 279,931,452
Common
stock issued
pursuant to:
Initial Public
Offering 1,578,947 15,789 � � 21,299,995 21,315,784
Long-term
incentive plan 11,788 118 � � 89,129 89,247
Redemptions
of common
stock (7) � (21) � (370) (370) 
Dividends to
common
stockholders
($0.11 per
share) (2,747,055) (2,747,055) 
Stock
issuance cost (1,666,493) (1,666,493) 
Net loss (388,059) (388,059) 
Market value
adjustment to
interest rate
swap (13,711) (13,711) 

Balance,
March 31,
2014 15,491,110 $ 154,911 9,493,428 $ 94,934 � $ � $ 451,839,466 $ (155,823,173) $ 254,657 $ 296,520,795

Class A
Common Stock

Class B
Common Stock Preferred Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit and

Distributions

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Total
Stockholders�

EquityShares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance,
December 31,
2012 3,180,063 $ 31,801 9,540,188 $ 95,402 37,392 $ 48,600,055 $ 301,538,949 $ (139,491,344) $ (687,674) $ 210,087,189
Forfeiture of
restricted
stock award (202) (2) (606) (6) (197) 205 �
Redemptions
of common
stock (3,533) (35) (10,599) (106) (219,944) (220,085) 
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Dividends on
preferred
stock 92,134 (92,134) �
Net loss (1,986,734) (1,986,734) 
Market value
adjustment to
interest rate
swap 92,473 92,473

Balance,
March 31,
2013 3,176,328 $ 31,764 9,528,983 $ 95,290 37,392 $ 48,692,189 $ 301,226,674 $ (141,477,873) $ (595,201) $ 207,972,843

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended

March 31,
2014 2013

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net loss $ (388,059) $ (1,986,734) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depletion 1,803,532 2,045,353
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps � (128,934) 
Other amortization 20,415 56,745
Stock-based compensation expense 82,997 �
Noncash interest expense 75,341 58,161
Basis of timberland sold 37,987 337,000
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Increase in accounts receivable (550,361) (100,655) 
Decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets 529,036 189,234
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses (446,676) (195,277) 
Decrease in due to affiliates � (581,013) 
Decrease in other liabilities (631,720) (617,506) 

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 532,492 (923,626) 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures (excluding timberland acquisitions) (278,106) (242,588) 
Timberland acquisitions (4,347,265) �
Furniture and equipment (60,000) �
Funds released from escrow accounts � 184,225

Net cash used in investing activities (4,685,371) (58,363) 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Financing costs paid (14,604) (524) 
Repayment of note payable (18,160,000) �
Issuance of common stock 21,315,784 �
Redemptions of common stock (370) (217,576) 
Dividends paid on common stockholders (2,747,055) �
Stock issuance costs (1,666,493) �

Net cash used in financing activities (1,272,738) (218,100) 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (5,425,617) (1,200,089) 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 8,613,907 11,221,092

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 3,188,290 $ 10,021,003

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2014 (unaudited)

1. Organization

On September 18, 2013, Wells Timberland REIT, Inc. changed its name to CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. (�CatchMark Timber Trust�).
CatchMark Timber Trust primarily engages in the ownership, management, acquisition, and disposition of timberlands located in the
southeastern United States and has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (�REIT�) for federal income tax purposes. CatchMark
Timber Trust was incorporated in Maryland in 2005 and commenced operations in 2007. CatchMark Timber Trust conducts substantially all of
its business through CatchMark Timber Operating Partnership, L.P. (�CatchMark Timber OP�), a Delaware limited partnership formerly known as
Wells Timberland Operating Partnership, L.P. CatchMark Timber Trust is the general partner of CatchMark Timber OP, possesses full legal
control and authority over its operations, and owns 99.99% of its common partnership units. CatchMark LP Holder, LLC (�CatchMark LP
Holder�), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CatchMark Timber Trust, is the sole limited partner of CatchMark Timber OP. In addition, CatchMark
Timber TRS, Inc. (�CatchMark TRS�), a Delaware corporation formerly known as Wells Timberland TRS, Inc., was formed as a wholly owned
subsidiary of CatchMark Timber OP on January 1, 2006. Unless otherwise noted, references herein to CatchMark Timber Trust shall include
CatchMark Timber Trust and all of its subsidiaries, including CatchMark Timber OP, and the subsidiaries of CatchMark Timber OP, including
CatchMark TRS.

CatchMark Timber Trust previously operated as an externally advised REIT pursuant to an advisory agreement, as amended and restated (the
�Advisory Agreement�), under which Wells Timberland Management Organization, LLC (�Wells TIMO�), a wholly owned subsidiary of Wells
Capital, Inc. (�Wells Capital�), performed certain key functions on behalf of CatchMark Timber Trust, including, among others, managing the
day-to-day operations, investing capital proceeds and arranging financing. On September 18, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust and CatchMark
Timber OP entered into a Master Self-Management Transition Agreement (the �Master Agreement�), along with a series of other agreements and
transactions, with Wells Real Estate Funds, Inc. (�Wells REF�) and Wells TIMO (together with their respective affiliates, �Wells�), pursuant to
which CatchMark Timber Trust began its transition to a self-managed company. On October 25, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust completed its
transition to self-management. For additional details about the related agreements, please refer to Note 10�Related Party Transactions and
Agreements.

As of March 31, 2014, CatchMark Timber Trust owned approximately 247,400 acres of timberland and held long-term leasehold interests in
approximately 30,000 acres of additional timberland, all of which is located on the Lower Piedmont and Upper Coastal Plains of East Central
Alabama and West Central Georgia (the �Mahrt Timberland�). CatchMark Timber Trust generates recurring income and cash flow from the
harvest and sale of timber, as well as from non-timber related revenue sources, such as recreational leases. CatchMark Timber Trust also
periodically generates income and cash flow from the sale of timberland properties that have a higher-value use beyond growing timber, such as
properties that can be sold for development, conservation, recreational or other rural purposes at prices in excess of traditional timberland values.
CatchMark Timber Trust expects to realize additional long-term returns from the potential appreciation in value of its timberlands as well as
from the potential biological growth of its standing timber inventory in excess of its timber harvest.

On October 24, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust effected a ten-to-one reverse stock split of its then-outstanding common stock. Also on
October 24, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust redesignated
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all of its common stock as Class A common stock. On October 25, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust paid a stock dividend pursuant to which each
outstanding share of its Class A common stock on October 24, 2013, after effectiveness of the reverse stock split, received one share of Class
B-1 common stock; plus one share of Class B-2 common stock; plus one share of Class B-3 common stock. These transactions are referred to as
the Recapitalization. All common stock share and per share data included in these consolidated financial statements give retroactive effect to the
Recapitalization. See Note 7�Stockholders� Equity for more information on the Recapitalization.

On September 23, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust filed a Registration Statement on Form S-11 with the SEC for a public offering of up to
$172.5 million of its Class A common stock. On December 12, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust listed its Class A common stock on the New
York Stock Exchange (the �NYSE�) under the ticker symbol �CTT�. CatchMark Timber Trust completed its listed public offering on December 17,
2013, issuing approximately 10.5 million shares and received gross proceeds of approximately $142.1 million (the �IPO�). After deducting
underwriter discounts and commissions of $9.9 million and direct IPO costs of $1.6 million, approximately $80.2 million of the net proceeds
were used to repay its outstanding loan balance, $49.0 million were used to redeem the outstanding shares of the Series A and B preferred stock
held by Wells REF and the accrued but unpaid dividend. On January 9, 2014, the underwriters for the IPO exercised their overallotment option
to purchase approximately 1.6 million shares of CatchMark Timber Trust�s Class A common stock in full. After deducting $1.5 million of
underwriter discounts and commissions, CatchMark Timber Trust received net proceeds of $19.8 million, $18.2 million of which was used to
pay down the outstanding note payable.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of CatchMark Timber Trust have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (�GAAP�) and shall include the accounts of any variable interest entity (�VIE�) in which the Company or its
subsidiaries is deemed the primary beneficiary. With respect to entities that are not VIEs, CatchMark Timber Trust�s consolidated financial
statements shall also include the accounts of any entity in which CatchMark Timber Trust or its subsidiaries owns a controlling financial interest
and any limited partnership in which CatchMark Timber Trust or its subsidiaries owns a controlling general partnership interest. In determining
whether a controlling interest exists, CatchMark Timber Trust considers, among other factors, the ownership of voting interests, protective
rights, and participatory rights of the investors.

CatchMark Timber Trust owns a controlling financial interest in CatchMark Timber OP, CatchMark LP Holder and CatchMark TRS and,
accordingly, includes the accounts of these entities in its consolidated financial statements. The financial statements of CatchMark Timber OP,
CatchMark LP Holder and CatchMark TRS are prepared using accounting policies consistent with those used by CatchMark Timber Trust. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

For further information, refer to the audited financial statements and footnotes included in CatchMark Timber Trust�s Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Fair Value Measurements

CatchMark Timber Trust estimates the fair value of its assets and liabilities (where currently required under GAAP) consistent with the
provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures. Under this guidance, fair value is defined as the price that
would
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be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. While
various techniques and assumptions can be used to estimate fair value depending on the nature of the asset or liability, the accounting standard
for fair value measurements and disclosures provides the following fair value technique parameters and hierarchy, depending upon availability:

Level 1�Assets or liabilities for which the identical term is traded on an active exchange, such as publicly-traded instruments or futures contracts.

Level 2�Assets and liabilities valued based on observable market data for similar instruments.

Level 3�Assets or liabilities for which significant valuation assumptions are not readily observable in the market. Such assets or liabilities are
valued based on the best available data, some of which may be internally developed. Significant assumptions may include risk premiums that a
market participant would require.

Fair Value of Debt Instruments

CatchMark Timber Trust applied the provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures in estimations of fair
value of its debt instruments based on Level 2 assumptions. The fair value of the outstanding note payable was estimated based on discounted
cash flow analysis using the current observable market borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements as of the measurement date.
The discounted cash flow method of assessing fair value results in a general approximation of book value, and such value may never actually be
realized.

Interest Rate Swaps

CatchMark Timber Trust has entered into interest rate swap contracts to mitigate its exposure to changing interest rates on variable rate debt
instruments. CatchMark Timber Trust does not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes; however, certain of its
derivatives may not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. The fair values of interest rate swaps are recorded as either prepaid expenses and
other assets or other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the fair value of the effective portion of interest rate
swaps that are designated as hedges are recorded as other comprehensive income (loss), while changes in the fair value of the ineffective portion
of hedges, if any, are recognized in current earnings. Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps that do not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment are recorded as gain (loss) on interest rate swap in the consolidated statements of operations. Amounts received or paid under interest
rate swaps are recorded as interest expense for contracts that qualify for hedge accounting treatment and as gain (loss) on interest rate swaps for
contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment.

CatchMark Timber Trust applied the provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures in recording its interest
rate swaps at fair value. The fair values of interest rate swaps, classified under Level 2, were determined using a third-party proprietary model
that is based on prevailing market data for contracts with matching durations, current and anticipated London Interbank Offered Rate (�LIBOR�)
information, consideration of CatchMark Timber Trust�s credit standing, credit risk of counterparties, and reasonable estimates about relevant
future market conditions.
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The following table presents information about CatchMark Timber Trust�s interest rate swap measured at fair value as of March 31, 2014 and
December 31, 2013:

Estimated Fair Value as of

Instrument Type Balance Sheet Classification
March 31,

2014
December 31,

2013
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate swap contract Prepaid expenses and other

assets $ 254,657 $ 268,368
For additional information about CatchMark Timber Trust�s interest rate swaps, see Note 5�Interest Rate Swap Agreement.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share available to common stockholders is calculated as net income (loss) available to common stockholders divided by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Weighted-average number of common shares information
presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations is retroactively adjusted for all periods presented to reflect the impact of
the Recapitalization. Net income (loss) available to common stockholders is calculated as net income (loss) less dividends payable to or
accumulated to preferred stockholders. Diluted earnings (loss) per share available to common stockholders equals basic earnings per share
available to common stockholders, adjusted to reflect the dilution that would occur if all outstanding securities convertible into common shares
or contracts to issue common shares were converted or exercised and the related proceeds are then used to repurchase common shares. Basic and
diluted earnings (loss) per share were the same for all periods presented as the dilutive effect of outstanding securities was immaterial.

Income Taxes

CatchMark Timber Trust has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the �Code�), and has operated
as such beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2009. To qualify to be taxed as a REIT, CatchMark Timber Trust must meet certain
organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of its ordinary taxable income to its stockholders.
As a REIT, CatchMark Timber Trust generally is not subject to federal income tax on taxable income it distributes to stockholders. CatchMark
Timber Trust is subject to certain state and local taxes related to the operations of timberland properties in certain locations, which have been
provided for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. CatchMark Timber Trust records interest and penalties related to uncertain
tax positions as general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

CatchMark Timber Trust has elected to treat CatchMark Timber Trust TRS as a taxable REIT subsidiary. CatchMark Timber Trust may perform
certain non-customary services, including real estate or non-real-estate related services, through CatchMark Timber Trust TRS. Earnings from
services performed through CatchMark Timber Trust TRS are subject to federal and state income taxes irrespective of the dividends paid
deduction available to REITs for federal income tax purposes. In addition, for CatchMark Timber Trust to continue to qualify to be taxed as a
REIT, CatchMark Timber Trust�s investment in CatchMark Timber Trust TRS may not exceed 25% of the value of the total assets of CatchMark
Timber Trust.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities
based on the enacted rates expected to be
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in effect when the temporary differences reverse. Deferred tax expense or benefit is recognized in the financial statements according to the
changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities between years. Valuation allowances are established to reduce deferred tax assets when it becomes
more likely than not that such assets, or portions thereof, will not be realized.

No provision for federal income taxes has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, other than the provision relating to
CatchMark Timber Trust TRS, as CatchMark Timber Trust did not generate taxable income for the periods presented.

Reclassification

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current period�s financial statement presentation. The reclassification
relates to including advisor fees and expense reimbursements payable to Wells TIMO as presented in the previous period in general and
administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2013, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-11, Income Taxes: Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists (�ASU 2013-11�). ASU 2013-11 requires an entity to
present an unrecognized tax benefit in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a
similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward. To the extent a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward is not
available at the reporting date or not intended to be used to settle any additional income taxes that would result in the dis-allowance of a tax
position in which case the unrecognized tax benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a liability and should not be combined
with deferred tax assets. ASU 2013-11 became effective for CatchMark Timber Trust for the period beginning on January 1, 2014. The adoption
of ASU 2013-11 did not have a material impact on CatchMark Timber Trust�s financial statements or disclosures.

3. Timber Assets

As of March 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, timber and timberlands consisted of the following, respectively:

As of March 31, 2014

Gross

Accumulated

Depletion or
Amortization Net

Timber $ 141,803,911 $ 1,803,532 $ 140,000,379
Timberlands 184,177,425 � 184,177,425
Mainline roads 498,237 258,115 240,122

Timber and timberlands $ 326,479,573 $ 2,061,647 $ 324,417,926
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As of December 31, 2013

Gross

Accumulated

Depletion or
Amortization Net

Timber $ 149,859,173 $ 8,505,024 $ 141,354,149
Timberlands 184,114,333 � 184,114,333
Mainline roads 498,237 240,321 257,916

Timber and timberlands $ 334,471,743 $ 8,745,345 $ 325,726,398

During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust acquired a fee simple interest in 203 acres of timberland
located in Talbot county, Georgia, for approximately $0.2 million, excluding closing costs. During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and
2013, CatchMark Timber Trust sold approximately 29 acres and 253 acres of timberland, respectively, for approximately $0.07 million and $0.5
million, respectively. CatchMark Timber Trust�s cost basis in the timberland sold was approximately $0.04 million and $0.3 million,
respectively.

4. Note Payable and Line of Credit

On December 19, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into a third amended and restated credit agreement with a syndicate of banks with
CoBank, ACB (�CoBank�) serving as the administrative agent (the �Amended CoBank Loan�). The Amended CoBank Loan amends and restates in
its entirety the existing senior credit agreement dated as of September 28, 2012.

The Amended CoBank Loan provides for borrowing under credit facilities consisting of:

� a $15.0 million revolving credit facility (the �Revolving Credit Facility�),

� a $150.0 million multi-draw term credit facility (the �Multi-Draw Term Facility�), and

� the remaining amount outstanding under the original CoBank term loan (the �Term Loan Facility�, and together with the Revolving
Credit Facility and the Multi-Draw Term Facility, the �New Credit Facilities�), which was $52.2 million.

The Amended CoBank Loan provides that the New Credit Facilities may be increased, upon the agreement of lenders willing to increase their
loans, by up to $75.0 million, consisting of up to a $10.0 million increase in the Revolving Credit Facility and the remainder available for
incremental term loans.

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility may be used for working capital, to support letters of credit and other general corporate
purposes, but may not be used for timber acquisitions. The Revolving Credit Facility will bear interest at an adjustable rate equal to a base rate
plus between 0.50% and 1.75% or one-month LIBOR rate plus between 1.50% and 2.75%, in each case depending on CatchMark Timber Trust�s
loan-to-collateral-value ratio (the �LTV Ratio�) and will terminate and all amounts under the facility will be due and payable on December 19,
2018.

The Multi-Draw Credit Facility may be drawn upon up to five times during the period beginning on December 19, 2013 through December 19,
2016 and may be used to finance domestic timber acquisitions and associated expenses. Amounts repaid under the Multi-Draw Credit Facility
may be re-borrowed prior to the third anniversary of the closing date. The Multi-Draw Facility will bear interest at an adjustable rate equal to a
base rate plus between 0.75% and 2.00% or a LIBOR rate plus between 1.75% and 3.00%, in each case depending on the LTV Ratio, and will
terminate
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and all amounts under the facility will be due and payable on December 19, 2020. The Multi-Draw Credit Facility is interest only until the
maturity date; however, if the CatchMark Timber Trust�s LTV Ratio is equal to or in excess of 35%, then principal payments will be required to
be made beginning on December 31, 2016 at a per annum rate of 7.50% of the principal amount outstanding under the Multi-Draw Credit
Facility.

The Term Loan Facility will bear interest at an adjustable rate equal to a base rate plus between 0.50% and 1.75% or a LIBOR rate plus between
1.50% and 2.75%, in each case depending on the CatchMark Timber Trust�s LTV Ratio, and will terminate and all amounts under the facility
will be due and payable on December 19, 2018.

The Amended CoBank Loan is secured by a first mortgage in the CatchMark Timber Trust�s timberlands, a first priority security interest in all
bank accounts held by CatchMark Timber Trust, and a first priority security interest on all other assets of CatchMark Timber Trust. In addition,
CatchMark Timber Trust� obligations under the Amended CoBank Loan are guaranteed by its subsidiaries.

The Amended CoBank Loan contains, among others, the following financial covenants:

� limits the LTV Ratio to 45% at the end of each fiscal quarter and upon the sale or acquisition of any property;

� requires a minimum liquidity balance of $10.0 million until the date that CatchMark Timber Trust has achieved a fixed charge
coverage ratio of not less than 1.05:1.00; after such date CatchMark Timber Trust must maintain a fixed coverage charge ratio of not
less than 1.05:1.00.

CatchMark Timber Trust was in compliance with the financial covenants of the Amended CoBank Loan as of March 31, 2014.

On January 9, 2014, CatchMark Timber Trust paid down the Amended CoBank Loan by $18.2 million using proceeds from the IPO. As of
March 31, 2014, the outstanding balance of the Amended CoBank Loan was $34.0 million, all of which was outstanding under the Term Loan
Facility.

Interest Paid and Fair Value of Outstanding Debt

During the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust made interest payments of approximately $0.2 million and
$0.7 million, respectively, on its borrowings:

As of March 31, 2014 and 2013, the weighted-average interest rate on these borrowings, after consideration of an interest rate swap (see Note
5�Interest Rate Swap Agreement), was 2.39% and 2.63%, respectively. As of March 31, 2014 and 2013, the fair value of CatchMark Timber
Trust�s outstanding debt approximated its book value. The fair value was estimated based on discounted cash flow analysis using the current
market borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements as of the measurement dates.

5. Interest Rate Swap Agreement

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, CatchMark Timber Trust used one interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $33.0
million to hedge its exposure to changing interest rates on its variable rate debt (the �Rabobank Forward Swap�). The Rabobank Forward
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Swap became effective on March 28, 2013 and matures on September 30, 2017. Under the terms of the Rabobank Forward Swap, CatchMark
Timber Trust pays interest at a fixed rate of 0.9075% per annum to Rabobank and receives one-month LIBOR-based interest payments from
Rabobank. The Rabobank Forward Swap qualifies for hedge accounting treatment.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, CatchMark Timber Trust recognized a change in fair value of the Rabobank Forward Swap of
approximately $0.01 million as other comprehensive income. There was no hedge ineffectiveness on the Rabobank Forward Swap required to be
recognized in current earnings. Net payments of approximately $0.06 million made under the Rabobank Forward Swap by CatchMark Timber
Trust during the three months ended March 31, 2014 was recorded as interest expense.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

MeadWestvaco Timber Agreements

In connection with the acquisition of its timberlands, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into a fiber supply agreement and a master stumpage
agreement (collectively, the �Timber Agreements�) with a wholly owned subsidiary of MeadWestvaco Corporation (�MeadWestvaco�). The fiber
supply agreement provides that MeadWestvaco will purchase specified tonnage of timber from CatchMark TRS at specified prices per ton,
depending upon the type of timber. The fiber supply agreement is subject to quarterly market pricing adjustments based on an index published
by Timber Mart-South, a quarterly trade publication that reports raw forest product prices in 11 southern states. The master stumpage agreement
provides that CatchMark Timber Trust will sell specified amounts of timber and make available certain portions of its timberlands to CatchMark
TRS for harvesting. The initial term of the Timber Agreements is October 9, 2007 through December 31, 2032, subject to extension and early
termination provisions. The Timber Agreements ensure a long-term source of supply of wood fiber products for MeadWestvaco in order to meet
its paperboard and lumber production requirements at specified mills and provide CatchMark Timber Trust with a reliable customer for the
wood products from its timberlands.

FRC Timberland Operating Agreement

CatchMark Timber Trust is party to a timberland operating agreement with Forest Resource Consultants, Inc. (�FRC�). Pursuant to the terms of the
timberland operating agreement, FRC manages and operates CatchMark Timber Trust�s timberlands and related timber operations, including
ensuring delivery of timber to MeadWestvaco in compliance with the Timber Agreements. In consideration for rendering the services described
in the timberland operating agreement, CatchMark Timber Trust pays FRC (i) a monthly management fee based on the actual acreage FRC
manages, which is payable monthly in advance, and (ii) an incentive fee based on net revenues generated by the timberlands. The incentive fee is
payable annually in arrears. The timberland operating agreement, as amended, is effective through December 31, 2014, with the option to extend
for one-year periods and may be terminated by either party with mutual consent or by CatchMark Timber Trust with or without cause upon
providing 120 days� prior written notice.

Litigation

From time to time, CatchMark Timber Trust may be a party to legal proceedings, claims, and administrative proceedings that arise in the
ordinary course of its business. Management makes assumptions and estimates concerning the likelihood and amount of any reasonably possible
loss relating to these matters using the latest information available. CatchMark Timber Trust records a liability for litigation if an unfavorable
outcome is probable and the amount of loss or range of loss
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can be reasonably estimated. If an unfavorable outcome is probable and a reasonable estimate of the loss is a range, CatchMark Timber Trust
accrues the best estimate within the range. If no amount within the range is a better estimate than any other amount, CatchMark Timber Trust
accrues the minimum amount within the range. If an unfavorable outcome is probable but the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated,
CatchMark Timber Trust discloses the nature of the litigation and indicates that an estimate of the loss or range of loss cannot be made. If an
unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible and the estimated loss is material, CatchMark Timber Trust discloses the nature and estimate of the
possible loss of the litigation. CatchMark Timber Trust does not disclose information with respect to litigation where an unfavorable outcome is
considered to be remote.

CatchMark Timber Trust is not currently involved in any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have a material adverse
effect on the results of operations or financial condition of CatchMark Timber Trust. CatchMark Timber Trust is not aware of any legal
proceedings contemplated by governmental authorities.

7. Stockholders� Equity

Under CatchMark Timber Trust�s charter, it has authority to issue a total of 1 billion shares of capital stock. Of the total shares authorized,
900 million shares are designated as common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share, 100 million shares are designated as preferred stock.

Common Stock�Recapitalization and IPO

On October 24, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust effectuated a ten-to-one reverse stock split of its outstanding common stock (the �Reverse Stock
Split�). Immediately following the Reverse Stock Split, CatchMark Timber Trust re-designated all of its then-authorized common stock as �Class
A Common Stock�. A stock dividend was declared and paid on October 25, 2013 (the �Stock Dividend� and, together with the Reverse Stock Split,
the �Recapitalization�) pursuant to which each share of common stock outstanding as of October 24, 2013, following the Reverse Stock Split,
received:

� one share of Class B-1 common stock; plus

� one share of Class B-2 common stock; plus

� one share of Class B-3 common stock.
Any fractional shares of Class A common stock outstanding after the reverse stock split also received an equivalent fractional share of Class
B-1, Class B-2 and Class B-3 common stock, which was then immediately converted into Class A common stock. The Recapitalization was
effective upon filing amendments to CatchMark Timber Trust�s charter with State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland on
October 24, 2013. CatchMark Timber Trust refers to Class B-1 common stock, Class B-2 common stock, and Class B-3 common stock
collectively as �Class B common stock,� and Class A and Class B common stock collectively as �common stock.�

On December 12, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust listed its Class A common stock on NYSE (the �Listing�). CatchMark Timber Trust completed
the IPO on December 17, 2013, issuing approximately 10.5 million shares of its Class A common stock.

CatchMark Timber Trust�s Class B common stock is identical to its Class A common stock except that (1) CatchMark Timber Trust does not
intend to list its Class B common stock on a
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national securities exchange and (2) shares of Class B common stock will convert automatically into shares of Class A common stock, pursuant
to provisions of CatchMark Timber Trust�s charter, on the following schedule:

� June 12, 2014, in the case of the Class B-1 common stock;

� December 12, 2014, in the case of the Class B-2 common stock; and

� June 12, 2015, in the case of the Class B-3 common stock.
The board of directors has the authority to accelerate the conversion of the Class B-2 shares and the Class B-3 shares to dates not earlier than
nine months and twelve months, respectively, following the listing with the consent of the underwriter of the IPO. On the eighteen-month
anniversary of the listing, all shares of the Class B common stock will have converted into the Class A common stock.

The combined effect of the ten-to-one reverse stock split and the stock dividend is equivalent to a 2.5-to-one reverse stock split. The
Recapitalization also had the effect of decreasing the total number of outstanding shares of CatchMark Timber Trust�s common stock, but did not
change the number of shares of common stock that are authorized for issuance under the charter. After the Recapitalization, of the total shares of
common stock authorized, 889.5 million shares are designated as Class A common stock, 3.5 million are designated as Class B-1 common stock,
3.5 million are designated as Class B-2 common stock, and 3.5 million are designated as Class B-3 common stock. All classes of CatchMark
Timber Trust�s common stock have a par value of $0.01 per share.

On October 23, 2013, immediately prior to the Reverse Stock Split, approximately 31.7 million shares of CatchMark Timber Trust�s common
stock were outstanding. As of October 25, 2013, in aggregate after the Recapitalization, approximately 12.7 million shares of Class A and Class
B common stock were outstanding. Of this amount, approximately 3.2 million shares were Class A common stock (representing 25% of total
outstanding common stock) and approximately 9.5 million shares were Class B common stock (representing 75% of our total outstanding
common stock).

The Recapitalization was effected on a pro rata basis with respect to all stockholders. Accordingly, it did not affect any stockholder�s
proportionate ownership of CatchMark Timber Trust�s outstanding shares.

On January 9, 2014, the underwriters for the IPO exercised their overallotment option to purchase approximately 1.6 million shares of
CatchMark Timber Trust�s Class A common stock in full. After deducting approximately $1.5 million of underwriter discounts and commissions,
CatchMark Timber Trust received net proceeds of approximately $19.8 million, $18.2 million of which was used to pay down the outstanding
note payable.

Share Redemption Plan

Prior to its termination on October 31, 2013, the SRP allowed stockholders who hold their shares for more than one year to sell their shares back
to CatchMark Timber Trust, subject to certain limitations and penalties. Since no proceeds had been received from the sale of shares through
DRP, the SRP was funded by a monthly, non-cumulative reserve of $150,000 set aside by the board of directors for redemptions in connection
with death, qualifying disability, or qualification for federal assistance for confinement to a long-term care facility (�Qualified Special
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Redemptions�). CatchMark Timber Trust did not redeem any shares under the SRP other than Qualified Special Redemptions. Qualified Special
Redemptions did not require a one-year holding period.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, 35,327 shares of common stock were redeemed pursuant to the SRP for approximately $0.2
million. The price paid for these shares equaled $6.23 per share, representing 95% of the estimated per-share value of CatchMark Timber Trust�s
common stock as of September 30, 2012.

The SRP was terminated as of October 31, 2013.

8. Stock Based Compensation

Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan

On October 24, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust�s board of directors approved the Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
�LTIP�), effective on October 25, 2013, to (i) increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance thereunder to 1,150,000
shares of Class A common stock and 50,000 shares of each of the Class B-1, Class B-2 and Class B-3 common stock, (ii) extend the term of the
LTIP to October 25, 2023, (iii) incorporate into the plan document previously-approved, stand-alone amendments, and (iv) make certain
additional ministerial changes.

Equity Compensation for Independent Directors

Below is a summary of independent director�s equity compensation arrangements under the LTIP:

� From November 13, 2009 to January 1, 2014, each independent director received a grant of 1,000 shares of restricted stock upon his
initial appointment to the board. Upon each subsequent re-election to the board, each independent director received a subsequent grant
of 400 shares of restricted stock.

� Effective January 1, 2014, each independent directors receives, on the third business day following the date on which CatchMark
Timber Trust files its annual report on Form 10-K with the SEC, a number of restricted shares having a value of $30,000 on the grant
date. The number of restricted shares granted to each independent director will be determined by dividing $30,000 by the fair market
value per share of CatchMark Timber Trust�s common stock on the grant date.

The restricted shares vest in thirds on each of the first three anniversaries of the grant, subject to the independent director�s continued service on
the board on each such date, or on the earlier occurrence of a change in control of our company or the independent director�s death, disability or
termination with cause.

During the three months ended March 31, 2014, 10,875 shares of restricted stock were granted to the independent directors. As of March 31,
2014, CatchMark Timber Trust had granted 20,475 shares of restricted stock to the independent directors, 3,467 shares of which had vested and
1,467 shares of which were forfeited upon the resignation of two independent directors.
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9. Supplemental Disclosures of Noncash Activities

Outlined below are significant noncash investing and financing transactions for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively:

2014 2013
Dividends accrued on preferred stock $ � $ 92,134
Forfeiture of restricted stock award $ � $ 205
Market value adjustment to interest rate swap that qualifies for hedge accounting treatment $ (13,711) $ 92,473
Accrued redemption of common stock $ � $ 2,509

10. Related-Party Transactions and Agreements

Advisory Agreement with Wells TIMO

Prior to its transition to self-management on October 25, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust was externally advised by Wells TIMO pursuant to an
Advisory Agreement, where Wells TIMO performed certain key functions on behalf of CatchMark Timber Trust, including, among others,
management of day-to-day operations and investment of capital proceeds. The Advisory Agreement terminated on October 25, 2013.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust incurred approximately $0.7 million of advisor fees and expense
reimbursements payable to Wells TIMO, which was included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated
statement of operations.

Master Self-Management Transition Agreement and Termination of Advisory Agreement

On September 18, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust, CatchMark Timber OP, Wells REF and Wells TIMO entered into the Master Agreement,
which sets forth the framework for CatchMark Timber Trust�s separation from Wells and its transition to self-management. On October 24, 2013,
the parties entered into the Master Agreement Amendment and terminated the Advisory Agreement effective October 25, 2013.

Pursuant to the Master Agreement, Wells agreed to facilitate and support CatchMark Timber Trust�s efforts to hire up to eight employees of
Wells identified by CatchMark Timber Trust who, as of the date of the Master Agreement, performed substantial services for CatchMark Timber
Trust pursuant to the Advisory Agreement (collectively, the �Targeted Personnel�). On October 25, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust hired the
Targeted Personnel selected by CatchMark Timber Trust with such compensation and benefits as determined by CatchMark Timber Trust.

Upon the termination of the Advisory Agreement, the special limited partnership units held by Wells TIMO in CatchMark Timber OP were
automatically redeemed by CatchMark Timber OP, and Wells TIMO was not entitled to any consideration in connection with such redemption.
On October 25, 2013, CatchMark LP Holder purchased all of Wells TIMO�s common limited partnership units in CatchMark Timber OP for an
aggregate purchase price of $1,312. For further information on the special limited partnership units, refer to the consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes included in CatchMark Timber Trust�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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Transition Services Agreement

Pursuant to the Master Agreement, CatchMark Timber Trust and Wells REF entered into a Transition Services Agreement (the �TSA�) on
October 25, 2013, pursuant to which Wells REF and its affiliates will provide certain consulting, support, and transitional services to CatchMark
Timber Trust at the direction of CatchMark Timber Trust in order to facilitate CatchMark Timber Trust�s successful transition to
self-management.

In exchange for the services provided by Wells REF under the TSA, CatchMark Timber Trust or CatchMark Timber OP pays Wells REF a
monthly consulting fee of $22,875 (the �Consulting Fee�). In addition to the Consulting Fee, CatchMark Timber Trust or CatchMark Timber OP
pays directly or reimburse Wells REF for any third-party expenses paid or incurred by Wells REF and its affiliates on CatchMark Timber Trust�s
behalf or CatchMark Timber OP behalf in connection with the services provided pursuant to the TSA; provided, however, that (1) Wells REF
will obtain written approval from CatchMark Timber Trust or CatchMark Timber OP prior to incurring any third-party expenses for the account
of, or reimbursable by, CatchMark Timber Trust or CatchMark Timber OP and (2) CatchMark Timber Trust is not required to reimburse Wells
REF for any administrative service expenses, including Wells REF�s overhead, personnel costs, and costs of goods used in the performance of
services under the TSA.

The TSA will remain in effect until June 30, 2014 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the TSA. The TSA may be
terminated (1) immediately by CatchMark Timber Trust or Wells REF for causes, as defined in the TSA, or (2) by CatchMark Timber Trust or
Wells REF upon 60 days� written notice for any reason. Following the termination of the TSA, Wells REF will not be entitled to continue to
receive the Consulting Fee; provided, however, that (1) Wells REF will be entitled to receive from CatchMark Timber Trust within 30 days after
the termination date all unpaid reimbursements of expenses and all earned but unpaid Consulting Fees payable to Wells REF prior to the
termination date, and (2) if CatchMark Timber Trust terminates the TSA without cause prior to June 30, 2014, Wells REF will be entitled to
receive the Consulting Fee through June 30, 2014.

Sublease Agreement

Pursuant to the Master Agreement, Wells REF and CatchMark Timber OP entered into the Sublease Agreement (the �Sublease�) on October 25,
2013, pursuant to which CatchMark Timber OP sublet from Wells REF a portion of the office space used and occupied by Wells REF. The term
of the Sublease commenced on October 25, 2013 and terminated on March 31, 2014. CatchMark Timber OP paid Wells REF a monthly rent of
$5,961 pursuant to the Sublease, while no rent was payable for October, November and December 2013.

Indemnification Agreements

On September 18, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into indemnification agreements, effective as of September 18, 2013, with each of
CatchMark Timber Trust�s then-current directors and executive officers and Jerry Barag and John F. Rasor (collectively, the �Indemnitees�).
Pursuant to the indemnification agreements, CatchMark Timber Trust will indemnify each Indemnitee to the maximum extent permitted by
Maryland law against any judgments, damages, liabilities, losses or expenses incurred by such Indemnitee by reason of such Indemnitee�s status
as a present or former director, officer, employee or agent of CatchMark Timber Trust.
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Related-Party Costs

Pursuant to the terms of the agreements described above, CatchMark Timber Trust incurred the following related-party costs for the three
months ended March 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively:

2014 2013
Advisor fees and expense reimbursements $ � $ 745,242
Consulting fees 68,625 �
Office rent 17,883 �

Total $ 86,508 $ 745,242

All the related-party costs were included in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

11. Subsequent Events

On April 11, 2014, CatchMark Timber Trust completed its purchase of approximately 36,300 acres of timberland located in Southeast Georgia
and East Texas, known as the Waycross-Panola Properties, for approximately $74.0 million, exclusive of closing costs. Including the
Waycross-Panola Properties, CatchMark Timber Trust owns interests in approximately 313,700 acres of timberlands in Georgia, Alabama, and
Texas; 283,700 acres of which are held in fee-simple interests and 30,000 acres are held in leasehold interests.

Also on April 11, 2014, CatchMark Timber Trust borrowed $76.0 million under its Multi-Draw Term Facility to fund the acquisition of the
Waycross-Panola Properties and associated expenses.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of

CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. and subsidiaries (the �Company�) as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders� equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company�s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company�s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of CatchMark Timber Trust,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Atlanta, Georgia

March 12, 2014
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

December 31,
2013 2012

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,613,907 $ 11,221,092
Restricted cash and cash equivalents � 2,050,063
Accounts receivable 593,546 658,355
Prepaid expenses and other assets 2,506,470 1,098,268
Deferred financing costs, less accumulated amortization of $9,633 and $58,626 as of December 31,
2013 and 2012, respectively 1,483,547 1,311,770
Timber assets, at cost (Note 3):
Timber and timberlands, net 325,726,398 333,805,295
Intangible lease assets, less accumulated amortization of $927,451 and $841,686 as of
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 29,634 115,399

Total assets $ 338,953,502 $ 350,260,242

Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 3,127,857 $ 1,689,288
Due to affiliates (Note 12) � 1,326,255
Other liabilities 3,734,193 4,801,387
Note payable and line of credit (Note 4) 52,160,000 132,356,123

Total liabilities 59,022,050 140,173,053
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 6) � �
Stockholders� Equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized:
Series A preferred stock, $1,000 liquidation preference; 0 and 27,585 shares issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively � 36,476,063
Series B preferred stock, $1,000 liquidation preference; 0 and 9,807 shares issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively � 12,123,992
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value; 889,500,000 shares authorized; 13,900,382 and 3,180,063
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 139,004 31,801
Class B-1 common stock, $0.01 par value; 3,500,000 shares authorized; 3,164,483 and 3,180,063
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 31,645 31,801
Class B-2 common stock, $0.01 par value; 3,500,000 shares authorized; 3,164,483 and 3,180,063
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 31,645 31,801
Class B-3 common stock, $0.01 par value; 3,500,000 shares authorized; 3,164,483 and 3,180,062
shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively 31,644 31,800
Additional paid-in capital 432,117,205 301,538,949
Accumulated deficit and distributions (152,688,059) (139,491,344) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 268,368 (687,674) 

Total stockholders� equity 279,931,452 210,087,189

Total liabilities and stockholders� equity $ 338,953,502 $ 350,260,242

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Revenues:
Timber sales $ 26,703,375 $ 30,510,536 $ 35,533,916
Timberland sales 2,498,757 10,972,440 1,740,586
Other revenues 2,845,458 2,716,803 2,743,325

32,047,590 44,199,779 40,017,827
Expenses:
Contract logging and hauling costs 13,606,299 15,798,776 20,098,781
Depletion 8,505,024 11,677,229 11,759,282
Cost of timberland sales 1,754,242 7,849,652 1,332,775
Advisor fees and expense reimbursements 3,561,608 3,720,000 3,324,154
Forestry management expenses 2,769,162 2,271,201 2,576,562
General and administrative expenses 6,638,851 2,205,143 2,127,940
Land rent expense 1,043,157 1,575,443 2,217,313
Other operating expenses 2,771,562 2,801,934 2,653,225

40,649,905 47,899,378 46,090,032

Operating loss (8,602,315) (3,699,599) (6,072,205) 
Other income (expense):
Interest income 3,247 1,638 2,287
Interest expense (4,704,673) (5,049,255) (5,435,948) 
Gain (loss) on interest rate swap 106,821 (123,516) (439,497) 

(4,594,605) (5,171,133) (5,873,158) 

Net loss (13,196,920) (8,870,732) (11,945,363) 
Dividends to preferred stockholder (359,784) (373,992) (1,556,675) 

Net loss available to common stockholders $ (13,556,704) $ (9,244,724) $ (13,502,038) 

Per-share information�basic and diluted:
Net loss available to common stockholders $ (1.03) $ (0.73) $ (1.18) 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding�basic and diluted 13,145,779 12,741,822 11,395,632

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Net loss $ (13,196,920) $ (8,870,732) $ (11,945,363) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Market value adjustment to interest rate swap 956,042 (687,674) �

Comprehensive loss $ (12,240,878) $ (9,558,406) $ (11,945,363) 

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS� EQUITY

Class A
Common Stock

Class B
Common Stock Preferred Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit and

Distributions

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)

Total
Stockholders�

EquityShares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Balance,
December 31,
2010 2,549,872 $ 25,499 7,649,616 $ 76,496 43,628 $ 54,648,732 $ 219,235,316 $ (113,326,358) $                   � $ 160,659,685
Issuance of
common stock 550,153 5,502 1,650,459 16,505 54,974,950 54,996,957
Issuance of
stock dividends 55,763 558 167,290 1,673 5,346,820 (5,348,830) 221
Redemptions of
common stock (9,261) (93) (27,782) (278) (892,530) (892,901) 
Dividends on
preferred stock � 1,556,675 (1,556,675) �
Redemptions of
preferred stock (5,880) (7,519,908) � (7,519,908) 
Commissions
and discounts
on stock sales
and related
dealer-manager
fees (4,836,283) (4,836,283) 
Other offering
costs (654,136) (654,136) 
Net loss (11,945,363) (11,945,363) 

Balance,
December 31,
2011 3,146,527 $ 31,466 9,439,583 $ 94,396 37,748 48,685,499 271,617,462 (130,620,551) � 189,808,272
Issuance of
common stock 41,445 414 124,331 1,243 4,133,145 (61) 4,134,741
Redemptions of
common stock (7,909) (79) (23,726) (237) (742,799) (743,115) 
Dividends on
preferred stock 373,992 (373,992) �
Redemptions of
preferred stock (356) (459,436) (459,436) 
Commissions
and discounts
on stock sales
and related
dealer-manager
fees (361,364) (361,364) 
Other offering
costs (48,752) (48,752) 
Write-off of due
to affiliates 27,315,249 27,315,249
Net loss (8,870,732) (8,870,732) 
Market value
adjustment to
interest rate
swap (687,674) (687,674) 
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Balance,
December 31,
2012 3,180,063 31,801 9,540,188 95,402 37,392 48,600,055 301,538,949 (139,491,344) (687,674) $ 210,087,189
Issuance of
common stock
pursuant to:
Initial Public
Offering 10,526,316 105,263 � � 142,000,003 142,105,266
Restricted
stock grants,
net of amounts
withheld for
income taxes 191,561 1,916 900 9 1,210,057 1,211,982
Forfeiture of
restricted stock
award (202) (2) (606) (6) (197) 205 �
Fractional
share
conversion 17,662 176 (17,662) (176) � �
Redemptions
of common
stock (15,018) (150) (29,371) (295) (680,050) (680,495) 
Stock issuance
cost (11,591,773) (11,591,773) 
Dividends on
preferred stock 359,784 (359,784) �
Redemptions
of preferred
stock (37,392) (48,959,839) � (48,959,839) 
Net loss (13,196,920) (13,196,920) 
Market value
adjustment to
interest rate
swap 956,042 956,042

Balance,
December 31,
2013 13,900,382 $ 139,004 9,493,449 $ 94,934 � $ � $ 432,117,205 $ (152,688,059) $ 268,368 $ 279,931,452

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2013 2012 2011

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net loss $ (13,196,920) $ (8,870,732) $ (11,945,363) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash from operating activities:
Depletion 8,505,024 11,677,229 11,759,282
Basis of timberland sold 1,569,543 7,187,733 1,172,241
Noncash interest expense 1,331,664 1,731,310 468,157
Stock-based compensation expense 1,838,082 28,333 21,667
Other amortization 155,571 275,929 216,700
Unrealized gain on interest rate swaps (128,934) (847,743) (531,512) 
Basis of casualty loss � 25,541 91,061
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 64,809 (13,733) 207,605
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets (1,143,942) (580,259) 127,700
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,394,706 (228,993) (756,676) 
(Decrease) increase in due to affiliates (1,326,255) (153,941) 3,103,841
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities (135,161) 1,195,196 637,428

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (1,071,813) 11,425,870 4,572,131
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures (excluding timberland acquisitions) (444,003) (530,739) (1,626,550) 
Timberland acquisitions (1,742,528) (22,523,863) �
Funds released from escrow accounts 2,050,063 4,712,183 1,090,517

Net cash used in investing activities (136,468) (18,342,419) (536,033) 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from CoBank loan � 133,000,000 �
Financing costs paid (1,493,705) (1,370,396) (273,788) 
Repayment of Mahrt loan � (122,025,672) (46,814,920) 
Repayment of CoBank loan (80,196,123) (643,877) �
Issuance of common stock 142,105,266 4,062,647 54,511,310
Share repurchase (582,235) � �
Redemptions of common stock (680,495) (743,115) (892,901) 
Redemptions of preferred stock (37,392,000) (356,000) (5,880,000) 
Dividends paid on preferred stock redeemed (11,567,839) (103,436) (1,639,908) 
Commissions on stock sales and related dealer-manager fees paid � (447,744) (4,266,801) 
Other offering costs paid (11,591,773) (83,739) (625,820) 
Placement and structuring agent fees paid � � (93,264) 

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (1,398,904) 11,288,668 (5,976,092) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (2,607,185) 4,372,119 (1,939,994) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 11,221,092 6,848,973 8,788,967

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 8,613,907 $ 11,221,092 $ 6,848,973

See accompanying notes.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DECEMBER 31, 2013, 2012, AND 2011

1. Organization

On September 18, 2013, Wells Timberland REIT, Inc. changed its name to CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. (�CatchMark Timber Trust�).
CatchMark Timber Trust primarily engages in the ownership, management, acquisition, and disposition of timberlands located in the
southeastern United States and has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (�REIT�) for federal income tax purposes. CatchMark
Timber Trust was incorporated in Maryland in 2005 and commenced operations in 2007. CatchMark Timber Trust conducts substantially all of
its business through CatchMark Timber Operating Partnership, L.P. (�CatchMark Timber OP�), a Delaware limited partnership formerly known as
Wells Timberland Operating Partnership, L.P. CatchMark Timber Trust is the general partner of CatchMark Timber OP, possesses full legal
control and authority over its operations, and owns 99.99% of its common partnership units. CatchMark LP Holder, LLC (�CatchMark LP
Holder�), a recently formed, wholly-owned subsidiary of CatchMark Timber Trust is the sole limited partner of CatchMark Timber OP (see Note
7�Noncontrolling Interest and Special Units for more information). In addition, CatchMark Timber TRS, Inc. (�CatchMark TRS�), a Delaware
corporation formerly known as Wells Timberland TRS, Inc., was formed as a wholly owned subsidiary of CatchMark Timber OP on January 1,
2006. Unless otherwise noted, references herein to CatchMark Timber Trust shall include CatchMark Timber Trust and all of its subsidiaries,
including CatchMark Timber OP, and the subsidiaries of CatchMark Timber OP, including CatchMark TRS.

CatchMark Timber Trust previously operated as an externally advised REIT pursuant to an advisory agreement, as amended and restated (the
�Advisory Agreement�), under which Wells Timberland Management Organization, LLC (�Wells TIMO�), a wholly owned subsidiary of Wells
Capital, Inc. (�Wells Capital�), performed certain key functions on behalf of CatchMark Timber Trust, including, among others, managing the
day-to-day operations, investing capital proceeds and arranging financing. On September 18, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust and CatchMark
Timber OP entered into a Master Self-Management Transition Agreement (the �Master Agreement�), along with a series of other agreements and
transactions, with Wells REF and Wells TIMO (together with their respective affiliates, �Wells�), pursuant to which CatchMark Timber Trust
began its transition to a self-managed company. On October 24, 2013, the Master Agreement was amended (the �Master Agreement Amendment�)
to advance the date of the transition to October 25, 2013 (the �Self-Management Transition Date�), and CatchMark Timber Trust completed its
transition to self-management on that date. For additional details about the related agreements, please refer to Note 12�Related Party
Transactions and Agreements.

As of December 31, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust owned approximately 247,200 acres of timberland and held long-term leasehold interests in
approximately 30,900 acres of additional timberland, all of which is located on the Lower Piedmont and Upper Coastal Plains of East Central
Alabama and West Central Georgia (the �Mahrt Timberland�). CatchMark Timber Trust generates recurring income and cash flow from the
harvest and sale of timber, as well as from non-timber related revenue sources, such as recreational leases. CatchMark Timber Trust also
periodically generates income and cash flow from the sale of timberland properties that have a higher-value use beyond growing timber, such as
properties that can be sold for development, conservation, recreational or other rural purposes at prices in excess of traditional timberland values.
CatchMark Timber Trust expects to realize additional long-term returns from the potential appreciation in value of its timberlands as well as
from the potential biological growth of its standing timber inventory in excess of its timber harvest.
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From August 2006 to December 2011, CatchMark Timber Trust raised proceeds from two continuous non-listed public offerings of its common
stock (the �Public Offerings�). From February 2010 to August 2011, CatchMark Timber Trust offered its common stock to non-U.S. persons (the
�2010 German Offering�). CatchMark Timber Trust raised gross offering proceeds from the sale of common stock in the Public Offerings and the
2010 German Offering of approximately $307.2 million. After deductions for payments of selling commissions and dealer-manager fees of
approximately $24.7 million, other organization and offering expenses of approximately $1.4 million, approximately $0.4 million in placement
and structuring agent fees, and common stock redemptions of approximately $2.6 million under the share redemption plan, as amended (the
�SRP�), CatchMark Timber Trust received aggregate net offering proceeds of approximately $278.1 million, which was used to partially fund the
acquisition of timberlands, service acquisition-related debt, redeem shares of its preferred stock, and fund accrued dividends on redeemed shares
of preferred stock.

In connection with the execution of the Master Agreement, CatchMark Timber Trust�s distribution reinvestment plan (�DRP�) was terminated
effective as of September 18, 2013, and its share redemption plan was terminated effective as of October 31, 2013.

On October 24, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust effected a ten-to-one reverse stock split of its then outstanding common stock. Also on
October 24, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust redesignated all of its common stock as Class A common stock. On October 25, 2013, CatchMark
Timber Trust paid a stock dividend pursuant to which each outstanding share of its Class A common stock on October 24, 2013, after
effectiveness of the reverse stock split, received one share of Class B-1 common stock; plus one share of Class B-2 common stock; plus one
share of Class B-3 common stock. These transactions are referred to as the Recapitalization. All common stock share and per share data included
in these consolidated financial statements give retroactive effect to the Recapitalization. See Note 8�Stockholders� Equity for more information on
the Recapitalization.

On September 23, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust filed a Registration Statement on Form S-11 with the SEC for a public offering of up to
$172.5 million of its Class A common stock. On December 12, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust listed its Class A common stock on the New
York Stock Exchange (the �NYSE�) under the ticker symbol �CTT�. CatchMark Timber Trust completed its listed public offering on December 17,
2013, selling 10.5 million shares and received gross proceeds of approximately $142.1 million (the �IPO�). After deducting underwriter discounts
and commissions of $9.9 million and direct IPO costs of $1.6 million, approximately $80.2 million of the net proceeds were used to repay its
outstanding loan balance, $49.0 million were used to redeem the outstanding shares of our Series A and B preferred stock and the accrued but
unpaid dividend held by Wells REF.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements of CatchMark Timber Trust have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (�GAAP�) and shall include the accounts of any variable interest entity (�VIE�) in which the Company or its
subsidiaries is deemed the primary beneficiary. With respect to entities that are not VIEs, CatchMark Timber Trust�s consolidated financial
statements shall also include the accounts of any entity in which CatchMark Timber Trust or its subsidiaries owns a controlling financial interest
and any limited partnership in which CatchMark Timber Trust or its subsidiaries owns a controlling general partnership interest. In determining
whether a controlling interest exists, CatchMark Timber Trust considers, among other factors, the ownership of voting interests, protective
rights, and participatory rights of the investors.
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CatchMark Timber Trust owns a controlling financial interest in CatchMark Timber OP, CatchMark LP Holder and CatchMark TRS and,
accordingly, includes the accounts of these entities in its consolidated financial statements. The financial statements of CatchMark Timber OP,
CatchMark LP Holder and CatchMark TRS are prepared using accounting policies consistent with those used by CatchMark Timber Trust. All
intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair Value Measurements

CatchMark Timber Trust estimates the fair value of its assets and liabilities (where currently required under GAAP) consistent with the
provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures. Under this guidance, fair value is defined as the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. While various techniques and assumptions can be used to estimate fair value depending on the nature of the asset or liability, the
accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures provides the following fair value technique parameters and hierarchy,
depending upon availability:

Level 1�Assets or liabilities for which the identical term is traded on an active exchange, such as publicly-traded instruments or futures contracts.

Level 2�Assets and liabilities valued based on observable market data for similar instruments.

Level 3�Assets or liabilities for which significant valuation assumptions are not readily observable in the market. Such assets or liabilities are
valued based on the best available data, some of which may be internally developed. Significant assumptions may include risk premiums that a
market participant would require.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

CatchMark Timber Trust considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents may include cash and short-term investments. Short-term investments are stated at cost, which approximates fair
value and may consist of investments in money market accounts.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

As of December 31, 2012, approximately $2.1 million of CatchMark Timber Trust�s cash and cash equivalents were restricted by the terms of its
credit agreements. These restrictions had been lifted as of December 31, 2013.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the original amount earned, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, which approximates fair value.
Accounts receivable are deemed past due based on their
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respective payment terms. Management assesses the realizability of accounts receivable on an ongoing basis and provides for allowances as such
balances, or portions thereof, become uncollectible. As of December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, no allowances have been provided against
accounts receivable.

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets are primarily comprised of prepaid rent, prepaid insurance, and prepaid operating costs. Prepaid expenses are
expensed as incurred or reclassified to other asset accounts upon being put into service in future periods. Balances without future economic
benefit are written off as they are identified.

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs are comprised of costs incurred in connection with securing financing from third-party lenders and are capitalized and
amortized on a straight-line basis (which approximates the effective interest rate method) over the terms of the related financing arrangements.
CatchMark Timber Trust recognized amortization of deferred financing costs for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 of
approximately $1.3 million, $1.7 million, and $0.5 million, respectively, which is included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations.

Timber Assets

Timber and timberlands, including logging roads, are stated at cost less accumulated depletion for timber harvested and accumulated road
amortization. CatchMark Timber Trust capitalizes timber and timberland purchases. Reforestation costs, including all costs associated with stand
establishment, such as site preparation, cost of seedlings, fertilization, and herbicide application, are capitalized and amortized over their
estimated useful lives. Timber carrying costs, such as real estate taxes, insect control, wildlife control, leases of timberlands, and forestry
management personnel salaries and fringe benefits, are expensed as incurred. Costs of major roads are capitalized and amortized over their
estimated useful lives. Costs of roads built to access multiple logging sites over numerous years are capitalized and amortized over seven years.
Costs of roads built to access a single logging site are expensed as incurred.

Depletion

Depletion, or costs attributed to timber harvested, is charged against income as trees are harvested. Fee-simple timber tracts owned longer than
one year and similarly managed are pooled together for depletion calculation purposes. Depletion rates are determined at least annually by
dividing (a) the sum of (i) net carrying value of the timber, which equals the original cost of the timber less previously recorded depletion, and
(ii) capitalized silviculture costs incurred and the projected silviculture costs, net of inflation, to be capitalized over the harvest cycle, by (b) the
total timber volume estimated to be available over the harvest cycle. The harvest cycle for the Mahrt Timberland is 30 years. The capitalized
silviculture cost is limited to the expenditures that relate to establishing stands of timber. For each fee timber tract owned less than one year,
depletion rates are generally determined by dividing the acquisition cost attributable to its timber by the volume of timber acquired. Depletion
rates for leased timber tracts, which are generally limited to one harvest, are calculated by dividing the acquisition cost attributable to its timber
by the volume of timber acquired. Net carrying value of the timber and timberlands is used to compute the gain or loss in connection with
timberland sales. No book basis is allocated to the sale of conservation easements.
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Evaluating the Recoverability of Timber Assets

CatchMark Timber Trust continually monitors events and changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amounts of the timber
assets in which CatchMark Timber Trust has an ownership interest may not be recoverable. When indicators of potential impairment are present
that suggest that the carrying amounts of timber assets may not be recoverable, CatchMark Timber Trust assesses the recoverability of these
assets by determining whether the carrying value will be recovered through the undiscounted future operating cash flows expected from the use
of the asset and its eventual disposition. Impairment losses would be recognized for (i) long-lived assets used in CatchMark Timber Trust�s
operations when the carrying value of such assets exceeds the undiscounted cash flows estimated to be generated from the future operations of
those assets, and (ii) long-lived assets held for sale when the carrying value of such assets exceeds an amount equal to their fair value less selling
costs. Estimated fair values are calculated based on the following information in order of preference, dependent upon availability: (i) recently
quoted market prices, (ii) market prices for comparable properties, or (iii) the present value of undiscounted cash flows, including estimated
salvage value. CatchMark Timber Trust intends to use one harvest cycle for the purpose of evaluating the recoverability of timber and
timberlands used in its operations. Future cash flow estimates are based on discounted probability-weighted projections for a range of possible
outcomes. CatchMark Timber Trust considers assets to be held for sale at the point at which a sale contract is executed and the buyer has made a
non-refundable earnest money deposit against the contracted purchase price. CatchMark Timber Trust has determined that there has been no
impairment of its long-lived assets to date.

Allocation of Purchase Price of Acquired Assets

Upon the acquisition of timberland properties, CatchMark Timber Trust allocates the purchase price to tangible assets, consisting of timberland
and timber, and identified intangible assets and liabilities, which may include values associated with in-place leases or supply agreements, based
in each case on management�s estimate of their fair values. The fair values of timberland and timber are determined based on available market
information and estimated cash flow projections that utilize appropriate discount factors and capitalization rates. Estimates of future cash flows
are based on a number of factors including the historical operating results, known and anticipated trends, and market and economic conditions.
The values are then allocated to timberland and timber based on management�s determination of the relative fair value of these assets.

Intangible Lease Assets

In-place ground leases with CatchMark Timber Trust as the lessee have value associated with effective contractual rental rates that are below
market rates. Such values are calculated based on the present value (using a discount rate that reflects the risks associated with the leases
acquired) of the difference between (i) the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place lease and (ii) management�s estimate of fair
market lease rates for the corresponding in-place lease, measured over a period equal to the remaining terms of the leases. The capitalized
below-market in-place lease values are recorded as intangible lease assets and are amortized as adjustments to land rent expense over the
weighted-average remaining term of the respective leases.

Fair Value of Debt Instruments

CatchMark Timber Trust applied the provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures in estimations of fair
value of its debt instruments based on Level 2 assumptions. The fair value of the outstanding note payable was estimated based on discounted
cash flow analysis using the current observable market borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing
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arrangements as of the measurement date. The discounted cash flow method of assessing fair value results in a general approximation of book
value, and such value may never actually be realized.

Preferred Stock

The proceeds from issued and outstanding shares of preferred stock and dividends payable on preferred stock were recorded as preferred stock.
See Note 8 � Stockholders� Equity.

Common Stock

The par value of CatchMark Timber Trust�s issued and outstanding shares of common stock is recorded as common stock. The remaining gross
proceeds, net of offering costs, are recorded as additional paid-in capital.

Stock Dividends

Stock dividends are assigned a value based on share offering prices under CatchMark Timber Trust�s respective offerings and recorded within
accumulated deficit and distributions. The par value of a stock dividend declared and issued is recorded as common stock and the remaining
value is recorded as additional paid-in capital. The par value of a stock dividend declared but not issued is recorded as other liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the remaining value is recorded as additional paid-in capital. Basic and diluted per-share
information presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations is retroactively adjusted for all periods presented to reflect the
impact of the additional shares of common stock issued and outstanding as a result of a stock dividend.

Interest Rate Swaps

CatchMark Timber Trust has entered into interest rate swap contracts to mitigate its exposure to changing interest rates on variable rate debt
instruments. CatchMark Timber Trust does not enter into derivative or interest rate transactions for speculative purposes; however, certain of its
derivatives may not qualify for hedge accounting treatment. The fair values of interest rate swaps are recorded as either prepaid expenses and
other assets or other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Changes in the fair value of the effective portion of interest rate
swaps that are designated as hedges are recorded as other comprehensive income (loss), while changes in the fair value of the ineffective portion
of hedges, if any, are recognized in current earnings. Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps that do not qualify for hedge accounting
treatment are recorded as gain (loss) on interest rate swap in the consolidated statements of operations. Amounts received or paid under interest
rate swaps are recorded as interest expense for contracts that qualify for hedge accounting treatment and as gain (loss) on interest rate swaps for
contracts that do not qualify for hedge accounting treatment.

CatchMark Timber Trust applied the provisions of the accounting standard for fair value measurements and disclosures in recording its interest
rate swaps at fair value. The fair values of interest rate swaps, classified under Level 2, were determined using a third-party proprietary model
that is based on prevailing market data for contracts with matching durations, current and anticipated London Interbank Offered Rate (�LIBOR�)
information, consideration of CatchMark Timber Trust�s credit standing, credit risk of counterparties, and reasonable estimates about relevant
future market conditions.
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The following table presents information about CatchMark Timber Trust�s interest rate swaps measured at fair value as of December 31, 2013
and 2012:

    Estimated Fair Value as of    
Instrument Type Balance Sheet Classification 12/31/13 12/31/12
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate swap contract Prepaid expenses and other

assets

(Other liabilities) $ 268,368 $ (687,674) 
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:
Interest rate swap contract Other liabilities $ � $ (128,934) 
For additional information about CatchMark Timber Trust�s interest rate swaps, see Note 5�Interest Rate Swaps.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue from the sale of timber is recognized when the following criteria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an agreement exists, (ii) legal
ownership and the risk of loss are transferred to the purchaser, (iii) price and quantity are determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonably
assured. CatchMark Timber Trust�s primary sources of revenue are recognized as follows:

(1) For delivered sales contracts, which include amounts sufficient to cover costs of logging and hauling of timber,
revenues are recognized upon delivery to the customer.

(2) For pay-as-cut contracts, the purchaser acquires the right to harvest specified timber on a tract, at an agreed-upon price per
unit. Payments and contract advances are recognized as revenue as the timber is harvested based on the contracted sale rate
per unit.

(3) Revenues from the sale of HBU and nonstrategic timberlands are recognized when title passes and full payment or a
minimum down payment is received and full collectability is assured. If a down payment of less than the minimum down
payment is received at closing, CatchMark Timber Trust will record revenue based on the installment method.

(4) For recreational leases, rental income collected in advance is recorded as other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets until earned over the term of the respective recreational lease and recognized as other revenue.

In addition to the sources of revenue noted above, CatchMark Timber Trust also may enter into lump-sum sale contracts, whereby the purchaser
generally pays the purchase price upon execution of the contract. Title to the timber and risk of loss transfers to the buyer at the time the contract
is consummated. Revenues are recognized upon receipt of the purchase price. When the contract expires, ownership of the remaining standing
timber reverts to CatchMark Timber Trust; however, adjustments are not made to the revenues previously recognized. Any extensions of time
will be negotiated under a new or amended contract.

Stock-based Compensation

CatchMark Timber Trust has issued stock-based compensation in the form of stock options and restricted stocks to its directors and employees
pursuant to its Long-term Incentive Plan.
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Restricted stock awards issued are considered equity awards and are recorded as a reduction to additional paid-in capital upon issuance. The fair
value of stock options and restricted stock is recognized over the respective weighted-average vesting periods by charging expenses and
recording additional paid-in capital. For those awards with performance conditions, expense is only recorded if it is deemed probable that the
performance condition will be achieved. Compensation expense recognized is recorded as forestry operating expenses for those employees
whose job is related to forest operation and as general and administrative expense for all other employees and directors in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. See Note 9 for a description of CatchMark Timber Trust�s Long-term Incentive Plan.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share available to common stockholders is calculated as net income (loss) available to common stockholders divided by
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Net income (loss) available to common stockholders is
calculated as net income (loss) less dividends payable to or accumulated to preferred stockholders. Diluted earnings (loss) per share available to
common stockholders equals basic earnings per share available to common stockholders, adjusted to reflect the dilution that would occur if all
outstanding securities convertible into common shares or contracts to issue common shares were converted or exercised and the related proceeds
are then used to repurchase common shares. Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share were the same for all periods presented as the dilutive
effect of outstanding securities was immaterial.

Income Taxes

CatchMark Timber Trust has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the �Code�), and has operated
as such beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2009. To qualify to be taxed as a REIT, CatchMark Timber Trust must meet certain
organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to distribute at least 90% of its ordinary taxable income to its stockholders.
As a REIT, CatchMark Timber Trust generally is not subject to federal income tax on taxable income it distributes to stockholders. CatchMark
Timber Trust is subject to certain state and local taxes related to the operations of timberland properties in certain locations, which have been
provided for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. CatchMark Timber Trust records interest and penalties related to uncertain
tax positions as general and administrative expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

CatchMark Timber Trust has elected to treat CatchMark Timber Trust TRS as a taxable REIT subsidiary. CatchMark Timber Trust may perform
certain non-customary services, including real estate or non-real-estate related services, through CatchMark Timber Trust TRS. Earnings from
services performed through CatchMark Timber Trust TRS are subject to federal and state income taxes irrespective of the dividends paid
deduction available to REITs for federal income tax purposes. In addition, for CatchMark Timber Trust to continue to qualify to be taxed as a
REIT, CatchMark Timber Trust�s investment in CatchMark Timber Trust TRS may not exceed 25% of the value of the total assets of CatchMark
Timber Trust.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities represent temporary differences between the financial reporting basis and the tax basis of assets and liabilities
based on the enacted rates expected to be in effect when the temporary differences reverse. Deferred tax expense or benefit is recognized in the
financial statements according to the changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities between years. Valuation allowances are established to reduce
deferred tax assets when it becomes more likely than not that such assets, or portions thereof, will not be realized.
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No provision for federal income taxes has been made in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, other than the provision relating to
CatchMark Timber Trust TRS, as CatchMark Timber Trust did not generate taxable income for the periods presented. See Note 13�Income Taxes
for more information.

Business Segments

CatchMark Timber Trust owns interests in approximately 278,100 acres of timberland located on the Lower Piedmont and Upper Coastal Plains
of East Central Alabama and West Central Georgia. CatchMark Timber Trust operates in a single reporting segment, and the presentation of
CatchMark Timber Trust�s financial condition and performance is consistent with the way in which CatchMark Timber Trust�s operations are
managed.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-02, Comprehensive Income:
Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (�ASU 2013-02�). ASU 2013-02 requires an entity to
disclose information about the amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by component. In addition, an entity is
required to disclose significant amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income by the respective line items of net income
if the amount reclassified to net income in its entirety in the same reporting period is required under GAAP. For amounts that are not required
under GAAP to be reclassified in their entirety to net income, an entity is required to cross-reference to other disclosures required under GAAP
that provide additional detail about those amounts. ASU 2013-02 was effective for CatchMark Timber Trust for the period beginning January 1,
2013. See impact of the adoption of ASU 2013-02 in Note 5�Interest Rate Swaps.

In July 2013, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-10, Derivatives and Hedging: Inclusion of the Fed Funds Effective Swap Rate
(or Overnight Index Swap Rate) as a Benchmark Interest Rate for Hedge Accounting Purposes (�ASU 2013-10�). ASU 2013-10 permits the Fed
Funds Effective Swap Rate (or Overnight Index Swap Rate) to be used as a U.S. benchmark interest rate for hedge accounting purposes under
the Derivatives and Hedging Topic, in addition to the U.S. Treasury rate and LIBOR. In addition, the restriction on using different benchmark
rates for similar hedges is removed. ASU 2013-10 became effective prospectively for CatchMark Timber Trust for qualifying new hedging
relationships entered into on or after July 17, 2013. The adoption of ASU 2013-10 has not had a material impact on CatchMark Timber Trust�s
financial statements or disclosures.

In July 2013, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-11, Income Taxes: Presentation of an Unrecognized Tax Benefit When a Net
Operating Loss Carryforward, a Similar Tax Loss, or a Tax Credit Carryforward Exists (�ASU 2013-11�). ASU 2013-11 requires an entity to
present an unrecognized tax benefit in the financial statements as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss carryforward, a
similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward. To the extent a net operating loss carryforward, a similar tax loss, or a tax credit carryforward is not
available at the reporting date or not intended to be used to settle any additional income taxes that would result in the dis-allowance of a tax
position in which case the unrecognized tax benefit should be presented in the financial statements as a liability and should not be combined
with deferred tax assets. ASU 2013-11 will be effective prospectively for CatchMark Timber Trust for the period beginning on January 1, 2014.
CatchMark Timber Trust expects that the adoption of ASU 2013-11 will not have a material impact on its financial statements or disclosures.
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3. Timber Assets

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, timber and timberlands consisted of the following, respectively:

As of December 31, 2013

Gross

Accumulated

Depletion or
Amortization Net

Timber $ 149,859,173 $ 8,505,024 $ 141,354,149
Timberlands 184,114,333 � 184,114,333
Mainline roads 498,237 240,321 257,916

Timber and timberlands $ 334,471,743 $ 8,745,345 $ 325,726,398

As of December 31, 2012

Gross

Accumulated

Depletion or
Amortization Net

Timber $ 161,878,914 $ 11,677,229 $ 150,201,685
Timberlands 183,349,545 � 183,349,545
Mainline roads 428,688 174,623 254,065

Timber and timberlands $ 345,657,147 $ 11,851,852 $ 333,805,295

Timberland Acquisition

During the year ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, CatchMark Timber Trust acquired 1,786 acres, 30,199 acres, and 1,397 acres of
timberland, respectively, for approximately $1.4 million, $20.5 million, and $1.0 million, respectively, excluding closing costs.

Timberland Sales

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, CatchMark Timber Trust sold approximately 1,167 acres, 6,020 acres, and 1,130
acres of timberland, respectively, for approximately $2.5 million and $11.0 million, and $1.7 million, respectively. CatchMark Timber Trust�s
cost basis in the timberland sold was approximately $1.6 million, $7.2 million, and $1.2 million respectively.

Intangible Lease Assets

Upon the acquisition of Mahrt Timberland, CatchMark Timber Trust allocated the purchase price to tangible assets, consisting of timberland and
timber, and intangible assets, consisting of below-market in-place ground leases for which CatchMark Timber Trust is the lessee. The capitalized
below-market in-place lease values are recorded as intangible lease assets and are amortized as adjustments to land rent expense over the
weighted-average remaining term of the respective leases. CatchMark Timber Trust had net below-market lease assets of approximately $0.03
million and $0.1 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and recognized amortization of this asset of approximately $0.1
million, $0.2 million, and $0.2 million in 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively.
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As of December 31, 2013, below-market lease assets will be amortized as follows:

For the years ending December 31,
2014 $ 3,521
2015 3,521
2016 3,521
2017 3,521
2018 3,521
Thereafter 12,029

$ 29,634

As of December 31, 2013, the remaining weighted-average amortization period over which below-market lease assets will be amortized is 3
years.

4. Note Payable and Line of Credit

CoBank Loan

CatchMark Timber Trust entered into a senior credit agreement with a syndicate of banks with CoBank, ACB (�CoBank�) serving as the
administrative agent on September 28, 2012. Under the CoBank Loan, CatchMark Timber Trust borrowed $133.0 million through a term loan
facility (�CoBank Term Loan�) and had access to a $15.0 million revolving credit facility (the �CoBank Revolver�). Proceeds from the CoBank
Term Loan were used to pay off the outstanding balance of the Mahrt loan, fund costs associated with closing the CoBank Loan, and partially
fund a timberland acquisition. No amount was drawn under the CoBank Revolver.

The CoBank Loan bore interest at an adjustable rate based on one-month LIBOR plus an applicable margin ranging from 2.00% to 2.75% (the
�LIBOR Rate�), based on the loan-to-collateral-value ratio (the �LTV Ratio�). The LTV Ratio is expressed as a percentage, of (a) the outstanding
principal amount of all loans outstanding, less certain amounts permitted to be set aside under the terms of the CoBank Loan, for working capital
and other purposes and any cash balances accumulated to fund distributions or future acquisitions, to (b) the value of the timberland assets, as
determined in accordance with the CoBank Loan.

On December 19, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust paid down the CoBank Loan by $80.2 million using proceeds from its IPO.

Amended CoBank Loan

On December 19, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into a third amended and restated credit agreement (the �Amended CoBank Loan�) with
CoBank, Agfirst Farm Credit Bank, (�Agfirst�), Cooperatieve Centrale Raiffelsen-Boerenleenbank, B.A. (�RaboBank�), and certain other financial
institutions. The Amended CoBank Loan amended and restated the CoBank Loan in its entirety.

The Amended CoBank Loan provides for borrowing under credit facilities consisting of:

� a $15.0 million revolving credit facility (the �Revolving Credit Facility�),

� a $150.0 million multi-draw term credit facility (the �Multi-Draw Term Facility�), and

F-37

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Index to Financial Statements 173



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

� the remaining amount outstanding under the CoBank Term Loan (the �Term Loan Facility�, and together with the Revolving Credit
Facility and the Multi-Draw Term Facility, the �New Credit Facilities�), which is $52.2 million.

The Amended CoBank Loan provides that the New Credit Facilities may be increased, upon the agreement of lenders willing to increase their
loans, by up to $75.0 million, consisting of up to a $10.0 million increase in the Revolving Credit Facility and the remainder available for
incremental term loans.

Borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility may be used for working capital, to support letters of credit and other general corporate
purposes, but may not be used for timber acquisitions. The Revolving Credit Facility will bear interest at an adjustable rate equal to a base rate
plus between 0.50% and 1.75% or a LIBOR rate plus between 1.50% and 2.75%, in each case depending on CatchMark Timber Trust�s LTV
Ratio, and will terminate and all amounts under the facility will be due and payable on December 19, 2018.

The Multi-Draw Credit Facility may be drawn upon up to five times during the period beginning on December 19, 2013 through December 19,
2016 and may be used to finance domestic timber acquisitions and associated expenses. Amounts repaid under the Multi-Draw Credit Facility
may be re-borrowed prior to the third anniversary of the closing date. The Multi-Draw Facility will bear interest at an adjustable rate equal to a
base rate plus between 0.75% and 2.00% or a LIBOR rate plus between 1.75% and 3.00%, in each case depending on the LTV Ratio, and will
terminate and all amounts under the facility will be due and payable on December 19, 2020. The Multi-Draw Credit Facility is interest only until
the maturity date; however, if the CatchMark Timber Trust�s LTV Ratio is equal to or in excess of 35%, then principal payments will be required
to be made beginning on December 31, 2016 at a per annum rate of 7.50% of the principal amount outstanding under the Multi-Draw Credit
Facility.

The Term Loan Facility will bear interest at an adjustable rate equal to a base rate plus between 0.50% and 1.75% or a LIBOR rate plus between
1.50% and 2.75%, in each case depending on the CatchMark Timber Trust�s LTV Ratio, and will terminate and all amounts under the facility
will be due and payable on December 19, 2018.

The Amended CoBank Loan is secured by a first mortgage in the CatchMark Timber Trust�s timberlands, a first priority security interest in all
bank accounts held by CatchMark Timber Trust and a first priority security interest on all other assets of CatchMark Timber Trust. In addition,
CatchMark Timber Trust� obligations under the Amended CoBank Loan are guaranteed by its subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2013, the
outstanding balance of the Amended CoBank Loan was $52.2 million, all of which was outstanding under the Term Loan Facility.

The Amended CoBank Loan contains, among others, the following financial covenants:

� limits the LTV Ratio to 45% at the end of each fiscal quarter and upon the sale or acquisition of any property;

� requires a minimum liquidity balance of $10.0 million until the date that CatchMark Timber Trust has achieved a fixed charge
coverage ratio of not less than 1.05:1.00; after such date CatchMark Timber Trust must maintain a fixed coverage charge ratio of not
less than 1.05:1.00.

CatchMark Timber Trust was in compliance with the financial covenants of the Amended CoBank Loan as of December 31, 2013.

F-38

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Index to Financial Statements 174



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

Interest Paid and Fair Value of Outstanding Debt

During the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, CatchMark Timber Trust made the following interest payments on its borrowings:

2013 2012 2011
Mahrt Loan $ � $ 2,533,285 $ 4,984,171
CoBank Loan 2,934,713 726,347 �
Amended CoBank Loan 91,918 � �

$ 3,026,631 $ 3,259,632 $ 4,984,171

As of December 31, 2013, and 2012, the weighted-average interest rate on these borrowings, after consideration of an interest rate swap (see
Note 5�Interest Rate Swaps), was 2.14% and 2.62%, respectively. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the fair value of CatchMark Timber Trust�s
outstanding debt approximated its book value. The fair value was estimated based on discounted cash flow analysis using the current market
borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements as of the measurement dates.

5. Interest Rate Swaps

Risk Management Objective of Using Derivatives

In addition to the operational risks which arise in the normal course of business, CatchMark Timber Trust is exposed to economic risks such as
interest rate, liquidity, and credit risks. CatchMark Timber Trust has entered into interest rate swap contracts in order to mitigate interest rate risk
exposure arising from its variable interest rate debts. CatchMark Timber Trust does not enter into derivative or interest rate contracts for
speculative purposes; however, CatchMark Timber Trust�s derivatives may not qualify for hedge accounting treatment.

Interest Rate Swap Designated as Hedging Instrument

As required by the terms of the CoBank Loan, on October 23, 2012, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into an interest rate swap agreement with
Rabobank to hedge its exposure to changing interest rates on $80.0 million of the CoBank Loan that is subject to a variable interest rate (the
�Rabobank Forward Swap�). The Rabobank Forward Swap became effective on March 28, 2013 and matures on September 30, 2017. Under the
terms of the Rabobank Forward Swap, CatchMark Timber Trust pays interest at a fixed rate of 0.9075% per annum to Rabobank and receives
one-month LIBOR-based interest payments from Rabobank. The Rabobank Forward Swap qualifies for hedge accounting treatment.

On December 19, 2013, in connection with entering into the Amended CoBank Loan, CatchMark Timber Trust unwound $47.0 million of the
notional amount of the Rabobank Forward Swap and received a cash payment from Rabobank of approximately $0.1 million as settlement. This
amount was reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income and recognized as realized gain on interest rate swap in current earnings
in the consolidated statements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust recognized a change in fair value of the Rabobank Forward Swap of
approximately $1.0 million as other comprehensive income. There was no hedge ineffectiveness on the Rabobank Forward Swap required to be
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recognized in current earnings. Net payments of approximately $0.4 million made under the Rabobank Forward Swap by CatchMark Timber
Trust during the year ended December 31, 2013 was recorded as interest expense.

Interest Rate Swap Not Designated as Hedging Instrument

On March 24, 2010, as required by the terms of its loan agreement, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into an interest rate swap agreement with
Rabobank to hedge its exposure to changing interest rates on a portion of its $211.0 million senior loan (the �Rabobank Interest Rate Swap�). The
Rabobank Interest Rate Swap was effective from September 30, 2010 to March 28, 2013. During the term of the Rabobank Interest Rate Swap,
CatchMark Timber Trust paid interest at a fixed rate of 2.085% per annum and received variable LIBOR-based interest payments from
Rabobank on the following notional amounts during the periods presented:

Start Date End Date Notional Amount
September 30, 2010 December 30, 2010 $52,500,000
December 30, 2010 March 30, 2011 $49,500,000
March 30, 2011 June 30, 2011 $46,500,000
June 30, 2011 September 30, 2011 $43,500,000
September 30, 2011 December 30, 2011 $67,500,000
December 30, 2011 March 30, 2012 $62,500,000
March 30, 2012 June 29, 2012 $57,500,000
June 29, 2012 September 28, 2012 $50,000,000
September 28, 2012 December 31, 2012 $37,500,000
December 31, 2012 March 28, 2013 $28,500,000

The detail of loss on the Rabobank Interest Rate Swap, which was recorded as loss on interest rate swaps in the accompanying consolidated
statements of operations, is provided below for the years ended December 31, 2013 , 2012 and 2011:

2013 2012 2011
Noncash gain on Rabobank Interest Rate Swap $ 128,934 $ 847,743 $ 531,512
Net payments on Rabobank Interest Rate Swap (129,408) (971,259) (971,009) 

Loss on Rabobank Interest Rate Swap $ (474) $ (123,516) $ (439,497) 

6. Commitments and Contingencies

MeadWestvaco Timber Agreements

In connection with the acquisition of its timberlands, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into a fiber supply agreement and a master stumpage
agreement (collectively, the �Timber Agreements�) with a wholly owned subsidiary of MeadWestvaco Corporation (�MeadWestvaco�). The fiber
supply agreement provides that MeadWestvaco will purchase specified tonnage of timber from CatchMark TRS at specified prices per ton,
depending upon the type of timber. The fiber supply agreement is subject to quarterly market pricing adjustments based on an index published
by
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Timber Mart-South, a quarterly trade publication that reports raw forest product prices in 11 southern states. The master stumpage agreement
provides that CatchMark Timber Trust will sell specified amounts of timber and make available certain portions of its timberlands to CatchMark
TRS for harvesting. The initial term of the Timber Agreements is October 9, 2007 through December 31, 2032, subject to extension and early
termination provisions. The Timber Agreements ensure a long-term source of supply of wood fiber products for MeadWestvaco in order to meet
its paperboard and lumber production requirements at specified mills and provide CatchMark Timber Trust with a reliable customer for the
wood products from its timberlands. For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, approximately 60%, 54%, and 58%, respectively,
of our net timber sales revenue was derived from the Timber Agreements.

MeadWestvaco can terminate the timber agreements prior to the expiration of the initial term if we replace Forest Resource Consultants, Inc.
(�FRC�) as our forest manager without the prior written consent of MeadWestvaco, except pursuant to an internalization of our management
functions. We can terminate the Timber Agreements if MeadWestvaco (1) ceases to operate the Mahrt Mill for a period that exceeds 12
consecutive months, (2) fails to purchase a specified tonnage of timber for two consecutive years, subject to certain limited exceptions or
(3) fails to make payments when due (and fails to cure within 30 days). In addition, either party can terminate the timber agreements if the other
party commits a material breach (and fails to cure within 60 days) or becomes insolvent.

In addition, the timber agreements provide for adjustments to our and MeadWestvaco�s obligations in the event of a force majeure, which is
defined to include, among other things, lightning, fires, storms, floods, infestation and other acts of God or nature.

FRC Timberland Operating Agreement

CatchMark Timber Trust is party to a timberland operating agreement with Forest Resource Consultants, Inc. (�FRC�). Pursuant to the terms of the
timberland operating agreement, FRC manages and operates CatchMark Timber Trust�s timberlands and related timber operations, including
ensuring delivery of timber to MeadWestvaco in compliance with the Timber Agreements. In consideration for rendering the services described
in the timberland operating agreement, CatchMark Timber Trust pays FRC (i) a monthly management fee based on the actual acreage FRC
manages, which is payable monthly in advance, and (ii) an incentive fee based on net revenues generated by the timberlands. The incentive fee is
payable annually in arrears. The timberland operating agreement, as amended, is effective through December 31, 2014, with the option to extend
for one-year periods and may be terminated by either party with mutual consent or by CatchMark Timber Trust with or without cause upon
providing 120 days� prior written notice.

Obligations under Operating Leases

CatchMark Timber Trust owns leasehold interests related to the use of approximately 30,900 acres of timberland as of December 31, 2013.
These operating leases have expiration dates ranging from 2014 through 2022. Approximately 20,500 acres of these leased timberlands are
leased to CatchMark Timber Trust under one long-term lease that expires in May 2022 (the �LTC Lease�). The LTC Lease calls for four quarterly
rental payments totaling $3.10 per acre plus an annual adjustment rental payment based on the change in the Producer Price Index as published
by the U.S. Department of Labor�s Bureau of Labor Statistics from the LTC Lease�s base year of 1956. This annual rental payment adjustment
increased the per-acre lease rate to approximately $21.02 for

F-41

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Index to Financial Statements 177



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

2013, which is the rate used to calculate the following remaining required payments under the terms of the operating leases as of December 31,
2013:

2014 $ 771,738
2015 684,638
2016 657,125
2017 657,125
2018 657,125
Thereafter 2,208,500

$ 5,636,251

Litigation

From time to time, CatchMark Timber Trust may be a party to legal proceedings, claims, and administrative proceedings that arise in the
ordinary course of its business. Management makes assumptions and estimates concerning the likelihood and amount of any reasonably possible
loss relating to these matters using the latest information available. CatchMark Timber Trust records a liability for litigation if an unfavorable
outcome is probable and the amount of loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. If an unfavorable outcome is probable and a reasonable
estimate of the loss is a range, CatchMark Timber Trust accrues the best estimate within the range. If no amount within the range is a better
estimate than any other amount, CatchMark Timber Trust accrues the minimum amount within the range. If an unfavorable outcome is probable
but the amount of the loss cannot be reasonably estimated, CatchMark Timber Trust discloses the nature of the litigation and indicates that an
estimate of the loss or range of loss cannot be made. If an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible and the estimated loss is material,
CatchMark Timber Trust discloses the nature and estimate of the possible loss of the litigation. CatchMark Timber Trust does not disclose
information with respect to litigation where an unfavorable outcome is considered to be remote.

CatchMark Timber Trust is not currently involved in any legal proceedings of which the outcome is reasonably likely to have a material adverse
effect on the results of operations or financial condition of CatchMark Timber Trust. CatchMark Timber Trust is not aware of any legal
proceedings contemplated by governmental authorities.

7. Noncontrolling Interest and Special Units

As discussed in Note 1, CatchMark Timber Trust is the general partner of CatchMark Timber OP and owns 99.99% of its common partnership
units. Prior to CatchMark Timber Trust�s transition to a self-managed company, Wells TIMO was the sole limited partner of CatchMark Timber
OP, holding 200 common units representing approximately 0.01% of the partnership interests. Wells TIMO also held 100 special units of
CatchMark Timber OP.

Pursuant to the Master Agreement and upon the termination of the Advisory Agreement, on October 25, 2013, CatchMark LP Holder purchased
all of Wells TIMO�s common limited partnership units in CatchMark Timber OP for an aggregate purchase price of $1,312. Following the
acquisition of the common limited partnership units, CatchMark LP Holder entered into an amended and restated limited partnership agreement
with CatchMark Timber Trust (the �Amended Partnership Agreement�) pursuant to which CatchMark LP Holder became the sole limited partner
of CatchMark Timber OP. Limited partners holding common units representing limited partnership interests in CatchMark Timber OP have the
option to redeem such units after
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the units have been held for one year. Unless CatchMark Timber Trust exercises its right to purchase common units of CatchMark Timber OP
for shares of its common stock, CatchMark Timber OP would redeem such units with cash.

Also on October 25, 2013, the special limited partnership units held by Wells TIMO were redeemed by CatchMark Timber OP. Wells TIMO did
not receive any consideration in connection with the redemption of its special limited partnership units.

8. Stockholders� Equity

Under CatchMark Timber Trust�s charter, it has authority to issue a total of 1,000,000,000 shares of capital stock. Of the total shares authorized,
900,000,000 shares are designated as common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share, 100,000,000 shares are designated as preferred stock.

Common Stock�Recapitalization and IPO

On October 24, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust effectuated a ten-to-one reverse stock split of its outstanding common stock (the �Reverse Stock
Split�). Immediately following the Reverse Stock Split, CatchMark Timber Trust re-designated all of its then-authorized common stock as �Class
A Common Stock�. A stock dividend was declared and paid on October 25, 2013 (the �Stock Dividend� and, together with the Reverse Stock Split,
the �Recapitalization�) pursuant to which each share of common stock outstanding as of October 24, 2013, following the Reverse Stock Split,
received:

� one share of Class B-1 common stock; plus

� one share of Class B-2 common stock; plus

� one share of Class B-3 common stock.
Any fractional shares of Class A common stock outstanding after the reverse stock split also received an equivalent fractional share of Class
B-1, Class B-2 and Class B-3 common stock, which was then immediately converted into Class A common stock. This conversion is shown as a
fractional share conversion within the 2013 consolidated statements of stockholders� equity. The Recapitalization was effective upon filing
amendments to CatchMark Timber Trust�s charter with State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland on October 24, 2013.
CatchMark Timber Trust refers to Class B-1 common stock, Class B-2 common stock, and Class B-3 common stock collectively as �Class B
common stock,� and Class A and Class B common stock collectively as �common stock.�

On December 12, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust listed its Class A common stock on NYSE (the �Listing�). CatchMark Timber Trust completed
its IPO on December 17, 2013, selling 10,526,316 shares of its Class A common stock.

CatchMark Timber Trust�s Class B common stock is identical to its Class A common stock except that (1) CatchMark Timber Trust does not
intend to list its Class B common stock on a national securities exchange and (2) shares of Class B common stock will convert automatically into
shares of Class A common stock, pursuant to provisions of CatchMark Timber Trust�s charter, on the following schedule:

� six months following the Listing, in the case of the Class B-1 common stock;
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� twelve months following the Listing, in the case of the Class B-2 common stock; and

� eighteen months following the Listing, in the case of the Class B-3 common stock.
The board of directors has the authority to accelerate the conversion of the Class B-2 shares and the Class B-3 shares to dates not earlier than
nine months and twelve months, respectively, following the listing with the consent of the underwriter of the IPO. On the eighteen-month
anniversary of the listing, all shares of the Class B common stock will have converted into the Class A common stock.

The combined effect of the ten-to-one reverse stock split and the stock dividend is equivalent to a 2.5-to-one reverse stock split. The
Recapitalization also had the effect of decreasing the total number of outstanding shares of CatchMark Timber Trust�s common stock, but did not
change the number of shares of common stock that are authorized for issuance under the charter. After the Recapitalization, of the total shares of
common stock authorized, 889,500,000 shares are designated as Class A common stock, 3,500,000 are designated as Class B-1 common stock,
3,500,000 are designated as Class B-2 common stock, and 3,500,000 are designated as Class B-3 common stock. All classes of CatchMark
Timber Trust�s common stock have a par value of $0.01 per share.

On October 23, 2013, immediately prior to the Reverse Stock Split, approximately 31.7 million shares of CatchMark Timber Trust�s common
stock were outstanding. As of October 25, 2013, in aggregate after the Recapitalization, approximately 12.7 million shares of Class A and Class
B common stock were outstanding. Of this amount, approximately 3.2 million shares were Class A common stock (representing 25% of total
outstanding common stock) and approximately 9.5 million shares were Class B common stock (representing 75% of our total outstanding
common stock).

The Recapitalization was effected on a pro rata basis with respect to all stockholders. Accordingly, it did not affect any stockholder�s
proportionate ownership of CatchMark Timber Trust�s outstanding shares. On December 12, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust cashed out
approximately 5,227 fractional shares of Class A common stock at $13.50 per share for a total of $0.1 million.

Preferred Stock Redemption

Between October 2007 and December 2009, CatchMark Timber Trust issued 32,128 shares of Series A preferred stock and 11,500 shares of
Series B preferred stock to Wells Real Estate Funds (�Wells REF�) in exchange for approximately $32.1 million and $11.5 million, respectively.
As of December 31, 2012, 27,585 shares of Series A preferred stock and 9,807 shares of Series B preferred stock were outstanding (�Preferred
Shares�) plus accrued but unpaid dividends.

On September 18, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust, Wells REF, Leo F. Wells, III, CatchMark Timber Trust�s former President and Chairman of
the Board, and Douglas P. Williams, CatchMark Timber Trust�s former Executive Vice President, Secretary, Treasurer and director, entered into
a preferred stock redemption agreement, which was subsequently amended on September 20, 2013 and October 25, 2013 (as amended, the
�Preferred Stock Redemption Agreement�). Pursuant to the Preferred Stock Redemption Agreement, the Preferred Shares continued to accrue
dividends daily at an annual rate of 1.0% of the issue price. Upon the closing of the IPO, on December 17, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust
redeemed its outstanding 37,392 Preferred Shares at the original issue price of approximately $37.4 million, plus accrued but unpaid dividends
of $11.6 million. As of December 31, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust had redeemed all outstanding shares of preferred stock.
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Share Redemption Plan

Prior to its termination on October 31, 2013, the SRP allowed stockholders who hold their shares for more than one year to sell their shares back
to CatchMark Timber Trust, subject to certain limitations and penalties. Since no proceeds had been received from the sale of shares through
DRP, the SRP was funded by a monthly, non-cumulative reserve of $150,000 set aside by the board of directors for redemptions in connection
with death, qualifying disability, or qualification for federal assistance for confinement to a long-term care facility (�Qualified Special
Redemptions�). CatchMark Timber Trust did not redeem any shares under the SRP other than Qualified Special Redemptions. Qualified Special
Redemptions did not require a one-year holding period.

Effective January 1, 2013, the price paid for shares redeemed under the SRP equaled $6.23 per share, which represented 95% of the estimated
per-share value of CatchMark Timber Trust�s common stock as of September 30, 2012. In connection with the execution of the Master
Agreement (also see Note 1, Note 7, and Note 12 for related transactions), on September 18, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust�s board of directors
approved the termination of the SRP effective as of October 31, 2013.

During the years ended December 31, 2013, and 2012, approximately 39,161 and 31,635 shares of common stock, respectively, were redeemed
pursuant to the SRP for approximately $0.6 million. and $0.7 million, respectively.

9. Stock Based Compensation

Amended and Restated Long-Term Incentive Plan

On October 24, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust�s board of directors approved the Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
�LTIP�), effective on October 25, 2013, to (i) increase the number of shares of common stock available for issuance thereunder to 1,150,000
shares of Class A common stock and 50,000 shares of each of the Class B-1, Class B-2 and Class B-3 common stock, (ii) extend the term of the
LTIP to October 25, 2023, (iii) incorporate into the plan document previously-approved, stand-alone amendments, and (iv) make certain
additional ministerial changes.

Equity Compensation for Independent Directors

Under the LTIP, each independent director elected or appointed to CatchMark Timber Trust�s board on or after November 13, 2009 received a
grant of 1,000 shares of restricted stock upon his initial election or appointment. Upon each subsequent re-election to the board, each
independent director received a subsequent grant of 400 shares of restricted stock. The shares of restricted stock vest in thirds on each of the first
three anniversaries of the date of grant. During 2013, 3,200 shares of restricted stock were granted to the independent directors. As of
December 31, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust had granted 9,600 shares of restricted stock to the independent directors, 3,467 shares of which
had vested and 1,467 shares of which were forfeited upon the resignation of two independent directors.

Effective January 1, 2014, each of the independent directors will receive, on the day following an annual stockholders meeting, a number of
restricted shares having a value of $30,000 on the grant date. The number of restricted shares granted to each independent director will be
determined by dividing $30,000 by the fair market value per share of CatchMark Timber Trust�s common stock on the grant date. The restricted
shares will vest in thirds on each of the first three
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anniversaries of the grant, subject to the independent director�s continued service on the board on each such date, or on the earlier occurrence of a
change in control of our company or the independent director�s death, disability or termination with cause.

Stock Ownership Guidelines for Independent Directors

On October 24, 2013, the board of directors adopted stock ownership guidelines for independent directors which require that each independent
director own shares of CatchMark Timber TrustCatchMark Timber Trust�s common stock having a value of four times his or her annual cash
retainer. Each director must meet the stock ownership guidelines by the later of October 25, 2018, or the fifth anniversary of his or her election
to the board. Until the ownership guidelines are met, or at any time the director is not in compliance with the guidelines, he or she must retain
100% of any shares received from our company for service on the board, with an exception for shares sold for the limited purposes of paying the
exercise price, in the case of stock options, or satisfying any applicable tax liability related to the award.

Equity Compensation for Employees

Pursuant to the LTIP, CatchMark Timber Trust issued the following restricted stock grants to its employees during 2013:

Time-Based
Restricted Shares (1)

Performance-Based
Restricted Shares (2) IPO RSUs (3)

Executives 34,000 51,000 91,000
Non-executives 20,000 � 39,400

Total 54,000 51,000 130,400
Weighted average price of restricted shares
granted (4) $ 13.57 $ 13.55 $ 13.57

(1) The restricted shares vest in equal annual installments on each of December 31, 2014, December 31, 2015, December 31, 2016, and December 31, 2017,
subject to the an employee� continued employment with CatchMark Timber Trust on each vesting date, or on the earlier occurrence of a change in control or
the employee�s termination of employment (i) by CatchMark Timber Trust without cause, (ii) by the employee for good reason, or (iii) by reason of the
executive�s death or disability.

(2) The number of restricted shares earned will be based upon achievement of performance goals for 2014 as established by the compensation committee of the
board of directors, and the earned shares will vest December 31, 2017, subject to the executive�s continued employment with CatchMark Timber Trust on that
date. In the event of a change in control, these shares will vest as of the date of the change in control.

(3) The restricted stock units vested and converted to shares of Class A common stock upon Listing, 84,261 shares were issued net of shares surrendered upon
vesting to satisfy required minimum tax withholding obligations.

(4) The fair value of each share granted is equal to the share price of CatchMark Timber Trust�s common stock on the date of grant.
CatchMark Timber Trust recognized expenses over the respective vesting period from the date of grant. During the year ended December 31,
2013, CatchMark Timber Trust recorded $1.5 million of stock-based compensation cost in General and Administrative Expenses, and $0.4
million of stock-based compensation expense in Forestry Management Expenses.

As of December 31, 2013, there was $1.1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to the CatchMark Timber Trust�s outstanding
restricted stock. This cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 4 years.
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10. Recreational Leases

CatchMark Timber Trust leases certain access rights to portions of the Mahrt Timberland to individuals and companies for recreational purposes.
These operating leases generally have terms of one year with certain provisions to extend the lease agreements for another one-year term.
CatchMark Timber Trust retains substantially all of the risks and benefits of ownership of the timberland properties leased to tenants. As of
December 31, 2013, approximately 261,100 acres, or 99%, of CatchMark Timber Trust�s available timberland had been leased to tenants under
operating leases that expire in May 2014. Under the terms of the recreational leases, tenants are required to pay the entire rent upon execution of
the lease agreement. Such rental receipts are recorded as other liabilities until earned over the terms of the respective recreational leases and
recognized as other revenue. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, approximately $1.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively, of such rental
receipts are recorded as other liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. For each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust recognized other revenues related to recreational leases of approximately $2.5 million, $2.4
million, $2.4 million, respectively.

11. Supplemental Disclosures of Noncash Activities

Outlined below are significant noncash investing and financing transactions for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011,
respectively:

2013 2012 2011
Write-off of due to affiliates $ � $ 27,315,249 $ �
Discounts applied to issuance of common stock $ � $ 43,761 $ 463,980
Commissions on stock sales and related dealer-manager fees due to affiliate $ � $ � $ 105,502
Cancellation of stock dividends $ � $ (329) $ 5,570,133
Stock dividends payable to stockholders�additional paid-in capital $ � $ � $ (221,082) 
Stock dividends payable to stockholders�par value $ � $ � $ (221) 
Other liabilities assumed upon acquisition of timberland $ 125,163 $ 1,156,317 $ 4,404
Other offering costs due to affiliate $ � $ � $ 28,316
12. Related-Party Transactions and Agreements

Advisory Agreement

CatchMark Timber Trust and CatchMark Timber OP were party to the Advisory Agreement with Wells TIMO, pursuant to which Wells TIMO
acted as CatchMark Timber Trust�s external advisor and performed certain key functions on behalf of CatchMark Timber Trust, including,
among others, management of day-to-day operations and investment of capital proceeds. As discussed in detail below, in connection with
CatchMark Timber Trust�s transition to self-management, the Advisory Agreement terminated on October 25, 2013.

During the periods presented, the amount of advisor fees and expense reimbursements Wells TIMO was entitled to as CatchMark Timber Trust�s
external advisor was determined pursuant to various amendments and restatements of the advisory agreement, as described below:

� Effective July 1, 2013 through October 25, 2013, pursuant to an amended and restated advisory agreement (the �Restated Advisory
Agreement�), the monthly advisor fee payable
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to Wells TIMO equaled to one-twelfth of 1.0% of the aggregate value of CatchMark Timber Trust�s properties as established in
connection with the estimated valuation conducted as of September 30, 2012 pursuant to applicable FINRA rules (�Assets Under
Management�). Asset Under Management shall be adjusted upon the sale any properties for an amount greater than $5.0 million in
aggregate or the acquisition of any properties for an amount greater than $5.0 million in aggregate. However, aggregate advisor fees
payable for fiscal year 2013 shall not exceed 1.0% of Assets Under Management as of September 30, 2012.

In addition, the Restated Advisory Agreement eliminated the reimbursement by CatchMark Timber Trust of administrative service expenses that
Wells TIMO incurs in fulfilling its duties as advisor, including personnel costs and CatchMark Timber Trust�s allocable share of other overhead
of Wells TIMO.

� Between April 1, 2012 and June 30, 2013, a second amendment to the advisory agreement (�Advisory Agreement Amendment No. 2�),
provided that as of and for each quarter, the amount of fees and expense reimbursements payable to Wells TIMO was limited to the
lesser of (i) 1.0% of assets under management as of the last day of the quarter less advisor fees paid for the preceding three quarters,
and (ii) free cash flow for the four quarters then ended in excess of an amount equal to 1.25 multiplied by CatchMark Timber Trust�s
interest expense for the four quarters then ended. Free cash flow was defined as EBITDA (as defined in CatchMark Timber Trust�s
loan agreements), less all capital expenditures paid by CatchMark Timber Trust on a consolidated basis, less any cash distributions
(except for the payments of accrued but unpaid dividends as a result of any redemptions of CatchMark Timber Trust�s outstanding
preferred stock).

� Between April 1, 2011 and March 30, 2012, an amendment to the advisory agreement (�Advisory Agreement Amendment No. 1�)
limited the amount of fees and expense reimbursements as of and for each quarter to the least of: (1) an asset management fee equal to
one fourth of 1.0% of asset under management plus reimbursements for all costs and expenses Wells TIMO incurred in fulfilling its
duties as the asset manager, (2) one quarter of 1.5% of assets under management, or (3) free cash flow in excess of an amount equal to
1.05 multiplied by interest on outstanding debt. Free cash flow was defined as EBITDA (as defined in CatchMark Timber Trust�s
credit agreements), less all capital expenditures paid by CatchMark Timber Trust on a consolidated basis, less any cash distributions
(except for the payments of accrued but unpaid dividends as a result of any redemptions of CatchMark Timber Trust�s outstanding
preferred stock), less any cash proceeds from timberland sales equal to the cost basis of the properties sold.

� During the first quarter of 2011, Wells TIMO was entitled to (1) a monthly asset management fees equal to one-twelfth of 1.0% of the
greater of (i) the gross cost of all investments made on behalf of CatchMark Timber Trust and (ii) the aggregate value of such
investments; and (2) reimbursement for all costs and expenses Wells TIMO incurs in fulfilling its duties as the asset portfolio
manager.

Under the Advisory Agreement, Wells TIMO was also entitled to receive the following:

� Reimbursement of organization and offering costs paid by Wells TIMO and its affiliates on behalf of CatchMark Timber Trust, not to
exceed 1.2% of gross offering proceeds. CatchMark Timber Trust incurred and charged to additional paid-in capital cumulative
organization and offering costs of approximately $3.6 million, representing approximately 1.2% of cumulative gross proceeds raised
by CatchMark Timber Trust under the Public Offerings. As of December 31, 2011, approximately $2.2 million of organization and
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offering costs incurred by CatchMark Timber Trust and due to Wells TIMO had been deferred by the terms of CatchMark Timber
Trust�s loan agreements. On January 27, 2012, Wells TIMO forgave the deferred organization and offering expenses. After adjusting
for this write-off, organization and offering costs represents approximately 0.5% of cumulative gross proceeds raised under the Public
Offerings.

� For any property sold by CatchMark Timber Trust, if Wells TIMO provided a substantial amount of services in connection with the
sale (as determined by CatchMark Timber Trust�s independent directors), a fee equal to (i) for each property sold at a contract price up
to $20.0 million, up to 2.0% of the sales price, and (ii) for each property sold at a contract price in excess of $20.0 million, up to 1.0%
of the sales price. The precise amount of the fee within the preceding limits will be determined by CatchMark Timber Trust�s board of
directors, including a majority of the independent directors, based on the level of services provided and market norms. The real estate
disposition fee may be in addition to real estate commissions paid to third parties. However, the total real estate commissions
(including such disposition fee) may not exceed the lesser of (i) 6.0% of the sales price of each property or (ii) the level of real estate
commissions customarily charged in light of the size, type, and location of the property.

No payments were permitted under the Advisory Agreement if they would have caused a default under CatchMark Timber Trust�s credit
agreements.

On January 20, 2012, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into an agreement with Wells TIMO to forgive approximately $25.1 million of accrued
but unpaid asset management fees and expense reimbursements that were previously deferred due to restrictions under CatchMark Timber Trust�s
credit agreements. Due to the related-party nature of these transactions, this amount, along with the organizational and offering costs forgiven by
Wells TIMO on January 27, 2012, were recorded as additional paid-in capital during 2012.

Master Self-Management Transition Agreement and Termination of Advisory Agreement

On September 18, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust, CatchMark Timber OP, Wells REF and Wells TIMO entered into the Master Agreement,
which sets forth the framework for CatchMark Timber Trust�s separation from Wells and its transition to self-management. On October 24, 2013,
the parties entered into the Master Agreement Amendment and terminated the Restated Advisory Agreement effective on October 25, 2013.

Pursuant to the Master Agreement, Wells agreed to facilitate and support CatchMark Timber Trust�s efforts to hire up to eight employees of
Wells identified by CatchMark Timber Trust who, as of the date of the Master Agreement, performed substantial services for CatchMark Timber
Trust pursuant to the Advisory Agreement (collectively, the �Targeted Personnel�). On October 25, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust hired the
Targeted Personnel selected by CatchMark Timber Trust with such compensation and benefits as determined by CatchMark Timber Trust.

Upon the termination of the Advisory Agreement, the special limited partnership units held by Wells TIMO in CatchMark Timber OP were
automatically redeemed by CatchMark Timber OP, and Wells TIMO was not entitled to any consideration in connection with such redemption.
On October 25, 2013, CatchMark LP Holder purchased all of Wells TIMO�s common limited partnership units in CatchMark Timber OP for an
aggregate purchase price of $1,312. For further information on the special limited partnership units, refer to the consolidated financial statements
and accompanying notes included in CatchMark Timber Trust�s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012.
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Preferred Stock Redemption Agreement

See Note 8�Stockholders� Equity.

Transition Services Agreement

Pursuant to the Master Agreement, CatchMark Timber Trust and Wells REF entered into a Transition Services Agreement (the �TSA�) on
October 25, 2013, pursuant to which Wells REF and its affiliates will provide certain consulting, support and transitional services to CatchMark
Timber Trust at the direction of CatchMark Timber Trust in order to facilitate CatchMark Timber Trust�s successful transition to
self-management.

In exchange for the services provided by Wells REF under the TSA, CatchMark Timber Trust or CatchMark Timber OP will pay Wells REF a
monthly consulting fee of $22,875 (the �Consulting Fee�). In addition to the Consulting Fee, CatchMark Timber Trust or CatchMark Timber OP
will pay directly or reimburse Wells REF for any third-party expenses paid or incurred by Wells REF and its affiliates on CatchMark Timber
Trust�s behalf or CatchMark Timber OP behalf in connection with the services provided pursuant to the TSA; provided, however, that (1) Wells
REF will obtain written approval from CatchMark Timber Trust or CatchMark Timber OP prior to incurring any third-party expenses for the
account of, or reimbursable by, CatchMark Timber Trust or CatchMark Timber OP and (2) CatchMark Timber Trust will not be required to
reimburse Wells REF for any administrative service expenses, including Wells REF�s overhead, personnel costs and costs of goods used in the
performance of services under the TSA.

The TSA will remain in effect until June 30, 2014 unless otherwise terminated in accordance with the terms of the TSA. The TSA may be
terminated (1) immediately by CatchMark Timber Trust or Wells REF for causes, as defined in the TSA, or (2) by CatchMark Timber Trust or
Wells REF upon 60 days� written notice for any reason. Following the termination of the TSA, Wells REF will not be entitled to continue to
receive the Consulting Fee; provided, however, that (1) Wells REF will be entitled to receive from CatchMark Timber Trust within 30 days after
the termination date all unpaid reimbursements of expenses and all earned but unpaid Consulting Fees payable to Wells REF prior to the
termination date, and (2) if CatchMark Timber Trust terminates the TSA without cause prior to June 30, 2014, Wells REF will be entitled to
receive the Consulting Fee through June 30, 2014.

Sublease Agreement

Pursuant to the Master Agreement, Wells REF and CatchMark Timber OP entered into the Sublease on October 25, 2013, pursuant to which
CatchMark Timber OP will sublet from Wells REF a portion of the office space currently used and occupied by Wells REF. The term of the
Sublease commenced on October 25, 2013, and will terminate on March 31, 2014; provided that CatchMark Timber OP may terminate the
Sublease upon 10 business days� written notice to Wells REF. CatchMark Timber OP will pay Wells REF a monthly rent of $5,961 pursuant to
the Sublease, provided that no rent will be payable for October, November and December 2013.

Indemnification Agreements

On September 18, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into indemnification agreements, effective as of September 18, 2013, with each of
CatchMark Timber Trust�s then-current directors and executive officers and Jerry Barag and John F. Rasor (collectively, the �Indemnitees�).
Pursuant to the indemnification agreements, CatchMark Timber Trust will indemnify each Indemnitee to the maximum extent permitted by
Maryland law against any judgments, damages,
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liabilities, losses or expenses incurred by such Indemnitee by reason of such Indemnitee�s status as a present or former director, officer, employee
or agent of CatchMark Timber Trust.

Structuring Agent Agreement

CatchMark Timber Trust was party to a structuring agent agreement (the �Structuring Agent Agreement�) whereby Wells Germany GmbH, a
limited partnership organized under the laws of Germany (�Wells Germany�), served as the structuring agent in connection with the 2010 German
Offering. CatchMark Timber Trust paid a structuring agent fee to Wells Germany of $0.20 per share sold under the 2010 German Offering. The
Structuring Agent Agreement expired upon the conclusion of the 2010 German Offering, and with respect to ongoing services, the Structuring
Agent Agreement terminated upon the listing of CatchMark Timber Trust�s common stock on the NYSE.

Related-Party Costs

Pursuant to the terms of the agreements described above, CatchMark Timber Trust incurred the following related-party costs for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively:

2013 2012 2011
Advisor fees and expense reimbursements $ 3,561,608 $ 3,720,000 $ 3,324,154
Consulting fees 50,178 � �
Disposition fees 39,096 219,449 29,968
Commissions (1) (2) � 246,546 3,421,576
Dealer-manager fees (1) � 71,057 950,727
Other offering costs (1) � 48,752 654,136

Total $ 3,650,882 $ 4,305,804 $ 8,380,561

(1) Commissions, dealer-manager fees, and other offering costs were charged against stockholders� equity as incurred.
(2) Substantially all commissions were re-allowed to participating broker/dealers.
Due to Affiliates

As of December 31, 2013, there was no balance in due to affiliates. As of December 31, 2012, CatchMark Timber Trust had a due to affiliates
balance of approximately $1.3 million, consisted entirely of advisor fees and expense reimbursements due to Wells TIMO.

13. Income Taxes

CatchMark Timber Trust records deferred income taxes using enacted tax laws and rates for the years in which the taxes are expected to be paid.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on the differences between the financial reporting and income tax bases of assets
and liabilities. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be
realized. Components of the deferred tax asset as of
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December 31, 2013 and 2012 were attributable to the operations of Catchmark Timber TRS only and were as follows:

As of December 31,
2013 2012

Deferred tax asset:
Net operating loss carryforward $ 5,920,309 $ 3,267,382
Gain on timberland sales (256) (6,985) 
Other (6,461) �

Total deferred tax asset 5,913,592 3,260,397

Valuation allowance (5,913,592) (3,260,397) 

Deferred tax asset, net $ � $ �

CatchMark Timber Trust did not incur any deferred tax liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

CatchMark Timber Trust elected to be taxed as a REIT for its taxable years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011. As of January 1, 2009
(the �REIT Commencement Date�), its REIT commencement date, CatchMark Timber Trust had net built-in gains on its timber assets of
approximately $18.3 million. CatchMark Timber Trust elected not to take such net built-in gains into income immediately prior to the REIT
Commencement Date, but rather subsequently recognize gain on the disposition of any assets it holds at the REIT Commencement Date, if
disposed of within the ten-year period beginning on the REIT Commencement Date. CatchMark Timber Trust will be subject to tax on such net
built-in gains at the highest regular corporate rate during the ten-year period beginning on the REIT Commencement Date on the lesser of (a) the
excess of the fair market value of the asset disposed of as of the REIT Commencement Date over its basis in the asset as of the REIT
Commencement Date (the built-in gain with respect to that asset as of the REIT Commencement Date); (b) the amount of gain CatchMark
Timber Trust would otherwise recognize on the disposition; or (c) the amount of net built-in gain in its assets as of the REIT commencement
date not already recognized during the ten-year period. As of December 31, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust had net built-in gains of
approximately $17.5 million.

At December 31, 2013, CatchMark Timber Trust had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $104.0 million and
$87.6 million, respectively. Such net operating loss carryforwards may be utilized, subject to certain limitations, to offset future taxable income,
including net built-in gains. If not utilized, the federal net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2027, and the state net operating
loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2022.

Income taxes for financial reporting purposes differ from the amount computed by applying the statutory federal rate primarily due to the effect
of state income taxes and valuation allowances
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(net of federal benefit). A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to CatchMark Timber TRS� effective tax rate for the years ended
December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 is as follows:

2013 2012 2011
Federal statutory income tax rate 34.00% 34.00% 34.00% 
State income taxes, net of federal benefit 3.06% 3.32% 3.31% 
Other temporary differences (0.02)% 0.07% 0.23% 
Write-off of due to affiliates �% (76.14)% �% 
Other permanent differences 21.03% 2.58% (0.01)% 
Valuation allowance (58.07)% 36.17% (37.53)% 

Effective tax rate � � �

The difference between the federal statutory tax rate and effective tax rate relates primarily to the state statutory rates and valuation allowance.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the tax basis carrying value of CatchMark Timber Trust�s total assets was approximately $325.9 million and
approximately $340.9 million, respectively.

14. Quarterly Results (unaudited)

Presented below is a summary of the unaudited quarterly financial information for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013
First

Quarter
Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Revenues $ 7,387,791 $ 9,252,419 $ 7,857,246 $ 7,550,134
Operating loss $ (1,196,915) $ (1,617,420) $ (1,579,249) $ (4,208,731)(3) 
Net loss $ (1,986,734) $ (2,563,923) $ (2,527,903) $ (6,118,360) 
Net loss available to common stockholders $ (2,078,868) $ (2,656,892) $ (2,621,893) $ (6,199,051) 
Basic and diluted net loss per share available to common
stockholders (1)(2) $ (0.16) $ (0.21) $ (0.21) $ (0.43) 

2012
First

Quarter
Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

Revenues $ 7,885,864 $ 18,292,293 $ 8,934,702 $ 9,086,920
Operating loss $ (2,177,228) $ 523,104 $ (226,147) $ (1,819,328) 
Net loss $ (3,254,067) $ (464,306) $ (2,519,815) $ (2,632,544) 
Net loss available to common stockholders $ (3,347,108) $ (557,276) $ (2,613,807) $ (2,726,533) 
Basic and diluted net loss per share available to common
stockholders (1)(2) $ (0.28) $ (0.05) $ (0.21) $ (0.21) 

(1) The sums of the quarterly amounts do not equal loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 due to the increases in weighted-average
shares outstanding over the years.

(2) Amounts adjusted for all periods presented to reflect impact of additional shares of common stock issued and outstanding as a result of the Recapitalization.
(3) Reflects costs incurred related to CatchMark Timber Trust�s transition to self-management, the listing on the NYSE, and the IPO.
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15. Subsequent Events

Exercise of Overallotment Option

On January 9, 2014, the underwriters for the IPO exercised their overallotment option to purchase 1,578,947 shares of CatchMark Timber Trust�s
Class A common stock in full. After deducting $1.5 million of underwriter discounts and commissions, CatchMark Timber Trust received net
proceeds of $19.8 million, $18.2 million of which was used to pay down the outstanding CoBank loan.

Timberland Acquisition Agreement

On March 13, 2014, CatchMark Timber Trust entered into a purchase and sales agreement (the �PSA�) with Forestree VI LP and Forestree VI
Texas LP (collectively, the �Seller�) to purchase approximately 36,000 acres of timberland for approximately $74.0 million. The PSA is subject to
the approval of the investment committee of Hancock Natural Resource Group, Inc. on or before March 20, 2014. This acquisition is also subject
to customary closing conditions and CatchMark Timber Trust cannot guarantee that it will be completed. This transaction is expected to close in
April and will be funded through debt financing.
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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. We may not sell these securities until the registration statement
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission becomes effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and it is not
soliciting an offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted.

PROSPECTUS

$600,000,000

Common Stock

Debt Securities

Preferred Stock

Depositary Shares

Warrants

Units

We may offer and sell up to $600,000,000 in the aggregate of the securities identified above from time to time in one or more offerings. This
prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities.

Each time we offer and sell securities, we will provide a supplement to this prospectus that contains specific information about the offering and
the amounts, prices and terms of the securities. The supplement may also add, update or change information contained in this prospectus with
respect to that offering, and may include limitations on actual or constructive ownership and restrictions on transfer of the securities, in each
case as may be appropriate to preserve the status of our company as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for United States federal income tax
purposes. The applicable prospectus supplement will also contain information, where applicable, about certain United States federal income tax
consequences relating to, and any listing on a securities exchange of, the securities covered by such prospectus supplement. You should
carefully read this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement before you invest in any of our securities.

The securities may be offered directly by us from time to time, through agents designated by us or to or through underwriters or dealers. If any
agents, dealers or underwriters are involved in the sale of any of the securities, their names, and any applicable purchase price, fee, commission
or discount arrangement between or among them will be set forth, or will be calculable from the information set forth, in the applicable
prospectus supplement. See the sections entitled �Plan of Distribution� and �About This Prospectus� for more information. No securities may be sold
without delivery of this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement describing the method and terms of the offering of such securities.

Our Class A common stock currently trades on the New York Stock Exchange, or NYSE, under the symbol �CTT.�

You should consider the risks that we have described in �Risk Factors� on page 3 before investing in our securities.
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determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.
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References in this prospectus to �we,� �our,� �us� and �our company� refer to CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc., a Maryland corporation, and its
consolidated subsidiaries, except where it is clear from the context that the term means otherwise.

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus, in an accompanying prospectus supplement or incorporated by
reference herein or therein. We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information or make any representation that is
different. If anyone provides you with different or inconsistent information, you should not rely on it. This prospectus and any
accompanying prospectus supplement do not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any securities other than the
registered securities to which they relate, and this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement do not constitute an offer
to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy securities in any jurisdiction where, or to any person to whom, it is unlawful to make such an
offer or solicitation. You should not assume that the information contained in this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus
supplement is correct on any date after the respective dates of the prospectus and such prospectus supplement or supplements, as
applicable, even though this prospectus and such prospectus supplement or supplements are delivered or shares are sold pursuant to the
prospectus and such prospectus supplement or supplements at a later date. Since the respective dates of the prospectus contained in this
registration statement and any accompanying prospectus supplement, our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects may have changed. We may only use this prospectus to sell the securities if it is accompanied by a prospectus supplement.
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CATCHMARK TIMBER TRUST, INC.

Our Company

We are a real estate company investing in timberlands that has elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust, or REIT, for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. We are self-administered and self-managed. We primarily engage in the ownership, management, acquisition and
disposition of timberlands located in the United States. We are a publicly traded REIT that is engaged exclusively in timberland ownership and
management, without ownership of any forest products or other manufacturing operations.

The focus of our business is to invest in timberlands and to actively manage such assets to provide current income and attractive long-term
returns to our stockholders. We generate recurring income and cash flow from the harvest and sale of timber, as well as from non-timber related
revenue sources, such as recreational leases. When and where we believe it is appropriate, we also periodically generate income and cash flow
from the sale of HBU lands. HBU refers to timberland properties that have a higher-value use beyond growing timber, such as properties that
can be sold for development, conservation, recreational or other rural purposes at prices in excess of traditional timberland values. We also
expect to realize additional long-term returns from the potential appreciation in value of our timberlands as well as from the potential biological
growth of our standing timber inventory in excess of our timber harvest.

We are a Maryland corporation formed in September 2005, and we have been publicly registered and subject to Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, reporting obligations since the effectiveness of our first public offering in 2006. Our principal executive office is currently
located at 5 Concourse Parkway, Suite 2325, Atlanta, Georgia 30328, and our telephone number is (855) 858-9794. We maintain an internet
website at www.catchmark.com that contains information concerning us. The information found on, or otherwise accessible through, our website
is not incorporated into, and does not form a part of, this prospectus or any other report or document we file with or furnish to the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

Our Corporate Structure

We own substantially all of our properties and other investments through our operating partnership. We are the sole general partner of our
operating partnership and own approximately 99.99% of its common units. CatchMark LP Holder, our wholly owned subsidiary, is the sole
limited partner of our operating partnership and owns the remaining approximately 0.01% of the common units.

This structure facilitates our ability to take advantage of the tax benefits associated with an UPREIT, or Umbrella Partnership Real Estate
Investment Trust. The UPREIT structure is used because a contribution of property directly to a REIT is generally a taxable transaction to the
contributing property owner. In an UPREIT structure, a seller of a property who desires to defer taxable gain on the sale of his property may
transfer the property to the UPREIT in exchange for common units in the UPREIT and defer taxation of gain until the seller later disposes of his
common units. Using an UPREIT structure may give us an advantage in acquiring desired properties from persons who may not otherwise sell
their properties because of unfavorable tax results. At present, we have no plans to acquire any specific properties in exchange for common units
of our operating partnership.

CatchMark Timber TRS, Inc., or CatchMark Timber TRS, is a wholly owned subsidiary of our operating partnership. We have elected to treat
CatchMark Timber TRS as a taxable REIT
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subsidiary, or TRS. A TRS is a fully taxable corporation. A TRS may earn income that would not be qualifying REIT income if earned directly
by us. Our use of a TRS enables us to engage in certain business activities, such as the sales of delivered logs and HBU properties, which if
conducted by us directly could give rise to income potentially subject to the 100% penalty tax or constituting nonqualifying gross income for
purposes of the REIT gross income tests.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in any securities offered pursuant to this prospectus involves risks. You should carefully consider the risk factors incorporated by
reference to our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K and the other information contained in this prospectus, as updated by our subsequent
filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and the risk factors and other information contained in the
applicable prospectus supplement before acquiring any of such securities. Please also refer to the section below entitled �Forward-Looking
Statements.�

ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS

This prospectus is part of a registration statement that we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission using a �shelf� registration process.
Under this process, we may sell common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, depositary shares, warrants and units in one or more offerings up
to a total dollar amount of $600,000,000. This prospectus provides you with a general description of the securities we may offer. Each time we
sell securities, we will provide a prospectus supplement containing specific information about the terms of the applicable offering. Such
prospectus supplement may add, update or change information contained in this prospectus. If there is any inconsistency between the
information in this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, you should rely on the prospectus supplement. You should read this
prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement together with additional information described below under the heading �Where You Can
Find More Information� before you decide whether to invest.

We may offer the securities directly, through agents, or to or through underwriters or dealers. The applicable prospectus supplement will
describe the terms of the plan of distribution and set forth the names of any agents, underwriters or dealers involved in the sale of the securities.
See �Plan of Distribution� beginning on page 63 for more information on this topic. No securities may be sold without delivery of a prospectus
supplement describing the method and terms of the offering of those securities.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND MORE INFORMATION

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You may
read and copy any document we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission at the public reference room of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. Information about the operation of the public reference room may be obtained by
calling the Securities and Exchange Commission at 1-800-SEC-0330. Copies of all or a portion of the registration statement, including the
exhibits and schedules to the registration statement, can be obtained from the public reference room of the Securities and Exchange Commission
upon payment of prescribed fees. Our Securities and Exchange Commission filings, including our registration statement, are also available to
you on the Securities and Exchange Commission�s website, www.sec.gov. Our internet address is www.catchmark.com. The information found
on, or otherwise accessible through, our website is not incorporated into, and does not form a part of, this prospectus or any other report or
document we file with or furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

We have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a registration statement on Form S-3, of which this prospectus is a part, including
exhibits, schedules and amendments filed with, or incorporated by reference in, this registration statement, under the Securities Act, with respect
to the securities registered hereby. This prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement
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do not contain all of the information set forth in the registration statement and exhibits and schedules to the registration statement. For further
information with respect to our company and the securities registered hereby, reference is made to the registration statement, including the
exhibits to the registration statement. Statements contained in this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement as to the contents of
any contract or other document referred to in, or incorporated by reference in, this prospectus and any accompanying prospectus supplement are
not necessarily complete and, where that contract is an exhibit to the registration statement, each statement is qualified in all respects by the
exhibit to which the reference relates.
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INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

The Securities and Exchange Commission allows us to �incorporate by reference� the information we file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, which means that we can disclose important information to you by referring to those documents. The information incorporated by
reference is an important part of this prospectus. The incorporated documents contain significant information about us, our business and our
finances. Any information contained in this prospectus or in any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference in this
prospectus will be deemed to have been modified or superseded to the extent that a statement contained in this prospectus, in any other
document we subsequently file with the Securities and Exchange Commission that is also incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by
reference in this prospectus or in the applicable prospectus supplement, modifies or supersedes the original statement. Any statement so
modified or superseded will not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to be a part of this prospectus. We incorporate by reference the
following documents we filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission:

� our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013;

� our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2014;

� our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 19, 2014; March 14,
2014; March 27, 2014; April 14, 2014; and June 2, 2014;

� our Current Reports on Form 8-K/A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 14, 2014 and March 21, 2014;

� the description of our Class A common stock included in our registration statement on Form 8-A filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on December 11, 2013;

� the description of our Class B-1 common stock, Class B-2 common stock and Class B-3 common stock each as included in our
registration statement on Form 8-A filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on April 25, 2014; and

� all documents filed by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange
Act after the date of this prospectus and prior to the termination of the offering of the underlying securities.

We also specifically incorporate by reference any documents filed by us with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to
Section 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date of the initial registration statement and prior to effectiveness of the
registration statement.

To the extent that any information contained in any current report on Form 8-K, or any exhibit thereto, is or was furnished to, rather than filed
with, the Securities and Exchange Commission, such information or exhibit is specifically not incorporated by reference in this prospectus.

We will provide without charge to each person, including any beneficial owner, to whom a prospectus is delivered, on written or oral request of
that person, a copy of any or all of the documents we are incorporating by reference into this prospectus, other than exhibits to those documents
unless those exhibits are specifically incorporated by reference into those documents. A request should be addressed in writing to CatchMark
Timber Trust, Inc., 5 Concourse Parkway, Suite 2325, Atlanta, Georgia 30328, Attention: Brian Davis, Assistant Secretary, or by telephone at
(855) 858-9794.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus, any accompanying prospectus supplement and the documents that we incorporate by reference in each contain �forward-looking
statements� within the meaning of the safe harbor from civil liability provided for such statements by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act
of 1995 (set forth in Section 27A of the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act). In particular, statements pertaining to our capital
resources, property performance, distribution policy and results of operations contain forward-looking statements. Likewise, all our statements
regarding anticipated growth in our portfolio from operations, acquisitions and anticipated market conditions, demographics and results of
operations are forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties and you should not rely on
them as predictions of future events. Forward-looking statements depend on assumptions, data or methods which may be incorrect or imprecise
and we may not be able to realize them. We do not guarantee that the transactions and events described will happen as described or that they will
happen at all. You can identify forward-looking statements by the use of forward-looking terminology such as �believes,� �expects,� �may,� �will,�
�should,� �seeks,� �approximately,� �intends,� �plans,� �pro forma,� �estimates,� �contemplates,� �aims,� �continues,� �would� or �anticipates� or the negative of these
words and phrases or similar words or phrases. You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategies, plans or
intentions. The following factors, among others, could cause actual results and future events to differ materially from those set forth or
contemplated in the forward-looking statements:

� the cyclical nature of the forest products industry;

� our limited history of paying cash distributions and the fact that our future cash distributions are not guaranteed and may fluctuate;

� our dependence on MeadWestvaco;

� our ability to successfully execute our investment strategy;

� our dependence on and access to external sources of capital for future growth;

� our large percentage of operating expenses to total revenues compared to many other public companies;

� economic conditions;

� our dependence on Forest Resource Consultants to manage our timberland;

� our concentration on timberlands and lack of diversification;

� adverse economic conditions and other developments in Georgia and Alabama where our timberlands are located;

� our lack of a track record with our new management team;
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� our transition to self-management;

� our ability to retain our key executive officers;

� government approvals, actions and initiatives;
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� failure to maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and procedures and integrated internal controls;

� the transition to a new vendor of certain of our information technology systems, including our accounting technology;

� the fact that we have recently experienced net losses attributable to our common stockholders and may continue to do so;

� the credit risk of our customers;

� our ability to sell portions of our timberlands;

� changes in timber prices and the impact on our revenues;

� our exposure to uninsured losses;

� the competitive timberland industry, which could force us to pay higher prices for our properties;

� limitations on our ability to harvest timber;

� potential liability for environmental clean-up costs and wildlife protection laws;

� our inability to obtain accurate data on the volume and quality of the timber we intend to acquire;

� our estimates of timber growth rates may be inaccurate;

� changes in assessments, property tax rates and state property tax law;

� our indebtedness;

� the financial and other convents contained in the documents governing our indebtedness;

� increases in interest rates;

� certain provisions of Maryland law could inhibit changes in control of us;
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� our failure to qualify as a REIT; and

� the other factors identified in the section entitled �Risk Factors.�
While forward-looking statements reflect our good-faith beliefs, they are not guarantees of future performance. We disclaim any obligation to
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. For a further discussion of
these and other factors that could impact our future results, performance or transactions, see the section above entitled �Risk Factors,� including
the risks incorporated therein from our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K, as updated by our future filings.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

Except as may be set forth in a particular prospectus supplement, we intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities for general
corporate purposes, which may include repayment or redemption of indebtedness, new investments in our target assets in accordance with our
investment strategy in place at such time or for other general corporate purposes. Any specific allocation of the net proceeds of an offering of
securities to a specific purpose will be determined at the time of such offering and will be described in the related prospectus supplement.

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES AND

TO COMBINED FIXED CHARGES AND PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS

The following table sets forth ratios of earnings to fixed charges and earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends for each
of the five years in the periods ended December 31, 2013 and for the three months ended March 31, 2014 (dollar amounts in thousands):

Three 
Months
Ended
March

31,
2014

For the Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Ratio of earnings(loss) to fixed charges (1) 0.17 (1.76) (0.45) (0.81) (0.22) (0.28) 
Deficiency $ (388) $ (13,197) $ (8,871) $ (11,945) $ (15,810) $ (19,948) 
Ratio of earnings (loss) to fixed charges and preferred stock
dividends (2) 0.17 (1.63) (0.42) (0.66) (0.17) (0.22) 
Deficiency $ (388) $ (13,557) $ (9,245) $ (13,502) $ (19,518) $ (23,588) 

(1) The ratio of earnings to fixed charges was computed by dividing earnings (loss) by fixed charges. For this purpose, �earnings� consists of net loss from our
consolidated statements of operations before fixed charges; �fixed charges� consists of interest expense, amortization of deferred financing costs, and estimated
imputed interest within our land rent expense.

(2) The ratio of earnings to combined fixed charges and preferred stock dividends was computed by dividing earnings (loss) by the sum of fixed charges and
preferred stock dividends. CatchMark Timber Trust redeemed all of its outstanding Series A and Series B preferred stocks as of December 31, 2013.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

General

This prospectus describes the general terms of our shares of common stock and our shares of preferred stock. The following description is not
complete and may not contain all of the information you should consider before investing in our common stock or preferred stock. For a more
detailed description of these securities, you should read the applicable provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law, or MGCL, and our
charter and bylaws. This description is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, our charter and bylaws and the MGCL. When we
offer to sell a particular class or series of common stock or preferred stock, we will describe the specific terms of the class or series in a
prospectus supplement. Accordingly, for a description of the terms of any class or series of stock, you must refer to both the prospectus
supplement relating to that class or series and the description of stock in this prospectus. To the extent the information contained in the
prospectus supplement differs from this summary description, you should rely on the information in the prospectus supplement.

Our charter authorizes the issuance of one billion shares of stock, of which 889.5 million shares are designated as Class A common stock with a
par value of $0.01 per share, 3.5 million shares are designated as Class B-1 common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share, 3.5 million shares
are designated as Class B-2 common stock with a par value of $0.01 per share, 3.5 million shares are designated as Class B-3 common stock
with a par value of $0.01 per share and 100 million shares are designated as preferred stock with a par value of $0.01 per share, of which
2,872 shares are classified as Series A preferred stock and of which 3,500 shares are classified as Series B preferred stock.

As of June 18, 2014, approximately (1) 18,655,586 shares of our Class A common stock were issued and outstanding and held of record by a
total of 3,388 stockholders; (2) no shares of our Class B-1 common stock were issued and outstanding; (3) 3,164,476 shares of our Class B-2
common stock were issued and outstanding and held of record by a total of 3,375 stockholders; (4) 3,164,476 shares of our Class B-3 common
stock were issued and outstanding and held of record by a total of 3,371 stockholders; and (5) no shares of preferred stock (Series A or Series B)
were issued and outstanding.

Our board of directors may amend our charter from time to time without stockholder approval to increase or decrease the aggregate number of
our authorized shares or the number of shares of any class or series that we have authority to issue. Under Maryland law, our stockholders
generally are not personally liable for our debts and obligations solely as a result of their status as stockholders.

Common Stock

Our Class B common stock is identical to our Class A common stock except that (1) we do not intend to list our Class B common stock on a
national securities exchange and (2) shares of Class B common stock will convert, and with respect to the Class B-1 common stock have already
converted, automatically into shares of Class A common stock, pursuant to provisions of our charter, on the following schedule: (1) June 12,
2014, in the case of the Class B-1 common stock, (2) December 12, 2014, in the case of the Class B-2 common stock and (3) June 12, 2015, in
the case of the Class B-3 common stock. Subject to the consent of Raymond James, who served as an underwriter for our initial listed offering,
our board of directors has the authority to accelerate the conversion of the Class B-2 common stock and the Class B-3 common stock to dates
not earlier than nine months and twelve months, respectively, following December 17, 2013.
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Except as may otherwise be specified in our charter, the holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters voted on by
stockholders, including election of our directors. Our charter does not provide for cumulative voting in the election of our directors. Therefore,
the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of common stock can elect our entire board of directors. Subject to any preferential rights of
any outstanding class or series of preferred stock, the holders of common stock are entitled to such distributions as may be authorized from time
to time by our board of directors and declared by us out of legally available funds and, upon liquidation, are entitled to receive all assets
available for distribution to our stockholders. Holders of shares of common stock will not have preemptive rights, which mean that you will not
have an automatic option to purchase any new shares that we issue. Holders of common stock will not have appraisal rights unless our board of
directors determines that appraisal rights apply, with respect to all or any classes or series of stock, to one or more transactions occurring after
the date of such determination in connection with which stockholders would otherwise be entitled to exercise appraisal rights.

Preferred Stock

We currently have no shares of preferred stock outstanding. Our charter authorizes the issuance of 100 million shares of preferred stock with a
par value of $0.01 per share, of which 2,872 shares are classified as Series A preferred stock and of which 3,500 shares are classified as Series B
preferred stock. Our charter authorizes our board of directors to classify and reclassify any unissued shares of our common and preferred stock
into one or more classes or series of stock, and to issue such classified or reclassified stock, without stockholder approval. Our board of directors
must determine the relative rights, preferences and privileges of each class or series of stock so issued, which may be more beneficial than the
rights, preferences and privileges attributable to the common stock. The issuance of such stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring or
preventing a change in control.

Any shares of preferred stock issued under this registration statement may be issued as one or more new classes or series of shares of preferred
stock, the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of which will be fixed by articles supplementary relating to each class or series. A
prospectus supplement relating to each class or series will specify the terms of the shares of preferred stock, including:

� the maximum number of shares in the class or series and the designation of the class or series;

� the terms on which dividends, if any, will be paid;

� the terms on which the shares may be redeemed, if at all;

� the liquidation preference, if any;

� the terms of any retirement or sinking fund for the purchase or redemption of the shares of the class or series;

� the terms and conditions, if any, on which the shares of the class or series will be convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any
other class or classes of stock;

� the voting rights, if any, of the shares of the class or series; and

� any or all other preferences and relative, participating, operational or other special rights or qualifications, limitations or restrictions of
the shares of the class or series.
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The description of the terms of a particular class or series of shares of preferred stock included in any prospectus supplement will not be
complete. You should refer to the articles supplementary with respect to a class or series of preferred stock for complete information concerning
the terms of that class or series. A copy of the articles supplementary for each new class or series of preferred stock will be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part or as an exhibit to a filing
incorporated by reference in such registration statement.

Our board of directors may authorize the issuance of classes or series of preferred stock with voting or conversion rights that could adversely
affect the voting power or other rights of common stockholders. The issuance of shares of preferred stock, which may provide flexibility in
connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control, and may
cause the market price of shares of common stock to decline or impair the voting and other rights of the holders of shares of common stock.

Series A Preferred Stock

Our charter does not require us to obtain the consent of holders of Series A preferred stock for any corporate action, and the holders of the
Series A preferred stock do not have any voting rights or powers except with respect to (1) the creation, authorization or issuance of any class or
series of capital stock senior to the Series A preferred stock, (2) an increase in the number of authorized shares of Series A preferred stock and
(3) any amendment, alteration or repeal of our charter that would impair, circumvent or adversely affect the rights, preferences or privileges
relating to the Series A preferred stock, including any amendment of the voting provisions of the Series A preferred stock. Dividends accrue
daily at a rate of 8.5% per year, subject to adjustments in the event of a stock dividend, stock split, combination or other similar recapitalization
with respect to the Series A preferred stock. If authorized by our board of directors and declared by us, accruing dividends on the Series A
preferred stock are payable on September 30 of each year. Series A preferred stock is not convertible into shares of our common stock. If we are
liquidated or dissolved, holders of our Series A preferred stock are entitled to receive the issue price of $1,000 per share plus any accrued and
unpaid dividends, whether or not declared, before any payment may be made to the holders of our common stock or any other class or series of
our capital stock ranking junior on liquidation to the Series A preferred stock. The Series A preferred stock ranks on parity with our Series B
preferred stock with respect to dividends and payments upon a dissolution of our company. Holders of Series A preferred stock do not have the
right to require the redemption of their shares, but we have the option of redeeming outstanding shares of Series A preferred stock at any time
for a purchase price equal to $1,000 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. All previously issued shares of Series A preferred stock
have been redeemed.

Series B Preferred Stock

Our charter does not require us to obtain the consent of holders of Series B preferred stock for any corporate action, and holders of Series B
preferred stock do not have any voting rights or powers except with respect to (1) the creation, authorization or issuance of any class or series of
capital stock senior to the Series B preferred stock, (2) an increase in the number of authorized shares of Series B preferred stock and (3) any
amendment, alteration or repeal of our charter that would impair, circumvent or adversely affect the rights, preferences or privileges relating to
the Series B preferred stock, including any amendment of the voting provisions of the Series B preferred stock. Dividends accrue daily at a rate
of 8.5% per year, in each case subject to adjustments in the event of a stock dividend, stock split, combination or other similar recapitalization
with respect to the Series B preferred stock. If authorized by our board of directors, and declared by us, accruing dividends on the Series B
preferred stock are payable on September 30 of each year. Series B preferred stock is not convertible into shares of our common
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stock. If we are liquidated or dissolved, holders of Series B preferred stock are entitled to receive the issue price of $1,000 per share plus any
accrued and unpaid dividends, whether or not declared, before any payment may be made to the holders of our common stock or any other class
or series of our capital stock ranking junior on liquidation to the Series A preferred stock. Series B preferred stock ranks on parity with our
Series A preferred stock with respect to dividends and payments upon a dissolution of our company. Holders of Series B preferred stock do not
have the right to require the redemption of their shares, but we have the option to redeem the outstanding shares of Series B preferred stock at
any time for a purchase price equal to $1,000 per share plus any accrued and unpaid dividends. All previously issued shares of Series B preferred
stock have been redeemed.

Uncertificated Shares

Unless otherwise provided by our board of directors, we will not issue shares in certificated form. We maintain a stock ledger that contains the
name and address of each stockholder and the number of shares that the stockholder holds. With respect to uncertificated stock, we will continue
to treat the stockholder registered on our stock ledger as the owner of the shares until the new owner delivers a properly executed form to us,
which form we will provide to any registered holder upon request.

Meetings, Special Voting Requirements and Access to Records

An annual meeting of the stockholders will be held each year, on the date and at the time and place set by our board of directors. Special
meetings of stockholders may be called by our board of directors, the chairman of the board, the president or the chief executive officer, and,
subject to certain procedural requirements set forth in our bylaws, must be called by our secretary to act on any matter that may properly be
considered at a meeting of stockholders upon the written request of stockholders entitled to cast at least a majority of all the votes entitled to be
cast on such matter at the special meeting. The presence in person or by proxy of stockholders entitled to cast at least a majority of all the votes
entitled to be cast at a meeting on any matter constitutes a quorum. Generally, the affirmative vote of a majority of all votes cast is necessary to
take stockholder action, except that a plurality of the votes cast at a meeting at which a quorum is present is sufficient to elect a director and
except as set forth in the next paragraph.

Under Maryland law, a Maryland corporation generally cannot dissolve, amend its charter, merge, sell all or substantially all of its assets, engage
in a share exchange or engage in similar transactions outside the ordinary course of business, unless declared advisable by its board of directors
and approved by the affirmative vote of stockholders entitled to cast at least two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. However, a
Maryland corporation may provide in its charter for approval of these matters by a lesser percentage, but not less than a majority of all of the
votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Our charter provides for a majority vote in these situations.

Stockholders may, by the affirmative vote of a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of directors, remove a director
from our board.

Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer

Ownership Limit

In order for us to qualify as a REIT, during the last half of each taxable year, not more than 50% of the value of our outstanding shares may be
owned, directly or indirectly, by five or fewer individuals, as defined in the Code to include certain entities. In addition, the outstanding shares
must be owned by 100 or more persons independent of us and each other during at least 335 days of a 12-month taxable year or during a
proportionate part of a shorter taxable year.
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We may prohibit certain acquisitions and transfers of shares so as to ensure our continued qualification as a REIT under the Code. However, we
cannot assure you that this prohibition will be effective.

Our charter contains limitations on ownership that prohibit any person or group of persons from acquiring, directly or indirectly, beneficial
ownership of more than 9.8% in value of our outstanding stock, or more than 9.8% (in value or in number of shares, whichever is more
restrictive) of our outstanding common stock. Our charter also provides that our board of directors may, subject to certain conditions,
prospectively or retroactively exempt a person or group of persons from these ownership limitations and establish or increase an excepted holder
limit for such person or group of persons. However, the board may not exempt any person whose ownership of our outstanding stock would
result in our being �closely held� within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code or otherwise would result in our failing to qualify as a REIT. In
order to be considered by the board for exemption, a person also must agree that any violation or attempted violation of these restrictions or any
representation or undertakings on which the board of directors conditioned such exemption or excepted holder limit will result in the automatic
transfer of the shares of stock causing the violation to a trust. The board of directors may require a ruling from the IRS or an opinion of counsel
in order to determine or ensure our status as a REIT.

Our charter further prohibits (1) any person from owning shares of our stock that would result in our being �closely held� under Section 856(h) of
the Code or otherwise cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT and (2) any person from transferring shares of our stock if the transfer would result in
our stock being beneficially owned by fewer than 100 persons. Any person who acquires or attempts or intends to acquire shares of our stock
that may violate any of these restrictions, or who is the intended transferee of shares of our stock that are transferred to the trust, as described
below, is required to give us immediate written notice or, in the case of a proposed or attempted transaction, at least 15 days prior written notice
and provide us with such information as we may request in order to determine the effect of the transfer on our status as a REIT. The above
restrictions will not apply if our board of directors determines that it is no longer in our best interests to continue to qualify as a REIT and files
with the State Department of Assessments and Taxation of Maryland a certificate of notice setting forth such determination by the board of
directors or if our board of directors determines that compliance is no longer required for REIT qualification.

Any attempted transfer of our stock which, if effective, would result in our stock being beneficially owned by fewer than 100 persons will be
null and void and the proposed transferee will acquire no rights in the shares. Any attempted transfer of our stock which, if effective, would
result in violation of the ownership limits discussed above or in our being �closely held� under Section 856(h) of the Code or otherwise failing to
qualify as a REIT will cause the number of shares causing the violation (rounded to the nearest whole share) to be automatically transferred to a
trust for the exclusive benefit of one or more charitable beneficiaries, and the proposed transferee will not acquire any rights in the shares. The
automatic transfer will be deemed to be effective as of the close of business on the business day prior to the date of the transfer. If the transfer to
the trust would not be effective for any reason to prevent the violation of such limitations, then the transfer of that number of shares that
otherwise would cause such violation will be null and void and the proposed transferee will acquire no rights in such shares. Shares of our stock
held in the trust will be issued and outstanding shares. The proposed transferee will not benefit economically from ownership of any shares of
stock held in the trust, will have no rights to distributions and no rights to vote or other rights attributable to the shares of stock held in the trust.
The trustee of the trust will have all voting rights and rights to dividends or other distributions with respect to shares held in the trust. These
rights will be exercised for the exclusive benefit of the charitable beneficiary. Any dividend or other distribution paid prior to our discovery that
shares of stock have been
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transferred to the trust will be paid by the recipient to the trustee upon demand. Any dividend or other distribution authorized but unpaid will be
paid when due to the trustee. Any dividend or distribution paid to the trustee will be held in trust for the charitable beneficiary. Subject to
Maryland law, the trustee will have the authority (1) to rescind as void any vote cast by the proposed transferee prior to our discovery that the
shares have been transferred to the trust and (2) to recast the vote in accordance with the desires of the trustee acting for the benefit of the
charitable beneficiary. However, if we have already taken irreversible corporate action, then the trustee will not have the authority to rescind and
recast the vote.

Within 20 days of receiving notice from us that shares of our stock have been transferred to the trust, the trustee will sell the shares to a person
designated by the trustee, whose ownership of the shares will not violate the above ownership limitations. Upon the sale, the interest of the
charitable beneficiary in the shares sold will terminate and the trustee will distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the proposed transferee and to
the charitable beneficiary as follows. The proposed transferee will receive the lesser of (1) the price paid by the proposed transferee for the
shares or, if the proposed transferee did not give value for the shares in connection with the event causing the shares to be held in the trust (e.g.,
a gift, devise or other similar transaction), the �market price� (as defined in our charter) of the shares on the day of the event causing the shares to
be held in the trust and (2) the price received by the trustee from the sale or other disposition of the shares. The trustee may reduce the amount
payable to the proposed transferee by the amount of dividends and other distributions which have been paid to the proposed transferee and are
owed by the proposed transferee to the trustee. Any net sales proceeds in excess of the amount payable to the proposed transferee will be paid
immediately to the charitable beneficiary. If, prior to our discovery that shares of our stock have been transferred to the trust, the shares are sold
by the proposed transferee, then (1) the shares shall be deemed to have been sold on behalf of the trust and (2) to the extent that the proposed
transferee received an amount for the shares that exceeds the amount he was entitled to receive, the excess shall be paid to the trustee upon
demand.

In addition, shares of our stock held in the trust will be deemed to have been offered for sale to us, or our designee, at a price per share equal to
the lesser of (1) the price per share in the transaction that resulted in the transfer to the trust (or, in the case of a devise or gift, the market price at
the time of the devise or gift) and (2) the market price on the date we, or our designee, accept the offer. We will have the right to accept the offer
until the trustee has sold the shares. Upon a sale to us, the interest of the charitable beneficiary in the shares sold will terminate and the trustee
will distribute the net proceeds of the sale to the proposed transferee. We may reduce the amount payable to the proposed transferee by the
amount of dividends and other distributions which have been paid to the proposed transferee and are owed by the proposed transferee to the
trustee. We may pay the amount of such reduction to the trustee for the benefit of the charitable beneficiary.

Any certificates representing shares of our stock will bear a legend referring to the restrictions described above.

Every owner of more than 5% (or such lower percentage as required by the Code or the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder) of our
stock, within 30 days after the end of each taxable year, is required to give us written notice, stating his name and address, the number of shares
of each class and series of our stock which he beneficially owns, and a description of the manner in which the shares are held. Each such owner
shall provide us with such additional information as we may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of his beneficial ownership on our
status as a REIT and to ensure compliance with the ownership limits and the other restrictions set forth in our charter. In addition, each
stockholder shall upon demand be required to provide us with such information as we may request in good faith in order to determine our
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status as a REIT and to comply with the requirements of any taxing authority or governmental authority or to determine such compliance.

These ownership limits could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium price for our common
stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders.

Listing

Our Class A common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol �CTT.�

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our shares of common stock is ComputerShare Inc.
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DESCRIPTION OF DEBT SECURITIES

The following description, together with the additional information we include in any applicable prospectus supplement, summarizes certain
general terms and provisions of the debt securities that we may offer under this prospectus. When we offer to sell a particular series of debt
securities, we will describe the specific terms of the series in a supplement to this prospectus. We will also indicate in the prospectus supplement
to what extent the general terms and provisions described in this prospectus apply to a particular series of debt securities. To the extent the
information contained in the prospectus supplement differs from this summary description, you should rely on the information in the prospectus
supplement.

We may issue debt securities either separately, or together with, or upon the conversion or exercise of or in exchange for, other securities
described in this prospectus. Debt securities may be our senior, senior subordinated or subordinated obligations and, unless otherwise specified
in a supplement to this prospectus, the debt securities will be our direct, unsecured obligations and may be issued in one or more series.

The debt securities will be issued under an indenture between us and a trustee that we will name in the applicable prospectus supplement. We
have summarized select portions of the indenture below. The summary is not complete. The form of the indenture has been filed as an exhibit to
the registration statement and you should read the indenture carefully for provisions that may be important to you. We will include any
applicable amended and/or final indenture and any other instrument establishing the terms of any debt securities we offer as exhibits to a filing
we will make with the SEC in connection with such offering. Please read �Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference.� Capitalized terms
used in the summary and not defined in this prospectus have the meanings specified in the indenture.

General

The terms of each series of debt securities will be established by or pursuant to a resolution of our board of directors and set forth or determined
in the manner provided in such resolutions, in an officer�s certificate or by a supplemental indenture. The particular terms of each series of debt
securities will be described in a prospectus supplement relating to such series, including any pricing supplement or term sheet.

We can issue an unlimited amount of debt securities under the indenture that may be in one or more series with the same or various maturities, at
par, at a premium, or at a discount. We will set forth in a prospectus supplement, including any pricing supplement or term sheet, relating to any
series of debt securities being offered, the aggregate principal amount and the following terms of the debt securities, to the extent applicable:

� the title and ranking of the debt securities (including the terms of any subordination provisions);

� the price or prices (expressed as a percentage of the principal amount) at which we will sell the debt securities;

� any limit on the aggregate principal amount of the debt securities;

� the date or dates on which the principal on the debt securities is payable;

� the rate or rates (which may be fixed or variable) per annum or the method used to determine the rate or rates (including any
commodity, commodity index, stock exchange
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index or financial index) at which the debt securities will bear interest, the date or dates from which interest will accrue, the date or
dates on which interest will commence and be payable and any regular record date for the interest payable on any interest payment
date;

� the place or places where principal of, and any premium and interest on, the debt securities will be payable, the method of such
payment, where debt securities may be surrendered for registration of transfer or exchange and where notices and demands to us
relating to the debt securities may be delivered;

� the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which and the terms and conditions upon which we may redeem the debt
securities;

� any obligation we have to redeem or purchase the debt securities pursuant to any sinking fund or analogous provisions or at the option
of a holder of debt securities and the period or periods within which, the price or prices at which and the terms and conditions upon
which the debt securities shall be redeemed or purchased, in whole or in part, pursuant to such obligation;

� the dates on which and the price or prices at which we will repurchase debt securities at the option of the holders of debt securities and
other detailed terms and provisions of these repurchase obligations;

� the denominations in which the debt securities will be issued, if other than denominations of $1,000 and any integral multiple thereof;

� whether the debt securities will be issued in the form of certificated debt securities or global debt securities;

� the portion of principal amount of the debt securities payable upon declaration of acceleration of the maturity date, if other than the
principal amount;

� the currency of denomination of the debt securities, which may be U.S. dollars or any foreign currency, and if such currency of
denomination is a composite currency, the agency or organization, if any, responsible for overseeing such composite currency;

� the designation of the currency, currencies or currency units in which payment of principal of, and any premium and interest on, the
debt securities will be made;

� if payments of principal of, or any premium or interest on, the debt securities will be made in one or more currencies or currency units
other than that or those in which the debt securities are denominated, the manner in which the exchange rate with respect to these
payments will be determined;

� the manner in which the amounts of payment of principal of, and any premium and interest on, the debt securities will be determined,
if these amounts may be determined by reference to an index based on a currency or currencies other than that in which the debt
securities are denominated or designated to be payable or by reference to a commodity, commodity index, stock exchange index or
financial index;
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� any addition to, deletion of or change in the Events of Default described in this prospectus or in the indenture with respect to the debt
securities and any change in the acceleration provisions described in this prospectus or in the indenture with respect to the debt
securities;

� any addition to, deletion of or change in the covenants described in this prospectus or in the indenture with respect to the debt
securities;

� any other terms of the debt securities, which may supplement, modify or delete any provision of the indenture as it applies to that
series, including any terms that may be required under applicable law or regulations or advisable in connection with the marketing of
the securities;

� a discussion of any material United States federal income tax considerations applicable to an investment in the debt securities;

� any depositaries, interest rate calculation agents, exchange rate calculation agents or other agents with respect to the debt securities;

� any provisions relating to conversion or exchange of any debt securities, including if applicable, the conversion or exchange price and
period, provisions as to whether conversion or exchange will be mandatory, at the option of the holders thereof or at our option, the
events requiring an adjustment of the conversion or exchange price and provisions affecting conversion or exchange if such debt
securities are redeemed; and

� whether the debt securities will be senior debt securities or subordinated debt securities and, if applicable, a description of the
subordination terms thereof, and whether the debt securities are entitled to the benefits of the guarantee of any guarantor, and whether
any such guarantee is made on a senior or subordinated basis and, if applicable, a description of the subordination terms of any such
guarantee.

We may issue debt securities that provide for an amount less than their stated principal amount to be due and payable upon declaration of
acceleration of their maturity pursuant to the terms of the indenture. We will provide you with information on the other special considerations
applicable to any of these debt securities in the applicable prospectus supplement.

If we denominate the purchase price of any of the debt securities in a foreign currency or currencies or a foreign currency unit or units, or if the
principal of, and any premium and interest on, any series of debt securities is payable in a foreign currency or currencies or a foreign currency
unit or units, we will provide you with information on the restrictions, elections, general tax considerations, specific terms and other information
with respect to that issue of debt securities and such foreign currency or currencies or foreign currency unit or units in the applicable prospectus
supplement.

Transfer and Exchange

Each debt security will be represented by either one or more global securities issued to and registered in the name of the Depositary or a
nominee of the Depositary (any such debt security represented by a global debt security, a �book-entry debt security�), or a certificate issued in
definitive registered form (any such debt security represented by a certificated security, a �certificated debt security�) as set forth in the applicable
prospectus supplement. Except as otherwise set forth in this prospectus or the applicable prospectus supplement, book-entry debt securities will
not be issuable in certificated form except in certain limited circumstances.
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Certificated Debt Securities. You may transfer or exchange certificated debt securities at any office we maintain for this purpose in accordance
with the terms of the indenture. No service charge will be made for any transfer or exchange of certificated debt securities, but we may require
payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge payable in connection with a transfer or exchange.

You may effect the transfer of certificated debt securities and the right to receive the principal of, and any premium and interest on, certificated
debt securities only by surrendering the certificate representing those certificated debt securities and either reissuance by us or the trustee of the
certificate to the new holder or the issuance by us or the trustee of a new certificate to the new holder.

Global Debt Securities and Book-Entry System. Each global debt security representing book-entry debt securities will be deposited with, or on
behalf of, the Depositary, and registered in the name of the Depositary or a nominee of the Depositary. See �Global Securities.�

Covenants

We will set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement any restrictive covenants applicable to any issue of debt securities.

Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets

We may not consolidate with or merge with or into, or convey, transfer or lease all or substantially all of our properties and assets to, any person,
which we refer to as a successor person, unless:

� we are the surviving corporation or the successor person (if other than us) is a corporation, partnership, trust or other entity organized
and validly existing under the laws of any U.S. domestic jurisdiction and expressly assumes our obligations on the debt securities and
under the indenture;

� immediately after giving effect to the transaction, no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing;

� if we are not the successor person, each guarantor, if any, unless it has become the successor person, confirms that its guarantee shall
continue to apply to the obligations under the debt securities and the indenture to the same extent as prior to such merger, conveyance,
transfer or lease, as applicable; and

� certain other conditions are met.
Notwithstanding the above, any of our subsidiaries may consolidate with, merge into or transfer all or part of its properties to us.
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Events of Default

�Event of Default� means, with respect to any series of debt securities, any of the following:

� default in the payment of any interest upon any debt security of that series when it becomes due and payable, and continuance of that
default for a period of 30 days (unless the entire amount of the payment is deposited by us with the trustee or with a paying agent prior
to the expiration of the 30-day period);

� default in the payment of principal of any debt security of that series at its maturity;

� default in the performance or breach of any other covenant or warranty by us in the indenture (other than a covenant or warranty that
has been included in the indenture solely for the benefit of a series of debt securities other than that series), which default continues
uncured for a period of 60 days after we receive written notice from the trustee or we and the trustee receive written notice from the
holders of not less than a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series as provided in the indenture;

� certain voluntary or involuntary events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization of our company; and

� any other Event of Default provided with respect to debt securities of that series that is described in the applicable prospectus
supplement.

No Event of Default with respect to a particular series of debt securities (except as to certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization)
necessarily constitutes an Event of Default with respect to any other series of debt securities. The occurrence of certain Events of Default or an
acceleration under the indenture may constitute an event of default under certain of our or our subsidiaries� indebtedness outstanding from time to
time.

If an Event of Default with respect to outstanding debt securities of any series occurs and is continuing, then the trustee or the holders of not less
than a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series may, by a notice in writing to us (and to the trustee if given
by the holders), declare to be due and payable immediately the principal amount (or, if the debt securities of that series are discount securities,
that portion of the principal amount as may be specified in the terms of that series) of, and any accrued and unpaid interest on, all outstanding
debt securities of that series. In the case of an Event of Default resulting from certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization, the
principal amount (or such specified amount) of, and any accrued and unpaid interest on, all outstanding debt securities will become and be
immediately due and payable without any declaration or other act on the part of the trustee or any holder of outstanding debt securities. At any
time after a declaration of acceleration with respect to debt securities of any series has been made, but before a judgment or decree for payment
of the money due has been obtained by the trustee, the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series,
by written notice to us and the trustee, may rescind and annul the acceleration if all Events of Default, other than the non-payment of accelerated
principal and interest, if any, with respect to debt securities of that series, have been cured or waived as provided in the indenture. We refer you
to the prospectus supplement relating to any series of debt securities that are discount securities for the particular provisions relating to
acceleration of a portion of the principal amount of such discount securities upon the occurrence of an Event of Default.

The indenture provides that the trustee will be under no obligation to exercise any of its rights or powers under the indenture unless the trustee
receives indemnity satisfactory to it against any
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cost, liability or expense that might be incurred by it in exercising such right or power. Subject to certain rights of the trustee, the holders of a
majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series will have the right to direct the time, method and place of
conducting any proceeding for any remedy available to the trustee or exercising any trust or power conferred on the trustee with respect to the
debt securities of that series and the trustee shall not be liable with respect to any such action taken, suffered or omitted to be taken in good faith
in accordance with such direction by the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any such series.

No holder of any debt security of any series will have any right to institute any proceeding, judicial or otherwise, with respect to the indenture or
for the appointment of a receiver or trustee, or for any remedy under the indenture, unless:

� that holder has previously given to the trustee written notice of a continuing Event of Default with respect to debt securities of that
series;

� the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series have made written request, and
offered indemnity or security reasonably satisfactory to the trustee, to the trustee to institute the proceeding as trustee;

� the trustee has failed to institute any such proceeding within 60 days of receipt of such notice and the request and offer of indemnity;
and

� the trustee has not received from the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of that series a
direction inconsistent with that request within the 60-day period mentioned directly above.

Notwithstanding any other provision in the indenture, the holder of any debt security will have an absolute and unconditional right to receive
payment of the principal of, and any premium and interest on, that debt security on or after the maturity dates expressed in that debt security and
to institute suit for the enforcement of payment.

The indenture requires us, within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year, to furnish to the trustee a statement as to compliance with the
indenture. If a Default or Event of Default occurs and is continuing with respect to the debt securities of any series and if it is known to a
responsible officer of the trustee, the trustee shall mail to each holder of the debt securities of that series notice of a Default or Event of Default
within 90 days after it occurs. The indenture provides that the trustee may withhold notice to the holders of debt securities of any series of any
Default or Event of Default (except in payment on any debt securities of that series) with respect to debt securities of that series if the trustee
determines in good faith that withholding notice is in the interest of the holders of those debt securities.

Modification and Waiver

We and the trustee may modify and amend the indenture or the debt securities of any series without the consent of any holder of any debt
security in order to:

� cure any ambiguity, defect or inconsistency;

� comply with covenants in the indenture described above under the heading �Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets�;
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� provide for uncertificated securities in addition to or in place of certificated securities;

� surrender any of our rights or powers under the indenture;

� add covenants or events of default for the benefit of the holders of debt securities of any series;

� comply with the applicable procedures of the applicable depositary;

� make any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any holder of debt securities;

� provide for the issuance of and establish the form and terms and conditions of debt securities of any series as permitted by the
indenture;

� effect the appointment of a successor trustee with respect to the debt securities of any series and to add to or change any of the
provisions of the indenture to provide for or facilitate administration by more than one trustee;

� comply with requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission in order to effect or maintain the qualification of the indenture
under the Trust Indenture Act;

� reflect the release of a guarantor, if any, of the debt securities of any series in accordance with the terms of the indenture; or

� add guarantors with respect to any or all of the debt securities or to secure any or all of the debt securities or the guarantees, if any.
We may also modify and amend the indenture with the consent of the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt
securities of each series affected by the modifications or amendments. We may not make any modification or amendment without the consent of
the holders of each affected debt security then outstanding if that amendment will:

� reduce the principal amount of debt securities whose holders must consent to an amendment, supplement or waiver;

� reduce the rate of or extend the time for payment of interest (including default interest) on any debt security;

� reduce the principal of or premium on, or change the fixed maturity of, any debt security, or reduce the amount of, or postpone the
date fixed for, the payment of any sinking fund or analogous obligation with respect to any series of debt securities;

� reduce the principal amount of discount securities payable upon acceleration of maturity;
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� waive a Default or Event of Default in the payment of the principal of, or any premium or interest on, any debt security (except a
rescission of acceleration of the debt securities of any series by the holders of at least a majority in aggregate principal amount of the
then outstanding debt securities of that series and a waiver of the payment default that resulted from such acceleration);

� make the principal of, or any premium or interest on, any debt security payable in any currency other than that stated in the debt
security;
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� make any change to certain provisions of the indenture relating to, among other things, the right of holders of debt securities to receive
payment of the principal of, or any premium and interest on, those debt securities and to institute suit for the enforcement of any such
payment and to waivers or amendments;

� waive a redemption payment with respect to any debt security; or

� if the debt securities of that series are entitled to the benefit of a guarantee, release any guarantor of such series other than as provided
in the indenture or modify the guarantee in any manner adverse to the holders.

Except for certain specified provisions, the holders of at least a majority in principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series may
on behalf of the holders of all debt securities of that series waive our compliance with provisions of the indenture. The holders of a majority in
principal amount of the outstanding debt securities of any series may on behalf of the holders of all of the debt securities of such series waive
any past default under the indenture with respect to that series and its consequences, except a default in the payment of the principal of, or any
premium or interest on, any debt security of that series; provided, however, that the holders of a majority in principal amount of the outstanding
debt securities of any series may rescind an acceleration and its consequences, including any related payment default that resulted from the
acceleration.

Defeasance of Debt Securities and Certain Covenants in Certain Circumstances

Legal Defeasance. The indenture provides that, unless otherwise provided by the terms of the applicable series of debt securities, we may be
discharged from any and all obligations in respect of the debt securities of any series (subject to certain exceptions and other conditions) on the
91st day after the date of the deposit with the trustee, in trust, of money and/or U.S. government obligations or, in the case of debt securities
denominated in a single currency other than U.S. dollars, government obligations of the government that issued or caused to be issued such
currency, that, through the payment of interest and principal in accordance with their terms, will provide money or U.S. government obligations
in an amount sufficient in the opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants or investment bank to pay and discharge
each installment of principal of, any premium and interest on, and any mandatory sinking fund payments in respect of, the debt securities of that
series on the stated maturity of those payments in accordance with the terms of the indenture and those debt securities.

This discharge may occur only if, among other things, we have delivered to the trustee an opinion of counsel stating that we have received from,
or there has been published by, the IRS a ruling or, since the date of execution of the indenture, there has been a change in the applicable United
States federal income tax law, in either case to the effect that, and based thereon such opinion shall confirm that, the holders of the debt
securities of that series will not recognize income, gain or loss for United States federal income tax purposes as a result of the deposit,
defeasance and discharge and will be subject to United States federal income tax on the same amounts and in the same manner and at the same
times as would have been the case if the deposit, defeasance and discharge had not occurred.

Defeasance of Certain Covenants. The indenture provides that, unless otherwise provided by the terms of the applicable series of debt securities,
upon compliance with certain conditions:

� we may omit to comply with the covenant described under the heading �Consolidation, Merger and Sale of Assets� and certain other
covenants set forth in the indenture, as well as any additional covenants that may be set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement;
and
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� any omission to comply with those covenants will not constitute a Default or an Event of Default with respect to the debt securities of
that series, or covenant defeasance.

The conditions include:

� depositing with the trustee money and/or U.S. government obligations or, in the case of debt securities denominated in a single
currency other than U.S. dollars, government obligations of the government that issued or caused to be issued such currency, that,
through the payment of interest and principal in accordance with their terms, will provide money in an amount sufficient in the
opinion of a nationally recognized firm of independent public accountants or investment bank to pay and discharge each installment of
principal of, any premium and interest on, and any mandatory sinking fund payments in respect of the debt securities of that series on
the stated maturity of those payments in accordance with the terms of the indenture and those debt securities; and

� delivering to the trustee an opinion of counsel to the effect that the holders of the debt securities of that series will not recognize
income, gain or loss for United States federal income tax purposes as a result of the deposit and related covenant defeasance and will
be subject to United States federal income tax on the same amounts and in the same manner and at the same times as would have been
the case if the deposit and related covenant defeasance had not occurred.

Covenant Defeasance and Events of Default. In the event we exercise our option to effect covenant defeasance with respect to any series of debt
securities and the debt securities of that series are later declared due and payable because of the occurrence of any Event of Default, the amount
of money and/or U.S. government obligations or foreign government obligations on deposit with the trustee will be sufficient to pay amounts
due on the debt securities of that series at the time of their stated maturity but may not be sufficient to pay amounts due on the debt securities of
that series at the time of the acceleration resulting from the Event of Default. In such a case, we would remain liable for those payments.

�Foreign Government Obligations� means, with respect to debt securities of any series that are denominated in a currency other than U.S. dollars,
direct obligations of, or obligations guaranteed by, the government that issued or caused to be issued such currency for the payment of which
obligations its full faith and credit is pledged and which are not callable or redeemable at the option of the issuer thereof.

Regarding the Trustee

The indenture provides that, except during the continuance of an Event of Default, the trustee will perform only such duties as are specifically
set forth in the indenture. During the existence of an Event of Default, the trustee will exercise such rights and powers vested in it under the
indenture and use the same degree of care and skill in its exercise as a prudent person would exercise or use under the circumstances in the
conduct of such person�s own affairs.

The indenture and provisions of the Trust Indenture Act that are incorporated by reference therein contain limitations on the rights of the trustee,
should it become one of our creditors, to obtain payment of claims in certain cases or to realize on certain property received by it in respect of
any such claim as security or otherwise. The trustee is permitted to engage in other transactions with us or any of our affiliates; provided,
however, that if it acquires any conflicting interest (as defined in the indenture or in the Trust Indenture Act), it must eliminate such conflict or
resign.
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No Personal Liability of Directors, Officers, Employees or Stockholders

None of our past, present or future directors, officers, employees or stockholders, as such, will have any liability for any of our obligations under
the debt securities or the indenture or for any claim based on, or in respect or by reason of, such obligations or their creation. By accepting a debt
security, each holder waives and releases all such liability. This waiver and release is part of the consideration for the issue of the debt securities.

Governing Law

The indenture and the debt securities, including any claim or controversy arising out of or relating to the indenture or the debt securities, will be
governed by the laws of the State of New York (without regard to the conflicts of laws provisions thereof other than Section 5-1401 of the
General Obligations Law).
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DESCRIPTION OF DEPOSITARY SHARES

We may, at our option, elect to offer depositary shares rather than full shares of preferred stock. Each depositary share will represent ownership
of, and entitlement to, all rights and preferences of a fraction of a share of preferred stock of a specified series (including dividend, voting,
redemption and liquidation rights). The applicable fraction will be specified in a prospectus supplement. The shares of preferred stock
represented by the depositary shares will be deposited with a depositary named in the applicable prospectus supplement, under a deposit
agreement, among us, the depositary and the holders of the certificates representing depositary shares, or depositary receipts. Depositary receipts
will be delivered to those persons purchasing depositary shares in the offering. The depositary will be the transfer agent, registrar and dividend
disbursing agent for the depositary shares. Holders of depositary receipts agree to be bound by the deposit agreement, which requires holders to
take certain actions such as filing proof of residence and paying certain charges.

The summary of the terms of the depositary shares contained in this prospectus does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in
its entirety by, the provisions of the deposit agreement, our charter and the form of articles supplementary for the applicable class or series of
preferred stock.

Dividends

The depositary will distribute all cash dividends or other cash distributions received in respect of the series of preferred stock represented by the
depositary shares to the record holders of depositary receipts in proportion to the number of depositary shares owned by such holders on the
relevant record date, which will be the same date as the record date fixed by us for the applicable series of preferred stock. The depositary,
however, will distribute only such amount as can be distributed without attributing to any depositary share a fraction of one cent, and any
balance not so distributed will be added to and treated as part of the next sum received by the depositary for distribution to record holders of
depositary receipts then outstanding.

In the event of a distribution other than in cash, the depositary will distribute property received by it to the record holders of depositary receipts
entitled thereto, in proportion, as nearly as may be practicable, to the number of depositary shares owned by such holders on the relevant record
date, unless the depositary determines (after consultation with us) that it is not feasible to make such distribution, in which case the depositary
may (with our approval) adopt any other method for such distribution as it deems equitable and appropriate, including the sale of such property
(at such place or places and upon such terms as it may deem equitable and appropriate) and distribution of the net proceeds from such sale to
such holders.

No distribution will be made in respect of any depositary share to the extent that it represents any preferred stock transferred to a trust for the
benefit of one or more charitable beneficiaries. See �Restrictions on Ownership and Transfer.�

Liquidation Preference

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the affairs of our company, whether voluntary or involuntary, the holders of each
depositary share will be entitled to the fraction of the liquidation preference accorded each share of the applicable series of preferred stock as set
forth in the applicable prospectus supplement.
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Redemption

If the series of preferred stock represented by the applicable series of depositary shares is redeemable, such depositary shares will be redeemed
from the proceeds received by the depositary resulting from the redemption, in whole or in part, of preferred stock held by the depositary.
Whenever we redeem any preferred stock held by the depositary, the depositary will redeem as of the same redemption date the number of
depositary shares representing the shares of preferred stock so redeemed. The depositary will mail the notice of redemption promptly upon
receipt of such notice from us and not less than 30 nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption of the preferred stock and the
depositary shares to the record holders of the depositary receipts.

Voting

Promptly upon receipt of notice of any meeting at which the holders of the series of preferred stock represented by the applicable series of
depositary shares are entitled to vote, the depositary will mail the information contained in such notice of meeting to the record holders of the
depositary receipts as of the record date for such meeting. Each such record holder of depositary receipts will be entitled to instruct the
depositary as to the exercise of the voting rights pertaining to the number of shares of preferred stock represented by such record holder�s
depositary shares. The depositary will endeavor, insofar as practicable, to vote such preferred stock represented by such depositary shares in
accordance with such instructions, and we will agree to take all action which may be deemed necessary by the depositary in order to enable the
depositary to do so. The depositary will abstain from voting any of the preferred stock to the extent that it does not receive specific instructions
from the holders of depositary receipts.

Withdrawal of Preferred Stock

Upon surrender of depositary receipts at the principal office of the depositary and payment of any unpaid amount due the depositary, and subject
to the terms of the deposit agreement, the owner of the depositary shares represented thereby is entitled to delivery of the number of whole
shares of preferred stock and all money and other property, if any, represented by such depositary shares. Partial shares of preferred stock will
not be issued. If the depositary receipts delivered by the holder represent a number of depositary shares in excess of the number of depositary
shares representing the number of whole shares of preferred stock to be withdrawn, the depositary will deliver to such holder at the same time a
new depositary receipt representing such excess number of depositary shares. Holders of preferred stock thus withdrawn will not thereafter be
entitled to deposit such shares under the deposit agreement or to receive depositary receipts representing depositary shares therefor.

Amendment and Termination of Deposit Agreement

The form of depositary receipt representing the depositary shares and any provision of the deposit agreement may at any time and from time to
time be amended by agreement between us and the depositary. However, any amendment which materially and adversely alters the rights of the
holders (other than any change in fees) of depositary shares will not be effective unless such amendment has been approved by at least a
majority of the depositary shares then outstanding. No such amendment may impair the right, subject to the terms of the deposit agreement, of
any owner of any depositary shares to surrender the depositary receipt representing such depositary shares with instructions to the depositary to
deliver to the holder of the preferred stock and all money and other property, if any, represented thereby, except in order to comply with
mandatory provisions of applicable law.
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The deposit agreement will be permitted to be terminated by us upon not less than 30 days prior written notice to the applicable depositary if
(1) such termination is necessary to preserve our status as a REIT or (2) a majority of each series of preferred stock affected by such termination
consents to such termination, whereupon such depositary will be required to deliver or make available to each holder of depositary receipts,
upon surrender of the depositary receipts held by such holder, such number of whole or fractional shares of preferred stock as are represented by
the depositary shares represented by such depositary receipts together with any other property held by such depositary with respect to such
depositary receipts. We will agree that if the deposit agreement is terminated to preserve our status as a REIT, then we will use our best efforts to
list the preferred stock issued upon surrender of the related depositary shares on a national securities exchange. In addition, the deposit
agreement will automatically terminate if (1) all outstanding depositary shares thereunder shall have been redeemed, (2) there shall have been a
final distribution in respect of the related preferred stock in connection with any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of our company and such
distribution shall have been distributed to the holders of depositary receipts representing the depositary shares representing such preferred stock
or (3) each share of the related preferred stock shall have been converted into stock of our company not so represented by depositary shares.

Charges of Depositary

We will pay all transfer and other taxes and governmental charges arising solely from the existence of the depositary arrangements. We will pay
charges of the depositary in connection with the initial deposit of the preferred stock and initial issuance of the depositary shares, and
redemption of the preferred stock and all withdrawals of preferred stock by owners of depositary shares. Holders of depositary receipts will pay
transfer, income and other taxes and governmental charges and certain other charges as are provided in the deposit agreement to be for their
accounts. In certain circumstances, the depositary may refuse to transfer depositary shares, may withhold dividends and distributions and sell the
depositary shares represented by such depositary receipt if such charges are not paid. The applicable prospectus supplement will include
information with respect to fees and charges, if any, in connection with the deposit or substitution of the underlying securities, the receipt and
distribution of dividends, the sale or exercise of rights, the withdrawal of the underlying security, and the transferring, splitting or grouping of
receipts. The applicable prospectus supplement will also include information with respect to the right to collect the fees and charges, if any,
against dividends received and deposited securities.

Miscellaneous

The depositary will forward to the holders of depositary receipts all notices, reports and proxy soliciting material from us which are delivered to
the depositary and which we are required to furnish to the holders of the preferred stock. In addition, the depositary will make available for
inspection by holders of depositary receipts at the principal office of the depositary, and at such other places as it may from time to time deem
advisable, any notices, reports and proxy soliciting material received from us which are received by the depositary as the holder of preferred
stock. The applicable prospectus supplement will include information about the rights, if any, of holders of receipts to inspect the transfer books
of the depositary and the list of holders of receipts.

Neither the depositary nor our company assumes any obligation or will be subject to any liability under the deposit agreement to holders of
depositary receipts other than for its negligence or willful misconduct. Neither the depositary nor our company will be liable if it is prevented or
delayed by law or any circumstance beyond its control in performing its obligations under the deposit agreement. The obligations of our
company and the depositary under the deposit agreement will be limited to performance in good faith of their duties thereunder, and they will
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not be obligated to prosecute or defend any legal proceeding in respect of any depositary shares or preferred stock unless satisfactory indemnity
is furnished. Our company and the depositary may rely on written advice of counsel or accountants, on information provided by holders of the
depositary receipts or other persons believed in good faith to be competent to give such information and on documents believed to be genuine
and to have been signed or presented by the proper party or parties.

In the event the depositary shall receive conflicting claims, requests or instructions from any holders of depositary receipts, on the one hand, and
us, on the other hand, the depositary shall be entitled to act on such claims, requests or instructions received from us.

Resignation and Removal of Depositary

The depositary may resign at any time by delivering to us notice of its election to do so, and we may at any time remove the depositary, any such
resignation or removal to take effect upon the appointment of a successor depositary and its acceptance of such appointment. Such successor
depositary must be appointed within 60 days after delivery of the notice for resignation or removal and must be a bank or trust company having
its principal office in the United States and having a combined capital and surplus of at least $150,000,000.
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DESCRIPTION OF WARRANTS

We may issue warrants for the purchase of shares of our common stock or preferred stock, depositary shares or debt securities. We may issue
warrants independently or together with other securities, and the warrants may be attached to or separate from any offered securities. Each series
of warrants will be issued under a separate warrant agreement to be entered into between us and the investors or a warrant agent. The following
summary of material provisions of the warrants and warrant agreements is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, all of the
provisions of the warrant agreement and warrant certificate applicable to a particular series of warrants. The terms of any warrants offered under
a prospectus supplement may differ from the terms described below. You should read any applicable prospectus supplement relating to the terms
of warrants being offered, as well as the complete warrant agreements and warrant certificates that contain the terms of the warrants.

The particular terms of any issue of warrants will be described in the prospectus supplement relating to the issue. Those terms may include:

� the number of shares of common stock or preferred stock or depositary shares purchasable upon the exercise of warrants to purchase
such shares and the price at which such number of shares may be purchased upon such exercise;

� the designation, stated value and terms (including, without limitation, liquidation, dividend, conversion and voting rights) of the series
of preferred stock purchasable upon exercise of warrants to purchase preferred stock or depositary shares;

� the principal amount of debt securities that may be purchased upon exercise of a debt warrant and the exercise price for the warrants,
which may be payable in cash, securities or other property;

� the date, if any, on and after which the warrants and the related debt securities, common stock, preferred stock or depositary shares
will be separately transferable;

� the terms of any rights to redeem or call the warrants;

� the date on which the right to exercise the warrants will commence and the date on which the right will expire;

� a discussion of any material United States federal income tax considerations applicable to an investment in the warrants; and

� any additional terms of the warrants, including terms, procedures and limitations relating to the exchange, exercise and settlement of
the warrants.

Holders of equity warrants will not be entitled to:

� vote, consent or receive dividends;

� receive notice as stockholders with respect to any meeting of stockholders for the election of our directors or any other matter; or
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Each warrant will entitle its holder to purchase the principal amount of debt securities or the number of shares of common stock or preferred
stock or depositary shares at the exercise price set forth in, or calculable as set forth in, the applicable prospectus supplement. Unless we
otherwise specify in the applicable prospectus supplement, holders of the warrants may exercise the warrants at any time up to the specified time
on the expiration date that we set forth in the applicable prospectus supplement. After the close of business on the expiration date, unexercised
warrants will be void.

A holder of warrant certificates may exchange them for new warrant certificates of different denominations, present them for registration of
transfer and exercise them at the corporate trust office of the warrant agent or any other office indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement.
Until any warrants to purchase debt securities are exercised, the holders of the warrants will not have any rights of holders of the debt securities
that can be purchased upon exercise, including any rights to receive payments of principal of, or any premium or interest on, the underlying debt
securities or to enforce covenants in the applicable indenture. Until any warrants to purchase shares of common stock or preferred stock or
depositary shares are exercised, the holders of the warrants will not have any rights of holders of the underlying common stock or preferred
stock, including any rights to receive dividends or payments upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up on the common stock or preferred
stock, if any.
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DESCRIPTION OF UNITS

We may issue units consisting of any combination of the other types of securities offered under this prospectus in one or more series. We may
evidence each series of units by unit certificates that we will issue under a separate agreement. We may enter into unit agreements with a unit
agent. Each unit agent will be a bank or trust company that we select. We will indicate the name and address of the unit agent in the applicable
prospectus supplement relating to a particular series of units.

The following description, together with the additional information included in any applicable prospectus supplement, summarizes the general
features of the units that we may offer under this prospectus. You should read any prospectus supplement relating to the series of units being
offered, as well as the complete unit agreements that contain the terms of the units. Specific unit agreements will contain additional important
terms and provisions, and we will file as an exhibit to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part, or will incorporate by
reference from another report that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the form of each unit agreement relating to units
offered under this prospectus.

If we offer any units, certain terms of that series of units will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement, including, without limitation,
the following, as applicable:

� the title of the series of units;

� identification and description of the separate constituent securities comprising the units;

� the price or prices at which the units will be issued;

� the date, if any, on and after which the constituent securities comprising the units will be separately transferable;

� a discussion of any material United States federal income tax considerations applicable to an investment in the units; and

� any other terms of the units and their constituent securities.

32

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Index to Financial Statements 233



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATING PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT

General

CatchMark Timber Operating Partnership, L.P., which we refer to as our operating partnership, is a Delaware limited partnership. We own
substantially all of our assets and conduct our operations through our operating partnership. We are the sole general partner of our operating
partnership, and we directly or indirectly own 100% of the equity interests in our operating partnership. As the sole general partner, we have the
exclusive power to manage and conduct the business of our operating partnership.

This structure facilitates our ability to take advantage of the tax benefits associated with an UPREIT, or an umbrella partnership REIT. An
UPREIT is a structure that REITs often use to acquire real property from sellers on a tax-deferred basis because the sellers can generally accept
partnership units and defer taxable gain otherwise required to be recognized by them upon the disposition of their properties. Such sellers may
also desire to achieve diversity in their investment and other benefits afforded to stockholders in a REIT. For purposes of satisfying the asset and
income tests for qualification as a REIT, the REIT�s proportionate share of the assets and income of our operating partnership will be deemed to
be assets and income of the REIT.

If we ever decide to acquire properties in exchange for units of limited partnership interest in our operating partnership, we expect to amend and
restate the partnership agreement to provide substantially as set forth below.

Capital Contributions

We would expect the partnership agreement to require us to contribute the proceeds of any offering of our shares of stock to our operating
partnership as an additional capital contribution. If we contribute additional capital to our operating partnership, we would receive additional
partnership units and our percentage interest in our operating partnership would be increased on a proportionate basis based upon the amount of
such additional capital contributions and the value of our operating partnership at the time of such contributions. We also expect that the
partnership agreement would allow us to cause our operating partnership to issue partnership interests for less than their fair market value if we
conclude in good faith that such issuance is in the best interest of our operating partnership and us. Our operating partnership would also be able
to issue preferred partnership interests in connection with acquisitions of property or otherwise. These preferred partnership interests could have
priority over common partnership interests with respect to distributions from our operating partnership, including priority over the partnership
interests that we would own as a limited partner. If our operating partnership would require additional funds at any time in excess of capital
contributions made by us or from borrowing, we could borrow funds from a financial institution or other lender and lend such funds to our
operating partnership on the same terms and conditions as are applicable to our borrowing of such funds.

Operations

We would expect the partnership agreement to provide that, so long as we remain qualified as a REIT, the operating partnership would be
operated in a manner that would enable us to satisfy the requirements for being taxed as a REIT. We would also have the power to take actions
to
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ensure that the operating partnership would not be classified as a �publicly traded partnership� for purposes of Section 7704 of the Code.
Classification as a publicly traded partnership could result in the operating partnership being taxed as a corporation, rather than as a partnership.

Distributions and Allocations of Profits and Losses

We would expect the partnership agreement to provide that the operating partnership would distribute cash flows from operations to its partners
in accordance with their respective percentage interests on at least a monthly basis in amounts that we determine. The effect of these
distributions would be that a holder of one unit of limited partnership interest in our operating partnership would receive the same amount of
annual cash flow distributions as the amount of annual distributions paid to the holder of one of our shares of common stock.

Similarly, the partnership agreement would provide that our operating partnership would allocate profits to its partners in accordance with their
respective percentage interests. Losses, if any, would generally be allocated among the partners in accordance with their respective percentage
interests in our operating partnership. Losses could not be passed through to our stockholders.

Upon liquidation of our operating partnership, after payment of, or adequate provision for, debts and obligations of our operating partnership,
including partner loans, any remaining assets of our operating partnership would be distributed to its partners in accordance with their respective
positive capital account balances.

Rights, Obligations and Powers of the General Partner

We would expect to be the sole general partner of our operating partnership. As sole general partner, we generally would have complete and
exclusive discretion to manage and control our operating partnership�s business and to make all decisions affecting its assets. Under an amended
and restated partnership agreement, we would also expect to have the authority to:

� acquire, purchase, own, operate, lease, manage and dispose of any real property and any other assets;

� construct buildings and make other improvements on owned or leased properties;

� authorize, issue, sell, redeem or otherwise purchase any debt or other securities;

� borrow or loan money;

� make or revoke any tax election;

� maintain insurance coverage in amounts and types as we determine is necessary;

� retain employees or other service providers;

� form or acquire interests in joint ventures; and
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Under an amended and restated partnership agreement, we expect that our operating partnership would continue to pay all of the administrative
and operating costs and expenses it
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incurs in acquiring, operating and managing our investments. Our operating partnership would also pay all of our administrative costs and
expenses and such expenses would be treated as expenses of the operating partnership. Such expenses would include:

� all expenses relating to the continuity of our existence;

� all expenses relating to the offering and registration of our securities;

� all expenses associated with the preparation and filing of our periodic reports under federal, state or local laws or regulations;

� all expenses associated with our compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations; and

� all of our other operating or administrative costs incurred in the ordinary course of business.
The only costs and expenses we could incur that the operating partnership would not reimburse would be costs and expenses relating to assets
we may own outside of the operating partnership. We would pay the expenses relating to such assets directly.

Exchange Rights

We expect that an amended and restated partnership agreement would also provide for exchange rights. We expect the limited partners of our
operating partnership would have the right to cause our operating partnership to redeem their units of limited partnership interest for cash equal
to the value of an equivalent number of our shares, or, at our option, we could purchase their units of limited partnership interest for cash or by
issuing one share of our common stock for each unit redeemed. Limited partners, however, would not be able to exercise this exchange right if
and to the extent that the delivery of our shares upon such exercise would:

� result in any person owning shares in excess of the ownership limit in our charter (unless exempted prospectively or retroactively by
our board of directors);

� result in our shares being beneficially owned by fewer than 100 persons;

� result in our shares being �closely held� within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code; or

� cause us to own 10% or more of the ownership interests in a tenant within the meaning of Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Code.
Furthermore, limited partners could exercise their exchange rights only after their units of limited partnership interest had been outstanding for
one year. A limited partner could not deliver more than two exchange notices each calendar year and would not be able to exercise an exchange
right for less than 1,000 units of limited partnership interest, unless such limited partner held less than 1,000 units. In that case, the limited
partner would be required to exercise his exchange right for all of his units.

Change in General Partner

We expect that we generally would not be able to withdraw as the general partner of the operating partnership or transfer our general partnership
interest in the operating partnership (unless we transferred our interest to a wholly owned subsidiary). The principal exception to this
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would be if we merged with another entity and (1) the holders of a majority of partnership units (including those we held) approved the
transaction; (2) the limited partners received or had the right to receive an amount of cash, securities or other property equal in value to the
amount they would have received if they had exercised their exchange rights immediately before such transaction; (3) we were the surviving
entity and our stockholders did not receive cash, securities or other property in the transaction; or (4) the successor entity contributed
substantially all of its assets to our operating partnership in return for an interest in our operating partnership and agreed to assume all
obligations of the general partner of the operating partnership. If we voluntarily sought protection under bankruptcy or state insolvency laws, or
if we were involuntarily placed under such protection for more than 90 days, we would be deemed to be automatically removed as the general
partner. Otherwise, the limited partners would not have the right to remove us as general partner.

36

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Table of Contents 239



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF MARYLAND LAW AND OF OUR CHARTER AND BYLAWS

The following summary of certain provisions of Maryland law and of our charter and bylaws is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by
reference to, Maryland law, and to our charter and bylaws, copies of which are exhibits to the registration statement of which this prospectus is a
part. See �Where You Can Find More Information.�

Business Combinations

Under Maryland law, business combinations between a Maryland corporation and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested
stockholder are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. These
business combinations include a merger, consolidation, share exchange, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, an asset transfer or issuance
or reclassification of equity securities. An interested stockholder is defined as:

� any person who beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the voting power of our outstanding voting stock; or

� an affiliate or associate of ours who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner,
directly or indirectly, of 10% or more of the voting power of our then-outstanding stock.

A person is not an interested stockholder if our board of directors approved in advance the transaction by which the person otherwise would
have become an interested stockholder. However, in approving a transaction, our board of directors may provide that its approval is subject to
compliance, at or after the time of approval, with any terms and conditions determined by our board of directors.

After the five-year prohibition, any business combination between us and an interested stockholder or an affiliate of an interested stockholder
generally must be recommended by our board of directors and approved by the affirmative vote of at least:

� 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of our then-outstanding shares of voting stock; and

� two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of our voting stock other than stock held by the interested stockholder with whom
or with whose affiliate the business combination is to be effected or stock held by an affiliate or associate of the interested stockholder.

These super-majority vote requirements do not apply if our common stockholders receive a minimum price, as defined under Maryland law, for
their stock in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested stockholder for its stock.

The statute permits various exemptions from its provisions, including business combinations that are exempted by the board of directors before
the time that the interested stockholder becomes an interested stockholder. Our board of directors has adopted a resolution providing that any
business combination between us and any other person is exempted from this statute, provided that such business combination is first approved
by our board. This resolution, however, may be altered or repealed in whole or in part at any time. If this resolution is repealed, the statute may
discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase the difficulty of consummating any offer to acquire us.
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Control Share Acquisitions

Maryland law provides that control shares of a Maryland corporation acquired in a control share acquisition have no voting rights except to the
extent approved by a vote of stockholders entitled to cast two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Shares owned by the acquiror,
by officers or by employees who are directors of the corporation are excluded from shares entitled to vote on the matter. Control shares are
voting shares of stock which, if aggregated with all other shares of stock owned by the acquiror or in respect of which the acquiror is able to
exercise or direct the exercise of voting power (except solely by virtue of a revocable proxy), would entitle the acquiror to exercise voting power
in electing directors within one of the following ranges of voting power:

� one-tenth or more but less than one-third;

� one-third or more but less than a majority; or

� a majority or more of all voting power.
Control shares do not include shares the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained stockholder approval.
A control share acquisition means the acquisition of issued and outstanding control shares, subject to certain exceptions.

A person who has made or proposes to make a control share acquisition may compel the board of directors of the corporation to call a special
meeting of stockholders to be held within 50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. The right to compel the calling of a
special meeting is subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, including an undertaking to pay the expenses of the meeting. If no request for
a meeting is made, the corporation may itself present the question at any stockholders� meeting.

If voting rights are not approved at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an acquiring person statement as required by the
statute, then the corporation may redeem for fair value any or all of the control shares, except those for which voting rights have previously been
approved. The right of the corporation to redeem control shares is subject to certain conditions and limitations. Fair value is determined, without
regard to the absence of voting rights for the control shares, as of the date of the last control share acquisition by the acquiror or of any meeting
of stockholders at which the voting rights of the shares are considered and not approved. If voting rights for control shares are approved at a
stockholders� meeting and the acquiror becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares entitled to vote, all other stockholders may exercise
appraisal rights. The fair value of the shares as determined for purposes of appraisal rights may not be less than the highest price per share paid
by the acquiror in the control share acquisition.

The control share acquisition statute does not apply (1) to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or share exchange if the corporation is a
party to the transaction, or (2) to acquisitions approved or exempted by the charter or bylaws of the corporation.

Our bylaws contain a provision exempting from the control share acquisition statute any and all acquisitions of shares of our stock by any
person. There can be no assurance that this provision will not be amended or eliminated (without stockholder approval) at any time in the future.

Subtitle 8

Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the MGCL permits a Maryland corporation with a class of equity securities registered under the Exchange Act and at least
three independent directors to elect to be
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subject, by provision in its charter or bylaws or a resolution of its board of directors and notwithstanding any contrary provision in the charter or
bylaws, to any or all of five provisions:

� a classified board;

� a two-thirds vote requirement to remove a director;

� a requirement that the number of directors be fixed only by the vote of the directors;

� a requirement that a vacancy on our board of directors be filled only by the remaining directors and for the remainder of a requirement
that a vacancy on the board be filled only by the remaining directors and for the remainder of the full term of the class of directors in
which the vacancy occurred; and

� a majority requirement for the calling of a special meeting of stockholders.
Through provisions in our charter and bylaws unrelated to Subtitle 8, we (1) vest in our board of directors the exclusive power to fix the number
of directorships and (2) require, unless called by our board of directors, the chairman of the board, our president or our chief executive officer,
the request of stockholders entitled to cast at least a majority of the votes entitled to be cast on any matter that may properly be considered at a
meeting of stockholders to call a special meeting to act on such matter. Pursuant to Subtitle 8, we have elected that, except as may be provided
by our board of directors in setting the terms of any class or series of preferred stock, any and all vacancies on our board of directors may be
filled only by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors in office, even if the remaining directors do not constitute a quorum,
and any director elected to fill a vacancy will serve for the remainder of the full term of the directorship in which the vacancy occurred.

Advance Notice of Director Nominations and New Business

Our bylaws provide that with respect to an annual meeting of stockholders, nominations of individuals for election to the board of directors and
the proposal of business to be considered by stockholders may be made only (1) pursuant to our notice of the meeting, (2) by or at the direction
of the board of directors or (3) by a stockholder who is a stockholder of record both at the time of giving the advance notice required by our
bylaws and at the time of the meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting in the election of each individual so nominated or on such other
business and who has complied with the advance notice procedures of the bylaws. With respect to special meetings of stockholders, only the
business specified in our notice of the meeting may be brought before the meeting. Nominations of individuals for election to the board of
directors at a special meeting may be made only (1) by or at the direction of the board of directors or (2) provided that the special meeting has
been called in accordance with our bylaws for the purpose of electing directors, by a stockholder who is a stockholder of record both at the time
of giving the advance notice required by our bylaws and at the time of the meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting in the election of each
individual so nominated and who has complied with the advance notice provisions of the bylaws.

Anti-takeover Effect of Certain Provisions of Maryland Law and of the Charter and Bylaws

The business combination provisions (if the board of directors rescinds its resolution exempting any business combination between us and any
other person or otherwise fails to first approve such business combination) and the control share acquisition provisions (if the applicable
provision in our bylaws is rescinded) of Maryland law, any provisions of our charter electing to be
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subject to Subtitle 8, and the advance notice provisions of our bylaws could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control of our
company that might involve a premium price for stockholders or otherwise be in their best interest.

Indemnification and Limitation of Directors� and Officers� Liability

Maryland law permits a Maryland corporation to include in its charter a provision limiting the liability of its directors and officers to the
corporation and its stockholders for money damages, except for liability resulting from actual receipt of an improper benefit or profit in money,
property or services or active and deliberate dishonesty that is established by a final judgment and is material to the cause of action. Our charter
contains a provision that eliminates such liability to the maximum extent permitted by Maryland law.

Our charter requires us, to the maximum extent that Maryland law in effect from time to time permits, to indemnify and, without requiring a
preliminary determination of the ultimate entitlement to indemnification, pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of
a proceeding to:

� any present or former director or officer who is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or her service
in that capacity; or

� any individual who, while a director or officer of our company and at our request, serves or has served another corporation, real estate
investment trust, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or any other enterprise as a director,
officer, partner, member, manager or trustee of such corporation, real estate investment trust, partnership, limited liability company,
joint venture, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise and who is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by
reason of his or her service in that capacity.

Our charter also permits us to indemnify and advance expenses to any person who served a predecessor of ours in any of the capacities described
above and to any employee or agent of our company or a predecessor of our company.

The MGCL requires a corporation (unless its charter provides otherwise, which our charter does not) to indemnify a director or officer who has
been successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of any proceeding to which he or she is made or threatened to be made a party by
reason of his or her service in that capacity. The MGCL permits a corporation to indemnify its present and former directors and officers, among
others, against judgments, penalties, fines, settlements and reasonable expenses actually incurred by them in connection with any proceeding to
which they may be made or are threatened to be made a party by reason of their service in those or other capacities unless it is established that:

� the act or omission of the director or officer was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and (1) was committed in bad
faith or (2) was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty;

� the director or officer actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services; or

� in the case of any criminal proceeding, the director or officer had reasonable cause to believe that the act or omission as unlawful.
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However, under the MGCL, a Maryland corporation may not indemnify for an adverse judgment in a suit by or in the right of the corporation or
for a judgment of liability on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received. A court may order indemnification if it determines that the
director or officer is fairly and reasonably entitled to indemnification, even though the director or officer did not meet the prescribed standard of
conduct, was adjudged liable to the corporation or was adjudged liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received. However,
indemnification for an adverse judgment in a suit by or in the right of the corporation, or for a judgment of liability on the basis that personal
benefit was improperly received, is limited to expenses.

In addition, the MGCL permits a corporation to advance reasonable expenses to a director or officer upon the corporation�s receipt of:

� a written affirmation by the director or officer of his good faith belief that he has met the standard of conduct necessary for
indemnification by the corporation; and

� a written undertaking by the director or officer or on the director�s or officer�s behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed
by the corporation if it is ultimately determined that the director or officer did not meet the standard of conduct.

Insofar as the foregoing provisions permit indemnification of directors, officers or persons controlling us for liability arising under the Securities
Act, we have been informed that in the opinion of the SEC, this indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is
therefore unenforceable.

We have entered into indemnification agreements with each of our executive officers and directors whereby we indemnify such executive
officers and directors and pay or reimburse reasonable expenses in advance of final disposition of a proceeding if such director or executive
officer is made or threatened to be made a party to the proceeding by reason of his or her service in that capacity to the fullest extent permitted
by Maryland law against all expenses and liabilities, subject to limited exceptions. These indemnification agreements also provide that upon an
application for indemnity by an executive officer or director to a court of appropriate jurisdiction, such court may order us to indemnify such
executive officer or director.
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CERTAIN UNITED STATES FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The following is a general summary of certain United States federal income tax considerations regarding our company and the acquisition,
ownership and disposition of certain securities offered by this prospectus. Supplemental United States federal income tax considerations relevant
to the ownership of certain securities offered by this prospectus may be provided in the prospectus supplement that relates to those securities.
Your tax treatment will vary depending upon the terms of the specific securities you acquire, as well as your particular situation.

The following is a summary of material federal income tax consequences relating to our qualification and taxation as a REIT and the acquisition,
ownership and disposition of our common stock. Because this section is a general summary, it does not address all of the potential tax issues that
may be relevant to you in light of your particular circumstances.

This summary of certain federal income tax consequences applies to you only if you acquire and hold our common stock as a �capital asset�
(generally, property held for investment within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code). This summary does not consider all of the rules which
may affect the U.S. tax treatment of your investment in our common stock in light of your particular circumstances. For example, special rules
not discussed here may apply to you if you are:

� a broker-dealer or a dealer in securities or currencies;

� an S corporation;

� a partnership or other pass-through entity;

� a bank, thrift or other financial institution;

� a regulated investment company or a REIT;

� an insurance company;

� a tax-exempt organization, except to the extent discussed under the headings ��Taxation of Holders of Our Common Stock�Taxation of
Tax-Exempt Stockholders;�

� subject to the alternative minimum tax provisions of the Code;

� holding our common stock as part of a hedge, straddle, conversion, integrated or other risk reduction or constructive sale transaction;

� holding our common stock through a partnership or other pass-through entity;

�
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a non-U.S. corporation or an individual who is not a resident or citizen of the United States, except to the extent discussed under the
headings ��Taxation of Holders of Our Common Stock�Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders;�

� a U.S. person whose �functional currency� is not the U.S. dollar; or

� a U.S. expatriate.
If a partnership, including any entity that is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, holds our common stock, the federal income
tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership.
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If you are a partner in a partnership that will hold our common stock, you should consult your tax advisor regarding the federal income tax
consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of our common stock by the partnership.

This summary does not discuss any alternative minimum tax considerations or any state, local or non-U.S. tax considerations.

We base the information in this section on the current Code, current, temporary and proposed Treasury regulations, the legislative history of the
Code, current administrative interpretations of the IRS, including its practices and policies as endorsed in private letter rulings, which are not
binding on the IRS, and existing court decisions. Future legislation, regulations, administrative interpretations and court decisions could change
current law or adversely affect existing interpretations of current law. Any change could apply retroactively. It is possible that the IRS could
challenge the statements in this discussion, which do not bind the IRS or the courts, and that a court could agree with the IRS.

Each investor is advised to consult his or her own tax advisor regarding the tax consequences to him or her of the purchase, ownership
and sale of the offered stock, including the federal, state, local, non-U.S. and other tax consequences of such purchase, ownership or sale
and of potential changes in applicable tax laws.

Federal Income Taxation of Our Company as a REIT

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Code commencing with our taxable year ending December 31, 2009. We believe that we have
satisfied the organizational and operational requirements to qualify to be taxed as a REIT beginning with our taxable year ending December 31,
2009.

We have received an opinion from Alston & Bird LLP to the effect that beginning with our taxable year ending December 31 2009, we have
been organized and operated in conformity with the requirements for qualification as a REIT under the Code and our proposed method of
operation will enable us to continue to meet the requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT. The opinion of Alston & Bird LLP is
based on various assumptions relating to our organization and operation and is conditioned upon representations and covenants made by us
regarding our organization, assets and the past, present and future conduct of our business operations. While we intend to operate so that we will
qualify as a REIT, given the highly complex nature of the rules governing REITs, the ongoing importance of factual determinations and the
possibility of future changes in our circumstances, no assurance can be given by Alston & Bird LLP or by us that we will so qualify for any
particular year. Alston & Bird LLP will have no obligation to advise us or the holders of our common stock of any subsequent change in the
matters stated, represented or assumed in the opinion or of any subsequent change in the applicable law. You should be aware that opinions of
counsel are not binding on the IRS or any court, and no assurance can be given that the IRS will not challenge the conclusions set forth in such
opinions or that a court would not uphold any such challenge.

Qualification and taxation as a REIT depends on our ability to meet on a continuing basis, through actual operating results, distribution levels
and diversity of share ownership, various qualification requirements imposed upon REITs by the Code, the compliance with which will not be
reviewed by Alston & Bird LLP. Our ability to continue to qualify as a REIT also requires that we satisfy certain asset tests, some of which
depend upon the fair market values of assets directly or indirectly owned by us. Such values may not be susceptible to a precise determination.
While we intend to continue to operate in a manner that we believe will allow us to continue to qualify as a REIT, no assurance can be given that
the actual results of our operations for any taxable year will satisfy such requirements for qualification and taxation as a REIT.
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Taxation of REITs in General

Provided we continue to qualify as a REIT, we generally will not be subject to federal income tax on our REIT taxable income that is distributed
to our stockholders. This treatment substantially eliminates the �double taxation� at the corporate and stockholder levels that have historically
resulted from investment in a corporation. Rather, income generated by a REIT generally is taxed only at the stockholder level upon a
distribution of dividends by the REIT.

Net operating losses, foreign tax credits and other tax attributes of a REIT generally do not pass through to the stockholders of the REIT, subject
to special rules for certain items such as capital gains.

If we continue to qualify as a REIT, we will nonetheless be subject to federal tax in the following circumstances:

� We will be taxed at regular corporate rates on any taxable income, including undistributed net capital gains, that we do not distribute
to stockholders during, or within a specified time period after, the calendar year in which the income is earned.

� We may be subject to the �alternative minimum tax� on our items of tax preference.

� If we have net income from prohibited transactions, which are, in general, sales or other dispositions of property, other than
foreclosure property, held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of business, such income will be subject to a 100%
tax. See ��Prohibited Transactions� and ��Foreclosure Property� below.

� If we elect to treat property that we acquire in connection with a foreclosure of a mortgage loan or certain leasehold terminations as
�foreclosure property,� we may thereby avoid the 100% prohibited transaction tax on gain from a resale of that property (if the sale
would otherwise constitute a prohibited transaction), but income from the sale or operation of the property may be subject to corporate
income tax at the highest corporate tax rate (currently 35%). See ��Foreclosure Property� below.

� If we fail to satisfy the 75% gross income test or the 95% gross income test, as discussed below, but nonetheless maintain our
qualification as a REIT because certain other requirements are met, we will be subject to a 100% tax on an amount based upon the
magnitude of the failure, adjusted to reflect the profitability of such gross income.

� In the event of a failure to satisfy one or more of the asset tests (other than certain de minimis failures), as described below under
��Asset Tests,� as long as the failure was due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect, we dispose of the assets or otherwise comply
with such asset tests within six months after the last day of the quarter in which we identify such failure and we file a schedule with
the IRS describing the assets that caused such failure, we will pay a tax equal to the greater of $50,000 or 35% of the net income from
the nonqualifying assets during the period in which we failed to satisfy such asset tests.

� In the event of a failure to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification, other than the gross income tests and the asset
tests, and the failure is due to reasonable cause and not willful neglect, we will be required to pay a penalty of $50,000 for each such
failure.
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� If we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (a) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year, (b) 95% of
our REIT capital gain net income for such year and (c) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we will be subject to a
4% excise tax on the excess of the required distribution over the sum of (1) the amounts actually distributed, plus (2) retained amounts
on which income tax is paid at the corporate level.

� We may be required to pay monetary penalties to the IRS in certain circumstances, including if we fail to meet record-keeping
requirements intended to monitor our compliance with rules relating to the composition of our stockholders, as described below in
��Requirements for Qualification-General.�

� A 100% tax may be imposed on certain items of income and expense that are directly or constructively paid between a REIT and a
taxable REIT subsidiary (as described below) if and to the extent that the IRS successfully adjusts the reported amounts of these items
to conform to an arm�s length pricing standard.

� If we acquire appreciated assets from a C corporation that is not a REIT in a transaction in which the adjusted tax basis of the assets in
our hands is determined by reference to the adjusted tax basis of the assets in the hands of the corporation, we will be subject to tax at
the highest corporate income tax rate then applicable if we subsequently recognize the built-in gain on a disposition of any such assets
during the 10-year period following the acquisition from the corporation, unless the corporation elects to treat the transfer of the assets
to the REIT as a deemed sale. Similarly, if in a taxable transaction we dispose of an asset we owned (other than through a taxable
REIT subsidiary) on January 1, 2009, the effective date of our REIT election, which had a fair market value on that date in excess of
its adjusted tax basis, we will be subject to tax on the built-in gain at the highest regular corporate rate then applicable if the
disposition of that asset occurs during the ten-year period following our REIT election. Income derived from the harvesting and sale of
timber pursuant to certain timber cutting contracts (as opposed to gain derived from the sale of timberlands) is not subject to this
built-in gains tax. Thus, we will not be subject to the built-in gains tax on the income we derive from the harvesting and sale of timber
from timberlands we held at the time of our REIT election or from timberlands we acquire in the future in a carryover basis transaction
from a corporation subject to tax under subchapter C if sold pursuant to such timber cutting contracts.

� The earnings of our lower-tier entities that are taxable corporations, if any, including domestic taxable REIT subsidiaries, are subject
to federal corporate income tax.

In addition, we and our subsidiaries may be subject to a variety of taxes, including payroll taxes and state, local, and non-U.S. income, property
and other taxes on assets and operations. We could also be subject to tax in situations and on transactions not presently contemplated.

Requirements for Qualification�General

The Code defines a REIT as a corporation, trust or association:

(1) that is managed by one or more trustees or directors;

(2) the beneficial ownership of which is evidenced by transferable shares or by transferable certificates of beneficial interest;

(3) which would be taxable as a domestic corporation but for the special Code provisions applicable to REITs;

45

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Index to Financial Statements 249



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

(4) that is neither a financial institution nor an insurance company subject to specific provisions of the Code;

(5) the beneficial ownership of which is held by 100 or more persons;

(6) in which, during the last half of each taxable year, not more than 50% in value of the outstanding stock is owned, directly or indirectly, by
five or fewer �individuals� (as defined in the Code to include specified entities);

(7) that uses a calendar year as its taxable year;

(8) that does not have at the end of any year any undistributed earnings and profits that were accumulated in any non-REIT taxable year;

(9) which meets other tests described below regarding the nature of its income and assets, its distributions, and certain other matters; and

(10) that elects to be taxed as a REIT (which election has not been revoked or terminated).

Conditions (1) through (4) must be met during the entire taxable year, and that condition (5) must be met during at least 335 days of a taxable
year of 12 months, or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year. Our charter provides restrictions regarding the ownership and transfer
of our shares, which are intended to assist us in satisfying the share ownership requirements described in conditions (5) and (6) above. For
purposes of condition (6), an �individual� generally includes a supplemental unemployment compensation benefit plan, a private foundation, or a
portion of a trust permanently set aside or used exclusively for charitable purposes, but does not include a qualified pension plan or profit
sharing trust.

To monitor compliance with the share ownership requirements, we generally are required to maintain records regarding the actual ownership of
our shares. To do so, we must demand written statements each year from the record holders of significant percentages of our stock in which the
record holders are to disclose the actual owners of the shares (i.e., the persons required to include in gross income the dividends paid by us). A
list of those persons failing or refusing to comply with this demand must be maintained as part of our records. Failure to comply with these
record keeping requirements could subject us to monetary penalties. If we satisfy these requirements and have no reason to know that condition
(6) is not satisfied, we will be deemed to have satisfied such condition. A stockholder that fails or refuses to comply with the demand is required
by Treasury regulations to submit a statement with its tax return disclosing the actual ownership of the shares and other information.

We believe that we have satisfied all such requirements. With respect to the requirement that a REIT not have earnings and profits from a
non-REIT taxable year, we operated as a taxable corporation in years before we made our REIT election, but we determined that we did not have
positive accumulated earnings and profits as of January 1, 2009.

Effect of Subsidiary Entities

Ownership of Partnership Interests. In the case of a REIT that is a partner in a partnership, the REIT is deemed to own its proportionate share of
the partnership�s assets, and to earn its proportionate share of the partnership�s income, for purposes of the asset and gross income tests applicable
to REITs. In addition, the assets and gross income of the partnership are deemed to retain the same character in the hands of the REIT. Thus, our
proportionate share of the assets and items of income of partnerships in which we own an equity interest are treated as our assets and
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items of income for purposes of applying the REIT requirements. Our proportionate share is generally determined, for these purposes, based
upon our percentage interest in the partnership�s equity capital; however, for purposes of the 10% value-based asset test described below, the
percentage interest also takes into account certain debt securities issued by the partnership and held by us. Consequently, to the extent that we
directly or indirectly hold a preferred or other equity interest in a partnership, the partnership�s assets and operations may affect our ability to
qualify as a REIT, even if we have no control, or only limited influence, over the partnership. A summary of certain rules governing the federal
income taxation of partnerships and their partners is provided below in ��Tax Aspects of Investments in Partnerships.�

Disregarded Subsidiaries. If a REIT owns a corporate subsidiary that is a �qualified REIT subsidiary,� that subsidiary is disregarded for federal
income tax purposes, and all assets, liabilities and items of income, deduction and credit of the subsidiary are treated as assets, liabilities and
items of income, deduction and credit of the REIT itself, including for purposes of the gross income and asset tests. A qualified REIT subsidiary
is any corporation, other than a �taxable REIT subsidiary� as described below, that is wholly owned by a REIT, or by other disregarded
subsidiaries, or by a combination of the two. Other entities that are wholly owned by us, including single member limited liability companies,
are also generally disregarded as separate entities for federal income tax purposes, including for purposes of the REIT income and asset tests.
Disregarded subsidiaries, along with partnerships in which we hold an equity interest, are sometimes referred to as �pass-through subsidiaries.�

In the event that one of our disregarded subsidiaries ceases to be wholly owned�for example, if any equity interest in the subsidiary is acquired by
a person other than us, or another of our disregarded subsidiaries�the subsidiary�s separate existence would no longer be disregarded for federal
income tax purposes. Instead, it would have multiple owners and would be treated as either a partnership or a taxable corporation. Such an event
could, depending on the circumstances, adversely affect our ability to satisfy the various asset and gross income requirements applicable to
REITs. See ��Asset Tests� and ��Income Tests.�

Taxable Subsidiaries. A REIT may jointly elect with a subsidiary corporation, whether or not wholly owned, to treat the subsidiary corporation
as a taxable REIT subsidiary, or TRS. The separate existence of a TRS or other taxable corporation, unlike a disregarded subsidiary as discussed
above, is not ignored for federal income tax purposes. A TRS may be subject to corporate income tax on its earnings.

A REIT is not treated as holding the assets of a taxable subsidiary corporation or as receiving any income that the subsidiary earns. Rather, the
stock issued by the subsidiary is an asset in the hands of the parent REIT, and the REIT recognizes as income the dividends, if any, that it
receives from the subsidiary. This treatment can affect the income and asset test calculations that apply to the REIT. Because a parent REIT does
not include the assets and income of such subsidiary corporations in determining the parent�s compliance with the REIT requirements, such
entities may be used by the parent REIT to undertake indirectly activities that the REIT rules might otherwise preclude it from doing directly or
through pass-through subsidiaries.

We have made a TRS election for our subsidiary, CatchMark Timber TRS, Inc. Generally, a taxable REIT subsidiary may earn income that
would not be qualifying income under the REIT income tests if earned directly by the parent REIT. We will determine whether we should
conduct through CatchMark Timber TRS, Inc. or other taxable REIT subsidiaries certain activities that will produce nonqualifying income for
the gross income tests or may be subject to the prohibited transaction tax, such as the sales of delivered logs and, in certain circumstances, HBU
properties. For example, pursuant to the timber agreements with MeadWestvaco, CatchMark Timber TRS, Inc.
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harvests timber on portions of our timberlands and sells logs to MeadWestvaco. CatchMark Timber TRS pays a portion of the proceeds received
from MeadWestvaco plus an additional amount to us, and we report any capital gain resulting from the sale of our standing timber to CatchMark
Timber TRS pursuant to the master stumpage agreement as qualifying income for purposes of the REIT gross income tests, as further described
below under ��Income Tests�Timber-Cutting Contracts.� We and CatchMark Timber TRS have entered into similar arrangements with other
purchasers of delivered logs.

Several provisions regarding the arrangements between a REIT and its taxable REIT subsidiary ensure that the taxable REIT subsidiary will be
subject to an appropriate level of federal income tax. For example, the Code limits the ability of a taxable REIT subsidiary to deduct interest
payments in excess of a certain amount made to its parent REIT. In addition, the Code imposes a 100% tax on certain transactions between a
taxable REIT subsidiary and its parent REIT or the REIT�s lessees that are not conducted on an arm�s-length basis.

Income Tests

We must satisfy two gross income requirements annually. First, at least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year must be derived from
investments relating to real property or mortgages on real property, including �rents from real property�; dividends received from other REITs;
interest income derived from mortgage loans secured by real property; certain income from qualified temporary investments; and gains from the
sale of real estate assets. For purposes of the 75% gross income test, income attributable to a stock or debt instrument purchased with the
proceeds received by a REIT in exchange for stock in the REIT (other than amounts received pursuant to a distribution reinvestment plan)
constitutes qualified temporary investment income that is qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test if such income is
received or accrued during the one-year period beginning on the date the REIT receives such new capital. Second, at least 95% of our gross
income in each taxable year must be derived from some combination of income that qualifies under the 75% income test described above, as
well as other dividends, interest, and gain from the sale or disposition of stock or securities, which need not have any relation to real property.
Gross income from �prohibited transactions,� which are sales of property that we hold primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of
business, is excluded from both the numerator and the denominator in both income tests. In addition, income and gain from �hedging
transactions,� as defined in ��Hedging Transactions,� that we enter into to hedge indebtedness incurred or to be incurred to acquire or carry select
real estate equity investments or to hedge certain foreign currency risks and that are clearly and timely identified as such for federal income tax
purposes will be excluded from both the numerator and the denominator for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests.

Timber Cutting Contracts. We expect to derive most of our REIT taxable income from investments in our timberlands, including the sale of
standing timber through pay-as-cut contracts. We generally will retain an �economic interest� under our timber-cutting contracts. The income from
any such timber-cutting contracts with unrelated persons will be treated as rents from real property for purposes of the gross income tests if we
retain an economic interest in the timber and have held the timber for one year or less, but any such timber-cutting contracts with related persons
(including CatchMark Timber TRS) would not be qualifying income. Any gain from our timber-cutting contracts with respect to timber we held
for more than one year will qualify as gain from the sale of real property for purposes of the gross income tests and for capital gain treatment
under Section 631(b) of the Code.

Rents from Real Property. We do not expect to receive a substantial amount of rental income, other than the income from our timber-cutting
contracts with respect to timber we have not held
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for more than one year that will be treated as rents from real property. However, we do anticipate receiving small amounts of rental income,
which we generally treat as qualifying rents from real property for purposes of the REIT gross income tests, from hunting leases, bee-keeping
leases, leases for the use of real property to extract minerals and to erect and maintain billboards on property adjacent to certain public
thoroughfares and the rental of rights-of-way through certain properties.

Rents received by us will qualify as �rents from real property� in satisfying the gross income requirements described above only if several
conditions are met. The amount of rent must not be based in whole or in part on the income or profits of any person; however, an amount
received or accrued generally will not be excluded from the term �rents from real property� solely by reason of being based on a fixed percentage
or percentages of gross receipts or sales. If rent is partly attributable to personal property leased in connection with a lease of real property, the
portion of the total rent that is attributable to the personal property will not qualify as �rents from real property� unless it constitutes 15% or less of
the total rent received under the lease. Moreover, for rents received to qualify as �rents from real property,� the REIT generally must not operate or
manage the property or furnish or render services to the residents of such property, other than through an �independent contractor� from which the
REIT derives no revenue. We and our affiliates are permitted, however, to perform services that are �usually or customarily rendered� in
connection with the rental of space for occupancy only and are not otherwise considered rendered to the occupant of the property. In addition,
we and our affiliates may directly or indirectly provide non-customary services to tenants of properties without disqualifying all of the rent from
the property if the payment for such services does not exceed 1% of the total gross income from the property. For this purpose, the amount
received by the REIT for such service is deemed to be at least 150% of the REIT�s direct cost of providing the service. Also, rental income will
qualify as rents from real property only to the extent that we do not directly or constructively hold a 10% or greater interest, as measured by vote
or value, in the lessee�s equity.

Interest. Interest income constitutes qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test to the extent that the obligation is secured by a
mortgage on real property. If we receive interest income with respect to a mortgage loan that is secured by both real property and other property,
and the highest principal amount of the loan outstanding during a taxable year exceeds the fair market value of the real property on the date that
we had a binding commitment to acquire or originate the mortgage loan, the interest income will be apportioned between the real property and
the other collateral, and interest will qualify for purposes of the 75% gross income test only to the extent that it is allocable to the real property.
Even if a loan is not secured by real property or is undersecured, the income that it generates may nonetheless qualify for purposes of the 95%
gross income test.

To the extent that the terms of a loan provide for contingent interest that is based on the cash proceeds realized upon the sale of the property
securing the loan (a �shared appreciation provision�), income attributable to the participation feature will be treated as gain from sale of the
underlying property, which generally will be qualifying income for purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests provided that the
property is not inventory or dealer property in the hands of the borrower or the REIT.

To the extent that a REIT derives interest income from a mortgage loan or income from the rental of real property where all or a portion of the
amount of interest or rental income payable is contingent, such income generally will qualify for purposes of the gross income tests only if it is
based upon the gross receipts or sales, and not the net income or profits, of the borrower or lessee. This limitation does not apply, however,
where the borrower or lessee leases substantially all of its interest in the property to residents or sub-residents, to the extent that the rental
income derived by the borrower or lessee, as the case may be, would qualify as rents from real property had it been earned directly by a REIT.
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Dividends. We may receive distributions from TRSs or other corporations that are not REITs. These distributions will be classified as dividend
income to the extent of the earnings and profits of the distributing corporation. Such distributions will generally constitute qualifying income for
purposes of the 95% gross income test but not the 75% gross income test. Any dividends we received from a REIT will be qualifying income for
purposes of both the 75% and 95% gross income tests.

Other Income. We may receive various fees in connection with our operations. The fees will be qualifying income for purposes of both the 75%
and 95% gross income tests if they are received in consideration for entering into an agreement to make a loan secured by real property and the
fees are not determined by the borrower�s income and profits. Other fees are not qualifying income for purposes of either gross income test.

Any income or gain we derive from instruments that hedge certain risks, such as the risk of changes in interest rates with respect to debt incurred
to acquire or carry real estate assets or certain foreign currency risks, will not be treated as income for purposes of calculating the 75% or 95%
gross income test, provided that specified requirements are met. Such requirements include the instrument is properly identified as a hedge,
along with the risk that it hedges, within prescribed time periods. Any other hedging income will not be qualifying income for purposes of
wither gross income test.

Failure to Satisfy Gross Income Tests. If we fail to satisfy one or both of the 75% or 95% gross income tests for any taxable year, we may still
qualify as a REIT for the year if we are entitled to relief under applicable provisions of the Code. These relief provisions will be generally
available if our failure to meet these tests was due to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect, we attach to our tax return a schedule of the
sources of our income, and any incorrect information on the schedule was not due to fraud with intent to evade tax, which we refer to as the
reasonable cause exception. It is not possible to state whether we would be entitled to the benefit of these relief provisions in all circumstances.
If these relief provisions are inapplicable, we will not qualify as a REIT. As discussed above under ��Taxation of REITs in General,� even where
these relief provisions apply, a tax would be imposed upon the amount by which we fail to satisfy the particular gross income test, adjusted to
reflect the profitability of such gross income.

From time to time we have opportunities to generate types of income that would not satisfy one or both of the gross income requirements or to
which the application of the gross income requirements may not be clear. We consider our ability to qualify as a REIT in determining whether
and how to pursue such opportunities.

In some cases, we may choose not to pursue the opportunity. In some cases, we may choose to generate the income in CatchMark Timber TRS,
in which case it will not be taken into account for purposes of the gross income requirements, although dividends from CatchMark Timber TRS
would be qualifying income for purpose of the 95% gross income requirement but not the 75% gross income requirement. In some cases, we
choose to generate the income in our operating partnership, e.g., income from mineral leases, because we believe that the amount of
nonqualifying or potentially nonqualifying income will be small enough that it will not prevent us from satisfying the gross income
requirements. In one case in which the treatment of certain income�income from the sale of �carbon dioxide offset credits� to Carbon TreeBank,
LLC�was uncertain, we requested and received from the IRS a private letter ruling concluding that such income was qualifying income for
purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests.

It is possible that we may overestimate the amount of nonqualifying income we may generate without failing the gross income requirements in a
given year or that the IRS may take different
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views on the qualification of certain types of income than the views taken by us and our tax advisors. Accordingly, there is a risk that we may
not satisfy the gross income requirements in any given year, in which case we would not qualify to be taxed as a REIT, unless our failure is due
to reasonable cause and not due to willful neglect. It is not possible to state whether we would be entitled to the benefit of reasonable cause relief
in all circumstances, and even if we did qualify for reasonable cause relief, we would owe additional taxes.

Asset Tests

At the close of each calendar quarter, we must satisfy four tests relating to the nature of our assets. First, at least 75% of the value of our total
assets must be represented by some combination of �real estate assets,� cash, cash items and U.S. government securities. For this purpose, real
estate assets include interests in real property, such as land, standing timber, buildings, leasehold interests in real property, stock of other
corporations that qualify as REITs, certain kinds of mortgage-backed securities and mortgage loans and, under some circumstances, stock or
debt instruments purchased with new capital. Assets that do not qualify for purposes of the 75% asset test are subject to the additional asset tests
described below. Second, the value of any one issuer�s securities owned by us may not exceed 5% of the value of our total assets. Third, we may
not own more than 10% of any one issuer�s outstanding securities, as measured by either voting power or value. The 5% and 10% asset tests do
not apply to securities of TRSs, and the 10% value test does not apply to �straight debt� and certain other securities, as described below. Fourth,
the aggregate value of all securities of TRSs held by a REIT may not exceed 25% of the value of the REIT�s total assets.

Notwithstanding the general rule that a REIT is treated as owning its share of the underlying assets of a subsidiary partnership for purposes of
the REIT income and asset tests, if a REIT holds indebtedness issued by a partnership, the indebtedness will be subject to, and may cause a
violation of, the asset tests, unless it is a qualifying mortgage asset or otherwise satisfies the rules for �straight debt� or one of the other exceptions
to the 10% value test.

Certain securities will not cause a violation of the 10% value test described above. Such securities include instruments that constitute �straight
debt.� A security does not qualify as �straight debt� where a REIT (or a controlled TRS of the REIT) owns other securities of the issuer of that
security which do not qualify as straight debt, unless the value of those other securities constitute, in the aggregate, 1% or less of the total value
of that issuer�s outstanding securities. In addition to straight debt, the following securities will not violate the 10% value test: (a) any loan made
to an individual or an estate, (b) certain rental agreements in which one or more payments are to be made in subsequent years (other than
agreements between a REIT and certain persons related to the REIT), (c) any obligation to pay rents from real property, (d) securities issued by
governmental entities that are not dependent in whole or in part on the profits of (or payments made by) a non-governmental entity, (e) any
security issued by another REIT, and (f) any debt instrument issued by a partnership if the partnership�s income is such that the partnership would
satisfy the 75% gross income test described above under ��Income Tests.� In applying the 10% value test, a debt security issued by a partnership is
not taken into account to the extent, if any, of the REIT�s proportionate interest in that partnership.

Our board of directors will determine the value of our assets for the purpose of determining compliance with the REIT asset tests. The board�s
determination is binding upon the IRS so long as our board of directors acts in good faith. We monitor compliance with all of the asset tests on
an ongoing basis. Independent appraisals will not be obtained, however, to support our conclusions as to the value of our assets or the value of
any particular security or securities. Moreover, values of some assets may not be susceptible to a precise determination, and values are subject to
change
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in the future. Furthermore, the proper classification of an instrument as debt or equity for federal income tax purposes may be uncertain in some
circumstances, which could affect the application of the REIT asset requirements. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not
contend that we do not comply with one or more of the asset tests.

A REIT which fails one or more of the asset requirements may nevertheless maintain its REIT qualification (other than a de minimis failure
described below), if (a) it provides the IRS with a description of each asset causing the failure, (b) the failure is due to reasonable cause and not
willful neglect, (c) the REIT pays a tax equal to the greater of (1) $50,000 per failure, and (2) the product of the net income generated by the
assets that caused the failure multiplied by the highest applicable corporate tax rate (currently 35%), and (d) the REIT either disposes of the
assets causing the failure within six months after the last day of the quarter in which it identifies the failure, or otherwise satisfies the relevant
asset tests within that time frame. A second relief provision applies to de minimis violations of the 10% and 5% asset tests. A REIT may
maintain its qualification despite a violation of such requirements if (a) the value of the assets causing the violation does not exceed the lesser of
1% of the REIT�s total assets or $10,000,000, and (b) the REIT either disposes of the assets causing the failure within six months after the last
day of the quarter in which it identifies the failure or the relevant tests are otherwise satisfied within that time frame.

Annual Distribution Requirements

In order to maintain our REIT status, we are required to distribute dividends, other than capital gain dividends, to our stockholders in an amount
at least equal to:

(a) the sum of:

(1) 90% of our �REIT taxable income� (computed without regard to deduction for dividends paid and net capital gains), and

(2) 90% of our net income, if any, (after tax) from foreclosure property (as described below), minus

(b) the sum of specified items of non-cash income.

These distributions must be paid in the taxable year to which they relate, or in the following taxable year if declared before we timely file our tax
return for the year and if paid on or before the first regular dividend payment after such declaration. Distributions that we declare in October,
November or December of any year payable to a stockholder of record on a specified date in any of these months will be treated as both paid by
us and received by the stockholder on December 31 of the year, provided that we actually pay the distribution during January of the following
calendar year.

In order for distributions to be counted for this purpose, and to be deductible by us, they must not be �preferential dividends.� A dividend is not a
preferential dividend if it is pro rata among all outstanding shares of stock within a particular class and is in accordance with the preferences
among different classes of stock as set forth in the organizational documents.

To the extent that we distribute at least 90%, but less than 100%, of our �REIT taxable income,� as adjusted, we will be subject to tax at regular
corporate tax rates on the retained portion. We may elect to retain, rather than distribute, our net long-term capital gains and pay tax on such
gains. In this case, we could elect to have our stockholders include their proportionate share of such undistributed long-term capital gains in
income and receive a corresponding credit
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for their share of the tax paid by us. Our stockholders would then increase the adjusted basis of their stock by the difference between the
designated amounts included in their long-term capital gains and the tax deemed paid with respect to their shares.

We have net operating losses carried forward from prior tax years that may reduce the amount of distributions that we must make in order to
comply with the REIT distribution requirements. Such losses, however, will generally not affect the character, in the hands of our stockholders,
of any distributions that we actually make, which are generally taxable to stockholders to the extent that we have current or accumulated
earnings and profits.

If we fail to distribute during each calendar year at least the sum of (a) 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year, (b) 95% of our REIT
capital gain net income for such year and (c) any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we would be subject to a 4% excise tax on the
excess of such required distribution over the sum of (x) the amounts actually distributed and (y) the amounts of income retained on which we
have paid corporate income tax. We intend to make timely distributions so that we are not subject to the 4% excise tax.

In certain circumstances, we may be able to cure a failure to meet the distribution requirements for a year by paying �deficiency dividends� to
stockholders in a later year, which may be included in our deduction for dividends paid for the earlier year. In such case, we may be able to
avoid losing our REIT status or being taxed on amounts distributed as deficiency dividends. However, we would be required to pay interest and
possibly a penalty based on the amount of any deduction taken for deficiency dividends.

Failure to Qualify

If we fail to satisfy one or more requirements for REIT qualification, other than the gross income tests and the asset tests, we could avoid
disqualification if our failure is due to reasonable cause and not to willful neglect and we pay a penalty of $50,000 for each such failure. In
addition, there are relief provisions for a failure of the gross income tests and asset tests, as described in ��Income Tests� and ��Asset Tests.�

If we fail to qualify for taxation as a REIT in any taxable year, and the relief provisions do not apply, we will be subject to tax, including any
applicable alternative minimum tax, on our taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates. Distributions to stockholders in any year in
which we are not a REIT would not be deductible by us, and we would not be required to make them. In this situation, to the extent of current
and accumulated earnings and profits, all distributions to stockholders taxed as individuals will generally be treated as qualified dividends that
are taxed at corporate capital gains rates and, subject to limitations of the Code, corporate stockholders may be eligible for the dividends
received deduction. Unless we are entitled to relief under specific statutory provisions, we will be disqualified from re-electing to be taxed as a
REIT for the four taxable years following the year during which qualification was lost. It is not possible to state whether, in all circumstances,
we will be entitled to statutory relief.

Prohibited Transactions

Net income derived from a prohibited transaction is subject to a 100% penalty tax. A �prohibited transaction� is a sale or other disposition of
property (other than foreclosure property) that is held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business by a REIT or
by a lower-tier partnership in which the REIT holds an equity interest. Income from timber sold pursuant to timber-cutting contracts that will be
treated as rents from real property or capital gain under Section 631(b) of the Code will not be treated as gain from the sale of property held for
sale in the ordinary course of business.
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Sales of timberlands that satisfy certain safe harbor requirements specified in the Code do not constitute prohibited transactions. We generally
intend to conduct our activities so that our sales of timberlands, other than those undertaken by our TRSs, qualify for this safe harbor or
otherwise do not qualify as property held primarily for sale to customers applying all relevant facts and circumstances. The principal
requirements that have to be satisfied are: (1) the property sold was held by us for not less than two years in connection with our timber business;
(2) if there are more than seven sales of property during the year, the timberlands sold during a tax year cannot have either an aggregate tax basis
that exceeds 10% of the aggregate tax bases of all of our assets, or an aggregate fair market value that exceeds 10% of the aggregate fair market
value of all of our assets, as of the beginning of the relevant tax year; (3) expenditures with respect to the timberlands for the two years prior to
the sale may not exceed certain specified limits; (4) substantially all of the marketing expenditures with respect to the property must be made
through an independent contractor; and (5) the sales price must not have a profit contingency related to the sold property.

Whether property is held �primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business� depends on the particular facts and
circumstances. No assurance can be given that any particular property in which we hold a direct or indirect interest will not be treated as
property held for sale to customers, or that we can comply with the safe harbor provisions of the Code that would prevent imposition of the
prohibited transaction tax.

We attempt to conduct any activities that could give rise to a prohibited transaction through CatchMark Timber TRS (or other TRSs). For
example, sales of delivered logs by us generally would be treated as property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a
trade or business and would be subject to the 100% penalty tax. Accordingly, such sales are made by CatchMark Timber TRS, which purchases
standing timber from us under pay as cut contracts that generate qualifying REIT gross income for purposes of the gross income tests that is not
subject to the 100% penalty tax, and then harvests and delivers the logs. Any net taxable income generated by the operations of CatchMark
Timber TRS is subject to federal and applicable state and local income tax.

Foreclosure Property

Foreclosure property is real property (including interests in real property) and any personal property incident to such real property (1) that is
acquired by a REIT as the result of the REIT having bid on the property at foreclosure, or having otherwise reduced the property to ownership or
possession by agreement or process of law, after there was a default (or default was imminent) on a lease of the property or on a mortgage loan
held by the REIT and secured by the property, (2) for which the related loan or lease was acquired by the REIT at a time when default was not
imminent or anticipated and (3) for which such REIT makes a proper election to treat the property as foreclosure property. REITs generally are
subject to tax at the maximum corporate income tax rate (currently 35%) on any net income from foreclosure property that would otherwise be
qualifying income for purposes of the 75% gross income test and any gain from the disposition of foreclosure property that is held for sale in the
ordinary course of business. Any gain from the sale of property for which a foreclosure property election has been made will not be subject to
the 100% tax on gains from prohibited transactions described above, even if the property would otherwise constitute inventory or dealer property
in the hands of the selling REIT. We do not anticipate that we will receive any income from foreclosure property that is not qualifying income
for purposes of the 75% gross income test, but, if we do receive any such income, we intend to make an election to treat the related property as
foreclosure property.

Hedging Transactions

We enter into hedging transactions from time to time with respect to our liabilities. Our hedging activities may include entering into interest rate
swaps, caps, floors, collars, options to
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purchase these items, and futures and forward contracts. To the extent that we enter into an interest rate swap or cap contract, option, futures
contract, forward rate agreement, or any similar financial instrument to hedge our indebtedness incurred or to be incurred to acquire or carry �real
estate assets,� including mortgage loans, or to hedge certain foreign currency risks, any periodic income or gain from the disposition of that
contract is disregarded for purposes of the 75% and 95% gross income tests if we identify clearly any such hedging transaction before the close
of the day on which it was acquired, originated, or entered into and satisfy other identification requirements. To the extent that we hedge for
other purposes or fail to timely identify hedging transactions, the income from those transactions will likely be treated as nonqualifying income
for purposes of both gross income tests. We intend to structure any hedging transactions in a manner that does not jeopardize our status as a
REIT.

Tax Aspects of Investments in Partnerships

We may hold investments through entities that are classified as partnerships for federal income tax purposes. In general, partnerships are
�pass-through� entities that are not subject to federal income tax. Rather, partners are allocated their proportionate shares of the items of income,
gain, loss, deduction and credit of a partnership, and are potentially subject to tax on these items, without regard to whether the partners receive a
distribution from the partnership. We will include in our income our proportionate share of these partnership items from subsidiary partnerships
for purposes of the various REIT gross income tests and in the computation of our REIT taxable income. Moreover, for purposes of the REIT
asset tests, we will include our proportionate share of assets held by subsidiary partnerships. See ��Effect of Subsidiary Entities�Ownership of
Partnership Interests.� Consequently, to the extent that we hold an equity interest in a partnership, the partnership�s assets and operations may
affect our ability to continue to qualify as a REIT, even if we may have no control, or only limited influence, over the partnership.

Entity Classification

Investment in partnerships involves special tax considerations, including the possibility of a challenge by the IRS of the status of any
partnerships as a partnership, as opposed to an association taxable as a corporation, for federal income tax purposes. If any of these entities were
treated as an association for federal income tax purposes, it would be taxable as a corporation and therefore could be subject to an entity-level
tax on its income. In such a situation, the character of our assets and items of gross income would change and could preclude us from satisfying
the REIT asset tests or the gross income tests as discussed in ��Asset Tests� and ��Income Tests,� and in turn could jeopardize our REIT status. See
��Failure to Qualify,� above, for a discussion of the effect of our failure to meet these tests for a taxable year. In addition, any change in the status
of any of partnerships for tax purposes might be treated as a taxable event, in which case we could have taxable income that is subject to the
REIT distribution requirements without receiving any cash.

Taxation of Holders of Our Common Stock

The following is a summary of certain federal income tax considerations with respect to the ownership and disposition of our common stock.

Taxation of Taxable U.S. Stockholders

As used herein, the term �U.S. stockholder� means a holder of our common stock that for federal income tax purposes is:

� a citizen or resident of the United States;
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� a corporation (including an entity treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes) created or organized in or under the laws of
the United States, any of its states or the District of Columbia;

� an estate whose income is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or

� a trust if: (1) a U.S. court is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of such trust and one or more U.S. persons
have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust; or (2) it has a valid election in place to be treated as a U.S. person.

If a partnership, entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes holds our common stock, the federal income tax
treatment of a partner in the partnership will generally depend on the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. If you are a
partner in a partnership that will hold our common stock, you should consult your tax advisor regarding the consequences of the purchase,
ownership and disposition of our common stock by the partnership.

Taxation of U.S. Stockholders on Distributions on Our Common Stock. As long as we qualify as a REIT, a taxable U.S. stockholder generally
must take into account as ordinary income distributions made out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits that we do not designate as
capital gain dividends or retained long-term capital gain. To the extent our taxable income includes long-term capital gains from the sale of
timber under Section 631(b), dividends paid in respect of such gains will be treated as capital gain dividends.

Dividends paid to corporate U.S. stockholders will not qualify for the dividends received deduction generally available to corporations. In
addition, dividends paid to a U.S. stockholder generally will not qualify as �qualified dividend income,� the maximum federal income tax rate on
which is currently 20% in the case of non-corporate U.S. stockholders. As a result, our ordinary dividends generally will be taxed at the higher
tax rate applicable to ordinary income, which currently is a maximum rate of 39.6% in the case of non-corporate U.S. stockholders. However,
the lower tax rates for qualified dividend income will apply to our ordinary dividends to the extent attributable to: (1) dividends received by us
from non-REIT corporations, such as TRSs; and (2) income upon which we have paid corporate income tax. In general, to qualify for the
reduced tax rate on qualified dividend income, a non-corporate U.S. stockholder must hold our common stock for more than 60 days during the
121-day period beginning on the date that is 60 days before the date on which our common stock become ex-dividend.

A U.S. stockholder generally will take into account as long-term capital gain any distributions that we designate as capital gain dividends
without regard to the period for which the U.S. stockholder has held its common stock. We generally will designate our capital gain dividends as
either capital gains distributions, which will be subject to a maximum federal income tax rate of 20% for individuals, or unrecaptured
Section 1250 gains, which will be subject to a maximum federal income tax rate of 25% for individuals. A corporate U.S. stockholder, however,
may be required to treat up to 20% of certain capital gain dividends as ordinary income.

We may elect to retain and pay income tax on the net long-term capital gain that we receive in a taxable year. In that case, to the extent that we
designate such amount in a timely notice to such stockholder, a U.S. stockholder would be taxed on its proportionate share of its undistributed
long-term capital gain. The U.S. stockholder would receive a credit for its proportionate share of the tax we paid. The U.S. stockholder would
increase the basis in its stock by the amount of its proportionate share of our undistributed long-term capital gain, minus its share of the tax we
paid.
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To the extent that we make a distribution in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits, such distribution will not be taxable to a
U.S. stockholder to the extent that it does not exceed the adjusted tax basis of the U.S. stockholder�s common stock. Instead, such distribution
will reduce the adjusted tax basis of such stock. To the extent that we make a distribution in excess of both our current and accumulated earnings
and profits and the U.S. stockholder�s adjusted tax basis in its common stock, such stockholder will recognize long-term capital gain or
short-term capital gain if the common stock has been held for one year or less.

If we declare a distribution in October, November, or December of any year that is payable to a U.S. stockholder of record on a specified date in
any such month, such distribution shall be treated as both paid by us and received by the U.S. stockholder on December 31 of such year,
provided that we actually pay the distribution during January of the following calendar year.

We may make distributions to holders of our common stock that are paid in a mix of cash and shares of our common stock. These distributions
are intended to be treated as dividends for Federal income tax purposes and a U.S. stockholder would, therefore, generally have taxable income
with respect to such distributions of common stock and may have a tax liability on account of such distribution in excess of the cash (if any) that
is received.

Taxation of U.S. Stockholders on the Disposition of Our Common Stock. In general, a U.S. stockholder must treat any gain or loss realized upon
a taxable disposition of our common stock as long-term capital gain or loss if the U.S. stockholder has held the common stock for more than one
year and otherwise as short-term capital gain or loss. However, a U.S. stockholder must treat any loss upon a sale or exchange of common stock
held by such stockholder for six months or less as a long-term capital loss to the extent of any actual or deemed distributions from us that such
U.S. stockholder previously has characterized as long-term capital gain. All or a portion of any loss that a U.S. stockholder realizes upon a
taxable disposition of the common stock may be disallowed if the U.S. stockholder purchases other substantially identical common stock within
30 days before or after the disposition.

A non-corporate U.S. stockholder may deduct capital losses not offset by capital gains against its ordinary income only up to a maximum annual
amount of $3,000. A non-corporate U.S. stockholder may carry forward unused capital losses indefinitely. A corporate stockholder must pay tax
on its net capital gain at ordinary corporate rates. A corporate U.S. stockholder may deduct capital losses only to the extent of capital gains, with
unused losses being carried back three years and forward five years.

If a U.S. stockholder recognizes a loss upon a subsequent disposition of our stock or other securities in an amount that exceeds a prescribed
threshold, it is possible that the provisions of Treasury regulations involving �reportable transactions� could apply, with a resulting requirement to
separately disclose the loss-generating transaction to the IRS. These regulations, though directed towards �tax shelters,� are broadly written and
apply to transactions that would not typically be considered tax shelters. The Code imposes significant penalties for failure to comply with these
requirements. You should consult your tax advisor concerning any possible disclosure obligation with respect to the receipt or disposition of our
stock or securities or transactions that we might undertake directly or indirectly. Moreover, you should be aware that we and other participants in
the transactions in which we are involved (including advisors to the participants) might be subject to disclosure or other requirements pursuant to
these regulations.

Passive Activity Loss and Investment Interest Limitations. Distributions from us and gain from the disposition of our common stock will not be
treated as passive activity income, and, therefore, U.S. stockholders will not be able to apply any �passive losses� against such income. Dividends
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from us (to the extent they do not constitute a return of capital) generally will be treated as investment income for purposes of the investment
interest limitation. Net capital gain from the disposition of our common stock or capital gain dividends generally will be excluded from
investment income unless the U.S. stockholder elects to have the gain taxed at ordinary income rates. U.S. stockholders are not allowed to
include on their own Federal income tax returns any tax losses that we incur.

Unearned Income Medicare Tax. Under the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, high-income U.S. individuals, estates, and
trusts are subject to an additional 3.8% tax on net investment income. For these purposes, net investment income includes dividends and gains
from sales of stock. In the case of an individual, the tax is 3.8% of the lesser of the individuals� net investment income or the excess of the
individuals� modified adjusted gross income over $250,000 in the case of a married individual filing a joint return or a surviving spouse,
$125,000 in the case of a married individual filing a separate return, or $200,000 in the case of a single individual.

Information Reporting Requirements and Backup Withholding. We will report to our stockholders and to the IRS the amount of distributions we
pay during each calendar year, and the amount of tax we withhold, if any. Under the backup withholding rules, a stockholder may be subject to
backup withholding with respect to distributions unless such holder:

� is a corporation or comes within certain other exempt categories and, when required, demonstrates this fact; or

� provides a taxpayer identification number, certifies as to no loss of exemption from backup withholding, and otherwise complies with
the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules.

A stockholder who does not provide us with its correct taxpayer identification number also may be subject to penalties imposed by the IRS. Any
amount paid as backup withholding will be creditable against the stockholder�s income tax liability.

Brokers are subject to information reporting requirements relating to certain transactions involving shares of our capital stock acquired on or
after January 1, 2011 by a stockholder other than an exempt recipient (�covered stock�). Specifically, upon the transfer or redemption of shares of
covered stock, the broker must report certain information to the stockholder and the IRS, including the adjusted tax basis of the shares and
whether any gain or loss recognized on the transfer or redemption is long-term or short-term. Shares of covered stock will be transferred or
redeemed on a �first in/first out� basis unless the stockholder identifies specific lots to be transferred or redeemed in a timely manner.

If we take an organizational action such as a stock split, merger, or acquisition that affects the tax basis of shares of covered stock, or even make
distributions that exceed our current or accumulated earnings and profits, we will report to each stockholder and the IRS (or post on our
primarily public Web site) a description of the action and the quantitative effect of that action on the tax basis of the applicable shares. Although
corporations generally qualify as exempt recipients, an S corporation will not qualify as an exempt recipient with respect to shares of our capital
stock that the S corporation acquires on or after January 1, 2012. Thus, the transfer or redemption of shares of our capital stock acquired by an S
corporation on or after January 1, 2012 will be subject to the reporting requirements discussed above.

Brokers may be subject to transfer statement reporting on certain transactions not otherwise subject to the reporting requirements discussed
above (excluding transactions involving shares acquired before January 1, 2011). Transfer statements, however, are issued only between �brokers�
and are not issued to stockholders or the IRS.
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Stockholders are encouraged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of the information reporting rules discussed above to their
investment in our capital stock.

Taxation of U.S. Tax-Exempt Stockholders

Tax-exempt entities, including qualified employee pension and profit sharing trusts and individual retirement accounts and annuities, generally
are exempt from federal income taxation. However, they are subject to taxation on their unrelated business taxable income. Dividend
distributions from a REIT to an exempt employee pension trust generally do not constitute unrelated business taxable income, provided that the
exempt employee pension trust does not otherwise use the shares of the REIT in an unrelated trade or business of the pension trust and do not
incur indebtedness to purchase or carry such shares. However, if a tax-exempt stockholder were to finance its investment in our common stock
with debt, a portion of the income that it receives from us would constitute unrelated business taxable income pursuant to the �debt-financed
property� rules. Furthermore, social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations, supplemental unemployment benefit trusts, and qualified
group legal services plans that are exempt from taxation under special provisions of the federal income tax laws are subject to different unrelated
business taxable income rules, which generally will require them to characterize distributions that they receive from us as unrelated business
taxable income. Finally, in certain circumstances, a qualified employee pension or profit sharing trust that owns more than 10% of our stock is
required to treat a percentage of the dividends that it receives from us as unrelated business taxable income. Such percentage is equal to the gross
income that we derive from an unrelated trade or business, determined as if we were a pension trust, divided by our total gross income for the
year in which we pay the dividends. That rule applies to a pension trust holding more than 10% of our stock only if:

� the percentage of our dividends that the tax-exempt trust would be required to treat as unrelated business taxable income is at least
5%;

� we qualify as a REIT by reason of the modification of the rule requiring that no more than 50% of our stock be owned by five or fewer
individuals that allows the beneficiaries of the pension trust to be treated as holding our stock in proportion to their actuarial interests
in the pension trust (see �Federal Income Taxation of Our Company as a REIT�Requirements for Qualification-General�); and

� either: (1) one pension trust owns more than 25% of the value of our stock; or (2) a group of pension trusts individually holding more
than 10% of the value of our stock collectively owns more than 50% of the value of our stock.

Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders

The term �non-U.S. stockholder� means a holder of our common stock that is not a U.S. stockholder or a partnership or an entity treated as a
partnership for federal income tax purposes. The rules governing federal income taxation of non-U.S. stockholders are complex. This section is
only a summary of such rules. Non-U.S. stockholders are urged to consult their tax advisors to determine the impact of federal, state, local and
foreign income tax laws on the ownership of our common stock, including any reporting requirements.

Ordinary Dividends. A non-U.S. stockholder that receives a distribution that is not attributable to gain from our sale or exchange of a �United
States real property interest� (a �USRPI�), and that we do not designate as a capital gain dividend will recognize ordinary income to the extent that
we pay such distribution out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits. A withholding
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tax equal to 30% of the gross amount of the distribution ordinarily will apply to such distribution unless an applicable tax treaty reduces or
eliminates the tax. If a distribution is treated as effectively connected with the non-U.S. stockholder�s conduct of a U.S. trade or business, the
non-U.S. stockholder generally will be subject to federal income tax on the distribution at graduated rates, similar to the manner as U.S.
stockholders are taxed with respect to such distribution, and a non-U.S. stockholder that is a corporation also may be subject to the 30% branch
profits tax with respect to the distribution. We plan to withhold U.S. income tax at the rate of 30% on the gross amount of any such distribution
paid to a non-U.S. stockholder unless either:

� a lower treaty rate applies and the non-U.S. stockholder furnishes to us an IRS Form W-8BEN evidencing eligibility for that reduced
rate; or

� the non-U.S. stockholder furnishes to us an IRS Form W-8ECI claiming that the distribution is effectively connected income.
Capital Gain Dividends. For any year in which we qualify as a REIT, a non-U.S. stockholder will incur tax on distributions that are attributable
to gain from our sale or exchange of a USRPI under the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980 (�FIRPTA�). A USRPI includes
certain interests in U.S. real property, including timberlands and standing timber. Under FIRPTA, a non-U.S. stockholder is taxed on
distributions attributable to gain from sales of USRPIs as if such gain were effectively connected with a U.S. business of the non- U.S.
stockholder. A non-U.S. stockholder thus would be required to file U.S. federal income tax returns and would be taxed on such a distribution at
the tax rates applicable to U.S. stockholders, subject to applicable alternative minimum tax and a special alternative minimum tax in the case of a
nonresident alien individual. A non-U.S. corporate stockholder not entitled to treaty relief or exemption also may be subject to the 30% branch
profits tax on such a distribution. There is a special 35% withholding rate for distributions to non-US stockholders attributable to the REIT�s
gains from dispositions of USRPIs. While the application of FIRPTA to Section 631(b) gains is not clear, we intend to treat gain from the sale of
standing timber, including Section 631(b) gain recognized by us on our sales of timber to CatchMark Timber TRS and to third parties under pay
as cut contracts, as gain from the sale or exchange of a USRPI. A non-U.S. stockholder may receive a credit against its U.S. federal income tax
liability for the amount we withhold.

Capital gain dividends that are attributable to our sale of USRPIs would be treated as ordinary dividends rather than as gain from the sale of a
USRPI, if: (1) our common stock is �regularly traded� on an established securities market in the United States; and (2) the non-U.S. stockholder
did not own more than 5% of our common stock at any time during the one-year period prior to the distribution. Such distributions would be
subject to withholding tax in the same manner as they are subject to withholding tax on ordinary dividends. After the completion of the offering
and the listing, we expect our common stock to be �regularly traded.�

Capital gain dividends that are not attributable to our sale of USRPIs, e.g., distributions of gains from sales of debt instruments that are not
USRPIs, generally will not be taxable to non-US stockholders or subject to withholding tax.

Non-Dividend Distributions. A non-U.S. stockholder will not incur tax on a distribution in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and
profits if the excess portion of such distribution does not exceed the adjusted basis of its common stock. Instead, the excess portion of such
distribution will reduce the adjusted basis of such shares. A non-U.S. stockholder will be subject to tax on a distribution that exceeds both our
current and accumulated earnings and profits and the adjusted basis of its common stock, if the non-U.S. stockholder otherwise would be subject
to tax on gain from the sale or disposition of our common stock, as described below. Because we
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generally cannot determine at the time we make a distribution whether the distribution will exceed our current and accumulated earnings and
profits, we normally will withhold tax on the entire amount of any distribution at the same rate as we would withhold on an ordinary dividend.
However, a non-U.S. stockholder may claim a refund of amounts that we withhold if we later determine that a distribution in fact exceeded our
current and accumulated earnings and profits.

We may be required to withhold 10% of any distribution that exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits if our stock is a USRPI.
Consequently, although we intend to withhold at a rate of 30% on the entire amount of any distribution, to the extent that we do not do so, we
may withhold at a rate of 10% on any portion of a distribution not subject to withholding at a rate of 30%.

Stock Distributions. We may make distributions to holders of our common stock that are paid in a mix of cash and shares of our common stock.
These distributions are intended to be treated as dividends for federal income tax purposes and a non-U.S. stockholder would, therefore,
generally be taxed on such distributions under the rules described above.

Taxation of Non-U.S. Stockholders on the Disposition of Our Common Stock. A non-U.S. stockholder generally will not incur tax under FIRPTA
with respect to gain realized upon a disposition of our common stock as long as we are a domestically controlled qualified investment entity. We
believe that we have been and will be a domestically controlled qualified investment entity, but we cannot assure you that we have been or that
we will be a domestically controlled qualified investment entity. Even if we not a domestically controlled qualified investment entity, a non-U.S.
stockholder that owned, actually or constructively, 5% or less of our common stock at all times during a specified testing period would not incur
tax under FIRPTA if our common stock is �regularly traded� on an established securities market.

If the gain on the sale of our common stock were taxed under FIRPTA, a non-U.S. stockholder would be taxed in the same manner as U.S.
stockholders with respect to such gain, subject to applicable alternative minimum tax or, a special alternative minimum tax in the case of
nonresident alien individuals. Furthermore, a non-U.S. stockholder will incur tax on gain not subject to FIRPTA if (1) the gain is effectively
connected with the non-U.S. stockholder�s U.S. trade or business, in which case the non-U.S. stockholder will be subject to the same treatment as
U.S. stockholders with respect to such gain, or (2) the non-U.S. stockholder is a nonresident alien individual who was present in the United
States for 183 days or more during the taxable year and has a �tax home� in the United States, in which case the non-U.S. stockholder will incur a
30% tax on his capital gains.

Recent Changes in U.S. Federal Income Tax Withholding

After June 30, 2014, withholding at a rate of 30% will be required on dividends in respect of, and after December 31, 2016, withholding at a rate
of 30% will be required on gross proceeds from the sale of, shares of our common stock held by or through certain foreign financial institutions
(including investment funds), unless such institution enters into an agreement with the Secretary of the Treasury (unless alternative procedures
apply pursuant to an applicable intergovernmental agreement between the United States and the relevant foreign government) to report, on an
annual basis, information with respect to shares in, and accounts maintained by, the institution to the extent such shares or accounts are held by
certain U.S. persons or by certain non-U.S. entities that are wholly or partially owned by U.S. persons. Accordingly, the entity through which
our shares are held will affect the determination of whether such withholding is required. Similarly, after June 30, 2014, dividends in respect of,
and after December 31, 2016, gross proceeds from the sale of, our shares held by an investor that is a non-financial foreign entity will be subject
to withholding at a
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rate of 30%, unless such entity either (1) certifies to us that such entity does not have any �substantial U.S. owners� or (ii) provides certain
information regarding the entity�s �substantial U.S. owners,� which we will in turn provide to the Secretary of the Treasury. Non-U.S. stockholders
are encouraged to consult with their tax advisers regarding the possible implications of these rules on their investment in our common stock.

Other Tax Considerations

Legislative or Other Actions Affecting REITs

The rules dealing with U.S. federal income taxation are constantly under review. No assurance can be given as to whether, when or in what form
the U.S. federal income tax laws applicable to us and our stockholders may be changed, possibly with retroactive effect. Changes to the federal
tax laws and interpretations of federal tax laws could adversely affect an investment in shares of our common stock.

State, Local and Foreign Taxes

We may be subject to state, local or non-U.S. taxation in various jurisdictions, including those in which we and our subsidiaries transact
business, own property or reside. The state, local or non-U.S. tax treatment of us may not conform to the federal income tax treatment discussed
above. Any non-U.S. taxes incurred by us would not pass through to stockholders against their U.S. federal income tax liability. Prospective
investors should consult their tax advisors regarding the application and effect of state, local and non-U.S. income and other tax laws on an
investment in our common stock.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

We may sell the securities from time to time pursuant to underwritten public offerings, negotiated transactions, at-the-market offerings, block
trades or a combination of these methods or through underwriters or dealers, through agents and/or directly to one or more purchasers. The
securities may be distributed from time to time in one or more transactions:

� at a fixed price or prices, which may be changed;

� at market prices prevailing at the time of sale;

� at prices related to such prevailing market prices; or

� at negotiated prices.
Each time that we sell securities covered by this prospectus, we will provide a prospectus supplement or supplements that will describe the
method of distribution and set forth the terms and conditions of the offering of such securities, including the offering price of the securities and
the proceeds to us, if applicable.

Offers to purchase the securities being offered by this prospectus may be solicited directly. Agents may also be designated to solicit offers to
purchase the securities from time to time. Any agent involved in the offer or sale of our securities will be identified in a prospectus supplement.

If a dealer is utilized in the sale of the securities being offered by this prospectus, the securities will be sold to the dealer, as principal. The dealer
may then resell the securities to the public at varying prices to be determined by the dealer at the time of resale.

If an underwriter is utilized in the sale of the securities being offered by this prospectus, an underwriting agreement will be executed with the
underwriter at the time of sale and the name of any underwriter will be provided in the prospectus supplement that the underwriter will use to
make resales of the securities to the public. In connection with the sale of the securities, we or the purchasers of securities for whom the
underwriter may act as agent, may compensate the underwriter in the form of underwriting discounts or commissions. The underwriter may sell
the securities to or through dealers, and those dealers may receive compensation in the form of discounts, concessions or commissions from the
underwriters and/or commissions from the purchasers for which they may act as agent. Unless otherwise indicated in a prospectus supplement,
an agent will be acting on a best efforts basis and a dealer will purchase securities as a principal, and may then resell the securities at varying
prices to be determined by the dealer.

Any compensation paid to underwriters, dealers or agents in connection with the offering of the securities, and any discounts, concessions or
commissions allowed by underwriters to participating dealers, will be provided in the applicable prospectus supplement. Underwriters, dealers
and agents participating in the distribution of the securities may be deemed to be underwriters within the meaning of the Securities Act, and any
discounts and commissions received by them and any profit realized by them on resale of the securities may be deemed to be underwriting
discounts and commissions. We may enter into agreements to indemnify underwriters, dealers and agents against civil liabilities, including
liabilities under the Securities Act, or to contribute to payments they may be required to make in respect thereof and to reimburse those persons
for certain expenses.

Any Class A common stock will be listed on the NYSE, but any other securities may or may not be listed on a national securities exchange. To
facilitate the offering of securities, certain persons
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participating in the offering may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or otherwise affect the price of the securities. This may include
over-allotments or short sales of the securities, which involve the sale by persons participating in the offering of more securities than were sold
to them. In these circumstances, these persons would cover such over-allotments or short positions by making purchases in the open market or
by exercising their over-allotment option, if any. In addition, these persons may stabilize or maintain the price of the securities by bidding for or
purchasing securities in the open market or by imposing penalty bids, whereby selling concessions allowed to dealers participating in the
offering may be reclaimed if securities sold by them are repurchased in connection with stabilization transactions. The effect of these
transactions may be to stabilize or maintain the market price of the securities at a level above that which might otherwise prevail in the open
market. These transactions may be discontinued at any time.

If indicated in the applicable prospectus supplement, underwriters or other persons acting as agents may be authorized to solicit offers by
institutions or other suitable purchasers to purchase the securities at the public offering price set forth in the prospectus supplement, pursuant to
delayed delivery contracts providing for payment and delivery on the date or dates stated in the prospectus supplement. These purchasers may
include, among others, commercial and savings banks, insurance companies, pension funds, investment companies and educational and
charitable institutions. Delayed delivery contracts will be subject to the condition that the purchase of the securities covered by the delayed
delivery contracts will not at the time of delivery be prohibited under the laws of any jurisdiction in the United States to which the purchaser is
subject. The underwriters and agents will not have any responsibility with respect to the validity or performance of these contracts.

We may engage in at the market offerings into an existing trading market in accordance with Rule 415(a)(4) under the Securities Act. If we
reach an agreement with an underwriter on a placement, including the number of shares of common stock to be offered in the placement and any
minimum price below which sales may not be made, such underwriter would agree to use its commercially reasonable efforts, consistent with its
normal trading and sales practices, to try to sell such shares on such terms. Underwriters could make sales in privately negotiated transactions
and/or any other method permitted by law, including sales deemed to be an �at-the-market� offering as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the
Securities Act, sales made directly on the NYSE, the existing trading market for our common stock, or sales made to or through a market maker
other than on an exchange. The name of any such underwriter or agent involved in the offer and sale of our common stock, the amounts
underwritten, and the nature of its obligations to take our common stock will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement

In addition, we may enter into derivative transactions with third parties, or sell securities not covered by this prospectus to third parties in
privately negotiated transactions. If the applicable prospectus supplement so indicates, in connection with those derivatives, the third parties may
sell securities covered by this prospectus and the applicable prospectus supplement, including in short sale transactions. If so, the third party may
use securities pledged by us or borrowed from us or others to settle those sales or to close out any related open borrowings of securities, and may
use securities received from us in settlement of those derivatives to close out any related open borrowings of securities. The third party in such
sale transactions will be an underwriter and, if not identified in this prospectus, will be named in the applicable prospectus supplement (or a
post-effective amendment). In addition, we may otherwise loan or pledge securities to a financial institution or other third party that in turn may
sell the securities short using this prospectus and an applicable prospectus supplement. Such financial institution or other third party may transfer
its economic short position to investors in our securities or in connection with a concurrent offering of other securities.

64

Edgar Filing: CatchMark Timber Trust, Inc. - Form 424B5

Index to Financial Statements 268



Table of Contents

Index to Financial Statements

The specific terms of any lock-up provisions in respect of any given offering will be described in the applicable prospectus supplement.

In compliance with the guidelines of the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, Inc., or FINRA, the maximum consideration or discount to be
received by any FINRA member or independent broker dealer may not exceed 8% of the aggregate proceeds of the offering.

The underwriters, dealers and agents may engage in transactions with us, or perform services for us, in the ordinary course of business for which
they receive compensation.
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LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters will be passed upon for us by Alston & Bird LLP. Venable LLP will issue an opinion to us regarding certain matters of
Maryland law.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013,
incorporated in this prospectus by reference from the Company�s Annual Report on Form 10-K have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is incorporated herein by reference. Such financial consolidated
statements have been so incorporated in reliance upon the report of such firm given upon their authority as experts in accounting and auditing.
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